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About Using the Book:

This book contains an account of every building used by the University of Wisconsin. It
includes all buildings that the UW built or bought, whether now in existence or not. It includes build-
ings within the modern boundaries of the Madison campus, with the addition of a few that fall outside
that limit, but that are used by the campus (e.g. the Knapp house). Specifically excluded from the
book are the buildings of the off-campus agricultural stations, the Hill Farms buildings, the Arbore-
tum, and the Pine Bluff observatory buildings.

A short article about each building explains when why and where the building was erected or
purchased. In most cases the architect, contractor and cost of construction are included. All articles
contain at least one picture of the building. The articles are presented in a roughly chronological
order. A full index at the back of the book will enable the user to search by building name, address,
and by some aliases. A quick reference table provides quick access to the most important information
about each building. The book is also available in computer searchable CD-ROM form.

About the Photos:

Each photo in the book is labelled (in the caption) with an identifier. Most photos are avail-
able for copies in any size. Nearly all the photos are available from the University Archives iconogra-
phy collection (B134 Memorial Library). When the photo citation is a number preceded by an 'X' (e.
g. X2200) there is a copy negative available to reproduce that photo at a relatively low cost. When
the photo citation has a series number the photo will be found in the folder cited, but may not have an
existing copy negative. Such a citation is "series 9/1, Social Science, jf-77". The series number and
folder name tell the Archives in what folder the photo is located, and the jf number serves as a unique
identifier within that folder. Photos labelled with an AP number (i.e. AP-81) are in the author's collec-
tion which will be filed by the archives with the research material for this book, or some other appro-
priate place [no jokes Bernie]. In rare instances, a photo from the State Historical Society Collection
was used, and is so labelled.

Source Citations:

Each article is footnoted to provide access to the sources of information for further research.
In almost all cases (except where noted) the material cited will be found in the University Archives,
listed by series number. This number will be sufficient for the Archives staff to locate the material.
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Garfield in saying "A University is Mark Hopkins at one end of a log and a student at the

other." The regent went on to point out that the University had a steady (indeed increasing)
flood of students, and an equally remarkable number of skilled educators (Jones mentioned Babcock,
E. B. Hart and Conrad Elvehjem). But Jones' main point was that of the three ingredients of the
University the "state must provide the log".

This book is an account of the log. It had its genesis in my return to Madison after an absence
of decades. I discovered that as an adolescent student in the riotous and ructious late 1960s, I had
completely overlooked the astonishing beauty and diversity of the University as a physical object.
Upon revisiting the haunts of my youth (Adams Hall where I lived, the Memorial Union where I
played, and Birge Hall where I met my wife) I noticed a number of beautiful buildings that had gone
unremarked at the time. This discovery led me to another surprise. When I enquired at local libraries,
including the University library, I found that no book had ever been compiled telling the story of the
University buildings. There were many histories of the University but they dealt (and properly so)
with the students and educators, but never, except peripherally, with "the log".

After a few weeks (in the summer of 1993) of preparatory investigation to determine whether
sufficient source material survived to compile such a history, I decided, with the encouragement of
Arthur Hove (the author of one of the general histories I had seen) to attempt to assemble a history of
the University buildings, both present and past. The decision was facilitated by the existence of a
tremendous collection of historic photographs of the University that resides in the University Ar-
chives. The focus of the book would be a photo of every known building, and an account of the
circumstances surrounding its existence.

Nothing (save curiosity) in my training as an engineer prepared me for the task I had thus set
for myself. The research and writing were skills I was forced to develop as I proceeded. Only now as
I near completion do I recognize the hubris which accompanied the outset of the project. Indeed, my
ignorance of standard research techniques of record keeping and citation required the laborious
retracing of my steps at many points.

My feelings about the finished work are summed up perfectly by the words of Carl Sandburg's
introduction to his American Songbook:

I apologize for the imperfections in this work. I believe no one else is now, or
ever will be, so deeply aware and so thoroughly and widely conscious of the
imperfections in these pages.

I have had wonderful time working on this project. It has led me down innumerable interest-
ing pathways, where I met fascinating people and discovered the depths of the amazing story of the
University of Wisconsin. I hope that this volume makes a useful and permanent addition to the previ-
ously recorded histories of that University.

ﬁ t the dedication of the new Babcock Hall in 1949, regent John Jones paraphrased James

Jim Feldman
Madison Wisconsin, April 1996
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ANIMALDISEASELAB

Fig. 1. Animal Dis-
ease Control Building
1994. [ Author Photo,
AP-18]

Built in 1938 with WPA funds and labor, this building's original use was to house
the state animal disease control laboratory. After the 1965 removal of that function
from campus, the building was reassigned to the food research institute, and later
the department of horticulture.

the combination of the state departments of Dairy and Foods, Markets, and Agriculture. It oversaw

inspection and licensing of dairy products, crop protection efforts, and animal disease control. In
keeping with the University's commitment to the residents of the state, the Veterinarian control, and
Pure Foods state labs were moved into room B7 in the basement of Agriculture Hall. At the beginning
of'this period, the duties of the state veterinary control officer took up the half time services of one
man. As the farmers of the state became increasingly aware of the service available in the diagnoses of
diseases among livestock, the work by 1938 required the full time work of five pathologists. The
housing in the small basement quarters, and the constant stream of dead and diseased animals coming
into a busy and crowded University building, the lab created an "intolerable situation".!

In the fall of 1938, Agricultural dean Christensen, state director Ralph Ammon, and president

Dykestra discussed the construction of a new building for the animal disease control lab. In December

1938, the state emergency board appropriated $14,000 for the laboratory as a Works Project Admin-

In 1930 the University became host to the state Department of Agriculture and Markets. This was

229



istration (WPA) project. The emergency board was the state mechanism to fund the University during
the depression. The regents voted to approve the construction of the new lab near the serum plant to be
built and furnished with emergency board funds.?

The plans for the building as drawn by state architect Roger Kirchhoff, show a 40 by 97 foot
wood-framed building, with a basement, one floor and attic, asbestos shingles, and a hipped roof with
dormers. The resemblance of this building to a residential house of the same period is not accidental,
the labor to erect the building was to be supplied by the WPA, and this is the kind of residential
construction with which the WPA crews were familiar. Work began in March 1939.

University directories show the veterinary control lab at 2115 Linden Drive (later named
Herrick Drive) from 1943 to 1966. A new crematorium addition was built in 1956. In the 1960s the
state department moved off campus, and in 1966 the building was remodelled for the use of the Food
Research Institute. It remained in this use until 1975, when Food Research moved to Elm Drive, and
the building was reassigned to Horticulture, who with entomology remain there to this day.

1) Wisconsin Blue Book, 1940, p. 274; Christensen to Peterson, December 27, 1939, series 24/1/1 box 145,
Christensen folder; notification of emergency board appropriation, December 28, 1938, series 24/1/1 box 146,
emergency board folder.

2) Regent's Minutes, January 17-18, 1939, p. 303; Christensen to Peterson, December 27, 1939, series 24/1/1 box
145, Christensen folder; Christensen to Hiestand, December 28, 1938, and Christensen to Petersen, December 27,
1938, series 24/1/1 box 145, Christensen folder.

3) Plans on file at the plans room of the physical plant; Christensen to Petersen, December 27, 1938, series 24/1/1
box 145, Christensen folder; Wisconsin Blue Book, 1993-1994, p. 402-407; Madison city directories, and University
directories.
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Fig. 1. Agricultural Bulletin
building, c. 1930. [series 9/3
Smith Hall folder]

Built in 1899 as the heating plant for the growing agriculture campus, this building
became the home of the agricultural bulletin in 1937. It was added to the National
Register of Historic Places in 1985.

agriculture facilities were developed under Dean William Henry. Beginning in 1894 Henry
began to talk about the need for a separate heating plant for the buildings on the agricultural
campus: "It would certainly be advantageous to get the boiler and coal out of the Dairy building."!
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We then hear little about it for a few years. Then in his report to president Adams in 1898, the project
has gained central importance. Besides the improvement a central power plant would make to the
dairy building, Henry adds the needs of the newly constructed horticulture-agricultural physics build-
ing [King Hall]. "There should be constructed a central heating plant located midway between the
Dairy and Horticultural buildings. The boiler room can be sunk deep into the ground and a two story
structure placed upon its walls." Henry optimistically estimates the cost of the project, complete with
equipment at about $12,000.

The 1899 state legislature, almost always responsive to Dean Henry's wishes, in April appro-
priated $35,000 for the "enlargement of the dairy building, with changes in heating apparatus..."
Within five months plans, specifications and bids were sent to governor Scofield for approval, esti-
mates totalled $16,284.3

The power plant would supply heat to Smith Hall, King Hall and the proposed but unbuilt
Agricultural College building and cooling apparatus for the dairying operations in Smith Hall, and the
upper floors would contain shops to provide agricultural students instruction in steam engine opera-
tion, pipe cutting and other practical skills.

The design of the building was done by John T. W. Jennings the university's supervising
architect, who had been hired by the university as a result of his work with dean Henry on King Hall.
The contractor was another favorite of Henry's and of the university, T. C. McCarthy who had built
Smith Hall, the law building and the red gym. McCarthy's contract signed October 9, 1899 calls for
completion by January 1, 1899.4

Jennings designed the heating plant in the Richardson Romanesque style, the same general
style he had used on King Hall. It is typified by semicircular arches, polychromatic brick work and a
sense of great mass in spite of the relatively small size of the building (35 X 50 feet). This building is
an almost completely intact example of the Richardson Romanesque style. There have been no exter-
nal modifications at all and internal ones consist of machinery removal and the installation of tempo-
rary partitions of the internal space and dropped ceilings.’

The building served as the agricultural heating plant and machinery shop until 1937, when it
became storage and mailing facilities for the Agricultural Bulletin, a large volume of publications
generated by the College of Agriculture and Life Sciences.

In 1987 when the new stores building was finished the Agricultural Bulletin moved to new
quarters there. After a major interior remodelling in 1990, the building became home to the Wisconsin
Nutrition and Pest Management Program, the Center for Integrated Agricultural Systems, and Agri-
culture Technology and Family Farm Institute.

1) Report of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin 1894-95 p. 15

2) Henry to C. K. Adams September 14, 1898, series 1/1/3 box 16

3) Secretary of the regents to governor Scofield September 3, 1899 series 1/10/3 box 1

4) Contract between the Regents of the University and T. C. McCarthy series 1/10/3/ box 1
5) National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form Wisconsin State Historical Society
Historic Preservation Office March 14, 1985

6) Ibid.
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AGRICULTURAL DEAN'S
HOUSE

Fig. 1. 10 North
.. . Babcock c. 1974.

=1 [series 9/3 Dean's
-« House, jt-19]

Built as the private residence of dean of agriculture William Henry in 1896, the
house served as housing for the ag dean until 1945, then for president emeritus Fred
until 1980 when it became Agricultural Research Olffices. It was added to the Na-
tional Register of Historic Places in 1954.

department existed almost entirely on paper. Within ten years he had attracted enough

attention outside the state to have received lucrative job offers from Iowa State College and
Stanford University and for Wisconsin to try to keep him. When UW President Thomas Chamberlin
asked dean Henry what terms would induce him to stay , Henry asked for a salary of $3500 per year
and a house costing between $4000 and $5000 to be constructed prior to 1893. He also asked for a
raise for Stephen Babcock.! The regents agreed and met his salary requests. However, nothing was
done about the house until in 1895 Henry was offered a job at the New York Experiment Station and
the regents suddenly remembered that they had promised him a house. The regents upped Henry's
salary to $4500 and the house appropriation to $6,500.2 They advertised for construction bids on
January 21, 1896. On April 21, 1896, they accepted the bid of T. C. McCarthy at $8,510 and added
$2000 to the appropriation.? The site had been moved (at the suggestion of Dean Henry) from the
lake shore (the present site of Adams and Tripp Halls) to the edge of the experimental farm. The
plans were developed and drawn by architects Conover and Porter with considerable input from Mrs.
Henry (who called the house "Lake Dormer"). Funds were to come from the surplus of the Agricul-
tural Department. Construction took place in the summer of 1896. The house has two stories and an
attic over a full basement. The walls are brick, the foundation stone. It is about 285 by 160 feet in
plan.

‘ ’ rllliam Arnon Henry came to the University of Wisconsin in 1880, when the Agricultural
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On December 3, 1896, professor Henry told the board the house was done, and that he would
take over responsibility. However, after the Henry's moved in, a steady stream of receipts signed by
both Dean Henry and Mrs. Sara Henry, for decoration items as well as repairs to the furnace and
other expenses were all paid by the regents. Mrs. Henry died at the house in 1904. Dean Henry's son
Arnon and his family received permission from the regents to live with Henry in 1905. Dean Henry's
health failed in 1907, and he retired to California.

The new dean of Agriculture, H. L. Russell, lived in the house from 1907 until 1931, when he
resigned to become head of WARF. His successor as dean of agriculture, and in the house, was Dean
C. L. Christenson from 1931 until 1943.% The house then passed into the hands of its longest resident,
Edwin Broun Fred. E. B. Fred became dean of agriculture in 1943 and held that post until 1945,
when he resigned to become president of the university. The Fred's wished to stay at the house, and
as Fred reports, "They [the regents] understood the situation. I explained it to them."> Fred lived at
10 North Babcock throughout his career and his emeritus years until his death in 1980. The house
was then assigned its 1993 use as Agricultural Research Offices. In the late 1980s the very beautiful
and public Van Allen Gardens were constructed next to the house.

The interior of the house was only slightly rearranged over the years and is still very much like
the Queen Anne Gothic home that Sara and William Henry planned in 1896. In 1993 to conform to
the new buildings along the street, the address was changed to 620 Babcock. Its beautiful leaded glass
windows and carved wood trim alone make it worth a visit. It makes an interesting comparison to
examine its original cost in today's [1993] dollars. The $10,000 cost in 1897 was 2.2 times the Dean's
salary. That amount today would be roughly $220,000 and even considering that the lot was not
included in the original cost, such a beautiful house could hardly be built on that budget.

1) W. A. Henry to T. C. Chamberlin June 10, 1891, series 1/1/3 box 10. Henry was not a ferocious bargainer, he also
politely asked if he could make use of surplus produce from the experimental farm.

2) Regent's Minutes, October 8, 1895.

3) Regent's Minutes, April 21, 1896.

4) Nomination Form, National Register of Historic Places, 10/31/1984, State Historical Society, Historic Preservation

Office.
5) Oral History, E. B. Fred p. 105

Fig. 2. What "out in the middle of nowhere" used to mean! Agricultural Dean's house, looking
west c. 1898. [folder 7/7 #1 jf-23]
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AGRICULTURAL ENGINEERING

Fig. 1. Agricul-
tural Engineering
from the south
east, a corner of
old agronomy
roof at left, c.
1930. [series 9/3
Agricultural
Engineering, jf-
31]

Built in 1905 to house the department of agricultural engineering, this building still
houses its original discipline, and has been the site of a number of significant devel-
opments in the field. It was added to the National Register of Historic Places in 1985.

agronomy building and the agricultural engineering building. The agricultural engineering
uilding had been on the drawing board since around 1904 when the department was insti-
tuted. But the plans of Peabody's predecessor, J. T. W. Jennings (approved June 1, 1905), had not
been built. After Peabody's arrival in 1905, he developed new plans following the guidance of the
university's consulting planners, Laird and Cret. The two buildings went out for bid together and
local builder T. C. McCarthy was selected as contractor in May of 1905.!

Probably because of the great amount of work Mr. McCarthy had undertaken in addition to
the two agriculture buildings (e.g. the central heating plant) the construction of the agricultural
buildings lagged behind schedule. Both buildings were finished in the fall of 1907. Some of this delay
may have been due to the unfamiliar nature of the materials, these two buildings were the first on
campus to be built of reinforced concrete. It appears that the agronomy building was probably fin-
ished first.

The agricultural engineering building is two stories over a full height basement 50 X 150 feet
with the long axis running north and south at the corner of Henry Mall and Linden Drive. It has a
poured concrete foundation and floors, walls of the same dark reddish-brown paving brick used on

ﬁ rthur Peabody's first new buildings as the university's supervising architect were the old
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the agronomy building, and a red tile roof. The style is Georgian Revival with a pedimented architrave
and dentilated cornice and the large semicircular fanlights which make the building highly recogniz-
able in aerial photos.2

When the building opened the ground level was entirely occupied by the power and cement
laboratories. On the main floor were faculty offices lecture rooms, tool rooms, and shop and machin-
ery labs. The entire top floor was a single room, used for machinery display and study.? Dean Russell
gave the cost of the building complete with equipment as nearly $50,000.4

The department of agricultural engineering was and is intended to teach students a general
knowledge of farm machinery, operation of farm implements and power plants, the planning and
construction of farm buildings, and research in the fields related to these subjects. The department
had already outgrown its early home in Agriculture Hall. In order to provide room for the inevitable
growth in this field of study, the building was made with expansion in mind, but because the growth
of the size of farm machinery was so great and because the room to the west was taken up in 1910 by
the new Horticulture building, the planned expansions never took place. The department stayed in this
building almost entirely until the 1960s when a new lab building was constructed on Elm Drive. The
decision (based on budgetary considerations) to scale back the new lab building leaves the department
split between the old and new buildings. Many historic events in the field took place here in the
original building, such as E. R. Jones' soil erosion and drainage studies, F. W. Duffee's 1927 develop-
ment of the first forage harvester, the Duffee dryer, used in seed corn production, and several signifi-
cant developments in concrete construction. In December 1907 the American Association of Agricul-
tural Engineers was founded in the building, an event commemorated by a brass plaque in the vesti-
bule of the building. For a period of about two years, the building was home to the newly created
department of Wildlife Management, under Aldo Leopold.>

In 1968, after the Agricultural Engineering laboratory building was erected the old building
was remodelled to provide faculty, and departmental offices at a cost of $183,000. The exterior of the
building is largely unaltered, and unusual (if not unique) among university buildings, it is still the
home of the department for which it was built. It has never been known by any name other than the
original "Agricultural Engineering" still in stone over the main entrance. Though visually overpow-
ered by the huge high-rise biochemistry addition and molecular biology buildings, it still anchors the
beautiful and graceful group of buildings on the west side of Henry Mall.®

1) Regents Papers, June 1, 1905, Regents Minutes, May 31, 1906.
2) Nomination papers for the National Register of Historic Places, Wisconsin State Historical Society Historic Preserva-
tion Office.
3) The Wisconsin Engineer, May 1913, p. 387.
4) Report of the Regents, 1908 p. 113.
5) Nomination papers for the National Register of Historic Places, Wisconsin State Historical Society Historic Preserva-
tion Office.
6) Agency Request for State Building Commission Action October 9, 1967, series 40/1/3-2 box 1, Regent's Minutes,
October 4, 1968 exhibit J.
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Fig. 1. The agricultural engineering shop. The first (1958) section is farthest from the camera. The
second (1968) section is in the center of the building. The last (1981) addition is in the foreground.

Built in stages beginning in 1958, the Agricultural Engineering laboratory provides
lab and classroom space for a department housed until 1959 in the tiny Agricultural
Engineering building on Henry Mall.

almost 50 years when they began to agitate for new quarters. Although the old building had

been designed for expansion, the space for additions had gradually been usurped for other
buildings, notably Horticulture and Biochemistry. Even though the early faculty and students in ag
engineering had performed remarkably well in the old facilities. Among the developments of the first
agricultural engineering department in the country were: the 1927 forage harvester, the seed corn
dryer, hemp harvesting equipment, and a 1945 farm safety program. In spite of this preeminence in
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the field, the steady rise in the scale of farming and its attendant machinery after WW I1, quickly made
the old shops completely obsolete. In 1955 the chairman of the department F. W. Duffee began to
lobby president E. B. Fred directly for a new facility. He complained but that the facility was "very
inadequate". A lot of departments were feeling that way in the post WW II student flood.!

Funding for the shop building was obtained in August 1957, from the state building commis-
sion. In February 1958, the regents agreed to locate the new shop building at Linden and Elm Drives.
When initial estimates came in, the department was forced to scale back on what they had believed
was a modest sized building to begin with. They decided to present the plan as being buildable in
stages, so that space could be added as more funds were obtained. Contracts for stage 1 were ap-
proved on June 9, 1959, with H. A. Sylvester Co. getting the $70,546 general contract. Total cost for
the building was $125,000. Construction got under way immediately, and except for landscaping, the
finished building was inspected and accepted on June 21, 1960. The building was 141 by 81 feet of
concrete block faced with brick, aluminum window and a flat roof. It comprised a basement and one
story. The architect was S. A. Witzel, a professor of agricultural engineering.?

Phase 2 of the building was needed within a decade. The architect for the addition was Kurtz
Architects of Milwaukee, who added a 60 foot extension without windows or basement to the west
end of the original. The general contractor was Vogel Brothers of Madison for $51,030. It was
completed July 9, 1968. Total cost of the addition was $104,000, and was paid from receipts of the
sale of Hill Farms land.?

In the late 1970s the Agricultural School intended to erect a $13 million building for
agronomy, soils, and agricultural engineering. This plan eventually failed through lack of state and
University support. It was replaced by the plant science addition to horticulture and by a third addi-
tion to the agricultural engineering shops.

This third and final section of the building was designed by Miller-Waltz-Diedrick of Milwau-
kee in September 1980. This addition was originally intended to be a two story structure capable of
holding all faculty and departmental offices. However the estimates of the cost of the project led the
planners to divide it into two phases. Phase I was the first floor only. It was 125 by 140 feet added to
the east end of the building. The general contractor was Anthony Grignano of Madison for $682,295.
Total cost was $1.09 million. Phase I was completed in the winter of 1981, and was ready for use in
the spring of 1982. Because of lack of funding, it is now unlikely that phase II will ever be con-
structed. This forces the department to occupy a split facility with labs and classrooms in the new
building, but departmental and faculty offices in the old building on Henry Mall.*

1) Wisconsin Country Magazine, October 1938, p. 12; Wisconsin Country Magazine, December 1937, p. 9; Wisconsin
Engineer, May 13, 1913. vol. 17:388; The Work of the Agricultural Engineering Department, series 4/0/3 box 177
"Agricultural Engineering folder". Duffee to Fred, September 29, 1955, series 4/0/3 box 177 "Agricultural Engineer-
ing" folder.

2) Regent's Minutes, February 1, 1958, July 11, 1958, June 9, 1959; Duffee to Elvehjem, June 3, 1959, series 4/0/3 box
177, "Agricultural Engineering" folder; Small to Ahearn June 27, 1960, series 24/9/2 box 12 "Agricultural Engineer-
ing" folder; plans in the physical plant plans room.

3) Agency Request for State Building Commission Action, Gordon Orr to Knowlton Levenick, November 14, 1966,
Gordon Orr to Jim Edsall, August 17, 1966, Culbertson to Lorenz, December 8, 1966, series 24/9/3 box 8; Regent's
Minutes, September 15, 1967.

4) Regent's Minutes, December 14, 1979, December 5, 1980 exhibit B; Program Statement, July 1988, Converse to
Shalala, May 22, 1990, series 4/31/9-3 box 1, "Agricultural Engineering" folder; interview Dr. James Converse,
December 1995. Departmental files in the office of Dr. James Converse.
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Fig. 1. Agriculture Hall, c.
1963. The octagonal library
can be seen protruding from
the rear of the building.
Visible in the upper left are
the King Hall greenhouses.
[series 8/5, GC 554]

Agriculture Hall was designed as the administrative and research home of the Col-
lege of Agriculture. It was the birthplace of nearly all current disciplines of the
College, except dairying, horticulture, and agricultural physics. Begun in 1902, it
was occupied in the winter of 1903. The building is almost entirely unmodified, and
was added to the National Register of Historic Places in 1985.

Agriculture Hall [now South Hall], Smith Hall , and King Hall. All the offices and most of

the laboratories were in South Hall. The attendance of the agricultural short course had risen
from 19 students in 1886 to 196 in 1901. The crowding was intense, and the faculty had given up all
space except the bare minimum for offices. Dean William Henry, an experienced and skilled lobbyist
began the campaign for a building for the college of agriculture. Mention had been made of such a
"projected building" as early as 1898, during the planning of the agricultural heating station. In the
summer of 1901 Henry and university architect J. T. W. Jennings began to make plans for the
necessary building, they visited similar facilities at a number of colleges in the east. Acting president
Birge placed the need for it " first among the neccessities of the university."! The need was so obvi-
ous that the battle was short. The legislature of 1901 acting on a request from Henry for $175,000
granted an appropriation of $150,000 for the construction of a central building for the college of
agriculture. It was understood at that time, that a later legislature would have to appropriate more
money to furnish the building; that is that the $150,000 was intended for the structure itself.

Jennings modified the plans to account for the drop in appropriation® and the building con-

tract was let to T. C. McCarthy in October 1901, for $143,179. Construction began immediately, the

ﬁ t the turn of the century the college of agriculture was contained in only three buildings,
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excavation was completed in the fall of 1901, strikes delayed work in the spring of 1902, but the
structure was erected, roofed in and heated by December 1902. A second appropriation for $25,000
to furnish the building was passed in May 1903, and the completion of the building took until Decem-
ber 1903 when the building first went into service with the 1903 short course students.3

The building was a 200 foot by 64 foot rectangle with its long dimension set along Linden
Drive. It was three stories high over a full height basement. A two-story octagonal wing protrudes off
the north side of the main building. This octagon housed on its bottom level the agricultural library
and reading rooms. The second level held a 750-seat auditorium including a balcony suspended from
iron rods from the ceiling. Construction style was slow burn mill construction, a masonry and wood
combination intended to catch fire with difficulty and spread not at all. The material was brick, with
trimmings of Bedford limestone and terra cotta, the roof was of red tile, and the outside metalwork of
copper.t

Stylistically, Jennings used his favored Beaux Arts classical revival style. In terms of material
and general style the agricultural college was very similar to the engineering building on Bascom Hill
completed only a year earlier. It has several features that separate it dramatically from the consider-
ably more budget conscious engineering building, namely the grand and imposing Linden Street
entrance, with its four [onic columns, the north entrance, a classical wall that is if possible even more
dramatic than the front entrance. A huge raised letter stone plaque "Auditorium and Library Hall of
Agriculture” is surrounded by swags and cartouches and all manner of classical ornamentation.

The agricultural library, which had been growing steadily since William Henry became dean,
became too large, too heavily used, and too vulnerable to fire to remain in the lower octagon level. In
1928 a pair of concrete and brick wings were added to the back of the octagon to house the library.
In 1910, with typical chutzpah, University architect Arthur Peabody convinced the regents that the
work of his predecessor Jennings on the building was laughably ugly and hired a contractor to chip
off a black finish on the headers of the building. It is no longer possible to determine where this
alteration was done, or what the original looked like.?

The agricultural college building was the first home of a large number of disciplines which
now have departments and buildings of their own. Among these are: veterinary science, poultry
science, agricultural economics, agricultural chemistry, home economics, bacteriology, agronomy,
agricultural engineering and genetics. This function of Agriculture Hall is similar to the role that
Science Hall played in the development of the sciences in the college of L & S.

Except for the library wings, remodelled for Landscape Architecture for $194,000 in 1969,
and the installation of some tile floors and dropped ceilings, the Agricultural College Building has
been almost completely unaltered through its ninety years of service to the university, recalling presi-
dent E. A. Birge's 1902 words " In our new Agricultural Hall we have a structure which should stand
for ages as in some fair measure representative of the intelligence, earnestness, and ambition of the
agricultural people of Wisconsin at the beginning of the twentieth century."®

1) Regent's Report,1900 p. 26
2) Some extant artists sketches indicate that the building might have been originally expandable into a quadrangle
which would have engulfed the octagonal auditorium.
3) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, November 1901 p. 63; Daily Cardinal, March 12, 1902, September 25, 1902, October
1, 1902, December 10, 1902, May 14, 1903, September 30, 1903, December 7, 1903.
4) Nomination Papers National Register of Historic Places, State Historical Society, Historic Preservation Office.
5) Minutes of the Executive Committee, August 31, 1928, Minutes of the Board of Regents, December 7, 1910.
6) Report of the Board of Regents, Presidents report 1902 p. 17, Regents Minutes, February 14, 1969 Exhibit K.
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OLD AGRONOMY

Fig. 1. Old Agronomy c. 1910. [series 9/3, Agronomy, ns-310]

Old Agronomy was built in 1906, the first reinforced concrete structure on campus.
Agronomy moved out in 1930 and the building has since housed genetics, dairy
science and its current occupant Agricultural Journalism.

he agronomy department was founded almost solely by the efforts of the un-degreed
I Ransom Asa Moore in 1895 (under dean William Henry) when he began the practice of select-

ing strains of grain on a one acre experimental plot on the current site of the stock pavilion in
an attempt to produce a seed crop with superior yield and blight resistance. Moore was also ex-
tremely active in the recruitment of students for the agricultural short courses, scouring the state on
his bicycle convincing farm youths to enroll.! By the first years of the 20th century the study of
agronomy had produced so many successes and attracted so many students that it had outgrown its
quarters in agriculture hall.

As early as 1904 the regents planned for an agronomy building, but did not follow through. In
1905 as part of the enormous building program driven by new president Charles Van Hise, plans were
drawn by new supervising architect Arthur Peabody for two relatively small buildings for the agricul-
ture campus, Agronomy and Agricultural Engineering. These were Peabody's first solo design
projects and were done in the Beaux Arts Style favored by the university's planning consultants Laird
and Cret. These buildings were the first to occupy the proposed mall linking Agriculture Hall with
University Avenue. Because the Agricultural College was physically a rather independent unit of the
university, the architecture did not require the classical and sandstone treatment given to the buildings
on the central campus. Peabody chose instead of cut stone a dark brown brick (which became stan-
dard for later buildings associated with the college of agriculture), and in order to meet the modern
requirements of fire protection the buildings were constructed with concrete floors and tile partition
walls. They were the first buildings on campus so constructed.?
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Fig. 2. c. 1910 Agronomy building
in foreground, agricultural engi-
neering in center background,
Horticulture left background,
Agriculture Hall right background.
Agronomy and agricultural engi-
neering were built together, but
agronomy seems to have been
finished first, making it the first
reinforced concrete framed build-
ing on campus. [series 9/3,
Agronomy, jf-29]

The regents opened bids for construction of the agronomy and agricultural engineering build-
ings in May of 1906 and selected from the six bidders T. C. McCarthy, a local builder. The contract
was for $68,400 for construction of both buildings.3 Construction was slower than anticipated and
agronomy was not opened until the fall of 19074

The agronomy building is 46 feet X 96 feet, two stories above a full basement. It had a red tile
roof and was built of reinforced concrete and a hard dark brown brick that became standard for later
agricultural buildings. The basement held rooms for curing storage and display of grain. The first
floor contained lecture halls, classrooms and offices. The entire second floor was a single room given
over to the seed judging department.’

The new agronomy building was a great success, giving Professor Moore and his students
(more than 600 took agronomy in 1906) ample room and facilities. However as plant genetics and
plant pathology were given an increasing amount of space in the little building, there was a loss of lab
and instructional space. By the late 1920s the crowding was becoming intolerable. The solution was
to construct a three story wing on the east end of the Horticulture building. In 1930 this addition to
Horticulture was built and named Moore Hall in honor of R. A. Moore.

The agronomy and plant pathology departments moved into Moore Hall, leaving the old
agronomy building to the genetics department. Genetics remained there (producing Nobel prize-
winning Joshua Lederberg) until space limitations drove them to a new building across the Mall in
1963. The old building passed into the hands of Dairy Science who used it until 1972, when the
animal science building was built. The Agricultural Journalism department was the next user moving
in 1972. The building name was then officially changed to Agricultural Journalism.® Agricultural
Journalism remains the occupant of the little brick building in the center of the west side of Henry
Mall. The ninety years since its construction has seen the erection of banks of huge agriculture build-
ings in this area (biochemistry with its endless additions, molecular biology on Linden Drive, the
building and demolition of the Wisconsin High School, leaving the old agronomy building a kind of
survivor through insignificance. It remains a useful and attractive contrast to the monster buildings
favored by a later vision.

1) R. A. Moore Biographical file University Archives.
2) Memoires, Arthur Peabody Archives biographical file, p. 4-5.
3) Regents Minutes, May 31, 1906.
4) Daily Cardinal, September 25, 1907, May 6, 1907, January 4, 1907.
5) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, June-July, 1906, pp. 440-44
6) Minutes of the Regents, August 3, 1973
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SEED BUILDING

Fig. 1. The
agronomy seed

building south
face. [Series 9/3,
Seed Storage
Building, jf-60]
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all the hybrid seed corn in the state, as well as doing experimentation to produce better hybrids in
11 important Wisconsin farm crops. The storage facilities for the seed produced by this depart-
ment was woefully inadequate. Storage in buildings scattered around the campus, the outlying experi-
mental farm, and rented space in Madison, made careful supervision and efficient retrieval impossible.
Finally in 1939 the state legislature approved an appropriation of $25,000 for a seed storage building.
The department began to plan the new building.

In order to keep cost to a minimum, the state architect Arthur Peabody and agronomy profes-
sor Norman P. Peal decided to build a structure across the south ends of two 70 foot long existing
metal storage sheds (probably the main seed storage facilities), while adding a third metal shed to the
row. This produced a building shaped like an 'E' with the three sheds pointing north from the Linden
Drive front. This front section was a plain one story brick building 175 feet by 48 feet without a
basement, with a flat concrete roof, and large glass brick windows (see Fig. 1). The building was
power ventilated and temperature controlled for best seed storage condition. A plan to add a second
story to the building was never carried out.!

Bids were called for on May 24, 1940. The regents approved the plans and estimates on May
27, 1940. The $25,000 appropriation was supplemented by income from university dairy sales to
bring the total to $26,325. The next day contracts were signed with George Nelson & Son of Madi-
son for $19,900 for general construction. Utilities and grading subcontracts accounted for the balance
of the cost. The general contract called for completion by August 31, 1940. The building was ready
for use by October 1940. The metal shed sections were expanded 10 feet each in June 1953 by
Trachte Brothers Construction Company at a cost of $3779.2

l n the late 1930s, the agronomy department of the university under Ransom A. Moore was raising

1) Daily Cardinal, October 20, 1940.
2) Executive Committee Minutes, May 27, 1940, plans in records of department of planning and construction.
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ALUMNI HOUSE

Fig. 1. Alumni
House from Lake
Street c. 1967. It is
a three story
building of steel
and reinforced
concrete, with
Wisconsin field-
stone sheathing on
the lowest level.
At left is the
connecting link to
the Wisconsin
center. [series 9/2,
Alumni House, jf-
83]

The Alumni House was built with donated fund in 1965 to house the Wisconsin
Alumni Foundation's offices and records. A major addition, the Below Alumni Center
was begun in 1994.

1920s for the memorial union. A list of alumni was laboriously assembled from the registrar's

records by Porter Butts and his assistants to raise pledges for the union. From 1923 to the
early 1950s the Alumni Association, was housed in small offices in the union, and other spaces. In
1930 at the request of the University, the Alumni Association became official supervisors of the
"Bureau of Graduate Records", and the Bureau became a University department.

The Association first started a building fund in 1953 with a $7500 donation from the class of
1903. The campaign was handled by the Association in cooperation with the Wisconsin Foundation.
In September 1956 the regents voted that the old Washburn Observatory building could be remod-
elled for use as an alumni house. The Alumni Association threw themselves wholeheartedly into a
fund-raising drive to remodel the observatory, which was estimated to cost $225,000 and to take until
the fall of 1959. In June 1959 Thomas Brittingham Jr. offered $33,000 in matching funds, and the
target was reached in November 1959.!

On June 6, 1959, a month before construction was to start, the directors of the Alumni Asso-
ciation voted to abandon the observatory hill site. The impetus for this change was a report by the
consulting architects which said that the building was too old and too small to be reasonably turned
into the alumni house.

The Wisconsin Alumni Association had its modern genesis in the great fund-raising drives of the

366



Fig. 2. The demolition
of the Sigma Chi
fraternity house April
24, 1965. The site of
the new alumni house.

The most sensible site turned out to be near the recently erected Wisconsin Center building on
Langdon and Lake Streets. In August 1959 the Wisconsin Foundation began to bargain with the
Sigma Chi fraternity for the purchase of their chapter house that stood at 630 N. Lake Street, on the
land between the Wisconsin Center and Lake Mendota (see Fig. 2). In June 1961 the University
decided to bring condemnation proceedings against the owners. The property was finally acquired by
the Foundation for $178,000 on December 26, 1961.3

In 1962 the architects Foeller, Schober, Safford and Jahn of Green Bay were selected to do
the design. In 1963 the regents gave the Alumni Association permission to build on the Lake Street
lot, with the understanding that when complete, the building and land would be donated to the Uni-
versity. Preliminary plans from the architects were approved by the regents in June 1964. The building
was estimated at that time to cost about $500,000.%

In February of 1964 bids came back from builders about $300,000 over budget. This was a
serious setback, for which the architects took the blame. The committee quickly decided that they
could cut the deficit to $200,000 by reducing certain features of the building (such as granite trim),
and decided that they would go back to the alumni for more funding, despite the fact that they had
publicly announced the end of that fund-raiser. The new budget was set at $740,000. The second
round of bids were opened September 23, 1965, and were $32,000 over the new budget, but with
strenuous negotiating were reduced to the required level. The general contractor was Vogel Brothers
Building Company of Madison for $464,347. Scheduling called for completion by the fall of 1965. In
keeping with the stormy nature of the project, during the groundbreaking ceremony on October 23,
1965, a storm suddenly blew up off of Lake Mendota and drove participants (including governor
Knowles) and spectators indoors to the Wisconsin Center auditorium. The building was formally
dedicated on May 13, 1967 at which time it was presented as a gift to the University.?

The Alumni House is connected to the Wisconsin Center by a second floor corridor (see Fig.
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1.) The first floor holds the main entrance from Lake Street, reception areas, offices and the Bureau

of Graduate Records. On the second floor are the alumni lounge, and some offices, The third floor is
designed as an addition to the Wisconsin Center contains the Lakeshore Meeting Room intended for
lectures in the continuing education programs. A twelve foot wide walkway encircles the building at
the second story level. The walkway and the Lakeshore Room provide unparalleled views over Lake

Mendota.
In October 1994, groundbreaking was held for the Below Alumni Center addition. The Below

Addition will provide a conference room, a library, and office space. A parking lot at the end of Lake
Street will also be constructed.®

1) Berge to Fred, June 24, 1953, series 4/0/1 box 180; Rennebohm to Peterson, March 5, 1959, series 24/9/2 box 11;
Regent's Minutes, September 8, 1956; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, October 1956 p. 6; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine,
October 1958, November 1958, December 1958, March 1959, April 1959.

2) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, July 1959 p. 20;

3) Peterson to Rood, August 22, 1960, June 7, 1961, Peterson to Elvehjem, February 16, 1961, Memo, AWP, Novem-
ber 20, 1962 series 4/0/1 box 180; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, January 1962, February 1962.

4) Peterson to Culbertson, January 12, 1963, series 4/0/3 box 180; Regent's Minutes, January 11, 1963, June 8, 1964.
Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, July 1964.

5) Sites to Peterson, March 30, 1965, series 40/1/7-1 box 56; Building Committee Meeting, May 4, 1965, series 40/1/7-
1 box 56; Rennebohm to building committee, September 24, 1965, Alumni House Meeting, April 6, 1965, Alumni
House Reports, series 4/0/1 box 180; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, August 1965, November 1965. The Daily Cardinal,
November 3, 1966; Wisconsin State Journal, November 28, 1966.

6) Plans in physical plant plans room; Ceremony pamphlet, Archives Alumni House subject file, Daily Cardinal,

October 26, 1994.
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ANIMAL SCIENCE

Fig. 1. The animal science build-
ing at the right, veterinary science
at the left, 1975. The electron
microscope is housed in the low
section in the foreground. [series
9/3, Animal Science, jf-93]

Erected in 1970 to replace undersized and outmoded research space of the College
of Agriculture and Life Sciences, the Animal Science Building was financed by the
state with taxes on the newly legalized oleomargarine.

tural director R. J. Muckenhirn asked the University for $2000 in planning money for a future

animal science building. At this early date the idea was fixed to combine the research programs
of animal husbandry, poultry husbandry, dairy husbandry, and some veterinary science facilities, in a
single building. This idea was dropped at that time due to lack of funding.!

The 1967 legislature passed Assembly Bill 359 which repealed the ban on the sale of colored
oleomargarine, instituted a 5.25 cent per pound tax on oleomargarine, and appropriated from the
general fund the sum of $5 million for the construction of an animal sciences building. This legislation
was the end product of a long struggle to repeal Wisconsin's 1895 ban on the sale of colored oleomar-
garine. This fight had been led by state legislators Norbert Nuttleman, and William KasaKaitas, with
the support of dean of Agriculture Glen Pound.?

In May 1968, the regents were formally notified that the state had passed a $5 million appro-
priation for an animal science building to be funded from a new state tax on oleomargarine. The regents
voted to approve asite adjacent to and north ofthe veterinary science building. It was explained that the
building would house the departments of Dairy Science, Meatand Animal Science, Poultry Science, teach-
ing space for Veterinary Science, and teaching space for the new Biology Core Curriculum. InMarch 1969,
the budget for Animal Science was increased by $275,000 in gift funds to provide for a one million volt
electron microscope.

The facilities intended for the Biology Core Curriculum were deleted from the concept by the
regents in July 1969, due to escalating building costs. The regents were told that the new animal
science building would not provide research space for veterinary science, but that the building pro-
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vided an additional argument for locating the future Veterinary School on the Madison campus. The
$275,000 for the electron microscope would come from a grant from the National Institute of Health
(NIH). The facility for the microscope had to be provided by the recipient institution. Originally the
grant required these facilities to be ready by the end of 1971. The disruption of the building schedule
required to meet this deadline led the University to have the grant deadline extended. Another diffi-
culty with the microscope award arose when Dr. Robert Bock of the graduate school asked the Uni-
versity to request matching funds from the state for housing the microscope, when the previous re-
quests to the state had expressly stated that part of the facility would be funded entirely from gift and grant
funds.*

The revised preliminary plans for animal science were approved by the regents in January
1970. It would be a ten story building of concrete and brick with an underground connection to the
nearby veterinary science building. Considerable discussion followed regarding the microscope grant.
Vice president Clodius explained that the NIH was paying for the equipment and for the operating
costs into the indefinite future. It was stated that this would be one of only two or three such micro-
scopes in the country, and that it would be made available to all departments of the University. The
final plans were approved by the regents without significant change in June 1970.°

Construction contracts were let on in August 1970. The general contractor was Vogel Brothers
of Madison for $2.1 million. The total costs were $5.075 million, with funds coming from the state
($4.8 million), and gift and grant funds ($265,000).6

Ground-breaking took place on August 24, 1970, the day of the Sterling Hall bombing, an
ironic juxtaposition not lost on the day's speakers. No unusual difficulties were encountered in con-
struction and the formal dedication of the building took place on November 3, 1972.7

The building is a 248 foot by 178 foot two story base, and a nine story tower section rising to
213 feet. The exterior is sheathed with face brick and exposed concrete. The ground floor houses
animal rooms, mechanical systems, the tunnel to veterinary science, offices, and the 25 by 45 foot
electron microscope room (which has a special anti-vibration foundation). The 90 by 90 foot tower
contains labs and offices.®

The animal science building was dedicated on November 3, 1972, with 300 visitors hearing an
address by Glenn Pound, the dean of the college of Agriculture in the stock pavilion. Pound especially
praised state representative Norbert Nuttleman, and farm bureau director William KasaKaitas for
shepherding the legislation that made the building possible.”

1) Muckenhern to Peterson, November 22, 1961, Animal Science Building Preliminary Outline Specification, series
24/9/2 box 13.
2) Laws of Wisconsin, 1967, chapter 359; The Animal Science Building, Glenn Pound, October 1979, Pound to Boche,
October 11, 1968, series 90/80 box 14.
3) Regent's Minutes, May 17, 1968, March 14, 1969.
4) Regent's Minutes, July 25, 1969; Bock to Clodius, December 19, 1969, Lemon to Bock, December 23, 1969, Sites
to Bock, November 11, 1969, Bock to Bray and Sites, November 4, 1969, Bock to Young, November 4, 1969, series
24/9/2-1 box 12. Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, November 1972, p. 21.
5) Regent's Minutes, January 16, 1970, June 12, 1970; Animal Science Building ... Building Program and Space Needs,
January 5, 1970, series 24/9/2-1 box 12.
6) Regent's Minutes, August 5, 1970 schedule III.
7) Groundbreaking: Memo to Glenn Pound, August 19, 1970, series 90/80 box 14; Wisconsin State Journal, August
26, 1970; Capital Times, August 25, 1970; Milwaukee Journal, August 25, 1970; Dedication: Animal Sciences
Dedication Pamphlet, November 3, 1972, series 80/90 box 14.
8) Animal Sciences Dedication Pamphlet, November 3, 1972, series 80/90 box 14; Plans in the physical plant plans
room. Regent's Minutes, February 11, 1972.
9) Wisconsin State Journal, October 14, 1972, November 4, 1972; Comments by KasaKaitas, November 3, 1972, The
Animal Science Building, Glenn Pound, October 1979, series 80/90 box 14.
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APPENDIX A

THE BUILDING OF THE SCIENCE HALL GROUP

the burning of the original Science Hall), the Board of Regents, Milwaukee architect H. C.
och, and engineering professor Allan Darst Conover developed a basic plan to erect four

buildings: a science hall, a chemistry building, a machine and carpentry shop and a boiler house.
The speed with which this was accomplished raises the possibility that such plans had been previ-
ously considered. The estimates of the total cost of these buildings ranged from President
Bascom's initial $160,000 (December 30, 1884) to $293,000 (January 20, 1885). The general plan
of construction was approved by the board at the January 1885 meeting, though the details were in
flux. Professor Conover was sent east to inspect the science buildings at other universities.!

On April 7 1885, the legislature appropriated money for the new science group as follows:
Science Hall, machine shop and boilerhouse, $150,000; Chemical laboratory, $20,000; and heating
apparatus, $20,000, for a total of $190,000.2

When Conover returned he and Koch developed the plans for Science Hall proper. The
plans for the smaller buildings, i.e., the boiler house, shops, and chemistry building, were already
completed by Koch, and were put out for bid on June 1, 1885. At the June 1885 regents meeting
the contract for the three smaller buildings was awarded to the lowest bidder, John Trumbull of
Whitewater, for $55,000, who agreed to finish the three buildings by December 30, 1885.

This would prove to be a mistake. Not only was this more money than was available for
those buildings, but by January 2, 1886, the regents had turned over to their lawyers the matter of
Trumbull's nonperformance under the contract, and the dismal tone for the whole undertaking was
established. The chemistry building was finished in a blizzard of suits, countersuits, and mechanics
liens, in 1887. The construction of the small, presumably easier buildings dragged on and on.
Apparently local and national labor unrest was a major cause of Trumbull's trouble. On January 29,
1886, the regents agreed to give them an extension until July 15, 1886. This deadline also passed
without result, and in November 1886, the regents exercised the default clause in Trumbull's
contact and turned the superintendency of the project over to Professor Conover.?

The regents called for bids on Science Hall in August 1885; this resulted in bids ranging
from $179,000 to $229,000.* Since the entire appropriation was for $190,000 and almost $60,000
had already been contracted for with Trumbull, these bids were very bad news. The response of
the regents' building committee, with the concurrence of the whole board, was to reject all the bids
and to employ Professor Conover as superintendent of the building.> It is said that the decision
angered powerful construction interests in the state.® Conover had been involved in planning the
building, was working as superintendent on the unfinished Trumbull contract, and would soon
have a machine shop available to him. The machine and carpentry shop was the first of the small
buildings finished in May 1886.7 Work on Science Hall began in earnest in October 1885.

The question of whether Science Hall was the world's first building framed entirely with
steel is confused by the fact that checks as listed in the regents report for 1886 were issued both
for "iron and iron girders" as well as "steel beams'® The facts as revealed by the University check
register itself are even more ambiguous. The payments are all listed as being for "iron", including
the Carnegie checks that are later listed (in the report) as payment for "steel beams". Frank Lloyd
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Wright, who claimed (without any known independent corroborating evidence) to have worked on
the building as a helper of Conover, adds to the confusion by referring to "iron beams" and "steel
beams" in the same paragraph.” The structural authority, Carl Condit of Northwestern, says only that
Science Hall must have been one of the first steel-framed buildings, and since the destruction of other
claimants may now be the oldest.!0 There is also at least a suspicion that the building is framed not
with steel at all but with wrought iron.!! An investigation of this question was undertaken by the
author in the fall of 1996. With the assistance of the University Physical Plant samples were cut from
the attic and floor joists and submitted for metallurgical analysis. The results show conclusively that
the metal is steel. The destruction of other early steel framed buildings leave Science Hall the oldest
building in the world with significant amounts of steel in its frame. The supporting columns were also
drilled to look for metal support, but they are solid masonry without internal metal. A copy of the
report of this investigation is in the University Archives Science Hall subject folder.

Whatever the materials used by Conover to fireproof the building, by April 8, 1887, the
regents had spent the entire appropriation ($190,000), the insurance payment ($41,000), and another
$30,000 borrowed from Madison Banks at 6% interest, and still Science Hall was "without roof,
windows or doors." When on January 19, 1887, the regents asked the legislature for another
$200,000 to finish the construction and furnishing of the science group, the state responded briskly by
appointing a bipartisan committee to investigate the expenditure of the 1885 appropriation. This
committee elicited some truly remarkable testimony from their witnesses, including regents Paul and
Keyes, President Bascom, Professor Conover and others.

To begin with the committee wanted to know what had been done with the $261,000, so they
brought in an expert accountant from Chicago to go over the books. His testimony was to the effect
that the bookkeeping was so primitive that there was no way to determine where the money went:

Q: Was there anything by which any man, whether connected with the university or
not, could tell from an inspection of the books, anything as to the financial condition
ofthe university?

A: I think not.

Q: In other words a person who would look at those books and not go anywhere

else, would be entirely misinformed as to the actual condition of the finances of the

university?

A: He could form no estimate of the university fund at all, from the books.!2

There was some intimation that the $30,000 borrowed by the regents had not been used to
advance the building, but had disappeared into the black hole of those books.!3

Another thing that angered the committee was that Professor Conover had been paid as a
university professor, as the Science Hall supervisor, and as the supervisor of the Dane County Court-
house, simultaneously. They are not only critical of the quality of his supervision, they also quote the
university's rules about professors taking outside employment. !4

There was a strong suspicion that remained generally undispelled by testimony that, rather
than planned, the buildings had been improvised. "The evidence is conclusive that the matter of the
probable cost of the proposed new buildings was purely a matter of guess-work with the building
committee ... nothing but 'sketch plans' had been submitted to the board of regents."!?

The practice of the regents doing their own contracting (through Conover), was sharply
questioned. Senator Widule stated: "These men working, walked around slowly, apparently killing
time. I put the question [to a hod carrier] Who is running this business?... And he said 'Prof. Conover
is superintending the construction, but he isn't in town.' I could see no foreman or anything." Simeon
Mills testified, "The men never seemed to be half working."

The strongest wrath was directed at regents Paul and Keyes for the attitude that they dis-
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played regarding the enormous cost and time overruns. The regents had three main arguments. First,
that the wording of the law making the appropriation of 1885 required that the buildings be made
entirely fireproof, which pushed the cost out of range of the appropriation. Second, that they believed
that the appropriation of 1885 had been only the amount that year's legislature was willing to give.
Thirdly they had the duty and obligation to do what they believed best for the university, regardless of
the legislative intent.

On the first point the 1885 law stated: "All such buildings [the science group] shall be built
with a view to their being substantially fireproof." The original architect Koch testified that his initial
design would have been substantially fireproof as that word is ordinarily used. He also said that the
building as constructed was more fireproof than would have been the one he planned.

The committee asked: If the original plans and specifications did not call for a substantially
fire-proof building as demanded by law, why did the [regents] committee advertise for bids for the
construction of such buildings? And why have they constructed the three smaller buildings so as to
make them what Prof. Conover calls 'slow-burning' buildings. Have they violated the law in erecting
those buildings and only observed it in regard to Science Hall?

On the second point (that the appropriation was just that of the 1885 legislature and not the
total to be expected), the committee quotes the 1885 appropriation law: "For the purposes mentioned
in the first section, there is hereby appropriated from the general fund, so much as is necessary, not
exceeding the several sums respectively following: For the science hall, machine and carpentry shop,
boiler house and engine, $150,000, for the building for the chemical department, $20,000, for heating
apparatus for said buildings $20,000." They then asked regent Keyes:

Q. What did you understand by those words, "not to exceed the several sums?"

A. That it should be the full amount appropriated from the general fund, by the
legislature of 1885, for the purposes specified in the act.

Q. So you understand, then, that so far as the state moneys are concerned, that

$190,000 was to be the full amount appropriated?

A. By that legislature. The act so states. If [ understand the act, it means just what it
states. No more, no less.

Q. Did you understand it that was simply, as we would call it, a 'starter'?

A. Well I don't know what you are trying to get at.

It was, however, on the third argument, that the regents had autonomous authority to build
what they thought best, that the questions and answers even after more than a century and long after
the death of all the principals, still look positively pop-eyed with rage and indignation. First the
committee quotes Regent Keyes: "We have always thought that we had the power under the statute,
under the authority conferred upon us, to go on with the work and plan the buildings as seemed
necessary to us for the present and future needs of the university; that we were not tied down to an
appropriation made by the legislature; that we were not compelled, in the exercise of our duty, to cut
our garment according to the cloth which the legislature in these appropriations, furnished us."

Q. How did you expect the building to be paid for, then?

A. Well we expected that in the great liberality of the legislature of this state that it
was quite probable that they would make an additional appropriation.

Q. Is there any way by which the university can complete that building, or the board
of regents complete it, unless the legislature makes an appropriation?

A. 1 don't know that there is.1©

Regent Paul generally substantiated this view in his testimony.

Q. Did you suppose that the legislature would hand over $200,000 or $300,000
without a question? Was there any amount you thought they would object to?
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A. No, sir, and it is not my business to know, and I don't care, individually as a
person, at all.

Q. Why hadn't you the right to lay it out so that the state would have to pay a
million to build it? There is no limitation to the amount is there?

A. If the board of regents is of the opinion that it ought to lay out a million dollars

for the university, within the limits of the law, it has a perfect right to do it; and no

man ought to question that right without changing the law.1”

The committee established from Paul and Conover that no attempt was ever made to design
buildings that could be built from the appropriation of 1885, and from President Bascom that he told
the building committee that the university did not need such a large and expensive building. The
committee then began to address the issue of extortion with Paul who finally makes plain where he
believes the power lies.!®

Q. Haven't you compelled the legislature to make the appropriation, to save the
buildings?
A. No, sir; we have not, as I look at it. The legislature can exercise its discretion.

We have exercised ours as we have a perfect right to do under the law.

The regents had made their case as plainly as possible; the state could call it extortion
if they wished, but the regents could build anything they wanted and they expected the state to
pay. And, in effect, the state agreed. On the day the committee presented their report the
assembly passed the $200,000 appropriation. By June 1888, the "plain disregard of the legisla-
tive intent and a monstrous perversion of the spirit of the law"2? had worked out fine, the
buildings were done and the bills were paid. The wounds had healed sufficiently for the Board

of Visitors to call the science group buildings "living monuments to the wisdom and courage
of the Board of Regents."2!

There is now a legal requirement that all contracts entered into by the regents must be signed
by the governor. This has been sometimes an expensive and odious requirement, but stands as a
permanent reminder of the scandal surrounding the construction of the Science Hall group.

1) Minutes of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin, December 30, 1884, Vol. B p. 442, 429, 430; January 20, 1885,
Vol. B p. 434, 435; April 14, 1885, vol. B p. 437, 439.
2) The Aegis, February 4, 1887 p. 7.
3) Laws of the State of Wisconsin, 1885, chapter 332.
4) Journal of the Senate, April 12, 1887 p. 720.
5) Ibid.
6) Pyre, J. F. A., Wisconsin, p. 216.
7) University Press and Badger, May 21, 1886 p. 9.
8) Report of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin, 1886 p. 32-33.
9) Wright, Frank Lloyd, An Autobiography, Horizon Press p. 77.
10) correspondence Condit to Thomas Hines July 5, 1966, Science Hall subject file, University Archives.
11) Metallurgist Dr. David Fahlberg, quoted by Clarence W. Olmstead in Science Hall, the First Century [fn. 82],
University Archives, Science Hall subject file.
12) Journal of the Senate, April 12, 1887.
13) Journal of the Senate, April 12, 1887 p. 713, 716.
14) Tbid p. 720-725.
15) Ibid p. 719.
16) Ibid p. 726.
17) Tbid p. 730.
18) Ibid p. 719-720.
19) Ibid p. 730-731.
20) Ibid p. 732
21) Report of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin, 1887-1888 p. 59.
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ARTIST-IN- RESIDENCE

Fig. 1. The Artist-in-residence house, looking This view is from the opposite side of the house
toward Russell Labs, 1994. [ Author Photo AP-1] from Fig. 1. [etching on wall in Archives]

This house was built in 1868 as a home for the superintendent of the experi-
mental farm. At that time it stood just to the east of the horse barn. In 1900
Dean William Henry had the house moved to its current location, which at
that time was called 438 Farm Place. It has since held the studio of artist-in
residence Aaron Bohrod and several other academic departments.

farm barn (now the horse barn) were built to provide the start of a College of Agriculture as

required of the University by the Federal Morrill Act of 1862, which made land grants to states
that founded colleges of Agriculture. The first director of the experimental farm was W. W. Daniels,
who in his 1868 report to the regents says "A farm house 20 by 38 feet with a wing 22 by 24 feet to be
finished the first of January 1869 is in process of erection."! The following year Daniels reports "The
farm house, which was being built at the time of my last report, is completed, and has been occupied
since January last by the farm superintendent."? The disbursements of the Experimental Farm Fund for
1869 show expenditures of $2743 for construction of the house.? The contractors were Sorenson and
Fredrickson. Augustus Kutzbock, a pioneer architect of Wisconsin, was paid $50 for plans and speci-
fications. 4

In the earliest days of the University farm this building was used to house the farm superinten-
dent and farm laborers. When William Arnon Henry came to the University in 1880 and before he
became a dean with a concomitant salary, he lived in the farm house at a rental rate of $200 per year.’
An 1871 survey map shows the original location of the farm house as just to the east of the horse
barn.®

This building was built in 1868 as the residence for the experimental farm. The residence and the
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In 1901, as dean of the College of Agriculture, Henry successfully petitioned the regents to
move some of the old farm buildings to new locations.” Among the buildings to be moved was the farm
house. The house was moved to a lot on Farm Place, a small lane running west and north from
Babcock Drive to Linden Drive. The farm house became 438 Farm Place. Farm Place although still
(1995) marked with street signs serves mainly as a parking lot behind Babcock Hall. The removal of
these small buildings left an area near the horse barn which "is reserved for future educational build-
ings, such as poultry, veterinary, etc."®

After the move to Farm Place professor G. C. Humphries lived at 438 Farm Place. Humphries
lived in the old farm house until his retirement in July 1942. Other professors lived in the house until
1947 when it was taken over by the Home Economics Extension department, who stayed in the build-
ing until 1962. By this time Farm Place had been vacated and the new address of the house was 1645
Linden Drive.

In 1962 the University department of planning and construction remodelled the north side of the
house to provide an artist's studio for the University artist in residence, Aaron Bohrod. This is the
remodelling that added the half-timber trim on the house to match the adjoining Stock Pavilion. This
and other remodellings, as well as artistic license, account for the differences in details between the
etching in Fig. 2 and the photograph in Fig. 1.

From 1962 until his retirement in 1972, Bohrod used the studio at 1645 Linden Drive. In the
years after Bohrod's retirement the house went through a steady stream of occupants: 1973 Agriculture
and Extension, 1974-1981 Landscape Architecture; 1982-1991 Food Science. In 1993 a major interior
remodelling prepared the house for its current occupant, the Center for Environmental Awareness.

1) Annual Report of the Regents 1868 p. 27.
2) Annual Report of the Regents 1869 p. 37.
3) Annual Report of the Regents 1869 p. 81.
4) Kutzbock did work on the old Madison City Hall, the second state capitol building, the Napoleon Van Slyke house
on Mansion Hill and the Farwell octagon house. Despondent over personal matters, Kutzbock committed suicide by
walking into Lake Mendota on November 1, 1868, while the farm house was under construction. One of the regent's
payments to Kutzbock was written after his death.
5) Glover, Farm and College p. 135.
6) This map is bound into the 1871 Regents report, and was kindly analyzed by graduate civil engineering student Tod
Hepworth.
7) 18th Report of Agriculture Experimental Station, 1901 p. 1-2 Steenbock Archives.
8) 18th Report of Agriculture Experimental Station, 1901 p. 1-2 Steenbock Archives.
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ATHLETIC ANNEX

Fig. 1. The athletic annex
from Langdon Street, c.
1920. [Meure photo
M243]

The athletic annex was built on the east side of the red gym in 1911. It provided space
for a running track and a baseball cage, allowing the gym's fourth floor to become a
gyvmnasium. The annex stood until the completion of the Camp Randall memorial
Shell made it obsolete. In 1956 it was demolished.

tells the regents that the facilities for athletics are very bad. Many of the problems with the facili-

ties were the result of the continued presence in the 'red gym' of the military department. Among
other complaints Ehler says that when ball games are played on the lower campus "the danger to the
passerby is very great, and even more so to the spectator." He recommends that the university build
an annex on the east side of the gym for offices and lockers. As the enrollment at the university
continued its upward spiral, the thinking about the proposed annex turned more and more toward
providing expanded gym space instead of just offices and storage. The Athletic Council, which was
responsible for funding athletic facilities, from the income of the events, borrowed $15,000 from the
regents to be paid back in $3,000 installments. !

The design for the Annex was done by the office of university supervising architect Arthur
Peabody. The specifications for the building are dated August 11, 1911, only a month after university
approval for the project. The bids (received September 27) were all rejected as too high and modifi-
cations were made to the plans. The construction contracts were awarded on August 21, 1911, the
structural steel contract to the Milwaukee Bridge Company for $4524 . The construction contract for
the remainder of the building went to the Copps Brothers of Madison for $8966 on October 2. The
whole building was supposed to be finished by February 1, 1912.
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As detailed in the architect's monthly reports, foundations were completed October 24, the
same day that steel members began to arrive from Milwaukee. The mason work began immediately,
and in its materials included "a quantity of old brick which had been taken out of the main gymnasium
was used".2 Presumably this brick came from the opening of the east wall of the gym to make a
doorway to the annex. In the November report (the last monthly report that mentions the annex) the
steel work is erected and ready for paint.

Architect Peabody says: "The Athletic Annex was occupied in January 1912 ... This building
located north [sic] of the Men's Gymnasium, consists of a single room for athletic practice, 82 feet
wide by 190 feet long, and has total area of 17,000 square feet including entrances. The building is
faced with red brick and is supported with steel trusses. The earth floor is arranged for a running
track and ball field. The cost of construction was $15,000, about 5 cents per cubic foot."3

Director Ehler has good things to say about the annex: "The erection of the Athletic Annex,
84 ft. X 235 ft. on the site of the outdoor handball courts has made possible certain changes in the
main building that have more than doubled its capacity and at the same time has provided a place that
has been found suitable for numerous purposes not originally contemplated." These included Prom
and Alumni dinners, and Engineering Exhibits. "The Annex provides an indoor track fourteen feet
wide and twelve laps to the mile, quite the equal of that possessed by any other university ... the
baseball cage is fifty eight feet by one hundred and eight in length and twenty feet under the trusses".
The changes in the red gym mentioned by Ehler were: "With the removal of baseball, track and
rowing from the fourth floor of the main building, that floor has been converted into the gymnasium
65 ft. X 165 ft."4

It is clear from the university records of the time is that the burgeoning interest in collegiate
sports was requiring a drastic rethinking of the kind of physical education facilities needed for the
university. Talks about the development of athletic facilities at Camp Randall were constantly bogged
down in questions of size, appropriateness, and finance. In this context, the gym annex was clearly a
stopgap measure which bought the university some time in the physical education debates. The
university would later claim that this building was the first university field house (indoor facilities for
outdoor sports) in the country.® The annex seems to have performed this function very well. Shortly
after completion, complaints about the quality of the lighting in the annex (an item which had suffered
in the cost reduction efforts in the first design) led to the installation of "proper and sufficient sky-
lights".® Other than this no complaints about the annex are heard.

The Annex served the athletic department in its role until the completion of the Camp Randall
Memorial Shell in 1956, when the annex space became needed for the erection of the Wisconsin
Center building. In the summer of 1956, the gym annex (and the old YMCA building) were razed by
the Madison Moving and Wrecking Company for $4000.

As far as its looks go [see Fig. 1] Mr. Peabody says in his memoir: "...my burden was to design
something sufficiently mediocre to harmonize with the existing building. In this I believe I succeeded,
the Annex looking perhaps more mediocre than the Armory itself. The building is so inconspicuous
that nobody knows it is in existence."’

1) Regent's Minutes, July 11, 1911

2) Report of the Supervising Architect for the month of October, 1911 Arthur Peabody, papers of the executive commit-
tee, October, 1911.

3) Regent's Report, 1913-1914, p. 339.

4) Regent's Report, 1911-1912, p 233.

5) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, March, 1933, p. 169.

6) Regent's Minutes, January 17, 1912

7) Peabody, Arthur, 4 Short Resume of University Buildings, p. 16. University Archives Biographical files, Peabody
file.
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Fig. 1. Babcock Hall
after the 1990 addition.
[Del Brown photo,
AP-81]

Babcock Hall was built in 1951 to replace the outmoded Hiram Smith Hall as the
home of the dairy department. It contains instructional space and an entire working
dairy plant. Babcock Hall was substantially enlarged in 1990.

s dairy Professor Howard C. Jackson was fond of pointing out in the 1940s, there was a time
Awhen the University of Wisconsin had the finest dairy building in the world. But that time

was 1893, when Hiram Smith Hall was built. By 1945, Smith Hall was completely inadequate
to its task. The first difficulty was that it was too small. In a state that led the world in production of
Swiss cheese, the state university had no room for a Swiss cheese facility. Second and worse, Smith
Hall was nearly impossible to keep clean, its wood floors, plaster walls and wood furnishings simply
could not be sterilized to the standards of a modern dairy operation. The depression and cessation of
construction in the 1930s meant that the dairy department just did the best they could with the embar-
rassingly antiquated facilities they had. However the department, especially Professor Jackson kept
planning for the day when a new structure could be built. This vision and persistence was rewarded in
1945, when the state legislature, who had been kept continually aware of the disservice to the state's
dairy farmers, appropriated $8 million for postwar University construction. Significantly the only
restriction the legislature put on the appropriation was that $600,000 was for a dairy building. Profes-
sor Jackson who appears to have been principally responsible for the building planning, selected
Milwaukee architects Grassold and Johnson to develop plans. By January 1948, their plans for the
dairy building had been approved.!

At that time the project was still constrained by the $600,000 appropriation. In August of

1948, the state architect told the University's Albert Gallistel that he had asked Grassold and Johnson
about the estimated cost, and received the reply of $2.1 million, "this cost information is distressing".
The grim realities of the postwar building business were sinking in. The $600,000 that had seemed so
generous only four years earlier seemed like a sarcasm now. During 1949, the dairy department
discussed with the architects, the possibility of erecting only a part of the building. The 'T' shaped
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Fig. 2. Winter 1950, Babcock Hall under
construction, Stock Pavilion and horse
barn in background. Series 9/3, Babcock,
ns 556]

design with its relatively discrete functions between classroom (stem) and manufacturing (crossbar)
sections made this a reasonable approach. The $600,000 was not even enough to build half the
planned structure. They also revised the plans with an eye to reducing cost.2

Bids received by the regents in February 1949 showed that, even after cost reductions, the
"distressing" estimates had been surprisingly accurate, the building would cost about $2.4 million.
Labor costs, which were being negotiated by the American Federation of Labor were in such flux that
the regents asked bidders to extend the bids' validity until May 1, 1949 instead of March 8. The need
for a new dairy building was so acute that on April 18, 1949, governor Oscar Rennebohm ( who was
generally opposed to building during times when prices were so high) agreed to release $2.4 million
from the 1945 postwar building fund for the Dairy Building. The regents awarded contracts a week
later, the general construction contract went to J. H. Findorff & Son for $1.2 million. Total construc-
tion contracts (exclusive of equipment) let were for $1.897 million. The specialized equipment for the
building cost another $200,000.3

Groundbreaking took place in mid May 1949, and construction proceeded throughout the rest
of 1949, with the cornerstone ceremony in the fall. It had already been decided, by the faculty of the
College of Agriculture, to name the building after the inventor of the first reliable butterfat content
milk test, Stephen Moulton Babcock (1843-1931). The building went into use in the fall of 1951,
when the dairy department moved out of Hiram Smith Hall to the new Babcock Hall. The legislature
toured the new building on March 15, 1951.4

The official dedication ceremony was held February 7, 1952. The ceremony included hymns
by the University choir, the presentation of the building by Governor Walter J. Kohler. More than
3000 people visited the building during the ensuing open house. After many years of neglect, the
University again had the finest dairy building in the world. It must also be mentioned that the Agricul-
tural Journalism, the new occupants of Smith Hall, got a wonderful facility also since their require-
ment for sterile conditions were less stringent.

The building was two stories over a basement of steel reinforced concrete with a flat roof,
sheathed in red brick. Because of the terrain, the basement was not exactly below grade, and was
referred to as the ground floor. The style was the new (in 1950) International style, the glass block
windows, aluminum window and door frames, and general streamlined look, point to the new archi-
tecture that would replace the old predominantly Renaissance revival style used on campus. In the
ground floor were many large and well equipped labs and storage for the industrial wing. The first
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Fig. 3. Air view of Babcock
Hall as completed in 1952.
[Series 8/5, jf-65]

floor of the stem of the "T' contained offices and class rooms, including a large lecture hall with a
capacity of 275. The second floor was used for more lab space especially for advanced and research
labs. The poured concrete floors throughout were covered with ceramic tile as were the walls to a
height of five feet. This use of tile was the direct result of the old difficulty of sterilizing the old dairy
building.”

The industrial portion of Babcock, in the top of the "T" carries the tiling feature to an extreme,
with tile carried clear to the two story ceilings. This industrial section was intended to be a complete
commercial dairy operation to give practical instruction in dairy industry manufacturing and market-
ing. An aspect of this instruction, deeply imbedded in the affections of Madisonians and UW gradu-
ates everywhere is the production of tremendously high quality ice cream. This famous Babcock ice
cream is sold in serving or bulk quantity at a small store section in the first floor of the west section.
An entertaining feature of Babcock is the public observation deck on the second floor of the indus-
trial wing. Visitors can watch the actual work of the dairy in operation, hours are typically 6 AM to
noon.

In the late 1980s the food science facilities in Babcock Hall became inadequate and an addi-
tion for more lab space was planned. The regents approved the $6 million dollar project in October
1988. The job was begun in March 1990, and completed in October 1992. This addition filled in the
open area of the 'T" along Linden Drive, and brought Babcock Hall to its 1994 configuration.®

1) Regents Minutes, December 11, 1949; Dedication speech by John Jones, February 7, 1952, archives Babcock Hall

subject file. Wisconsin Country Magazine, March 1950.

2) Kirchhoff to Gallistel, August 30, 1948, series 24/1/1 box 255; This (designing buildings to be built in sections) was

a trick that was contemplated for many of the high priority buildings in the 1950s including the engineering building,

the dairy building, and the library. It was a legacy of the state ignoring the estimates of the University of a $12 million

need in 1945. The buildings were sorely needed, but the money was insufficient. Wisconsin Country Magazine, March

1950.

3) Peterson to Halbert, April 23, 1949. series 24/1/1 box 255.

4) Froker to Fred, December 23, 1948. series 24/1/1 box 255.

5) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, November 1951; Acceptance speech, by John Jones, February 7, 1952, and dedication

pamphlet, archives Babcock Hall subject file;

6) Regent's Minutes, March 6, 1987, October 7, 1988; State Budget Letters, dated March 1990 and October 1992.
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BABCOCK HOUSE

Fig. 1. The Babcock house at 432 N. Lake "]:' jﬁ%ﬂﬂ .’l' f.hi =
Street just before demolition in 1955. i ?

The Babcock house was erected
in 1892 as a private home by
Dr. Stephen Babcock. On
Babcock's death in 1931, the
house became the property of
the University. It was used as a
student housing cooperative
until its demolition in 1955.

en Stephen Moulton Babcock died
on July 1, 1931, his will left the bulk
of his estate to the University. This

estate included his private home at 432 North

Lake Street, which he had built in 1892. Both he 8
and his wife, May Crandall, lived from their 1896
marriage until their deaths in the house.!

At the time of Babcock's death, the depression was cutting deeply into enrollment in the
college of Agriculture. In recognition of the fact that room and board were the main factors keeping
farm boys from attending the University, a committee (Drss. E. R. Jones, . L. Baldwin, J. A.
James, V. E. Kivlin and A. J. Haas) was appointed to look for suitable quarters for a cooperative
house for agricultural students. Professor W. A. Sumner suggested the Babcock home to the com-
mittee. This suggestion solved the problem of a building, but the house was unfurnished. Thus it was
that Madison was treated to the sight of a group of distinguished professors in overalls, hauling used
furniture out of Barnard and Chadbourne Halls. This and faculty donations provided the coop house
with furnishings. The first group of agriculture students took up residence in the fall of 1932.
Babcock was the first student cooperative house on campus. The boys paid actual cost; in the first
year this came out to about $97 per boy per year. The coop was a success from the first. There were
normally about fifteen resident students, and another 15 "chompers", or students who took their
meals there.2 The unfortunate result of charging no maintenance fee can be seen in Fig. 1.

In October 1955 the house had deteriorated to a degree that the University had no compunc-
tion about demolishing it to make way for a parking lot.3 At that time the Babcock cooperative was
moved to new quarters on Clymer Place, and later still to its current ones on University Avenue. The
original site later became the site of the University Extension building.

1) Will of Stephen Babcock, University Archives, Madison city directories, and records of Madison register of deeds.
2) Wisconsin Country Magazine, October 1949, May 1938, May 1955.
3) Regents Minutes, October 16, 1954,
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BACTERIOLOGY

Fig. 1. 1956, bacteriology with T-
16 still standing in front. series 9/3,
Bacteriology, ns-564]

Built in 1953 to house a rapidly expanding and world renowned bacteriology depart-
ment, the bacteriology building was named in 1977 for ex-President E. B. Fred, who
had been a member of the bacteriology faculty. A major addition was built in 1979 on
the south east corner.

acteriology at the University has had a long and distinguished history. The first class in the
B subject was taught by Dr. William Trelease in the period 1881-1883, and this may have been

the first bacteriology course taught at any American University. When Trelease left in 1883,
the courses were taken over by professor E. A. Birge, then later (1893) by his pupil, H. L. Russell.
Because of the wide range of applications of bacteriology both in the fields of medicine and agricul-
ture, the department grew rapidly. In 1914 it was decided that the department of bacteriology should
be removed from the college of Letters and Science and attached partly to the college of Agriculture,
and partly to the medical school. This division was partly due to the availability of laboratory space in
those colleges that was lacking in L&S. The quarters of the bacteriology department began in South
Hall (at that time called Agriculture Hall). In 1903, lab space was moved to the new agriculture hall
while lecture space was still in south hall. These facilities were increasingly unsuitable, as enrollment,
especially graduate enrollment grew. Early in the post WW II era the department had as many as
1600 students, and taught short courses as well.!

Planning for a new facility was begun in 1951. The regents decided on the location at Linden
and Babcock Drives in July 1951. This location required that Babcock Drive be relocated about 150
feet farther west. At the same meeting, the regents voted to release funds for architectural services on
the building. During late 1951 and early 1952 the constructional committee met with faculty and staff
to plan the new facility. The regents voted to retain Brimeyer, Grellinger and Rose of Milwaukee as
architects for bacteriology. After consulting with faculty and the planning committee during the rest
of 1951, the architects began submitting plans in April of 1952. It was clear that the first proposals
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were too large to be built with the $1.75 million appropriation, and several iterations of the design
were done during the spring of 1952. The final version reduced the original size by 92 percent. Esti-
mates made in July 1952 showed the cost to be just under the budget. In July 1952, the regents
approved the preliminary plans for bacteriology and directed the architects to prepare final plans. The
preparations of final plans and specifications took almost a full year. This was because the design of
the building was modern, the equipment and furnishings complicated, and the utilities involved. Not
until July of 1953 were contracts for construction awarded. The general contractor was J. P. Cullen
& Son of Janesville for $812,494. Total contracts awarded came to $1,706,640.2

Groundbreaking took place on July 27, 1953, and included department chairman W. C.
Frazier, professor Elizabeth McCoy and president E. B. Fred. Drawings and descriptions of the
"strikingly modern building" had been published throughout the summer of 1953 and it was hoped
that the building would be available by the fall of 1955. The site was difficult, due to the moving of
Babcock Drive, which required relaying all basic utilities on that part of campus. The extreme com-
plexity of the modern lab equipment caused many delays as specifications were altered and suppliers
located. This was the first really modern laboratory building on campus for decades, except for the
state lab of Hygiene, whose furnishings were used as a model for bacteriology.3

In August of 1955 building superintendent and professor E. M. Foster notified the faculty and
students of bacteriology that the contractors had issued keys to staff for the parts of the building that
were complete. This included floors two three and four. Gradually during the winter of 1955 the
building was turned over to the department. 1956 saw a number of problems resolved that included
defective equipment and leaking windows. The building was a four story 176 foot (E-W) by 61 foot
(N-S) rectangle, with a basement and one story lab section to the north, and a five story tower
section rose at the junction of the two rectangles.

The building was framed with steel reinforced concrete, and steel beams and columns in the
northern lab section. Floors were of poured concrete. The International style was in large part a style
of showing off the capabilities of the new construction materials. This is reflected in the entirely
horizontal lines of the facades, and the unbroken runs of aluminum windows. There are no vertical
components at all, thus demonstrating that the exterior walls were entirely non- load-bearing.

The north section of the building was comprised entirely of two very large (42 by 64 feet)
undergraduate labs. The rest of the first floor contained classrooms, many smaller laboratories, and a
lecture hall seating 175. On the second and third floors, were graduate and research labs, faculty and
staff offices. And on the fourth floor were animal rooms and labs for investigation of animal infec-
tions. The entire building was faced with red brick to match nearby agriculture buildings, and the first
floor entry lobbies were trimmed with cut stone and granite steps.

In July 1977 the regents voted to name the building after E. B. Fred, president emeritus, and
ex-bacteriology faculty member.

Within twenty years of completion the bacteriology building was too small. The crowding was
principally in the graduate office and lab areas. In 1979 a three level, 63 by 200 foot addition by
Bowen Kanazawa partnership was built on the south east corner of the building. The lowest level is
mechanical space, while the upper two levels are entirely labs and offices. The addition includes a new
entrance on the northeast side, whose windows extend around an exterior corner in the best Interna-
tional style tradition.

1) Curti and Carstensen: The University of Wisconsin, A History, v.1 p. 360; University directories; Wisconsin Alumni
Magazine, October 1914 p. 14. Oral History, E. B. Fred.
2) Regents Minutes, July 21, 1951 p. 26, January 12, 1952, July 12, 1952, July 11, 1953, Wisconsin Alumni Magazine,
October 1953, p. 17.
3) Daily Cardinal, July 30, 1953, Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, June 1953, p. 14; Wisconsin Country Magazine, May
1953 p. 9, October 1955, p. 4,
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BAND STORAGE

Fig. 1. The Band Storage building,

1995. The building is one story 36 by

100 feet of reinforced concrete with

plywood siding and cedar shingles. It

" was designed to require minimum

-+ maintenance, and has an estimated 50
year lifespan. [Author Photo, AP-60]

ofthe Chancellor's office asked David Berge, Mike Leckrone, and Dick Tipple toplana

facility to house band instruments. By June 1985 this committee had begun negotiations with
the Forest Products Lab's (FPL) director John Erickson with the aim of securing ownership of the FPL
building on campus for the storage space needed. The FPL had purchased the land holding its four
experimental buildings in the early 1960s, then returned the land to the University in the early 1970s as
part of a three way land exchange with the University and WARF. The FPL retained the ownership of
the buildings and some rights to use the land.

In 1966 the FPL constructed on this land a storage building intended for very long objects, like
wooden trusses and beams. When the University approached them about using the building for band
instruments, the FPL pointed out that they still needed the kind of storage that the building provided,
and that because of Federal constraints were not allowed to accept a cash donation for the building.
FPL's Erickson suggested that the University erect a new building for the use of the FPL on its own
property and exchange that new facility as a gift-in-kind for the existing one on the University's prop-
erty. In December 1986 the University's Tipple produced an estimate of $20,000 to build a new 40 by
80 foot building for the FPL on their property near 502 Walnut Street. On June 25, 1987 the National
"W" Club became involved in order to provide funding for the project. The club formally offered to
construct a 40 by 80 foot building for the FPL in exchange for the gift-in-kind of the old storage build-
ing to the University. The FPL agreed to this arrangement on July 1, 1987. The new building was
completed in early 1988 at which time the FPL turned over occupancy of the old building to the
University Athletic Department.

Since the smaller experimental buildings had already been given to the University, and were in
use as a day care center, the release of the band storage building marked the end of the occupancy of
the Forest Products Lab on campus property.

D iscussion ofa facility to house marching band instruments began in 1984 when Harry Peterson

1) Person to Berge, Leckrone and Tipple, August 6, 1984, Berge to Bower, June 4, 1985, Erickson to Berge, February
25, 1987, Murawski to Erickson, June 25, 1987, Erickson to Murawski, July 1, 1987, Neale to Paulson, August 13,
1987, series 4/31/9-3 box 1.
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Fig. 1. The old Bank at Park and University

! Avenue, 1995.81 by 106 feet, four stories
and a full basementbuilt of concrete, with
decorative stonework on the street facades.
The one story addition faced with lannon stone

was added in 1962. [ Author Photo, AP-14]

Central Company in 1928. They built a commercial building for $200,000 (designed by local

architect Frank Riley and built by contractor J. H. Findorff) on the site and leased it to the
University Avenue National Bank who appeared at 905 University Avenue in 1929. This bank was in
business at that location for less than two years. By 1931 the building was the home of the First Wis-
consin National Bank who stayed at 905 University Avenue for more than fifty years. The bank used
only a relatively small part of the three story building and rented the rest of the space to a succession
of local businesses and to the University.!

In 1977 the bank moved their operation out of the building and placed the building on the
market. On June 15, 1977 the First Wisconsin National bank sold the building to the University of
Wisconsin Foundation for $680,000. The Foundation makes a practice of acquiring real estate in the
campus area to preserve its availability to the University. The foundation continued to lease the
building to the University. In 1984 the foundation who, at the request of the University, had purchased
the building very quickly to prevent a commercial deal-in-progress wished to extract its investment
from the building and offered to sell the building to the University for the approximate assessed value
of $1.1 million. The University accepted this offer but the state building commission objected to the
deal on legal grounds and the state legislature finally passed a law in the 1985-1987 biennial session
that allowed the University to buy the building. The regents accepted the deed at their November 1985
meeting. They would pay the $1.1 million purchase price in monthly installments of $20,656 for six
years. At the time of purchase the building was about 85 per cent occupied by University programs
(the UW system, the UW law school, and academic counselling). The remainder of the space was held
by private businesses.

The building is now occupied principally by the McBurney Center, and an assortment of
counseling services. It may eventually be removed for expansion of Grainger Hall.

’I‘he property at the corner of University Avenue and Park Street was developed by the First

1) Madison city directories, State Historical society library; Dane county register of deeds.
2) Regent's Minutes, February 8, 1985, November 8, 1985. Laws of Wisconsin, 1985-1987, Act 29 section 8.
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BARLEY AND MALT LAB

Fig. 1. The
Barley and
Malt Labora-
tory from
Walnut Street,
c. 1960. [series
9/3, Barley and
Malt Lab, ns-

Eur I:m.m;m,.F

CWLNET ARy 'EWJH-
1-_5::#11':-1:".‘“'- = 569]

development of "present, new and extended uses of agricultural commodities and products."”

This act led in the spring of 1948 to an agreement between the federal government, in the form
of the Agricultural Research Administration, and the regents of the University. They agreed that the
government would establish at the University the national Barley and Malt Laboratory. Under the
agreements, the University would supply land, security, maintenance, and utility connections to the
lab. The government would construct and equip the building, and staff the lab.

The regents sold to the government a .72 acre parcel of land on the east side of Walnut Street
for $6000 in May 1948. The building was erected in the summer and fall of 1949. It's cost to the
government was about $200,000. It was staffed by six researchers and six laboratory technicians. The
cost to the University was about $9000 ( of state funds) for utility hookups.

The building remains the property of the federal government and as such is not technically a
part of the University physical plant.

F I Yhe federal Research and Marketing Act of 1946 provides for research on utilization and
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BARNARD HALL

Fig. 1.
Barnard
Hall from
Chadbourne
Hall shortly
after
completion,
c. 1915.
[series 26/1
Barnard
Hall, x25-
1894]

Barnard Hall was erected in 1912 as an undergraduate women's dormitory. It has
served that purpose ever since. It was the last University building faced entirely with
Madison sandstone.

sending their daughters to quarters under some university supervision ... This is not possible at the

present time for more than a part of the young women, nor does it seem likely that it will become
possible until additional women's dormitories are provided."! Van Hise was determined to raise the
level of opportunity for women students as much as possible. He began by providing the Athletic and
social center at Lathrop Hall in 1909. Soon after the completion of Lathrop Hall in 1910 agitation
began for the construction of new dormitory space.

The first and most enduring issue regarding the new dorm was where to locate it. There were
two distinct views. The first was promoted by the consulting architects Laird and Cret, who proposed
in the general plan of 1908 that the women's dorm group should be located on the Lake Mendota
shore at the approximate site of Elizabeth Waters Hall. President Van Hise supported this location,
even though it was intended for a large group of dorms and only one would be built at this time.
Another faction (led by Florence Buckstaff of the Committee of Women's Affairs) contended that
the site was too remote, and argued for a site on Park Street, to utilize the property at Park and
Langdon occupied at that time by the President's House, and currently by the Union theatre. These
opinions were so far from agreement that they had plans drawn by various architects showing the
utilization of the disputed sites.2 The disagreement smoldered on through early 1911. Then in June
1911 Laird and Cret were re-consulted, with the understanding that their original proposal was
unacceptable. On July 11, 1911 it was definitely decided to locate the dorm on University Avenue
between Chadbourne and Lathrop Halls.3 This decision was partly a compromise, but the idea of a
connecting kitchen building for Barnard and Chadbourne made the site appealing.

149

In 1906 President Charles Van Hise told the regents: "the parents of the state are desirous of



By October the plans were completed. The contract for the excavation and foundation was let
on November 6, 1911 (for $3469) to the Muskegon Engineering and Construction Co. who began
work immediately in November 1911 and finished that winter. The contract for the superstructure
was signed March 18, 1912 with the Wisconsin Construction Company of Chippewa Falls for
$109,073. This contract stipulates that the entire building excepting the kitchen building be completed
by February 1, 1913. According to the monthly reports of supervising architect Peabody, work was
slightly delayed in the summer of 1912 because of a shortage of masons and high quality stone
(Barnard was the last University building faced entirely with Madison stone). The kitchen building, a
connecting link between Barnard and Chadbourne, was intended to consolidate the dining facilities
for the women's dorms. It ran into some difficulties in the fall and winter of 1912 which not only
delayed progress on the project but cost Mr. Peabody his position as supervisor of buildings, and
earned him the censure of the regents.” The building [Barnard and the kitchen] was not finished until
June 1913.% The grand opening was held at the gymnasium at Lathrop Hall on October 11, 1913, and
featured regents Florence Buckstaff and Elizabeth Waters, ending with a reception on the Barnard
terrace and a tour of Barnard and Chadbourne Halls.”

The building consists of a 150 ft. X 85 ft. central wing running north-south, with two 42 ft.
wings extending to the east on both ends enclosing a courtyard on the east side. The two level kitchen
building connects Barnard to Chadbourne Hall from the east end of the north wing. The dorm is four
stories high above a raised basement, built of Madison sandstone with concrete floors, tile partition
walls and a tile roof. There was initially accommodation for 136 students, with rooms in the attic
reserved for 22 servants (later turned into student rooms). The basement and ground floor dining
rooms have a total capacity of 240. The total cost of the dorm was $123,500. The somewhat informal
application of the campus' Italian Renaissance style makes Barnard Hall one of the most attractive of
the buildings on the campus from the Van Hise period, although the site and landscaping, as well as
the location of new Chadbourne Hall, keep its good looks hidden from most angles.®

The news that the university had built a new women's dormitory brought new students from
all over the state (state residents, and Madison city residents were given first priority) and the facili-
ties were soon filled again. It would be another thirty years before the construction of Elizabeth
Waters Hall would add to women's dormitory space.

Barnard Hall is named for Henry Barnard, noted educator and University president (1858-
1861). Barnard Hall became for a time in the late 1950s a graduate women's dorm, set up to emulate
the Knapp graduate center for male grad students.!? It has now reverted to an undergraduate
women's dorm. With the demolition of old Chadbourne Hall, Barnard has become the oldest continu-
ously used dormitory on the university campus.

1) 4 History of University Housing, Teicher and Jenkins, p. 20.
2) Among these were Jarvis Hunt of Chicago, the consulting architect on Birge Hall, and Chicago's Shepley, Rutan and
Coolidge. There were later recrimination and lawsuits over the fees for both these firms. The designs are surprisingly
similar to the ones finally used, indicating that the regents knew pretty clearly what they wanted, if not where they
wanted it.
3) Regent's Minutes, July 11, 1911.
4) Regent's Report, 1913-1914 p. 340.
5) Mr. Peabody omitted a grade line from the drawings for the kitchen excavation and when the mistake was discov-
ered, authorized the contractor to finish the excavation without getting an official order, from Peabody's memoire,
Short Resume of University Buildings p. 20. University Archives Peabody biographical folder.
6) Regent's Report, 1913-1914 p. 340.
7) The Daily Cardinal, October 11, 1913.
8) Regent's Report, 1913-1914, p. 340.
9) It is ironic that the building honoring Dr. Barnard should be a dormitory since he was expressly opposed to them.
See Thwaites p. 73 fnl.
10) Daily Cardinal, April 17, 1959, p. 3.
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BASCOM HALL

Fig 2. New portico, new dome, new south wing. c.

Fig 1. The 'Main Edifice' c. 1880 [9/1 Bascom 1900. [Bascom folder #2, jf5]
Hall folder #1, x25-839]

Fig. 3. Dire combustion and
confus'd events, the burning of
Main Hall Oct. 10,1916.
Students from the nearby
Engineering building (visible
on the roof in the picture) tried
to put the fire out, but the fire
hoses were so rotted that they
would deliver no water to the
blaze. [9/1, Bascom Hall Fire,
x25-2359]

Bascom Hall (designed by William Tinsley) was opened in 1859 as the first
entirely instructional building at the University. Its construction and financing
caused the University considerable difficulty and embarrassment. It was
known variously as the Main edifice, University Hall, and finally Bascom
Hall. It was added to in 1899, 1905 and 1927. Its dome was lost in a 1916

fire.

n his 1852 Annual Report to the Regents, Chancellor Lathrop states "After the completion of the
second dormitory building [South Hall], I shall not be disposed to recommend the application of

17



any farther portion of the present endowment to building purposes. The balance will barely be
sufficient for a permanent productive fund."! If by this statement Lathrop meant that the building days
of the University (from the original endowment) were near an end, his resolve did not survive the
decade. Only four years after Lathrop's indisposition for more building, the regents say: "The whole
number of students for the year ending December 17th 1856 is 169 an increase of more than fifty on
the numbers for 1855 ... it has become a matter of strict necessity to proceed to the erection of the
main edifice of the University." 2 By the time Main Hall was opened on August 10, 1859, the finances
and to a degree the reputation of the University were seriously damaged. What did the regents expect
to build?

This building is designed for public rooms, for recitation, lecture, library, cabinet, apparatus. It

will contain also, the astronomical observatory, the working laboratory, apartments suitable to

the residence of two families of the faculty, the principal dining hall for the use of Students,
and a chapel. All the departments in Science, Literature and Arts and in the professional
schools of Medicine and Law will find ample accommodation in the proposed edifice.?

Later it would be made to serve as a drill hall and a water tower too. It is difficult to imagine
that a board of men experienced in business and the University's operation could have seriously
believed that it was possible to do all that with a building that they could afford to erect. To pay for it
the regents asked the legislature for a loan from the university fund of $35,000 to build the main
edifice. The 1857 legislature responded with authorization for a $40,000 loan (from the University's
original endowment fund). The regents gave in part the following instructions to the building commit-
tee (made up of some regents): "In a word it should be plain, substantial, comfortable and exactly
adapted to the purposes for which it is designed and no other."* In a word it would be none of these
things. The plan selected by the building committee was submitted by William Tinsley of Indianapolis.
Mr. Tinsley's biographer says: "As originally designed and built [see fig. 1], it was a handsome and
dignified if somewhat pompous, edifice in the grand manner of the high Italian Renaissance ."

By the time Tinsley's plan was announced the building committee could also report that the
contract for the building had been "awarded to James Campbell of Madison for the entire work
complete, at $36,550." The contract called for completion of the entire structure by November 1,
1858.

This was slightly disingenuous of the committee who would later report that when they first
put the contract out there were no bids at or under the total appropriations for the work ($40,000).
To circumvent this difficulty, the committee reduced the project's specifications until they got a bid
under the limit. The problems with this method of meeting a budget were immediately obvious. The
new plan did not include a basement, or once the basement was put back in the plan, the necessary
structural strength or finishing for the upper levels of the building. As construction commenced these
items were put back in the plan in the belief that they could be paid for from the excess income from
the endowment fund. ’

Adding to these machinations were a nationwide financial panic in 1857, and contractors who
were increasingly skeptical of the financial solidity of the University. It is not surprising then that the
committee states in referring to the regents involvement in the construction of the main edifice: "The
history of their financial affairs is one of considerable embarrassment".® Some of this embarrassment
was due to an unsympathetic legislature. At several points in the construction process money to pay
for the work was generated by selling bonds at 10% to local citizens. At last when the building was
opened for use in August 1859 it was a year late, and had cost over $60,000, a cost overrun of 50 per
cent. It also had unfinished rooms on the upper level, and a roof that leaked badly. The board of
regents in 1860 admitted that the affair had been difficult and embarrassing, and that the financial
resources of the university had been and would be restricted for years.”
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Fig 4. Modern configuration of Bascom Hall c. 1955. [series 9/1, Bascom folder #3 ns-640]

What had the University gotten for all this effort and cost in dollars and credibility? The
regents say in 1860:

Though ... it may be criticized in some of its parts, it is upon the whole the best building for

educational purposes that has yet been erected in the West ... the central point of educational

interest in Wisconsin for generations yet to come. !0

The first hints of how well the building was designed came early. In 1859 President Barnard
hired a professor of hygiene, Dr. David B. Reid, known as the man who ventilated Parliament. Dr.
Reid left after one year declaring what they needed was heat rather than ventilation . Students who
had known this from the first cold days, kept warm by huddling over fires built on the basement
floor.!!

Within twenty years of the its opening University Hall was being described as "never a fortu-
nate building ... very small, ill-furnished and ill-ventilated"!2 The board of visitors in 1882 referred to
the "criminally stupid method" of ventilating the main building !3.

The edifice intended for generations to come needed rebuilding before the second generation
had gone, due mainly to a large and rapid increase in enrollment. When University Hall was begun
[1857] there were 169 students. By 1892 the enrollment had passed the one thousand mark. Since in
the intervening years no other building intended for the general student body had been erected, the
crowding was fierce. A new portico with wider stairways was built in 1895. A new dome followed in
1898. After repeated failures of the legislature to appropriate more funds for the alleviation of the
crowding, in 1899 the regents report the completion of the south wing addition to University Hall
which doubled the number of classrooms, added plumbing, provided a lecture hall with a capacity of
347 and allowed the University's administrative officers to return from their temporary exile in the
recently finished Law Building. Of the south wing addition [see fig 2], the regents make this mysteri-
ous statement:

The architects—Messrs. Ferry and Clas—have succeeded in the difficult task of remodelling
an old building of inferior architectural appearance into a dignified and impressive edifice,
while preserving almost unchanged the essential features of the older structure.!’
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The plans by Ferry and Clas included a provisional north wing identical to the south wing.
The construction of this north wing was deferred until 1905 when the enrollment had passed 3000. In
1904 the regents report declares: "the construction of the north wing has begun and will be ready for
occupancy by the end of 1906."1¢ Those old grads who mourned the alteration of the old campus
landmark were reassured: "The completion of the new north wing ... will add a charm which even
alumni of early days will not be slow to recognize."!’

The charm was nearly lost forever when in October of 1916 a fire of unknown origin com-
pletely destroyed the dome of University Hall [see fig. 3]. Though the regents took it calmly, it had
been a very near miss. The long forgotten water supply tank in the base of the dome doused the blaze
when the dome collapsed into it, saving the rest of the structure. The dome was never replaced.!8

In 1927 nearly unnoticed in the uproar over the construction of the Memorial Union, a large
and badly needed theater wing (originally conceived of as a liberal arts building) was added to the
west (back) side of University Hall. The theatre was dedicated May 18, 1927. Except for interior
remodelling this completed the modern [1993] configuration of the building [see fig. 4].

The name of the building was originally the main edifice, then (July 1859) University Hall, and
in June 1920 under president Edward Birge became Bascom Hall, perhaps with the same sense of
irony that led Birge to rename Ladies Hall Chadbourne Hall, since it was Bascom who in 1880 had
referred to University Hall as "never a fortunate building".

1) Regents Report of the University of Wisconsin 1852 p. 22.

2) Regents Report of the University of Wisconsin 1856 p. 10.

3) Regents Report of the University of Wisconsin 1856 p. 11.

4) Regents Minutes April 14, 1857.

5) Forbes, Victorian Architect, p. 82. Forbes goes on: "The most reasonable hypothesis is that in hiring Tinsley the
regents gave him considerable latitude but specified that University Hall must conform fairly closely to the general
pattern and aspect of the long-accepted Rague drawings." These John F. Rague drawings were the original campus
plan, calling for four dormitories and a main edifice on College Hill. These drawing have been long since lost.

6) Report of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin 1857 p. 35. Documents list payment authorization to
Campbell March 10, 1860 by supervising architect Joseph Chatterson. (Memorial Library Archives series 1/1/3/6).
7) Report of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin 1860 p. 5.

8) Report of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin 1860 p. 9.

9) Report of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin 1860 p. 5.

10) Report of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin 1860 p. 6.

11) Daily Cardinal Aug. 11 1959, p. 5.

12) Report of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin 1880 p. 27.

13) Report of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin 1882 p. 51.

14) Report of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin 1899-1900 p. 8.

15) Report of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin 1904-06 p. 13. Daily Cardinal, November 1, 1895.

16) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, May 1906 p. 370.

17 Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, May 1906 p. 367.

18) Daily Cardinal Aug. 11, 1959 p. 5. A collection was taken up by the class of 1923 to be used for a new dome or a
clock tower on library mall. The latter use was made of the fund.
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Fig. 1. Schlimgen building
1993. Designed by Claude
S s 4 and Starck and built in 1913
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as Schlimgen Monuments,
the building was purchased
by the University in 1946,
and used as a home for
various extension depart-
ments. It became the home
of the Bureau of Audio
Visual Instruction in 1964,
and now houses art studios.
[Author Photo, AP-10]

new one-story building (designed by local architects Claude and Starck) was built on that site

by Fred M. Schlimgen. Schlimgen opened Schlimgen Monuments. The building was built
with careful consideration of its intended purpose; support columns and beams are very massive, to
carry the weight of the chunks of granite and marble. The front is decorated with slabs of Wisconsin
red granite, and originally had large picture windows with "prism lights" above the windows (covered
in the 1960s). Schlimgen operated the monument shop until his death in September 1931. The prop-
erty passed into the hands of Fred's wife and children. It was rented to the Rundle-Spence Manufac-
turing Company, a maker of plumbing supplies. !

They were the occupants as of August 7, 1946 when the regents purchased the land and
building for $75,000. The regents approved not only the $75,000 purchase price, but a further
$25,000 for remodelling the building. The plans for the remodelling were carried out immediately
after purchase and by the fall semester of 1947 the building was occupied by the university extension
division. A shed built as a stable and storage shed by Schlimgen on the west side of the property used
for years by the extension, was demolished during the rebuilding of Johnson Street in the 1960s, and
it was discovered that the footings and foundations of the shed had been built from discarded tomb-
stones, cracked, flawed, or misspelled. The 1947-48 catalogue lists debating and public discussion
and Wisconsin idea theatre as having faculty and offices at the building. This was in the period which
saw the Extension trying to lose its "just agriculture' image, and the new building helped house
services for the general, non-farming citizen.?

Throughout the 1950s and early 1960s these community service programs came and went in
the old Schlimgen building. Then in 1964 the building became the home of the Bureau of Audio
Visual Instruction (B. A. V. I.) who stayed until 1994 when the art department moved in.

ﬁ s early as 1902 there was a commercial building at 1327 University Avenue. Then in 1913 a

1) Madison city directories; Dane County Register of deeds.
2) University directories, University Archives.
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Z0OFE BAYLISS HOUSE

'~ _ Fig. 1. Zoe Bayliss House 1994: a 32
g - " by 91 foot basement and three floors
BBl - = built of concrete block and poured
& concrete. Minimal housing for 50
women students. [ Author Photo, AP-

undergraduate women earned all or part of their college expenses, and many were entirely

self supporting. The regents decided to build cooperative dormitories after the successful
pattern of the Tabard Inn, the Anderson House, and the co-op houses in the Kronshage group. They
began by building low cost co-ops for 100 students. Because space was no longer available on the
campus proper, the regents decided to build in the area south of University Avenue. By July 1954 the
site of the women's dorm had been settled as 915 W. Johnson Street, and planning was begun by
architects Weiler and Strang of Madison. The plans for the building were approved by the regents on
January 8, 1955. A budget of $176,778 was set in March 1955, and late that month contracts were
awarded. General contractor was George Nelson and Son of Madison, for $157,000. Funding was
arranged through the Wisconsin Building Corporation.!

Groundbreaking took place on March 30, 1955. Trucking strikes, bad weather and material
shortage delayed construction slightly during the summer of 1955. The fifty members of the new co-
op lived for the first three weeks of the fall semester on the fourth floor of old Chadbourne Hall, and
completed their move to the new dorm on October 11, 1955. Their room and board in that first year
was $53 per month. The members of the cooperative were responsible for all work except that done
by the two paid employees, the housemother and the cook.2

Laundry, kitchen and dining rooms were in the basement. The first floor held six bedrooms,
and the housemother's suite. On the two top floor were 20 more bedrooms, and a library. All rooms
were doubles and were mostly eleven by thirteen feet with built-in closets. The regents named the co-
op after Zoe Burrell Bayliss, assistant dean of women from 1928- 19433

Bayliss is the only one of the original four (Bayliss, Schreiner, Rust and Davis) still operating
as a co-op. Costs are now about $2,500 per year.

ﬁ 1954 study of students at the University showed that 88% of undergraduate men and 73% of

1) Low-cost housing for single men and single women: a memorandum for discussion with the state building commis-
sion, April 22, 1954; Regent's Minutes, September 25, 1954, March 12, 1955, January 8, 1955, May 8, 1954, October
10, 1955, November 14, 1953, June 16, 1955, May 7, 1955.
2) Daily Cardinal, October 11, 1955, November 30, 1956, Registration Issue, 1956.
3) Regent's Minutes, December 10, 1955; Daily Cardinal, June 11, 1943.
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Fig. 1. Agricultural Chem-
istry Building from the
southeast, just visible at the
left of the picture is the
1939 addition. [series 9/3
Biochemistry, x25-6365]

Biochemistry was built to alleviate the severe crowding in agriculture hall in 1912. It
was added to in 1939, 1957 and 1984. A further addition is planned for 1996. The
building is significant for a number of brilliant scientists ( including Babcock,
Elvehjem, Steenbock, Link and De Luca) who worked there. The building was placed
on the National Register of Historic Places in 1985.

y 1910 agriculture hall was on the path previously followed by science hall, that of spawning
B myriad disciplines and departments needing space and special accommodations outside the

parent building. Agricultural engineering, horticulture, plant pathology and agronomy, had
already left their cradles in Agriculture Hall and moved into specialized facilities nearby. In his report
to the regents in 1909-1910, president Van Hise says: "A consideration of the laboratory space in the
central agriculture hall leads Dean Russell to conclude that agricultural chemistry and bacteriology
cannot possibly be accommodated for three years longer."!

Dean Russell's report (written in October 1910) shows the magnitude of the space problem. In
Agriculture Hall for agricultural chemistry and bacteriology there was lab space for 30 students and
locker space for 83 for courses which the sophomore class was required to take. Advanced work had
facilities for only four or five. Russell proposed the construction of a fireproof central unit for agri-
cultural chemistry, to contain offices, classrooms, a large (350-400 seat) auditorium, and a laboratory
wing with space for at least 150 students at a time, and including space for special work and research
labs. Russell proposed that the building be planned for additions in later years as conditions de-
manded. He argued that the space released in Agriculture Hall could be remodelled and used for
bacteriology. Russell estimated that the new building would cost about $60,000- $75,000, and the
remodelling in Agriculture Hall for bacteriology about $2,500.2

The college of agriculture under Russell had considerable clout both in the university and
legislature, so it is not surprising that by April 6, 1911, the regents include on their wants list of new
educational buildings, an Agricultural Chemistry Building at an estimated cost of $90,000. Most of
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Fig. 2. July 5,
1931, the
funeral proces-
sion of Stephen
M. Babcock
passes his old
emeritus offices,
in Agricultural
Chemistry. Note
the flags at half-
mast, [X25-
3077]

i 9,

the rest of 1911 is taken up with developing suitable plans. These plans were developed by the mem-
bers of the 1908 architectural commission of Warren Laird, Paul Cret and Arthur Peabody. In August
the regents approved plans as drawn and presented by Peabody?, then changed their mind and se-
lected a design by Laird and Cret that better harmonized with the existing building on Henry Mall. 4
By December, 1911, the regents decide on a final design.’

By this time the foundation of the building was complete, having been let to the Madison
Engineering and Construction Co. (in October 1911) for $2410. Work was begun November 7, 1911.
Mr. Peabody says that the horses have trouble with the digging because of the sudden rain and hard
freeze. On May 31, of 1912 the regents award the contract for construction of the building to the
W. H. Grady and Company of St. Paul, for $65,025. The contractor Grady, flew the coop (with
$77,000 of the university's and subcontractor's money), defaulting on both his (biochemistry and
home economics) contracts, and landed in Los Angeles. The regents held a special meeting on May
21, 1913, in which the failures of the Grady contract are set down, and the contracts terminated, and
the regents take possession of the premises for the purpose of finishing the work.® The university
finished the building itself, with Mr. Peabody acting as general contractor.

By October 1913, a year after the project was supposed to be occupied, mason and concrete
work were completed; plaster and trim work were underway, equipment and fixtures were ordered
and arriving. The building was finished in December 1913 at a cost of about $83,000. Mr. Peabody
describes it:

It consists of a central portion 108 feet by 65 feet fronting on University Avenue with

awing 134 feet by 52 feet facing on the Lesser [Henry] Mall. The building is basement

and two stories high and has a floor area of 30,000 square feet ... The architectural

treatment correspond with the Agronomy and Agricultural Engineering Buildings

immediately north ... It is of fireproof construction with concrete floors and tile parti-

tion walls. The roof is covered with red tile. The building contains a lecture room with

a capacity of 350 ... This completes the group on the west side of the Lesser [Henry]

Mall and forms the eastern limit of the College of Agriculture.’

The agricultural chemistry building (the department name changed to biochemistry in 1938)
has become the site of more significance than any other building in the college of agriculture, with the
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p— Fig. 3. Outline of Bio-
1912 chemistry and its additions,
through 1996.
1954 1939

1984

exception of Agriculture Hall, which was the birthplace of so many departments. From the earliest
days scientific giants had facilities here: Stephen Babcock, Harry Steenbock, E. B. Hart, Conrad
Elvehjem, Karl Paul Link, E. V. McCallum and Hector DeLuca. The work of Babcock, McCallum
and Steenbock discovered vitamins A and B and their purification and importance in nutrition (1913-
1920). E. B. Hart invented iodized salt as a goiter preventative. Steenbock discovered (1923) irradia-
tion of food to increase vitamin D levels, leading to the world famous Steenbock process for eliminat-
ing rickets (an early source of income for the WARF organization). Elvehjem in 1937 discovered a
cure for pellagra by isolating nictonic acid (vitamin B2). Karl Paul Link discovered the anticoagulant
blood factor Dicumeral (1948) and developed the pesticide Warfarin (another major source of funds
for WARF). Hector DeLuca isolated and synthesized the hormones derived from vitamin D.8

As the reputation of the department grew it attracted more and more students and researchers
and the building became insufficient for the department's needs. The first addition was made in 1939-
1941, when local architects Law, Law and Potter designed the matching wing on the west end [see
Fig. 3] of the original block. This $285,000 wing was funded by Public Works Administration and the
Wisconsin Alumni Research Foundation (WARF). This building project represented the first time that
WAREF ever used their resources to fund University construction.” The general contractor was
George Nelson and Son. This first addition is decorated with murals in stairwells and laboratories by
the great John Steuart Curry.

In 1953-1957 a modern section to the north was designed by Foeller, Schober, Bernard,
Safford and Jahn of Green Bay, and built by Findorff, for $1.3 million, also with WARF funding.

The six-story section to the north (by Bowen, Williamson and Zimmermann of Madison) was
completed in 1984.The 1996 NMR facility designed and built by Flad and Associates will be built to
the west and take over the grounds now occupied by the horticulture greenhouses.[see Fig. 3.]

1) Regent's Report, 1909-1910, p. 40.

2) Regent's Report, 1909-1910, pp. 172-173.

3) Regent's Minutes, August 30, 1911.

4) Regent's Minutes, October 11, 1911.

5) Regent's Minutes, December 13, 1911.

6) Regent's Minutes, May 21, 1913.

7) Regent's Report, 1913-1914 p. 341.

8) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, July/August, 1982 p. 7. Nomination Papers for the National Register of Historic

Places, State Historical Society Library, Historic Preservation Office.

9) Wisconsin Country Magazine, November 1938 p. 6; February, 1940 p. 10.
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BIOTECHNOLOGY

Fig. 1.
Biotechnol-
ogy, March
1995, just
before
opening. The
camera is
looking

University
Avenue.
[Author
Photo, AP-
62]

Built in 1993, the $30 million Genetics/ Biotechnology Building extended, updated and
consolidated the University's decades old facilities for research into the biological
sciences.

building proposal in that year it was made clear that the twenty year old Genetics laboratory

building was severely undersized and outmoded. Much of this problem was due to the chang-
ing nature of genetic research. In 1963 when the building was new, a genetics research lab could
consist of nothing but a bench for a microscope, ears of corn and a mink pelt. By the 1980s, room was
needed for ultracentrifuges, chromatography columns, and other bulky expensive and sometimes noisy
equipment. In addition the faculty of the genetics department had grown much larger as new discover-
ies and techniques caused an influx of students and researchers into the field. This crowding had led to
the extreme subdivision of the lab space in the building, and to the fragmenting of the Genetics faculty
as professors were housed in other buildings around the campus. Equally bad the building contained
very little classroom space, since it had been design mainly as a laboratory building. All these factors
pointed to the serious need for a new facility. As usual with major building projects there were two
major issues: where to put the new building and how to pay for it.!

474

ﬁ s early as 1983, the space problems for the department of Genetics was becoming crucial. In a



In the next several years, a number of proposals were generated to alleviate the crowding in
the genetics building. One was to move the state lab of hygiene from Henry Mall to the new Clinical
Science Center, and use the Stovall labs building as an annex to Genetics. Although nothing came of
this idea, the concept of an annex to the existing building was to be acted on in a later plan. The most
significant step taken during this period was the establishment in November 1984 of the Biotechnology
Center. The center coordinates research and development among more than 100 research faculty
across the campus. Because of the lack of space in the Genetics building, the Biotechnology Center
was assigned 3000 square feet in the Enzyme Institute. Within a year the Center had attracted more
than a million dollars in funding. This quick and substantial success in attracting money would prove
to be part of the way out of the funding problems for the Genetics laboratory in general 2

A 1985 project proposal by a building committee under chairman Millard Susman first pro-
poses a major building intended to alleviate the space problems of all the various disciplines under
the heading of Genetics. The disciplines proposed as tenants of the new building included Genetics,
medical Genetics, Clinical Genetics (then housed mainly in the Waisman Center), Biotechnology, and
a large amount of shared space. The purposes of such an approach was dictated by the high level of
interaction among these disciplines, the high growth rate in some of them, and the equipment and
facilities needs shared by them. This proposal did not specifically address siting or funding of the
building, but recommended that it be near the existing Genetics building to provide proximity to the
Medical School, and the departments of the College of Agriculture, with which the Genetics lab
traditionally interacted. By 1986 Susman's committee was recommending that the building be erected
in three phases on the site of parking lot twenty, between the McArdle Lab building and University
Avenue. It was envisioned that funding would be entirely from the state and might take six years to
complete.

Early in 1988, when it became clear that state funding for such a large project would be very
difficult to get, the University decided to apply for federal funds. Chancellor Donna Shalala began to
lobby Senator Robert Kasten for his help in securing federal financing for the Biotechnology and
Genetics building. She cited the strong support of governor Thompson and the long and strong history
of Genetics research at the University. Kasten became committed to the project and in September 1988
the Congress appropriated $50,000 for a feasibility study for the new building. This money was in
addition to a March 1988 state appropriation of $490,000 for planning. A building proposal from July
1988 recommended that the new building be adjacent to and connected to the existing Genetics build-
ing. It was proposed that the building hold a large number of large labs, four lecture halls, common
space and shared equipment areas. Although funding is not discussed, the proposal states that "The
potential for grant support for the Biotechnology Center is tremendous".*

During 1989 the funding issue was generally developed. An early estimate of cost was $26.3
million. The federal feasibility study suggested that federal funds provide half of the cost. In March
1989, the regents voted to ask the Vilas estate trustees to create a fund for the project to accumulate
$10 million from the Vilas income over five years. This request was granted . Chancellor Shalala
informed governor Tommy Thompson that the project would require $3.2 million in state funding.
Thompson was a strong backer of the project and lent it his support, promising additional state money
once the federal funding was resolved. In August 1989 the state selected architects Hammel, Green
and Abrahamson for the project. During late 1989 the siting of the building received more attention,
when the demolition of the old Wisconsin High School was proposed. The state did a historic building
evaluation and concluded that the building was disposable. In January 1990 a schedule was developed
for the vacating of the building. By the time of the architects study of April 1990, the site on Henry
Mall was resolved.’

In late 1990 Congress appropriated $3 million for the project. The University decided to
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partially fund the building with the WISTAR program. WISTAR is state bonding to provide matching
funds for federal grants. The regents approved WISTAR funding for the Biotechnology Center in
February 1991. In October 1991 Congress appropriated $7.6 million for the project.®

The regents approved the final plans in February 1992. Contracts were let on May 28, 1993 to
J. H. Findorff for $11.3 million, and ground-breaking took place on June 17, 1993. In December 1992
the regents approved the construction of a $3 million parking ramp on lot twenty behind the new
building; ramp construction was begun in the fall of 1994. The Biotechnology Center was opened in
the fall of 1995. The parking ramp on lot 20 was completed in the winter of 1995-1996.7

The building is five stories, 176 by 142 feet. The front of the building is only four stories to
match the scale of other Henry Mall buildings. The four story section has a red tile roof, and is con-
nected to the genetics building on the north. The building is faced with brick and trimmed with precast
concrete and stainless steel.

1) The Laboratory of Genetics, October 1983, Susman to Campus Planning Committee, February 8, 1984, Walsh to
Shain, June 15, 1984, series 4/31/9-3 box 3.
2) Laboratory of Genetics, A Major Project, November 1985, series 4/31/9-3 box 3.
3) Laboratory of Genetics, A Major Project, November 1985, Memorandum, Burgess and Susman to Campus Planning
Committee, February 19, 1986, series 4/31/9-3 box 3.
4) Walsh to Shalala, March 3, 1988, Shalala to Kasten, May 9, 1988, series 4/31/9-3 box 3; Wisconsin State Journal,
September 28, 1988.
5) Wisconsin State Journal, March 9, 1989, March 15, 1989, March 30, 1989; Milwaukee Sentinel, February 18,
1989, March 14, 1989; Regent's Minutes, February 10, 1989, March 10, 1989; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, May/
June 1989 p. 12; Walsh to Macari, October 1989, Denniston to Walsh, November 2, 1989, Shalala to Thompson,
February 14, 1990, series 4/31/9-3 box 3; Capital Times, February 13, 1990; Wisconsin State Journal, February 16,
1990; Daily Cardinal, February 14, 1990; Site Density Study for Laboratories, Hammel Green and Abrahamson, April
25, 1990, series 4/31/9-3 box 3.
6) Daily Cardinal, October 23, 1990; Badger Herald, July 19, 1990; UW Clipsheet, October 7, 1991, UW News
Release, June 7, 1991, series 4/31/9-3 box 3; Budget January 17, 1990, series 4/31/9-3 box 3. Agency Request for
State Building Commission Action, September 1991, series 4/31/9-3 box 3; Regent's Minutes, February 8, 1991.
7) Regent's Minutes, February 7, 1992, December 11, 1992. Brandherm to Brown, May 28, 1993, State Department of
Administration, office of Patricia Hillestadt; UW News Release, June 15, 1993, June 16, 1993, October 25, 1995;
Daily Cardinal, October 26, 1995.
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BIOTRON

Fig. 1.
Biotron
c. 1965.
[series 9/
3,
Biotron,
ns-701]

The biotron was erected in 1964 to provide a laboratory in which plant and animal
experiments could be done which required close control of climate, disease and
other environmental factors.

campus. It is not the exclusive domain of any one department, and when it was built it was the
only facility of'its kind in the world.

The genesis of the biotron came from the report of a study internal to the National Science
Foundation (NSF) in 1959. This study, conducted by the Botanical Society of America, stated the need
for a facility devoted to controlled-climate experimentation on both plants and animals. Subsequent to
this report the NSF invited institutions including UW to submit research proposals relating to such a
facility. The University appointed a committee to develop a proposal. The Biotron committee was
made up of botanists, zoologists and biochemists. It was chaired by Folke Carl Skoog, professor of
Botany. After considering all proposals the NSF in June 1959 selected the University of Wisconsin as
the recipient of the $1.5 million grant for the construction of the Biotron. !

The purpose of the Biotron was to provide scientists a way to study plants and animals in
environments that could be controlled accurately with respect to temperature, humidity, disease, insect
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population and other environmental criteria. The facility would be open to qualified researchers from institu-
tions other thanthe UW. Atthattime (1959) there were a few limited facilities scattered around the world
(including atthe UW) for climate-controlled experimentation on plants (phytotrons), but there were no
facilities that combined such labs for both plants and animals. The design and construction of the Biotron
wouldbe avoyage in largely uncharted waters.

By the end of June 1959 the Biotron construction committee (chaired by professor Robert A.
Burris of biochemistry) had selected a site between the creek and the Walnut Street greenhouses, and
south of Observatory Drive. In September 1959 the regents approved this choice. A meeting of world
leaders in the controlled environment field was held in December 1959, and many ideas and direc-
tions were discussed for the Biotron. The next major decision of the committee was the appointment of
a director of the Biotron. The choice went to Dr. Harold Senn of Ottowa, where he headed the Cana-
dian government's plant research laboratories. Dr. Senn came to Madison September 1, 1960. He
would prove to be a dynamic and highly effective leader of the Biotron effort.2

When Dr. Senn came to the project, the building committee had already developed the basic
form of the building and its contents. It was to be a one story building of about 21,000 square feet, split
nearly equally between plant and animal labs. The initial goal was to be able to mimic any environ-
ment on earth, including the extremes of the poles, but estimated costs were so high that the range was
restricted to central Canada to the Argentine. It was assumed that the real extremes could be added
later if needed. Animal sizes from mice to giraffes were discussed. In May 1960, architects Grassold
and Johnson were chosen, along with several specialty contractors for mechanical and electrical
systems, which were anticipated to be outside the normal range of sub-contractors.>

Serious reservations were already heard about the budget. The 1960 estimate of utility hookups
to the relatively remote site was about $160,000, or more than ten percent of the total available bud-
get. In November 1961 the planners estimated that the cost of the facility if built to fully realize the
vision of the NSF and the Biotron committee would be $5.3 million. They further estimated that with
all nonessentials removed the basic facility would cost $4 million. The NSF approved the plans but would
offerno further grants. However the NSF agreed to regard the original $1.5 million as a contribution toward
the project, which allowed the committee to seek other sources of funding. This drive for additional funding
became the central difficulty in the entire project. Some attempts were made to design the facility in stages, a
technique thathad worked with more conventional University buildings, but which proved unwieldy with the
complex high-tech Biotron. As Dr. Sennsaid it will be "more like a machine than a building" *

InMay 1962 the National Institutes of Health (NIH) granted a $ 1 million matching grant for the
Biotron. But by July 1962 the regents were informed that approximately $4 million was committed for
the project and approved the preparations of preliminary plans for a building to cost an estimated $4.2
million. The official notification of the bulk of the money came in January 1963 when the Ford Foun-
dation contributed $1.7 million. Construction was now estimated to start around July 1963. The NSF
warned the University that further delays might jeopardize the original grant. Throughout late 1963 the
planners struggled to master the technical problems in time to prepare final plans for construction.
They were now aiming for spring 1964 as a starting date.’

A budget of $4.2 million was approved by the regents in May 1964. When bids were opened
on June 25, 1964 they were $775,000 over budget. Director Senn immediately applied to the Ford
Foundation, the NSF, and NASA, who all responded negatively. The Wisconsin state building com-
mission agreed to match up to $500,000 of private funds. The Biotron committee made some reduc-
tions in the plan, and took alternate bids to reduce costs by $178,000. In August Dr. Senn was notified
that the NSF could supply $300,000 to match the state money. This grant at last provided the total
necessary to let contracts for construction.®

Construction contracts were let by the regents in August 1964. Total contracts were for $4.8
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million. The general contractor was J. H. Findorff & Son for $857,227. The funds were obtained as follows:
the NSF, $1.5 million, the NIH $1 million, the Ford Foundation $1.7 million, the state building commission
and the NSF supplemental grant $613,000. During the frantic efforts to complete funding, a groundbreaking
ceremony had been held on August27, 1964. Estimated completion was for fall 1966. The shell ofthe
building was completed and the roofinstalled by July 1, 1965. The difficultand complex mechanical and
electrical systems were begun the same month. Heating and ventilating work was begun in September 1965.
Dr. Senn began to escort visitors and distribute users manuals to potential researchers.”

ByMay 1, 1966 mostly air-conditioning work remained. In late 1966 as the completion deadline
was missed again, most delays were caused by thenon delivery of U. S government surplus equipment that
hadbeen utilized during the cost reduction efforts. December 1967 saw the testing of major mechanical
systems, with failures ofa water supply main, and the nonperformance of some environmental controls.
Although some systems were still under test, first plants were grown in March 1967, and the first formal
research project was initiated in May, 1967. The official dedication was not held until September 18-19,
1970, nearly twelve years after the start of the project.®

The finished structure was a windowless rectangle of 151 by 209 feet 46 feet high sheathed in
face brick with some cut stone trim over concrete block walls and reinforced concrete frame, a small
first floor entry way on the north side allows entrance from Observatory Drive. The labs are on two
floors, with a third level containing the maze of pipes and wiring of the mechanical systems. There are
48 climate controlled labs.

Notable experiments in the Biotron include the 1977 hatching of 4 eggs of the nearly extinct
Siberian Crane. This and research on the effects of air-pollution and pesticides on rhesus monkeys
have brought international attention to the Biotron. Animals from mice, to pigs, have been accommo-
dated. Director Dr. Theodore Kozlowski says that in a pinch an elephant could be handled. Proposals
for Biotron experiments can be submitted by anyone holding the rank of assistant professor or above.
Since the Biotron is the domain of no single department, it is administered by the graduate school and
its committee. The remarkable biotron is a jewel in the crown of Wisconsin's great University.”

1) Regent's Minutes, July 11, 1959, exhibit A, September 12, 1959; Research Proposal to the National Science
Foundation for construction and equipping of a biotron, Burris to Wendt, October 6, 1959, Biotron building committee
meeting minutes, December 21, 1959, NSF to Elvehjem, June 30, 1959, series 24/9/2 box 12; The Biotron, c. October
1961, series 54/0/3 box 188. Capital Times, August 14, 1959.

2) Froker to Elvehjem, June 22, 1959, series 4/0/3 box 188; Biotron building committee meeting minutes, June 22,
1960, series 24/9/2 box 12; Wisconsin State Journal, August 19, 1960; Regent's Minutes, September 12, 1959.

3) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, June 1961, p. 16.

4) Burris to Wendt, June 13, 1960, series 24/9/2 box 12; Waterman to Elvehjem, August 11, 1961, Memo, July 18,
1961, Moseman to Senn, October 10, 1961, Review of the Biotron Project by Harold Senn, April 30, 1962, Notes on
Conference Re Biotron, November 6, 1963, series 4/0/3 box 188; Wisconsin State Journal, August 26, 1964;

5) Peterson to Schmehl, May 22, 1962, Review of the Biotron Project by Harold Senn, April 30, 1962, Peterson to
Schmehl, January 30, 1963, Stamberg to Peterson, February 4, 1963, Memorandum, Sites to Kinne et al, November 5,
1963, series 4/0/3 box 188; Regent's Minutes, July 13, 1962;

6) Senn to Harrington, August 14, 1964, Harrington to Senn, July 14, 1964, Peterson to Wisconsin State Building
Commission, July 27, 1964, Biotron Construction Budget, April 1964, series 4/0/3 box 188.

7) Regent's Minutes, August 14, 1964, exhibit G; Wisconsin State Journal, August 26, 1964; Daily Cardinal, Septem-
ber 28, 1964; Biotron Progress reports, October 1964, July 1965, October 1965, November 1965, series 40/1/7-1
box 53;

8) Biotron Progress reports, October 1, 1965, November 1, 1965, January, may, June, October and November 1966,
series 40/1/7-1 box 53; Biotron Progress Reports, March, April and May 1967, series 24/9/3 box 8; Capital Times,
July 21, 1966; History of the Biotron, Dedication brochure, Archives Biotron subject file.

9) Wisconsin State Journal, July 3, 1978; Madison Press Connection, November 14, 1979;
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BIRGE HALL

Fig. 1. Front
(north)

. entrance of
E‘ Birge Hall, c.
- 1950. [series
9/1 Birge
Hall, ]

Designed to alleviate the crowding of Science Hall, Birge Hall (then known as the
Botany building), opened in August of 1912. A ten story wing was added on the west
side in 1956, and the library section on the east in 1980. The building was renamed
Birge Hall in 1950.

en Science Hall was designed in the 1880s it was believed to be large enough to house all
known science departments for the indefinite future. By 1900 some of these departments

(i.e. engineering, physics and chemistry) had already outgrown their space in science hall.
The life sciences were close behind. In 1905 Dean of Letters and Sciences Edward Birge recom-
mended to president Van Hise that he ask the legislature for an appropriation for a Biology Building
to alleviate the crowding. The building was envisioned by dean Birge as housing the departments of
zoology and botany, leaving science hall to physics, geography, and anatomy.

However, with both the central heating plant and Lathrop Hall underway by 1907, the biology
building did not percolate to the head of the priority list until 1908.! Plans were in flux: "Preliminary
drawings for this building are begun, and conferences with the departments of Botany, Zoology and
Medical Science are being held almost daily."? The first discussions of the design of the building,
hinged upon the work of Peabody, Laird and Cret, the consulting architectural commission, and
followed the general layout of the general plan of 1908 for the grand "court of honor" atop Bascom
Hill. This court was intended to be a large open courtyard flanked by Bascom Hall on the west, open
to the east, and flanked to the north and south by museum buildings for the college of letters and
science. Except for Lathrop Hall, the Biology building would be the first application of the general
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plan to a particular building. Some drawbacks of the plan became immediately evident. The proposed
placement of the buildings for the "court of honor" were not especially precise. When the time came
to place the building, because of the proximity of South Hall, the needs of the observatory, the re-
quirements of the plan for women's dorms, and the extreme steepness of the grade, no one exactly
agreed on exactly where the general plan meant for the building to go. This issue was taken up by the
architectural commission, and Van Hise, and after most of 1909, was finally decided by placing the
building as far as possible to the north (up the hill) as possible. The decision was also made to build
only the center section of the U-shaped building first and leave the two wings, intended to project
south (down the hill) until later. The regents also decided, for unknown reasons, but perhaps to regain
lost time, to bring in another architect to work on the project, Jarvis Hunt of Chicago. Hunt and
Peabody exchange letters, data, and ideas throughout early 1910. On March 3, 1910 the regents
approved Jarvis's preliminary outlines and elevations, with suggestions to reduce the height of the
building to reduce costs.? The plans also are reviewed by the heads of the departments who will
occupy the building. In what must stand as a record for early complaint about crowding in a univer-
sity building, the regents report of 1909-1910 page 37, a year before the building was begun, called
for an addition to be made to alleviate crowding in the college of letters and science. In January of
1910 the regents approved the plans and in June of 1910 specifications are finally ready for bids. The
specifications called for construction to begin by July 1, 1910, and be finished by October first 1911.
The contract was let to T. C. McCarthy for $201,941 about June 21, 1910. The excavation for the
biology building was begun on July 13, 1910.

In December 1910 the architect was instructed to omit the windows and trim from the west
end of the building, in anticipation of building a wing on that side in the near future. This would result
in about $3000 savings on the contractor's bill. That end of the building would be finished with buff
brick in an attempt to present a finished appearance. Throughout the winter of 1910-1911 the build-
ing progressed, slowly because of a scarcity of stone cutters. The first floor concrete was finished in
February of 1911. In March the Madison Brick Yard ran out, which halted work for a week while
brick was shipped from Chicago. During the summer of 1911, the architect complained to the con-
tractor that there were still not enough stonemasons on the work. On March 13, 1912 the regents
called contractor McCarthy before the board to explain the delays, and he promised to have the
building done by August 12, 1912. A metal workers strike in Milwaukee slowed up progress of the
building. By November 1911 the building was nearly enclosed. By August of 1912 the building was
complete except for clean up and some details. The contract for furnishing and equipping the building
had been let to J. H. Findorff in March of 1912 for $26,975. In November 1912, Peabody and the
heads of the departments held a conference that damned the building with faint praise: " the require-
ments of the Departments have been pretty thoroughly carried out."* Engineering professor
Turneaure recommended withholding final payment to McCarthy pending a report on the cracking of
the stone veneer. The building was more than a year late, and had cost $200,000. Except for the
difficult and technical central heating plant, this was by far the most expensive building yet erected by
the university.

In his report to the regents of 1912, Peabody says:

The Biology Building was occupied in August, 1912. This building comprises a main
portion 49 feet wide by 240 feet long, including basement, ground floor and four stories;
together with an auditorium portion 74 feet by 50 feet in size, containing a subbasement,
basement, first and second floors. The floor area of the entire building exclusive of the green-
houses is 80,000 square feet ... The building is faced with Madison sandstone and the con-
struction is fireproof in character. The building while in the same general style as University
Hall [Bascom Hall], has a rather more severe architectural treatment.”
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On entering the building from the face on Bascom Hill one sees:
Biological specimens of general interest which fills most of the ground floor of the main
building. Passing straight through the museum doors on both sides open into the auditorium,
which seats about four hundred. There are two floors below this, the basement, which con-
tained the department of plant physiology, and the sub-basement containing labs and work
rooms which opened directly into the greenhouses to the south of the auditorium. Staircases
from the museum give access to the upper floors, which housed research labs, chart and dark
rooms, a herbarium, offices, lecture rooms, a library and Prof. Owen's butterfly collection.®

The new biology building provided a great deal of immediate relief not only to the depart-
ments moving into the new building but to those, particularly physics and geography who remained
behind in science hall. The new space caused by the removal of botany and zoology would remain
ample for only a short time, until in 1916 a separate physics building would become necessary. The
growth of the university was beginning to outstrip the resources, and the foresight of even visionaries
like Van Hise, and the architectural commission (which planned for a maximum of 20,000 students).

The building of the anticipated wing to the biology building did not quickly take place. Start-
ing in the 1930s the crowding in the biology departments began to reach crisis proportions. In a letter
to president Glenn Frank, the head of zoology M. F. Guyer says: "The staff of the department of
Zoology is at its wits end ... No more internal compression is possible." He complains that the depart-
ment is turning away good grad students and researchers. He points out that "whole colleges have
fewer students in their entire college than Zoology has in a single class, yet they rattle around in
numerous buildings like peas in a pod."” It would not be until 1955 that ground was broken on a 10-
level 54 X 138 foot wing to the west side, projecting back down the hill to the south. The cost was
$1.4 million, and its design was debated on esthetic ground by several regents. After delays caused by
labor unrest in 1956, the wing was finished. In 1980 a new addition, replacing the vivarium with a
two story library wing, brought the building to its current [1993] configuration. On June 9, 1950, a
week after the death of Edward A. Birge, the university formally renamed the biology building Birge
Hall.

1) Some speculate that because of Birge's disinclination to push for his own department, in an effort to remain impar-
tial, the building may have been delayed more than necessary.
2) Report of the Supervising Architect, September 1908, in the Executive Committee Papers, September 1908.
3) Peabody to Hunt, March 7, 1910. There is also in the archives a water color elevation by Hunt of a grand domed
biology building clearly placed on the North side of the court, with steps down to the lake, it is undated and probably
represents a very early design iteration.
4) Report of the Supervising Architect, November 1912, in the Executive Committee Papers, November, 1908.
5) Regents Report, 1912-1914, p. 339.
6) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, October 1912, p. 18.
7) Guyer to Frank, January 29, 1936.
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Fig. 1. Bock Labs from
Linden Drive c. 1968. Forty
MENNERNEEEREFF feet from Agricultural Engi-
: 1 neering on the east, and 55
feet from Moore Hall on the
west, Bock Labs is connected
by tunnel to the Biochemistry
building to the south. Bock
Labs has two levels below
ground and seven stories
above ground. [Series 9/3,
Biophysics - Molecular
Biology, jf-84]
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Bock Labs was built as an interdisciplinary research lab in 1965. It houses research
labs in molecular biology and molecular virology, and is named for longtime dean of
the graduate school Robert Bock.

in the persons of Drs. H. O. Halverson of Bacteriology and Robert M. Bock of Biochemistry

requests $1.97 million to construct a Laboratory of Molecular Biology. The proposed lab was to
be an interdisciplinary research facility housing 90 investigators, from Bacteriology, Biochemistry,
Genetics, Medical Genetics, Oncology, Physiological Chemistry and Zoology. The site was to be on
Linden Drive between Moore Hall and Agricultural Engineering. This site was desirable because of
its proximity to the departments whose faculty would be using the new lab. The proposal emphasizes
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the large number and scattered nature of research programs in molecular biology, and the need for a
centralized center to house such research. The lab would be administered by the graduate school, and
function not only as a center of research but as a center of interdisciplinary graduate and postgraduate
training. The structure in the proposal is a "T' shaped building with the stem connected to the north end
of the biochemistry building, and the crossbar along Linden Drive. It was to be two basement levels
and three floors above ground. This building was divided into two discrete sections, Molecular
Biology and Biophysics. The proposal notes that application for funding the Biophysics section has
been made to the NTH.!

Although the structure proposed in this application was not built, many of the ideas outlined in
it survived into the next round of planning. The major change in thinking after this period was the
realization that Molecular Biology and Biophysics shared many requirements, and that much time,
money and real estate could be saved by combining the two centers into one building. As planning
along these lines proceeded, with the help and guidance of the architects Durrant and Bergquist, during
1962 and 1963, the concept of a low-rise building was abandoned to the realities of space require-
ments and the shortage of real estate on the central campus gradually gave way to a high-rise plan.

By late 1962, the NSF was informed that the combined laboratories would cost an estimated
$2.2 million. The NIH had granted $500,000 for the project, and the University asked the NSF for
790,000 with the understanding that WARF would also be asked for funds. These requests were
successful. In March 1963, the regents accepted $600,000 from the NSF for the Laboratory of Molecu-
lar Biology. In May 1963 the regents accepted $1.1 million from WAREF to construct and equip the
Molecular Biology and Biophysics labs. Most other likely sources of funding were being absorbed by
the Biotron project, then under development. In March of 1963 the regents approved the area bounded
by Moore Hall, Agricultural Engineering, Biochemistry, and Linden Drive as the site for Molecular
Biology. The only use of the site at that time was as a parking lot.2

State approval for the project was sought beginning in May 1963 and after various delays was
gained on August 17, 1964. The building committee (Drs. Bock, Beeman, Halverson and D. C.
Buchholz) headed by Dr. Robert Manley Bock, spent 1964 refining the plans. Preliminary plans were
approved by the regents in August 1965, Final plans were approved on February 5, 1965.3

On March 9, 1965 bids for the building were opened. They were $200,000 over the budget.
For months Bock searched for additional funds to add to the project, petitioning the college of Agricul-
ture, asking the federal agencies to increase their grants. But even after all possible cutbacks, there
were not enough funds. One of Dr. Bock's fears was that building costs were rising so fast that further
delays would lead to more erosion of his budget. Eventually with a few cost reductions, small grants
from various sources, and a large appropriation from the state, enough funding was found to let build-
ing contracts. Contracts were let by the regents on May 13, 1965 with the general contract going to
Vogel Brothers of Madison for $1.08 million. Total contract costs were $2.37 million (WARF $1.1
million, NIH $500,000, NSF $600,000, state funds $141,000, and departmental and gift funds
$30,000). Groundbreaking took place on June 1, 1965. By March 3, 1966 the building was up to the
penthouse level. The building was first occupied by researchers in November 1966. In 1987 the
Biophysics laboratory changed its name to the Institute for Molecular Virology. In May 1992, after the
1991 accidental death of Robert Bock, one of the original planners and dean of the graduate school
for 22 years, the building was renamed the Robert M. Bock Laboratories.*

The building is 91 by 91 feet, of steel and reinforced concrete with two levels below ground,
and seven stories above ground with an entry plaza at ground level. The building is sheathed in cut
stone, precast concrete and face brick. Floors two through five are occupied by Molecular Biology,
and floors five through eight house Molecular Virology. The building is 100 per cent research, there
are no classrooms.
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After serving its intended purpose as a interdisciplinary research center for almost thirty years,
the Robert M. Bock Laboratory building is scheduled for a major remodelling project. The $5.8
million project will be funded by WISTAR, and will completely renovate and upgrade the heating
ventilation and air-conditioning systems, scheduled to be finished by August 1997. This project will
not close the labs, the 132 workers in the building will relocate as their floors are reconstructed.®

1) Application to The National Science Foundation, September 1, 1961, Developments in Molecular Biology and Biophys-
ics, undated, series 24/9/2 box 13;

2) Regent's Minutes, March 8, 1963, May 1963, Exhibit A;

3) Regent's Minutes, August 14, 1964, October 16, 1964; Agency Request for Action, April 1965, series 4/0/3 box
190; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, October 1964.

4) Bock to Fleming, March 15, 1965, series 40/1/7-1 box 53; Regent's Minutes, June 11, 1965; Daily Cardinal,
March 3, 1966; Wisconsin Week, September 9, 1992; Program for Bock Lab renaming, September 10, 1992, offices of Bock
Labs, Regent's Minutes, May 8, 1992.
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BRADLEY MEMORIAL HOS-
PITAL

Fig. 1. Bradley
Memorial Hospi-
tal across Orchard
Street, c. 1920.
[G1024]

Built in 1918 as a memorial to Mary Cornelius Bradley, the daughter of Professor
Harold Bradley and his wife Mary Josephine Crane Bradley, Bradley memorial was
used as a children's hospital until the 1930 erection of the orthopedic hospital. Since
that time Bradley memorial has held assorted branches of the medical school, and
currently houses the department of Medical Administration and International
Health.

biochemistry in 1906. Within two years he had met, fallen in love with and married a student,

Mary Josephine Crane, (who was completely deaf from age two) in her junior year. The
bride's father, wealthy Chicago industrialist Charles Crane was personal friends with the famous
architect Louis Sullivan, then at the nadir of his career. Crane hired Sullivan to design and build a
house for the newlyweds, the huge and now famous Bradley house in University Heights. This house
and yard occupied all of block 19 of the fancy new western suburb of Madison. The Bradley's first
child, Mary Cornelius was born here May 2, 1909. Seven other children, all boys were to follow.
Tragedy struck the Bradley family, when the child Mary contracted spinal meningitis and pneumonia
and died January 15, 1916 age 6 years 8 months. In the following eight months, the Bradleys sold off
in pieces the parts of their land not occupied by the house, and then in September 1917 sold the house
and the four lots on which it stands to the Alpha Sigma Phi fraternity for $30,000. A few months
previous to the sale of the house the Bradleys (together with Mrs. Bradley's family the Cranes) had

D r. Harold Cornelius Bradley came to the University of Wisconsin as a junior professor of
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offered to the regents of the university a donation of $50,000 for the construction of a memorial
hospital for the purpose of research into childhood diseases. Originally the name for this building was
to be the Crane Memorial Hospital, but was soon changed to the Mary Cornelia Bradley Memorial
Hospital.!

In Dr. Bradley's letter to the regents of June 5, 1916, he writes: "Mr. and Mrs. Chas. R.
Crane, Mrs. Bradley and myself wish to establish a memorial for our little daughter, Mary Cornelia,
whom we lost this winter ... We have felt that the best way to establish this memorial of ideals would
be to build a research and teaching hospital in connection with the medical school ... we are not
willing that this should be a memorial of a monumental kind. We realize that the amount to be ex-
pended is small. We wish none of it diverted from the more spiritual purpose of the gift, into costly
architecture. We have in mind some simple and sincere type of architecture..."!

The Bradley Hospital was built at the same time and by the same contractor as the old student
infirmary. The regents let the contract on May 20, 1918 to the Dahl-Stedman Company of Chicago
for $137,445 (including both the Bradley hospital and the infirmary). The infirmary was begun and
finished first, and the Bradley hospital was started June 1, 1918 and finished in the summer of 1920.
Even before its completion the Bradley memorial was pressed into use because of the influenza
epidemic of 1918 which swamped the recently completed infirmary. The Bradley memorial was
located south of Linden Drive, facing on Orchard Street, a small north-south street just west of
Charter Street, later vacated by the University.2
The two buildings (Bradley memorial and the infirmary), designed by Arthur Peabody or his employee
Henry Nyeland, were essentially identical. They were two stories above a raised basement with walls
of buff brick, floor of poured concrete, and a red tile roof. The buildings were trimmed with Bedford
limestone.

The Bradley Memorial Hospital served its original purpose® well until 1930 when the univer-
sity erected a larger and better equipped orthopedic hospital on the block to the west. Bradley memo-
rial then began a long career as temporary quarters for transient departments of the medical school.
These included: pediatrics, plastic surgery, and the Wisconsin Psychiatric Institute (1925-1963). The
building underwent a complete interior remodelling in 1964.% In 1950 the connecting bridge to the
main hospital was built. The Bradleys had asked that "because of the personal associations which the
memorial has to Mr. and Mrs. Crane and ourselves, we do not wish to have its individuality lost or
buried later in the probable development of the Medical School."® This has against all odds remained
the case, even though by legislation, in the 1920s it became a part of the Wisconsin General Hospital.
Currently [1993] the building houses the department of Medical Administration on the first floor, part
of the UW clinics on the second floor, and in the basement, the department of International Health,
and the intended long term user Middleton Medical Library storage. The memorial plaques com-
memorating Mary Cornelia Bradley still hang in the foyer and main waiting room.

1) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, April 1948, p. 26-27, May 1950, p. 10; Madison City directories; Dane County vital
records; Perspectives of a University, Gordon Orr et al. p. 84. Regent's Report, 1918-1920, p. 15-16.

2) Regent's Minutes, June 20, 1916, May 10, 1918;

3) And others as well: during the debate surrounding the construction of the Wisconsin General Hospital in the 1920s,
Bradley Memorial was used for the care of the state indigent patients, which became part of the responsibility of the
new four-year medical program.

4) Bradley to Seaman, June 5, 1916, series 24/1/1 box 6 University Archives.

5) Bradley to Seaman, June 5, 1916, series 24/1/1 box 6 University Archives.
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Fig. 1. 1997. The President's house,
with new garage at left.. The remod-
elling included not only bringing the
house up to modern building codes,
but the construction of a garage with

living quarters, and sun room. [Del
Brown photo, AP-79]

Built by the Brittingham family in 1916 as a summer home, this house was given to
the University in 1955. It was renovated in 1968-1972, and became the official home
of the president of the University system.

l umber baron and longtime benefactor of the University Thomas E. Brittingham Sr. built this
house, designed by Frank Riley, as a summer home for his family in 1916. Brittingham Sr.
died in 1925, leaving most of his estate in trusts to benefit the city and University. His family

continued to use the house on the west side into the middle 1930s.!

In 1955 the family donated the house and property to the University. On October 1, 1955 the
regents accepted the house and the fifteen acres on which it sat. At first the house was unused. From
1960 until 1968 the house was used as office space by the UW Geophysical & Polar Research Center.
In the late 1960s during visits to Madison from their east coast homes, the Brittingham family asked
that it's gift be restored to a reasonable condition, and used as the University president's house. They
agreed that the Brittingham foundation would donate the money for the renovation. The estimate for
the renovation was $160,000. The state building commission in February 1968, gave permission to
remodel the house for the $160,000 estimate. The contracts were let and the work begun in 1968.
The general contractor was John Dahl of Madison. It was clear at an early date that the estimates had
been too low.

The Brittingham foundation promised another $40,000. For political reasons, the work came
to a halt and the house stood empty through 1970 and 1971. The Brittingham foundation finished the
work itself. In April 1973, the first official function was held at the Brittingham house, hosted by Mrs.
Edwin Young. The Brittingham estate has been the home of the UW system president since that time.
The fifteen acre estate includes the main house, the new garage, a squash building, a carriage house
and swimming pool.2
1) Milwaukee Sentinel September 27, 1967; Capital Times, July 10, 1967;

2) Wisconsin State Journal, April 14, 1970, January 16, 1971, January 13, 1957, February 16, 1972; Capital Times,

April 23, 1973; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, November 1955; Regent's Statement, May 8, 1970; Regent's Minutes

January 15, 1971;
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BROGDENHALL

Fig.1.1994, Brogden Hall from Johnson and Charter Streets. [ Author Photo, AP-43]

Built in 1962 to house the scattered psychology department, Brogden Hall is named
for Wilfred J. Brogden, the psychology professor who was instrumental in having
the building erected.

building at 600 North Park Street, with annexes in the Journalism building, Bascom Hall and old

houses on University Avenue. The first plan for a psychology building was to build a single build-
ing to house both psychology and mathematics. This 1956 plan was an early part of the University's
plan to expand across University Avenue to the south. This plan was discarded when the mathematics
department approved a plan to build what became Van Vleck Hall. Not until 1959 would any further

action be taken regarding a building for psychology.!
348

In the mid 1950s psychology was housed mainly in the old and decrepit chemical engineering



InFebruary 1959, the building committee of the department of psychology, chaired by professor
W. J.Brogden unanimously recommended that the psychology building be located at the northwest corner
ofLinden Drive and Charter Street, pointing out the value to the department ofits central location. This
recommendation wasrejected by the campus planning Commission. This, the last buildable site on Bascom
Hill, later became the site of Van Hise Hall. Also inthe spring of 1959, word came of a small grant from the
NIH to help fund construction of a psychology laboratory. In January 1960, the regents approved anew
site for psychology. It would be on the west side of Charter Street between University Avenue and West
Johnson Street. [t was explained that the building would come up soon on the building priority list. Prelimi-
nary sketches were made in early 1960 and showed a building that was estimated to cost about $3 million.
The state building commission recommended funding of $2.25 million for the psychology building. Inmid-
1960 professor Brogden began to apply for grants from the NIH, the NSF and WARF. These federal
agencies would support research facilities, while the state was inclined to fund only classrooms 2

In September 1961 the regents approved the preliminary plans for the psychology building. Atthat
time the estimate of the cost was $3 million, and the status of the grants from federal sources were still not
known. The building was designed to accommodate an addition on its northern side. The architects for this
project were Shattuck, Siewert & Associates of Neenah. Late in the September the NSF granted
$350,000 for the building. After further grants were received from the NIH, a schedule was set up that
called for the building to be completed by February 1964. In January 1961 the state building commission
authorized the preparation of final plans ata cost of $48,000 in state funds. In March 1961 the commission
arranged the bond sale to raise the authorized $2.25 million.3

Final plans for the psychology building were approved by the regents on July 13, 1962. The
budget was $3.04 million, the architect noted that considerable difficulty was had with the exterior
treatment of the research tower section. This was due to the disapproval of the state architect of the
large blank, windowless mass on the plans. An artist was hired to develop a pattern in the brick facing
of'this section. There is no intended significance to these patterns, beyond their use in decorating the
building. The building plan was a six story tower for research and administration, with a one story
classroom and lecture hall wing. Construction contracts were let by the regents on September 14,
1962. The general contract went to the Siesel Construction Company of Milwaukee for $1.2 million.
Total cost was $3.04 million. The source of funding was $2.29 million from the state; $350,000 from
the NSF, and $400,000 from the NIH. In the next three weeks the site for the building was vacated by
the University Photo Laboratory, who moved into temporary quarters while waiting for completion of
the new Extension Services Building on Spring and Charter Streets. Construction on the Psychology
Building began in September 1962. By mid November 1962 the foundations were mostly completed.
Construction continued without difficulty through 1963. The building was substantially completed in
July 1964, when researchers began moving in.*

Dedication ceremonies were held on September 19. The public was shown a building that
would accommodate 400 undergraduates, and 200 graduate students. The first floor with its entrance
plaza at the corner of Charter and Johnson Streets, holds four large lecture rooms, five classrooms,
and undergraduate laboratories. The building included closed circuit television wiring, and a large
anechoic (soundproof) chamber in the basement. Above the classroom area is the office and administration
tower with 41 offices, storage rooms and special purpose rooms. Connected, but structurally separate from
the office wing is the six story research wing on the north side, nearest University Avenue. The first five floor
ofthe research wing have identical floor plans with subject waiting rooms, and the rest filled with 9'by 13'
and 13'by 18'labs. The north half ofthe fifth floor and all of the sixth floor are for animal research, rats
rabbits and cats. In the late 1960s a plan was broached to relocate Charter Street and add to the building
on the north to provide more space for clinical and animal research. This plan failed due to lack of funding.’

The dedication handbook says "The department is deeply grateful to Professor W. J. Brogden, who

349



inthe capacity of Chairman of the Building Committee, carried most of the workload in planning the con-
struction and outfitting the building." After the death of Professor Brogden on February 22,1973, the
regents voted to rename the Psychology Building the "W. J. Brogden Psychology Building".6

1) University directories; Regent's Minutes, June 14, 1956;

2) Memorandum to Steering Committee of Campus Planning Commission from Building Committee, Department of
Psychology, February 2, 1959, series 24/9/2 box 11; Regent's Minutes, January 9, 1960; Brogden to Peterson, May
20, 1960, Peterson to Schmehl, May 25, 1960, Psychology Building Committee to Willard, December 5, 1960, series
24/9/2 box 12; telegram Allen to Peterson March 5, 1959, series 24/9/2 box 13.

3) Regent's Minutes, September 15, 1961; Peterson to Waterman, November 3, 1961, Sites to Nerdrum, December
18, 1961, Holt to Bradford, November 6, 1961, Sites to Nerdrum, October 24, 1961, Peterson to Hudson (NSF),
September 22, 1961, series 24/9/2 box 13.

4) Regent's Minutes, January 5, 1962, March 9, 1962, July 13, 1962, September 14, 1962; Peterson to Dorman,
March 22, 1962, series 24/9/2 box 13; Daily Cardinal, September 21, 1962, July 24, 1962; Wisconsin State Journal,
November 13, 1962;

5) Daily Cardinal, September 18, 1964; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, May 1965, p. 12.

6) Faculty Document 143, May 7, 1973, Archives W. J. Brogden biographical file; Regent's Minutes, January 11,

1974.
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Fig. 1. Campus Assistance Center
¢ c. 1980, Extension in background.
B [series 23/29, GC437]

Hopkins, in 1888. She lived there until 1902 when the house became the home of the Elvin

Wiswall family who ran a grocery store at 120 State Street. The Wiswalls stayed until 1914. In
1929 it became the home of its longest lasting tenant John A. Willison who developed the house as
student housing. He lived there as resident manager of the Willison House until 1952. At this time
[1951] the house was home to 18 women students as well as Willison and his wife. The city started
to complain about lack of compliance with city fire codes. Shortly afterwards the house was sold to
Rita Heiser and her husband Robert Scherrer who owned it throughout the 1950s. During this period
a number of remodellings took place with the purpose of adding space for more tenants. By March
1957 the Scherrers were classic absentee landlords, living in Seattle and complaining about the
unfairness of the city's demands to upgrade the quality of student housing, since, they argue, the
house will only "last 2-3 years, as it is to be taken for university expansion." By this time there are 24
students in the house, the first floor apartment of two rooms, one bath, four students; second floor six
rooms, one bath, fourteen students; third floor, six rooms, one bath, 10 students. The only kitchen
was in the basement. In January 1960 the property was purchased by the university for about
$32,000. The property remained student housing through 1969. In 1970 the university opened the
newly created "Campus Assistance Center" (CAC) an information and referral service for students
and faculty. The CAC is under the dean of students. The building also houses a number of student
organizations. The future of the building is uncertain. Its life is threatened by a historic preservation
project. The plans now [1993] being finalized to restore the old Red Gym include moving the CAC
to the gym, and there is a possibility that the real estate owned by the university on Lake Street may
be slated for demolition.

The first recorded resident of 420 N. Lake Street is Angelina A. Hopkins, widow of James

1) Sources: University and Madison City Directories; Madison building permit file; Daily Cardinal, November 7, 1970,
Capital Times, August, 20, 1973.
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CARILLON TOWER

Fig. 1. The carillon tower c. 1938. [Series 9/1, Caril-
lon, jf-57]

The carillon tower was built with donated funds in
1936, with a set of 35 bells. The bells have been
added to twice, in 1963 and 1973. More than any
other campus building, the carillon tower symbolizes
the Madison campus of the University of Wisconsin.

he original plan of the class of 1917 was to

Tollect money to help replace the burned dome
: on Bascom Hall, and to install in the dome a set
4484 of chimes. As this fund-raiser gradually took shape,

i succeeding classes (1917 through 1926) donated to
: that fund, rather than set up and define their own
4 projects. In 1931 after consultation with state architect
! Arthur Peabody, it was found that both structurally
#, and aesthetically, it was very unlikely that the dome

& would ever be rebuilt.!

The fund-raising had been so successful that the
committee decided in the spring of 1932 that they
could buy not only carillon bells, but a structure in
which to hang them. Throughout the fund-raising
period, the chairman of the "chimes committee" was
Norris Wentworth. By the end of 1932 the regents had
authorized final design and bids. The location was set
as the knoll northwest of Bascom Hall near the Blackhawk marker.2

State architect Arthur Peabody submitted a design for the Carillon tower to the chimes fund
on June 9, 1933. The tower was eighty five feet high, twenty feet square, with a steel frame and
stone walls; it had a stone parapet above the cornice and a flat roof. The iron stairs lead steeply to the
third level playing floor, and upwards to the bell chamber, with its arched openings. The Madison
rubble stone walls and the balustrade with turned stone balusters deliberately mirrored the design of
Bascom Hall. Estimates indicated that the project would cost about $30,000.3

When bids for construction were received, prices had risen and there was little money left for
the bells. The committee appealed to the Public Works Administration and the Public Works Admin-
istration (PWA) responded with a grant of $8700-$11,600. On October 10, 1934 the regents ap-
proved the lowest bid of $28,200 of Maas Brothers of Watertown Wisconsin. Ground was broken the
next day. The cornerstone ceremony featuring a dedication speech by president Glenn Frank (see Fig.
2) was held December 5, 1934. The tower construction was completed in June 1935.4

The committee had decided through investigation of existing carillons, that a set of thirty five
bells would be suitable. They made contact with several bell manufacturers before deciding on Gillett
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Fig. 2. December 5, 1936, the cornerstone cer- Fig. 3. The carillon keyboard in use (Ralph
emony, with president Glenn Frank. [Series 9/1, Ehlert). [Series 9/1, Carillon, jf-58]

Carillon, ns-895]

and Johnston Ltd. of Croydon England. Funds were not sufficient to buy all thirty five bells at once so
the committee settled upon twenty five bells, but the framework and playing console were built to
accommodate thirty six bells, the set to be completed by adding five lighter and six heavier bells at a
later date. The dedication concert was held on June 20, 1936. The music included "On Wisconsin"
and "Drink to Me Only With Thine Eyes"; the carillonneur was Professor Ira Schroeder of lowa

State. Persons in automobiles were requested to refrain from sounding the horn or starting the en-
gines during the recital. In 1937 the five smaller bells were added to the carillon. This configuration of
thirty bells was suitable for about twenty five years.

In 1963 a major renovation took place. Twenty seven small bells were installed, six to replace
old ones that had proved unsatisfactory (the new bells were cast by the French firm Georges
Paccard). This brought the total to fifty one bells. The playing console was changed, and a practice
console installed on the second level. The rededication was on September 22, 1963 and again fea-
tured Ira Schroeder as carillonneur. At this time, too, the UW Foundation which had collected the
$10,500 for this renovation, began to accept gifts for five large bells which would complete the set.
Calculations indicated that the tower could accommodate the additional ten thousand pounds.?

This set of bells (from the Eisjsbouts foundry in Holland) was ready in the summer of 1973.
Besides the new bells the regents installed a mechanical player which can ring the hours, and play 30-
second prepared melodies. Other changes included the installation of heat, and a new staircase. These
changes brought the carillon to a total of fifty six bells in four and one half octaves, one of the largest
carillons in the country. The second rededication of the carillon took place on May 13, 1973, and
again featured Ira Schroeder. The public is welcome to visit the carillon tower during the regular
Sunday concerts.®

1) The idea came from Belle Fligelman '13 according to Norris Wentworth the chairman of the fund committee.
Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, November 1934, Daily Cardinal, December 13, 1966.

2) Minutes of the Executive Committee of the Regents, May 8, 1933, December 13, 1932, September 11, 1933, April 4,
1934, Wisconsin State Journal, June 2, 1935,

3) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, May, 1957, May, 1947, files of the department of planning and construction.

4) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, January 1935, July 1935, Milwaukee Journal, January 23, 1936, Capital Times,
January 26, 1936, Dedication Program, Carillon subject folder, University Archives.

5) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, July, 1963; Capital Times, September 4, 1964; Wisconsin State Journal, September 23,
1963.

6) Wisconsin State Journal, June 25, 1972, May 13, 1973; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, July, 1973; Capital Times,
March 2, 1973;
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CARROT AND BEET LAB

Gk Fig. 1. The carrot and beet lab 1994. The
' _ “% building was constructed in the fall of

JE— o |

equipped with a crematory furnace has been constructed at an expense of $1500, west of the farm
buildings." He further says that the building was designed as a quarantine establishment and is in
constant use for the production of hog cholera anti-serum. !

Hog cholera was a highly contagious viral disease widespread at the turn of the century. Dr.
Burr Beach of the University of Minnesota, who came to Wisconsin in 1911, applied modern sanita-
tion and refinement to a Minnesota breeder's inoculation technique to produce hog cholera serum. He
was in charge of the University's manufacture of serum.?

According to the monthly reports of campus architect Arthur Peabody, the building was
planned and specified in September 1910. Construction began October 1, 1910, and in the December
1910 report Peabody says the building could be used when required. Unusual among permanent
University buildings, there was no contractor hired. Mr. Peabody oversaw the construction, which was
performed by University laborers, and paid for with funds requisitioned by Peabody.3

The inclusion of a crematory furnace as part of the building was due to an outbreak of anthrax
in the University dairy herd in the summer of 1909. A single animal was infected from waste dis-
carded by the state lab of hygiene, and before a correct diagnosis was made, infected the barns and
stalls, and the land where it was buried. During the fall and winter of 1909 losses in the cow and
swine herds were considerable. The need for quarantine and disposal facilities was the impetus
behind the construction of this building.*

A second serum plant was erected in 1914. After the control of hog cholera in the state in the
1930s, the building was turned over to other uses. In 1960 the building was repaired and modified by
the installation of a cold room, and the change of the crematorium to a utility room. The building has
every since been in use as the carrot and beet lab.>

In 1912, Dean of the Agricultural College Harry Russell notes that a "one story brick building

1) Regent's Report, 1911-1912, p. 100; Report of the Agricultural Experiment Station, 1913.
2) The Capital Times, January 4, 1953.
3) Architect's Reports, Executive Committee Papers, September-December, 1910.
4) Report of the Director, Agricultural Experiment Station, 1909-1910, pp. 7-10.
5) Planning and Construction hanging file 7/3.
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CHAMBERLIN HALL

Fig. 1. The chemistry building in 1908 taken from the chimney of the heating plant; visible in the
background are Bascom Hall, North Hall, the red gym, mining and metallurgy (with smokestacks),
taken before construction of Sterling, Lathrop, Barnard Halls, any of the later additions to chemistry,
or the construction of Charter Street. [series 9/1 Chamberlin Hall, x25-299]

Built in 1905 as a home for chemistry, this building was added to in 1912, 1939,
1956 and 1973. Chemistry was renamed Chamberlin Hall in 1975. It now houses
Pharmacy and some physics.

hall, there were complaints that the building would be so large (designed for about 150
students) it could not be filled in a hundred years. It was bulging within twenty.

As the plans for a new chemistry building began to take shape in 1902-03, the lessons learned
by the regents were applied. They knew that good facilities attracted more students, and that chemis-
try was increasing in importance as a general science requirement. The older parts of the campus
were crowded by the lake shore and city development. These considerations led the regents, after

‘ x ’ hen the first chemistry building was built in 1885, following the fire at the original science
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considering a Bascom Hill site, to select a location on the south western edge of Bascom Hill, and to
plan a building that could take advantage of that sprawling site. The regents directed university
architect J. T. W. Jennings consult with noted architect Warren Laird to prepare plans for presenta-
tion to the board by September 1, 1903. The planning was assisted by the new president of the uni-
versity, Charles Van Hise.!

The legislature of 1903 had been asked for $150,000 but appropriated only $100,000,2 which
was insufficient for the envisioned building. The architects therefore decided to erect a fairly small
building, but one which was capable of very great expansion. The form of the finished building (after
all considered additions) would be a large square with the center divided in four by a cross. The first
building erected would be this cross, and additions would connect the points of the cross until the
square was completed. Since the $100,000 would barely finish the structure, an additional appropria-
tion was passed by the legislature of 1905 to equip the new building.

The plans were approved by the regents in January 1904.3 They called for a building in the
shape of a three story cross with attic over a full basement, the north south arm 80 X 184 feet, and
the two cross arms 50 x 60 feet. It would contain a two story auditorium seating 500 in the center,
labs, offices, and classrooms capable of providing instructions for about 600 students.

On April 19, 1904 the regents opened bids for construction, and selected as the lowest the bid
of T. C. McCarthy, a Madison contractor who had done many previous university buildings. The
contract (signed May 15, 1904) was for $99,965 and stipulated that the construction was to be
finished by May 1, 1905. To get the bids under the appropriation Jennings had removed certain items
(iron stairs, toilets, washbowls etc.) from the specifications, but the contract specified that those items
could be required of the contractor at a fixed price for one year after completion. McCarthy ran into
unspecified problems; in October 1905 the regents began to discuss withholding payment to
McCarthy for failure to meet the time clause.* But in November 1905 the regents accepted the
chemistry building as completed and classes were first held in the building on November 9, 1905

The building contained lecture halls, laboratories, and offices to provide for about six hundred
students. It also contained the pharmacy department and the state dairy and food commission chemist.
It was first occupied in January of 1906. Within two years it was being asked to provide space for
1200 chemistry students, it had desks and equipment in the halls and students without lockers. The
regents pleaded with the legislature for an expansion, which could not be ready before the 1912-13
school year. They estimated the cost at $90,000-$150,000.°

In November of 1911, the governor approved a $69,000 contract with C. B. and A. K. Fritz
for the construction of the west wing of the chemistry building to be finished by August 1912. It
consisted of a 110 X 51 foot four story extension along University Avenue, and a single story wing
with basement north 92 feet along Charter Street. The brick exterior and limited limestone facing
used made clear what the finished building would look like. The interior was of concrete and tile to
make the new part of the building fireproof, a feature that the 1905 section did not have. This wing
was entirely occupied by laboratories.”

This (1912) 30,000 square foot expansion proved generally adequate for the chemistry depart-
ment for about fifteen years. The east wing, another fireproof L-shaped addition was begun in July
1927 and was occupied by January 1929. It extended 110 to the east along University Avenue and
then back to the north for 192 feet. This addition added 60,000 square feet to the building. It con-
tained more large laboratories, classrooms, departmental offices, and in the basement, new equipment
for ventilation, glassblowing rooms and darkrooms.

In 1939 the single story Charter Street wing was raised to the full four stories of the rest of
the building. This construction obliterated from view (except from the main entrance and the back)
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Fig. 2. Chamberlin Hall, February 1997. Eighty nine years later, all additions are complete. The
intersection in the picture is University Avenue and Charter Street. The link to Sterling Hall at the
back of the building is visible in this picture. [Del Brown Photo, AP-63]

the original 1905 structure.

The pharmacy department, perpetually out of space, built the north wing in 1956 at a cost of
$390,000. This was a six story addition on the north end of the west wing. The Pharmacy wing, with
its separate entrance on Charter Street was opened October 22, 1955, although construction contin-
ued for most of the following year.®

In November of 1951 four graduate students were doing a routine experiment in the east wing
when the lab exploded. None were seriously hurt by the accident but the damage amounted to several
thousand dollars.” This was not the last time the chemistry building would hear an explosion. In
August of 1970 a huge bomb was detonated in the alley between Sterling Hall and the chemistry
building's west wing. Although the blast was aimed for the Army Math Research Center in Sterling
Hall next door, nearly a quarter million dollars in damage was done to the chemistry building.

Plans to rebuild and remodel the building after the Sterling Hall bombing were approved by
the regents in January 1970 at a cost of $330,000. The architect was Fitzhugh Scott, and the contrac-
tor was Vogel Brothers. It was three years before these plans were finished. In 1973 after seventy
years, the last steps of the structure were taken. The original cross-shaped structure was removed
from inside the now enclosing brick additions; only the classical revival entrance facade on the Uni-
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versity Avenue side remains. By 1980 real estate on campus was too valuable to leave an empty court
in the center of the building, and the old space had been developed as a two story entrance hall, a
large physics library and computer rooms; added to the back were a large auditorium and offices. A
1989 phase added the connecting link to Sterling Hall on the north. In December 1975 the regents
voted to name the building "Thomas C. Chamberlin Hall".

By the time of this last construction phase, not even the enormous expansion envisioned by
Jennings, Cret, and Van Hise could accommodate the chemistry department. That department was
long gone (c. 1965) into new high-rise buildings occupying a whole block on the south side of Uni-
versity Avenue. Most of the old chemistry building is now occupied by pharmacy, except for the
newly rebuilt center section which is mostly physics. There are currently plans in the works to build a
new building for Pharmacy near the clinical sciences complex. The future use of Chamberlin Hall is
not decided.

1) Regent's Minutes, January 19th, 1904, the regents approved the payment of $524 to "Professor Warren Laird for
consultation and expenses respecting the location and design of the new Chemical Building." Also on the new site a
very old brick tenement house obtained in the 1850s when the land was purchased known as the Hobbie house after the
original owner (it appears on an 1878 map as a "student club house". Minutes of the Board of Regents of the University
of Wisconsin June 16, 1903.

2) Laws of Wisconsin, 1903 Chapter 344 section 3.

3) Regent's Minutes, January 19, 1904.

4) Regent's Minutes, October 10, 1905.

5) Regent's Minutes, November 27, 1905; Daily Cardinal, November 9, 1905 p. 1.

6) Regent's Report, 1909 p. 37.

7) Regent's Report, 1913-14 p. 340.

8) Daily Cardinal, September 22, 1955, p. 4. The contracts were awarded by the regents at their March 6, 1954
meeting; series 24/9/2 boxes 5, 6, 7, and 8, Pharmacy folders.

9) The Daily Cardinal, November 16, 1951 p. 1.
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Fig. 1. Chemistry Hall

in 1890 looking up

- Observatory Drive from
Park Street. The ma-

- chine shops are visible

behind chemistry. [x25-
- 836]

H“*-. \-\1

The first dedicated chemistry building was erected in 1885 at 600 North Park Street,
and housed chemistry until 1905 when chemical engineering moved in. In 1968 it was
demolished to make way for the undergraduate library, Helen C. White Hall.

the miserable experience from the two previous homes of chemistry. In referring to Main Hall

[later Bascom Hall] historian J. F. A. Pyre says of chemistry's first home: "... poorly heated,
poorly ventilated ... dismally overcrowded, while the fumes of Irving's blast furnaces and the chlorine
and sulfide gases always exuding from Daniells' laboratory mounted the staircases and mingled in
every ... discussion. ! The unpleasantness and discomfort caused by the presence of laboratories in
Main Hall were the justifications used to build the original Science Hall in 1875, chemistry's second
home. By the time that building was destroyed by fire in 1884, much had been learned about the
requirements of buildings intended for instruction in the sciences, particularly regarding ventilation.
When the new science group was planned and built in 1885 (see Appendix A for background), the
heating plant included a separate system to provide high pressure steam to the chemistry building
specifically to run the ventilation systems.

The chemistry building was a 48 X 148 foot rectangle, two stories above a basement (a 50
foot addition to the north end was built in 1894). The basement was of Madison sandstone and the
rest of the building of white brick. The contractor was John Trumbull of Whitewater, who agreed to a
completion date of December 31, 1885 (for $20,000); it was finally ready for use in November 1887.
Like the machine shop behind it (also by Trumbull), the chemistry building was of 'slow-burn' con-
struction, intended to slow and limit the spread of fire.? This technique was a cost compromise
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Fig. 3. The first chemistry building comes down in 1965 to make way for Helen C. White Hall. The
machine shops are on the left; they were demolished next. [Helen C. White folder ns-3110]

between flammable wood construction, and the safer but very expensive fireproof method used on
Science Hall. There is no record of a serious fire at the chemistry building and since the building was
deliberately destroyed after 90 years of use, the building style was apparently a good choice.? The
labs were kept from polluting the lecture halls by placing them at opposite ends of the building. The
assaying labs and ore crushers were in the basement to minimize noise and fumes.

In an article written for the Alumni Magazine in 1909, professor Kahlenberg recounts some
difficulties of planner W. W. Daniells.* "There were earnest protestations from some of the regents
of the university that the plans for the chemical laboratory called for altogether too large a building. It
was represented that such a building could not be filled in a hundred years.> Within fifteen years the
building was overflowing and a new one was on the drawing board. When that new chemistry build-
ing (now Chamberlin Hall) was finished in 1905 the old chemistry building was turned over to engi-
neering for the department of chemical engineering.® This and parts of the medical school remained in
the building until it was demolished in 1965 to make way for the construction of Helen C. White Hall.

1) Wisconsin, J. F. A. Pyre p. 210
2) University of Wisconsin Catalogue 1885-1886 p. 99
3) Two fires in the machine shop building of similar slow-burn construction were contained and extinguished with
minimal spread.
4) William Willard Daniells came to the University in 1868 as head of agriculture, then of analytical chemistry. In
1880 he became professor of chemistry and occupied that chair until 1907 when succeeded by Kahlenberg. He is the
Daniells referred to by Pyre above.
S) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, November 1909 p. 105
6) There was considerable competition for this space (e.g. english, medicine and engineering). The head of chemical
engineering, Charles Burgess, had made a few bronze letters, and in the dead of night boldly had the legend "Chemical
Engineering" mounted on the building. For 50 years Burgess resisted losing that space to the medical department by
pointing to the sign in imperishable bronze. Alexander McQueen, 4 Romance in Research, The Life of Charles F.
Burgess, p. 126.

49



TOC
NEXT
PREV

HELP

CHEMISTRY HOUSE

Fig. 1. Chemistry
Tutoring House,
1993. [ Author Photo
AP-8]

in 1902. Mrs. Armstrong, who probably built the house, lived there alone until 1921 at which

time she began to take roomers. The house remained a rooming house for forty years in the
hands of an assortment of resident owners. In 1955 the house was purchased by Ellen Gilder, who
owned it and lived in it with her roomers until 1964, when it was appraised and purchased by the
University for $35,000.!

At that time the house held ten rental rooms, with two bathrooms, and a first floor two bedroom
caretaker's apartment on the first floor. In the early 1960s the address of the house was 307 North
Charter Street because the front porch steps had been relocated to the side of the house. The house
stood empty until 1969 when it began to be used by the computer science department and offices of
Administration. After that time it has been in turn the home of Opthalmology, preventive medicine,
clinical Oncology, Biometrics, and in 1982 became part of the chemistry department, who used it as a
home for the special student chemistry tutoring center. In 1985 the address of the house was officially
changed tg 1124 W. Johnson Street. The house will be demolished in 1997 to make way for Chemis-
try Unit 5.

The first recorded resident of this house was Mrs. Ella Armstrong, who appears at this address

1) City directories, state historical library collection; regent's business records, in regent's vault.
2) University directories, University Archives.
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Erected in 1954, Commerce was the first modern design to be built on Bascom Hill,
and provided a unified home for the school of commerce for the first time since 1918.
Commerce has now moved to Grainger hall, and the old commerce building renamed
Mark Ingraham Hall. It will be used by the social sciences after a remodelling to be
finished in 1996.

to requests that the University provide for "the preparation of young men for trade in its

several branches", the regents annexed Bacon's Commercial College of Madison. In 1900
under president C. K. Adams, commerce courses became the School of Commerce. Still later under
Charles Van Hise, the semiautonomous school of Commerce became attached to the College of
Letters and Science. Finally in 1944, at the urging of state business leaders, the regents split com-
merce from L&S, and created the school of commerce. In the course of these wanderings through the
administrative world, Commerce had steadily grown in enrollment. In 1918 when Sterling Hall
opened, commerce moved into the fourth floor. They would stay there until 1956. By 1950 Com-
merce had outgrown their Sterling Hall quarters so badly that courses were being taught in 29 sepa-
rate buildings, including several WW II temporary buildings, scattered around the campus. Clearly a
new home for the school of commerce was badly needed. In addition to the obvious need, the school
had powerful allies. The legislature was sympathetic to the requests of state business interests for a
more modern training facility, and the Dean of the school of commerce, Fayette Elwell, was a power-
ful force and persuasive advocate within the University.!

In 1952 the state building commission allotted $1.75 million for a building for the school of
commerce. The availability of the money found the University ready. The site for the new building,

The origins of the Commerce department at the University date back to 1857 when in response
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immediately west of Bascom Hall, and east of Charter Street, had been selected in 1950, at the peak
of enrollment in Commerce. The new building was regarded as the first unit of a Social Studies
building, and after a building boom in laboratory buildings was significant as the first construction of a
purely classroom building since the 1930s. Plans for the building, by Law, Law, Potter and Nystrom
of Madison, were approved by the regents in February 1954. In April of 1954, the awarding of
contracts and fees for a total of $1.57 million were approved. The general contractor was J. H.
Findorff and Son of Madison, for $900,842. The unexpected surplus of $156,249 from the building
allotment was applied to the remodelling of the Chemistry building for the use of Pharmacy.2

Ground was broken for the new "ultramodern" building on May 26, 1954, with speeches by
president Fred, governor Walter Kohler, and regent Matt Werner, who said of dean Elwell "he has
done more than anyone to make this building a reality." The schedule for construction called for the
building to be ready for use in the second semester of 1955. This was an aggressive schedule for a
modern building on a steeply sloping site. The excavation was completed and mason work begun in
April of 1955, but this fast start was negated by a shortage of bricklayers and constant material
shortages. The labor problems were caused in large part by the huge amount of construction taking
place on the University campus, Findorff finally pulled masons off the less crucial biochemistry addi-
tion job in order to complete commerce in time. In September 1955, the University decided to put a
protective coating on the Bedford stone wall on the south side of the building, to discourage "student
art work". Cement and glass shortages caused further delays, but by February 1, 1955 classes were
being held in the new building.>

The formal dedication of the Commerce building was held May 4, 1956. Dean Elwell was
now emeritus, and had been replaced by dean Erwin Gaumnitz; both spoke at the dedication, as did
president Fred. The new building was steel and concrete, with brick sheathing and a small amount of
stone trim. It was the first modern style building to be erected on the central campus, and it set a
precedent for the location of new buildings for the Social Sciences. It was five levels, a subbasement,
a basement and three upper floors. Because of the steeply sloping site, the basement level is almost
completely above ground, and is fully finished space. The building is roughly 'U' shaped opening to
the west, with the 70 foot by 170 foot, basement and two story north arm containing classrooms,
reading rooms, storage, and offices. This arm looks out over Observatory Drive and the Carillon
tower. The 70 foot by 178 foot east wing is a basement and three stories and contains more class-
rooms, offices, and on the second floor large Accounting and Statistic laboratories. The south wing of
the building is only the basement and subbasement levels in height and provide two large lecture halls.
These lecture halls are the first known classrooms on campus to explicitly provide writing desks for
the lefthanded.*

Reflecting the changing emphasis of the discipline, the name of the building was changed in
1966 to the School of Business. Since enrollment continued to rise throughout the 1960s, 70s and
80s, the business school was moved in 1993 to newer and elaborately developed quarters in the new
Grainger Hall. The old commerce building is providing temporary space during the asbestos abate-
ment work in the Social Science building across the street, and will eventually be remodelled for use
by the Social Sciences. It has been renamed Mark Ingraham Hall.>

1) Curti and Carstensen, The University of Wisconsin, v.1. p. 77, Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, April 1954, p. 13;
Wisconsin State Journal, April 29, 1956.
2) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, April 1954, p. 13; Regent's Minutes, April 10, 1954, April 15, 1950;
3) Daily Cardinal, May 21, 1954, May 27, 1954.
4) Daily Cardinal, May 11, 1956; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, June 1956, p. 16; Archives subject file, "commerce
building". Wisconsin State Journal, April 15, 1944; Capital Times, December 30, 1956.
5) Regent's Minutes, March 5, 1993.
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Fig. 1. Computer Science and Statistics, February 1997. Stage I is at right center, stage Il center, and stage
[T atleft. Theintersection in the foreground is West Dayton Street and Orchard Street. [ Del Brown Photo,

AP-64]

Reflecting the very fast growth of the computer science department, the computer
science complex was built in three major stages, in 1965, 1970 and 1986. It houses
not only the faculty, classroom and laboratory facilities, and departmental offices of
the Department of Computer Science, but other campus wide computer facilities,
such as the Department of Information Technology (Dolt), and the MACC.

odepartment in the modern history ofthe University appeared and grew as quickly as the

Ncomputer science department. Only eight years elapsed from its beginnings as the department
of numerical analysis with a 1961 enrollment of 290, to its acquisition of its own building

with an enrollment of more than 2000 in 1969. The department of statistics was formed in 1960-61,
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with asingle staff member (George Box). The establishment of the department of numerical analysis in July
1961 completed the forerunners of the computer science department.

In April of 1963, the respective heads (George Box and Stephen Kleene) of these two fledgling
departments wrote an application to the National Science Foundation (NSF) requesting $1.1 million in
matching funds for a Numerical Analysis-Statistics building. The application notes that while the two
departments would operate most efficiently in close cooperation in a single facility, they are "...pres-
ently housed separately. In the case of statistics its quarters are so woefully inadequate that it is a
euphemism to say that they are 'housed' at all." At the time Numerical Analysis was in Sterling Hall,
and statistics was in a Johnson Street house, and two rentals on University Avenue. The proposed new
building would provide space for 197 faculty, grad students, lab personnel, for research labs and some
undergraduate work. !

By late 1963, unofficial word had been received that the NSF would supply matching funds for
the building, but the amount available to the NSF was sharply reduced by congressional action. The
total amount available for the grant was only $600,000. In December a building committee was ap-
pointed (Box, Kleene, Dean Hugh Richards, Mr. Thomas Dyckman and Mr. Donald Sites). This
committee, working with Madison architects Weiler and Strang, decided to erect the building in two
phases. The first phase was to cost $1.3 million.2

Nothing official was done by the University on this project until August 14, 1964 when the
regents granted authority to prepare preliminary plans for the "Numerical Analysis Building ... to be
located at the southwest corner of West Dayton Street and North Charter Street." The regents were told
that the total budget was $1.32 million, with the NSF providing about half the funds. The state would
be asked to pay for the other half and the cost of land to be purchased at the site.3

Shortly after the approval to make preliminary plans for phase one, the building committee
began to lobby for the construction of phase two. They told dean of L & S Edwin Young in October
1964 that "based on experience of the last eighteen months, it becomes evident that this plan and
schedule would provide an inadequate facility even if we went ahead with the original project (Stage I
plus Stage II)." [emphasis original]. They estimate that Stage I will be inadequate when opened. In
December 1964 the regents voted to change the funding of the Computer Science-Statistics complex to
$1.52 million, with the new funding to come from the state. This funding was approved by the state in
December 1964. The reason for the increase was to provide for housing centralized computers. The
combined statistics and numerical analysis departments possessed a total of one computer, a CDC
1604 with card equipment.*

In January 1965 the regents heard Mr. Sites present the two phase concept of the Computer
Science-Statistics complex. Sites explained that there might also be a high-rise third section. A month
later the regents approved the preliminary plans for Computer Science-Statistics Unit 1.

Final plans for Unit I were approved by the regents in May 1965. The estimated completion
date was September 1966. Construction contracts were let on August 20, 1965, with the general
contract going to John Dahl of Madison for $694,000. Total contract amounts were $1.63 million.
Construction of stage I was completed in the summer of 1967. Stage I is 118 by 121 feet, with base-
ment and three stories, located at the extreme east part of the site, immediately adjacent to the small
grocery store at Dayton and Charter Streets. Stage I held only office and research space, no instruc-
tional space. In June 1967, the new building was named the " Computer Sciences-Statistics Center."®

As suspected earlier by the building committee, the project had been "overwhelmed by
events". The name of the Department of Numerical Analysis was changed to the Department of
Computer Sciences in 1964, and in November 1968, dean of the graduate school Robert Bock wrote to
now chancellor Edwin Young: "The center building was not adequate to house the staff even when it
was built, and is now... grossly inadequate and requires a great deal of additional outside space."
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Planning for stage I1, again designed by Weiler and Strang, was pushed as quickly as possible during 1969,
with the hope that it could be finished by November 1971. The estimated $3 million was notavailable in late
1969 and the addition was reduced by eliminating the part that was to replace the grocery store at Charter
and Dayton Streets. This reduced the cost of the addition to $2.4 million which was available entirely from
state funds, as federal grant money had become unavailable. The state approved the funding in December
1969.7

In February 1970 the regents approved preliminary plans for stage II (also known as IIA). Land
acquisition and more planning took the spring of 1970. The final plans were approved on June 12,
1970. On September 11, 1970 the construction contracts for stage II were let. The general contract
wenttoJ. H. Findorff & Son for $1.3 million. Total contracts let were $2.42 million, with funding entirely
from state funds. Stage Il was completed in December 1971. Stage [l isa 130 by 170 foot, four story with
basement structure to the west of stage I, and connected to it by a three story bridge. Stage I contained
labs and classrooms as well as more office space. The computer science department was still growing ata
rate unforeseen by the planners.®

As computers became smaller, cheaper, and easier to use, they became increasingly important
to various disciplines. Engineering, business, medicine and other realms of study began to require that
students learn at least the rudiments of computer use. The computer science building was increasingly
unable to handle this demand. The University's 1983-85 project priority list, published in late 1982,
has Computer Sciences Unit I1I in eighth position, at an estimated cost of $9.9 million. In July 1983 the
regents increased the funding to $11.7 million. $1.2 million of this increase was to correct deficien-
cies in stages I and I1. The money for this project would come from the state. The stage I1I plans were
drawn by architects Bowen, Zimmerman, and Strang, and called for a seven story tower section
bounded by the stages I and II building on the south and east, the railroad tracks on the north, and
Orchard Street on the west. Bids for stage III were opened and rejected in August 1985. After re-
planning, new bids were accepted February 5, 1986, and the general contract was let to Kraemer
Brothers for $5.44 million. Total contracts amounted to $9.55 million. Ground-breaking took place
April 1, 1986 and was finished in the summer of 1987. Stage Il added an entry-way and plaza on the
west side of the complex to provide a traffic path from Union South. It also closed Orchard Street.”?

1) University directories and Instructional reports; Application for Nation Science Foundation Grant, April 1, 1963,
series 40/1/7-1 box 29.

2) Wendt to Box et al. December 4, 1963, series 4/0/3 box 191; Box et al to Young, October 21, 1964, series 40/1/7-
1 box 123;

3) Regent's Minutes, August 14, 1964;

4) Box et al to Young, October 21, 1964, series 40/1/7-1 box 123;

5) Regent's Minutes, January 8, 1965, February 5, 1965;

6) Regent's Minutes, May 7, 1965, August 20, 1965, exhibit F, June 9, 1967; Rosen to Clodius, April 11, 1967, series
40/1/2-1 box 38.

7) Bock to Young, November 8, 1968, series 40/1/7-1 box 123; Young to Clodius, May 1, 1964, series 40/1/2-1 box
12; Lemon to State Building Commission, November 24, 1969, Concept and Budget Report, Computer Sciences-
Statistics Unit IIA, December 1, 1969, Minutes of Planning Committee Meeting, November 11, 1969, Lemon to
Atwell, December 10, 1969, series 40/1/7-1 box 123.

8) Regent's Minutes, February 6, 1970, June 12, 1970, July 27, 1970, September 11, 1970 schedule I1I; Comments on
the need for Stage II of the Computer Science..., undated, Department of Planning and Construction, Computer Science
and Statistics-Unit IIA, January 28, 1970, series 40/1/7-1 box 123, Dietrich to Dorman, September 30, 1970, series 4/
31/9-3 box 3.

9) Regent's Minutes, December 10, 1982 exhibit E, April 6, 1984, July 13, 1974, February 7, 1986; State Budget
Letters, Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, May/June 1986 p. 18, Regent Request, July 1984, Van Ess to Lobe, June 7,
1988, Fulop to Waack, October 28, 1987, Agency Request for State Building Commission Action, February 1986, Fact
Sheet, Computer Science and Statistics Building - Phase I1I, undated, UW news Release, March 27, 1986, series 4/31/
9-3 box 3.
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PRACTICE COTTAGE

' Fig. 1. This 1931 photo was
taken from the steps of Ag Hall

and shows the Orthopedic Hospi-
| tal at the top, and the practice
cottage which was moved to
make way for the hospital, in its
new location at the right. The
house's address before the move
was 444 Warren Street, and after
the move was 1501 Linden Drive.
[series 9/3 Home Ec Practice
Cottage, jf-42]

Originally private this house was purchased by the University in 1911 and used as a
home economics practice house until 1940. It was moved west in 1930 and demol-

ished in 1951.

(then Morris) and Randall (then Warren) Streets for $8900. It was built about 1900.!

Director of home economics Abby Marlatt persuaded the regents to allow her department to
use the house for homemaking practice. With about $1200 for remodelling purposes, the department
began using the seven room house as the "practice cottage". A home economics staff member, Mary
Bunnell and her mother, lived in the house as supervisors. Every senior in the program was required
to spend two weeks in the cottage, purchasing, planning, cooking and serving meals to other stu-
dents. Another function of the practice cottage was the testing of labor saving devices. The reports by
the department on inventions like the gasoline engine applied to washing machines and well pumps
were written for Wisconsin publication to be read by the state's farmers and their wives.2

As the years passed the cottage became more and more unsuitable, because of deterioration
under hard use and limited size. The new home economics building was too crowded to do home-
making practice there. So the old cottage was still in use in 1930 when the site at Linden and Randall
was chosen for the new orthopedic hospital. The old practice cottage was moved west about a block
(see Fig. 1). In this new location it served as the department practice cottage for another ten years,
until in 1940 a new, permanent and much larger home management house was built. The old house
stood, and was used for miscellaneous storage, and expansion space until 1951. At that time the lot
was needed for the site of the state hygiene laboratory and the cottage was demolished.

In 1911 the University purchased the Schmelzer property at Linden

1) Minutes of the Executive Committee, May 27, 1911; Madison city directories.

2) Wisconsin Country Magazine, October 1911, p. 365, March 1913, p. 4, June 1913, p. 13, June 1914; Regent's
Report, 1913-1914, p. 136; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, January 1931 p. 137, May 1978 pp. 5-6., For the Bunnells,
see Regent's Minutes, May 31, 1912.
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e CREW HOUSE

Fig. 1. The crew house, c. 1975 center, Adams Hall at left, Jorns Hall at right. The 1985 addition to
the crew house is at the right of the building. This photo comes from the back of the Wisconsin Inter-
collegiate Rowing brochure. [photo courtesy of UW athletic department]

The Crew house was built in 1966 to replace quarters behind the red gym, lost to the
construction of the Alumni House. The site was originally at Willows Beach but was

changed to the Babcock Drive site after objections by the city of Madison. The crew

house was expanded in 1985 and may again become too small for the program.

more than seventy years old, and was a wood-frame structure built with donated funds, and had

seen very heavy use by both University students and the local public. Besides, it was due to be
demolished to make way for the alumni house. In September 1963 the regents approved a plan to build
anew boathouse with $250,000 of athletic departments revolving funds. The regents had decided to
build at the Willows Beach, a small (85 feet) piece of Mendota lakeshore directly north of the EIm
Drive dorms. In November 1963 the state approved the construction of a crew house to be financed

from athletic receipts and gifts.!
This building was to contain not only varsity and intramural crew equipment, but student

There was no doubt that a new crew-house was needed. The one in back of old red gym was
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recreational swimming facilities. This plan seemed to be on the fast track, with funding, location, and design
all selected and agreed to. Haste was needed since the plans for the alumni house were nearly ready, and
they called for the removal of the old boat-house. In January 1965 the regents examined the preliminary
plans for the crew house developed by architect John J. Flad. By this time the recreational facilities had
been deleted and public toilets added 2

At this regents meeting were Mrs. Richard Bardwell, Mrs. Milton Leidner, and Mr. Kenton
Peters, representatives of the Capitol Community Citizens, Madison alderman Goulette, and Alicia
Ashman of the league of Women Voters. They had serious objections to the plan for the crew house. In
forty five minutes of presentation, they made several points about the crew house: any construction on
the beach would detract from the environment; it would destroy the only beach available on the west
side of Madison; the development would benefit only a handful of athletes, while depriving thousands
of residents. The representatives displayed a petition against the project signed by 4000 residents,
including many "signatures" that consisted of children's thumb-prints.

They pointed out that the Madison Common Council had passed a resolution that development
at the Willows should be jointly studied by the regents and the City of Madison. When the regents
asked Mrs. Leidner if she would object to the construction of a bath house on the site, she replied in
thenegative. A motion torestudy the plan and report at the next regent's meeting was voted down, 6-3.
President Debardeleben and regent Cohen agreed that from the nature of the presentations there did not
appear to be any room for compromise.3

Over the next few weeks this controversy raged back and forth. The regents resisted arguments
that they did not have final authority over campus development. In vain the planners argued that the
project would actually expand the beach, its public access and parking, and would be unavailable to
the public for only short periods of crew use in the spring and fall months, and that five other sites had
been examined before deciding on the Willows. The citizens followed the usual course of writing
campaigns to the newspapers, and insisting that the city have joint authority over the project with the
regents. The president of the City Employees Local 236 wrote a letter to president Harrington, and
Madison newspapers, arguing that the cost of the crew house was too high, and that the Willows
should remain "unmolested". Professor Roger Schwenn reversed his opposition to the plan because of
"blind opposition, political gimmickry, obfuscation, and sappy sentimentalism abroad in Madison" and
apologized to Harrington. The city registered its disapproval with the state building commission.*

By early March, 1965 the wrangling was beginning to tell on the University, president
Harrington began to back away from support of the site, writing the new chancellor Robin Fleming that
"we should look at new sites", while insisting that "we are not joining the Park Commission in looking
at new sites, we absolutely must retain our full right to do these things ourselves." Harrington also
insists that the University has not promised to keep Willows Beach open or to improve it at all.
Fleming opined that the University should not take a major stand on the case even though it might
"encourage citizen groups to attack us". Late in March the University informed the Madison Parks
Department that they would welcome a commissioner to consult with the University on a new site,
while insisting that the ultimate decision must remain with the regents. In March the regents decided to
send the question back to the planning Committee.>

In October, 1965 a new study of sites for the crew house was made and recommended a site at
the end of Babcock Drive. The regents approved the new site in their December 1965 meeting. Regent
Greenquist smelled capitulation, and asked repeatedly if the new site was as good as the old one, or if
it was being selected "just to keep peace with the city". Fleming replied that the site was entirely
acceptable to the University. The controversy was over.®

By June 1966 Flad had altered the plans for the crew-house to fit the new site, and in July the
regents approved the preliminary plans, with an estimated cost of $250,000. In November 1966 the
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Executive Committee awarded contracts for the crew-house. The general contractor was General Lumber
and Improvement Company of Madison for $170,300. Total contracts were for $280,000. The funds came
from the athletic department ($207,000), gift funds ($43,000), and state funds for utilities ($30,000).
Construction began November 8, 1966. Construction was 85 per cent complete, in June 1967, when work
was stopped by a labor strike. About six weeks of work remained after the strike and the crew house was
ready in the fall of 1967.7

The crew-house is a single story concrete building, 110 feet square, set deep into the
lakeshore, with a sun deck on the roof, at street level. It contains storage for shells, a rowing tank, staff
offices, a shop, and exercise equipment. The addition of women's crew to intercollegiate status in
1974, has more than doubled the number of athletes using the facilities, and even with another storage
bay added in 1985, the building is overcrowded. Plans are being made to build a new crew-house, or
expand the existing one. The Willows Beach is again being considered as a crew site. The objection
this time is based on the possibility of disturbing an old anthrax disease pit. Current public use of the
Willows is essentially zero, as is the use of its putative replacement, the beach and beach house on the
north side of Picnic Point.®

1) Regent's Minutes, September 6, 1963, November 8, 1963, December 3, 1963; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine,
December 1963 p. 8; As early as July 1964, there was resistance to the use of Willows beach: the Madison board of
Park Commissioners recommended to the Mayor and common council that the Willows be designated a permanent
public beach, Marshall to Harrington, July 9, 1964 series 24/9/3 box 5.

2) Regent's Minutes, January 8, 1965; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, February 1965, p. 8; Peterson to Wisconsin State
Building Commission, January 11, 1965, series 40/1/7-1 box 21.

3) Regent's Minutes, January 8, 1965;

4) Yanke to Harrington, February 17, 1965, Schwenn to Harrington, January 14, 1965, Harrington to Schwenn, January
26, 1965, series 40/1/7-1 box 21. Facts Concerning the Willows Beach, February 5, 1965, series 24/9/3 box 5.

5) Harrington to Fleming, March 3, 1965, Fleming to Harrington and Clodius, February 25, 1965, series 40/1/7-1 box
21; Regent's Minutes, march 5, 1965.

6) Memo Concerning Location for New Crew Facilities, October 25, 1965, series 24/9/3 box 5; Regent's Minutes,
December 10, 1965.

7) Regent's Minutes, July 13, 1966, November 4, 1966, exhibit D; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, January 1966, p. 18;
Budget, Timetable, Space Summary and Outline Specifications, John J. Flad and Co., June 27, 1966. Halle to Tipple,
April 28, 1967, series 24/9/3 box 8.

8) Regent's Minutes, March 8, 1985; Capital Times, November 15, 1994; Wisconsin Intercollegiate Rowing 1993-
1994 Catalog (Athletic Department offices).
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« | CLINICAL SCIENCE CENTER

Fig. 1. The "completed"
Clinical Science Center.
Clear visible is the
modular nature of the
building, with the towers
being stacks of modules
~ connected at their cor-
ners. Nearly indefinite
expandability is a hall-
mark ofthe design. The
building in the back-

® oround is the Nielson

% Tennis Stadium. [7/4
folder #2, j1-97]

Built to replace old and outmoded facilities the Clinical Science Center was planned
from 1961 to 1973. Groundbreaking took place in May 1973, and the move to the
new building took place in March 1979. The building is designed as stacks of mod-
ules for easy expansion and remodelling. Its cost at opening was about $100 million.
Part of the medical school is still housed in the old hospital on University Avenue.
The CHS became a semiprivate entity in 1995.

hospital forthe UW Medical School, and as a cutting edge hospital for the citizens of Wiscon-

sin. By the mid-1950s it needed and got a major upgrade when floors were added, and a
number of the discrete buildings on the site were connected and modernized. It did not address the
increasing crowding and obsolescence of the academic facilities of the Medical School housed mainly
in the Service Memorial Institute.
The first external confirmation that a new hospital and clinics facility were needed came from the
Hamilton Report in 1957. This report was commissioned just after the expansion of the Wisconsin
General Hospital. The lack of modern Academic facilities was highlighted by the Hamilton Report.
The Medical School began almost immediately to make preliminary plans for long-term future expan-

B uilt in 1925 the Wisconsin General Hospital served for more than 50 years as the clinical
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" Fig 2. Phase |
—— - e construction
e gy : R >ril 1974,
- ; : Construction
B hadbeen
£ underway for
about 11
months. [7/4
folder #2, jf-
98]
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sion.

These initial plans, prepared by the Medical School with the assistance of Professor Leo
Jakobson of Planning and Construction, were presented to the regents in January 1961. The plans and
their models examined development at the University Avenue site and the block south of it. The news
was not good. The fully developed site would require the removal of the infirmary, Bradley Memorial,
the old heating station, and the service building. The two blocks would be almost solid high-rise
buildings. The regents voted to approve the plans in principal. This preliminary planning stage lasted
several years. Most of the conclusions drawn were negative ones: more space was definitely needed,
the site might be too small for the needed expansion, etc.!

It was soon clear that more formal and long-range planning was necessary. A legislative task
force determined that not only was the old facility inadequate for the Medical School but that a larger
Medical School was needed to produce the number of doctors needed by the State of Wisconsin. In
1963, the legislature authorized and hired a consultant to aid the Medical School in planning a new
and expanded Medical School.

By 1965 it was generally recognized that the University Avenue site would never be adequate
for the hospital and Medical School, even if built to a very high density. A new site was proposed on
forty five acres of land to the north of the Veteran's Administration Hospital, with which the Medical
School was closely integrated. By the end of 1965 the new site had been accepted (and recommended
by the Campus Planning Committee), even with the difficulties presented by the splitting of the Medi-
cal School facilities between the two sites for up to 20 years. In January 1966 the regents made it
official, voting that the Medical Center Facilities be sited contiguous to and north of the Veteran's
Administration Hospital 2

In June 1966, the regents approved the allocation of $283,000 for a consultant and planning
funds. The report by the consulting firm, Lester Gorsline Associates International, was presented to the
state Building Commission in the fall of 1968 and to the regents on November 1, 1968. This report
confirmed the new site on the west end of campus, the need to increase the size of the Medical School
class (from 104 to 160) and asked the regents to request state authority to proceed to preparation of
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master plans and implementation of Phase I. After 8 years, the planning phase was barely half over. 3

The Master Development Plan by architects HOK (Hellmuth, Obata and Kassabaum) was
received by the regents in July 1970. The regents passed two resolutions: the first approved the Master
Plan, and the second approved the concept of Phase I, authorized the preparation of preliminary plans
for Phase I, and attached "the highest priority to the implementation of Phase I as related to the build-
ing program of the University". The discussion for these resolutions betrays some impatience with the
seemingly endless planning, and a strong desire to get on with it. Still it was almost two years before
the plans for Phase I were approved. At the May 1972 regents meeting those plans were reviewed and
approved. The project had been in the planning stage for so long that the enrollment estimates were
starting to come into question. The total project was now estimated at $120 million and eight years.
Phase I was to cost $45 million.*

Another year elapsed while final plans were completed. Construction contracts were signed in
the spring of 1973. General contractor was a joint venture between J. H. Findorff and Hutter Con-
struction of Fon Du Lac for $23.2 million. Total contracts were for $48.4 million. Funding was from
state funds ($21.3 million), Federal grants ($14.6 million), and hospital operating funds. Ground-
breaking on the phase I of the largest and most expensive building in the history of Wisconsin took
place on May 23, 1973

The design of the building is unusual, even ignoring its enormous size. The planners (Hellmuth,
Obata and Kassabaum) recognized that the old hospital was only 50 years old and obsolete as a
hospital, regardless of modifications. To avoid this fate for the new hospital it was made as flexible as
possible. This meant avoiding designing rigid areas such as "wards" that were designed for a particu-
lar purpose and unsuitable for any other. This consideration led the designers to a modular approach.
The module they decided on was an open (unpillared) 120 foot square with interconnections not along
the sides of the square as in conventional construction but on the corners, where elevators, stairs and
utilities are run vertically between modules. These modules can be stacked either horizontally or
vertically. In addition, each module has a space above its ceiling that is nearly a full floor in height.
This "interstitial" space is used for the horizontal distribution of utilities. This arrangement allows
very flexible remodelling, and much remodelling of a module can be done from above, without dis-
turbing the current occupant of the module. Maintenance is also easier and non-disruptive. It also
ensures that addition of new modules as the building grows will be easy and non-disruptive. Another
significant design feature of the building is the orientation of the main traffic patterns along the diago-
nal axes of the square modules. This was done to provide outside exposure for the sides of each
module, thereby allowing for windows in nearly every room in the building.®

Only a few months after construction began a major modification was made to the master plan.
Under pressure of time, changing federal financing and the legislature, it was decided that the four
phase plan was too large and unlikely to obtain adequate federal funding. As a result the University
and the state decided to reduce the project. They decided that the total project should consist of the
first two phases of the old project with a few changes, and a major remodelling of the old University
Avenue facilities to accommodate the programs previously intended for the eliminated third and fourth
phases. This major scaling back of the original plan from four phases to two reduced total cost to a
figure judged likely to obtain federal funding. They also replaced the original architects with Flad and
Associates. Construction contracts for phase II (the second half of the new version of the building)
were let in the fall of 1975, to the same contractors already building phase 1. These contracts were for
an additional $43 million. These bids were much higher than anticipated and caused much criticism of
the project and its planners. It appears that most of this cost over-run was due to inflation.”

Although the huge scale of the project absorbed nearly all the skilled building workmen in the
Madison area for many years, the actual construction went smoothly; but planning continued to be a
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problem. In 1976 the regents authorized the addition of a module for animal facilities, at a cost of $1.8
million. What was more troublesome, however, was the breakdown of the arrangements with the VA
hospital. For many years during the planning phase negotiations had established what facilities would
be shared between the new hospital and the adjacent Veteran's Administration Hospital. After con-
struction had progressed considerably, it was revealed that these understandings were not in writing,
and because of a number of altered conditions would not be honored. This meant that the new hospital,
close to a decade in planning and $100 million in known costs would not have rehabilitative or
radiology facilities. The planners went to the regents, and the regents went to the legislature and $6.4
million was added to the budget to add modules for the missing functions. It was estimated that these
changes would add eight months to a construction schedule that had projected completion by Septem-
ber 1978.8

The various parts of the Medical School began to move into the new building in January and
February of 1978 when the UW nursing school and the Wisconsin Clinical Cancer Center relocated
from the old hospital complex on University Avenue. The move from the old building was completed
on March 31, 1979 when 200 patients were transferred from the old hospital to the new. The move
was supervised by Associate vice chancellor William Davis, assisted by Air National Guard medics,
the 44th General Hospital Army reserve, and a fleet of tractor trailer rigs from Reynolds Transfer and
Storage. The move, orchestrated from the 14th floor of the WARF building, went off without any
significant delays or mishaps. The doors were locked on the old hospital after more than 50 years of
service to the state.”

The completed (as of 1979) building was 6 stories high containing 1.5 million square feet, or
about 35 acres of floor space, the size of a small farm, and had cost about $100 million. Comparing
the new structure with the old we see that the cost of the pneumatic tube system ($1.1 million) in the
new building exceeded that of the entire original Wisconsin General Hospital building. The new
building was more than five times the size of the old one. The old one had a useful life as a hospital of
50 years. The new one is estimated by current building managers to have an expected useful life of 200
years.

There is little doubt that the new clinical science center was a success. Certainly some snags
arose: several doors were too narrow to accommodate some of the older beds from the old hospital.
Complaints were voiced about the difficulties in finding one's way around the huge structure. Staff was
hired and acquired through volunteer organizations to serve as guides to patients and visitors. Me-
chanical systems needed to be sorted out, landscaping was incomplete and other normal inconve-
niences from the opening of such a huge new project. No serious problems arose with the new build-
ing.

A real and ongoing difficulty was that when the project was scaled back in 1974 it had been
done in a hurry, and things were eliminated that were later deemed essential. In the twenty-five years
since the Clinic for Health Sciences (CHS) opened it has been necessary to make a number of addi-
tions and modifications. Fortunately the modular approach taken by HOK (the original architects)
made the addition of modules relatively painless, although not cheap. There is a general feeling in
Madison and the legislature that the CHS is a kind of infinite sink for building funds. Earliest among
the costly projects was the renovation of the old University Avenue complex. The price tag on this
project escalated to nearly $25 million, an astonishing figure to regents and legislators alike. This
amazement was largely due to neglecting the fact that the old building was being made to stand in for
phases IIT and IV deleted from the new building to save money. In 1984-85 it was necessary to per-
form a major ($5 million) energy efficiency upgrade on the CHS, which had been designed and built
before any widespread concern for energy conservation. The addition of four new modules (for
surgical science, radiology, and records management), and the remodelling of two others were ap-
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proved in 1986 at a cost of $18 million. The radiology addition was an excellent example of the kind
of change that the new building could handle that old kinds of hospitals could not. The radiology
addition was driven by the development of Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) which required large
costly and very heavy equipment. At the old hospital this kind of development would have been
impossible to accommodate. At the CHS it was a matter of adding a module near the existing radiol-
ogy area. The other modules were to handle operations that had been left out of the redesign in 1974.
A helicopter pad was constructed on the roof of the new modules to accommodate the helicopters
leased by the Medflight program, a medical emergency and rescue operation. After severe winter
weather caused the failure of the helicopter in several medflight emergencies, in 1987 a $206,000
hangar was built into the hill outside the emergency room. In 1989 approval was given for the con-
struction of a parking ramp at the CHS at a cost of $6.9 million paid by parking revenue. An $15
million expansion of surgical and critical care facilities was approved in 1990.10

The new hospital and clinics complex has been a tremendous (though expensive) success. The
responsibility lies in large part with the enormous number of people who with diligence patience and
vision shepherded the huge project through its long and difficult gestation. In 1995 it was decided that
to escape the slow and laborious bureaucracy that gave it birth, but slowed its professional response
time to unacceptable levels the CHS would become a quasi-private entity. The buildings will be
leased from the University, medical education will still be provided there, but the administration of the
hospital will be removed from the University and State.

1) Regent's Minutes, January 6, 1961, January 7, 1966 and exhibit C.
2) Regent's Minutes, October 22, 1965, December 10, 1965, January 7, 1966 and exhibit C.
3) Regent's Minutes, November 1, 1968 and exhibit E, June 10, 1966; Medical Center Task Force Report to the
Chancellor, December 1970, series 4/31/9-1 box 9. There is some confusion regarding who hired the consultants. The
minutes refer to "the employment by the State Department of Administration of a consulting firm..." But in the sum-
mary report included as exhibit E is the emphasized statement "a medical center consultant was employed by the
University to plan the facilities expansion program"; the Master Plan filed with minutes of regent's meeting, May 1972
states that the planners were hired by the state.
4) Regents Minutes, July 10, 1970 and Master Development Plan filed with minutes of meeting, May 1972 and plans
filed with minutes; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, August-September, 1970, p. 15; Wisconsin State Journal, May 5,
1972; Green Bay Press-Gazette, May 7, 1972; The building was proposed to consist of four phases. Phase I would
establish the core building and house the bulk of patient care, much research space and some academic space. Phase 11
through IV would be additions to the core and house more research space, additional patient care areas and the bulk of
the academic facilities. The projected budget and period of time ($100 million and 12 years) is roughly the original
asking price of basketball player Glenn Robinson whose agent first asked the Milwaukee Bucks for a $13 million, 13
year deal.
5) Regent's Minutes, June 8, 1973 Exhibit A; Building progress reports, June 8, 1973, series 83/35 box 6; Wisconsin
Alumni Magazine, June 1973 p. 20.
6) Master Development Plan filed with minutes of regent's meeting, May 1972; Wisconsin State Journal, November
25, 1976.
7) Regent's Minutes, February 8, 1974, September 12, 1975 and exhibit A; "University of Wisconsin Center for Health
Sciences", filed with Board of Regents Papers, May 5, 1972; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, May 1972 p. 24.
8) Wisconsin State Journal, March 3, 1977, April 15, 1977, April 26, 1977; The Capital Times, April 26, 1977; The
discussion of who was to blame for the failure of the shared facilities planning was occasionally rancorous, and
distinctly unclear. The University believed that clear agreements had been made and that the VA reneged on them. The
VA strongly objected to this characterization and stated that the UW had known for a long time that the facilities would
not be available to them. Apparently most shared facilities were to be housed in an addition to the VA hospital that was
not built due to reorganization of the VA facility. See series 4/31/9-1 box 9, Edwin Young to John Chase M. D.,
summary of Veterans Hospital Building Program, etc.
9) Wisconsin State Journal, April 17, 1977, March 3, 1979, March 30, 1979, March 31, 1979, April 1, 1979; The
Capital Times, February 9, 1977.
10) Regent's Minutes, December 2, 1980, December 6, 1985, July 13, 1984, October 10, 1986, December 6, 1986,
October 10, 1986, October 10, 1986, November 7, 1986, March 6, 1987, December 9, 1988, June 8, 1990, Novem-
ber 8, 1991; Agency Request for State Building Commission Action, November 1986, series 4/31/9-1 box 2.
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DAIRY CATTLE CENTER

Fig. 1. The Dairy
Center November
1954, a two story
brick and steel
center section 25 by
80 feet, with two
140 foot wings
projecting to the
east and west. The
camera is looking
east. The silos in
the foreground and
background show
the extent of the
wings. [Series 7/7
folder #1, jf-69]
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'our present buildings are old, outmoded and totally inadequate" he was not exaggerating
for effect.! The old dairy barn had been built in 1897 when the idea that agriculture could

benefit from research was a quaint new idea. The facilities for instruction and research in the dairy
field had barely been altered in the fifty years since the old barn was built. One senator said "It is a rat
trap; it is a fire trap; and if it belonged to a private farmer the state fire inspector would condemn it."
On May 21, 1951 the appropriation for $400,000 to build a new dairy building was passed by the
legislature.2

Froker and his staff wasted no time. In December 1951 the college of agriculture selected
Law, Law, Potter and Nystrom architects for the new building. During the spring of 1952, a site was
selected, just to the east of the old dairy barn. On May 16, 1952 the regents approved the preliminary
plans. Bids were sought in November 1952. These bids were opened February 4, 1953, and were all
over budget and rejected. Changes were made by the agricultural staff; the major changes being
leaving the second floor unfinished and eliminating two silos. The second round of bids were opened
April 28, 1953, and were under budget. On May 9, 1953 the regents awarded contracts for the
construction of the Dairy Cattle Instruction and Research Center. The general contractor was the
Vogel Brothers Building Company of Madison for $174,266.

Groundbreaking took place in the first week of June 1953. Final inspection was done on
March 8, 1954. The second floor areas were finished in 1955 at a cost of about $37,000.

The wings are one story metal shed construction and are the main cattle barns; each has a 60
foot projection to the south to hold hay and bedding material. The center section has a milking parlor
on the first floor, with a public viewing window. The upstairs of the center section holds classrooms

offices, and an apartment for student operators of the dairy.
1) The Daily Cardinal, April 12, 1951
2) The Daily Cardinal, May 17, 1951, May 22, 1951. Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, July 1951 p. 19. Regent's Minutes,
December 11, 1954, July 11, 1953. May 9, 1953.
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DANIELS CHEMISTRY
BUILDING

." Fig. 1. The new
Chemistry complex
c. 1968. The
Mathews research
building is at the
left of the building,
and the Daniels
building is the base
and tower section
at the right. In the
background is the
old chemistry
building. [series 9/
1, Chemistry
Building (new), jf-
82]
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Built in 1965 as the completion of chemistry's move from their old quarters, the
Daniels Chemistry building provided lecture halls labs and office space for under-
graduate chemistry education. It is named for Farrington Daniels, a long-time chair-

man of chemistry.

and Farrington planned for the department's exodus from the crowded and inadequate old

chemistry building at Charter and University (now Chamberlin Hall). Because the whole
project was estimated to cost more than six million dollars in the late fifties, the deans decided to
press for building the complex in sections. They first built the research section (Unit I), now called the
Mathews laboratories in 1960, principally funded by WARF. Planning for the expansion was pursued
simultaneously. It was understood that the expansion would be a very large addition to Unit I, that
could encompass the whole block bounded by University Avenue, Johnson, Mills and Charter Streets,
except for the Methodist church in the northwest corner of the block. Funding for this classroom

364

The basic idea for the new chemistry building had been around since 1957, when deans Daniels



building could not come from WARF, who only funded research facilities. !

The building committee was headed by professors Holt, Larson and Ferry. In May 1963 the
regents voted to allow the preparations of plans and specifications for Chemistry Building Units 2 and
3. It would take more than a year before the preliminary plans were approved. Much of this time was
taken up by the tedious job of arranging funding from a number of different sources. The total esti-
mated cost was $7.3 million. Of this amount the state provided $5.71 million, the NSF 1.2 million,
and NASA $442,000. Final plans were approved by the regents on March 5, 1965. Several months of
revision, adjustments and bids followed. The architects for the building were Grellinger and Rose of
Milwaukee.?

The regents let construction bids on August 20, 1965, with the general contract going to J. H.
Findorff for $2.719 million. Groundbreaking took place immediately. It was estimated that the build-
ing would be completed by February 1967. This timetable was not met. The building was first ready
for classes in the fall of 1967. Some professors and researchers were not moved in until the spring of
1968. After ten years the chemistry department was again completely under one roof.>

The building was constructed of brick faced prefabricated concrete and steel. It is a subbase-
ment, basement and three stories 278 by 147 feet, and a nine story tower rising to 111 feet. The
general idea of the design is that very large traffic flow through elevators cannot be done, so large
gathering places like lecture halls and large undergraduate labs should be on floors reachable by foot.
Thus the base section of only three stories but covering a very large area. The lecture halls have
capacities of 150, 300, and 400 students. The labs in the base section are 40 by 45 feet. The base
area also contains stockrooms, the library, and the lobby (on the Mills Street side). In the tower
section are offices and smaller labs, utilities and instrument rooms. The chemistry building was the
first attempt by the University to build a high rise classroom building, and it was quite successful.
There were long term difficulties with the ventilation system, a problem that appeared in every build-
ing ever occupied by chemistry. Some problems appeared with non-standard desks in some lecture
halls. Most of these difficulties have been ironed out and the building is an excellent home for the
department. At this time, 1994, there are plans to complete the entire structure, by adding section 5 to
the south-east corner of the block, in the space where two old houses are now in use as tutoring
facilities.

The history of the University had seen chemistry migrate from North Hall, to University Hall
(Bascom), to the old Science Hall (burned 1884), the chemistry building at 600 N. Park, to the
chemistry building at Charter Street and University Avenue, and now to a large and permanent home
in the Mathews Research Building and the Daniels Chemistry Building.*

1) Aaron Ihde, Chemistry as Viewed from Bascom's Hill, p. 633-636;
2) Regent's Minutes, May 10, 1963, August 14, 1964; Daily Cardinal, January 23, 1964; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine,
October 1964, p. 23. Final drawings, February 1965, series 24/9/3 box 5
3) Regent's Minutes, August 20, 1965; Aaron Thde, Chemistry as Viewed from Bascom's Hill, p. 633-636; Daily
Cardinal, March 11, 1965; Badger Chemist, winter 1966; Progress reports, August ,September, October, November,
1965, January 1966, series 24/9/3 box 5.
4) Regent's Minutes, June 9, 1972.
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HIRAM SMITH ANNEX

Fig. 1. Hiram
Smith Hall on
the right, Smith
Annex on the
left, from the
north 1993.
[Author Photo,
AP-5]
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Built in 1909 as expansion space for the dairy school, the Smith Hall annex has since
been home to veterinary science, the poultry department and is now laboratories for
the soils department.

that the best way to alleviate the crowding in the agriculture long courses was to erect three new

buildings, one of which was an annex to the dairy building to be built in the rear of the dairy
building.! This building was initially planned to be a basement and one or two stories at an estimated
cost of $9000. The plans for the dairy annex were drawn up by the office of Arthur Peabody, the
university's supervising architect in December 1908. By the summer of 1909 the building plans were
ready for bids and were put out for bids at the same time as the plans for the west wing addition to
the engineering building on Bascom Hill. Bids were sought in June of 1909 and opened on July 19,
1909, when the regents selected T. C. McCarthy who bid $57,683 for the construction of both
projects, the dairy annex and the engineering wing. McCarthy's bid is not broken down between the
two projects, but judging from the University's bookkeeping, the part of the bid for the dairy annex
was probably about $11,000.

The specifications for the job specify that there was a frame structure (of which no other
record is found) on the site of the annex, which to be removed as part of the contract. The old build-
ing was to be demolished, but the basement under it would be used as part of the basement for the
annex. Construction on the dairy annex was begun immediately after the contract was signed, about
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July 21, 1909, and the earth removed from the excavation was moved to the site of the horticulture
potting house and greenhouses then on the drawing boards.

By December of 1909, the building was ready for the pouring of the second floor concrete. By
March 1910 the walls were complete and roof trusses were in place. Through the summer of 1910,
despite short delays due to labor difficulties, supply problems, and the overextension of the contrac-
tor, the building went steadily ahead. In September 1910, architect Peabody reports: "The building
was practically completed during the month of September a few minor details still needing atten-
tion."2

In Dean Russell's report to the regents in October 1910, the dean describes the new building:

The facilities of the dairy department have been increased by the erection of a two-story
and basement building, 46 X 84 feet, immediately in the rear of the old dairy building. The
basement will be used for additional working space for creamery machinery and foreign
cheese work, the first floor for a dairy laboratory for long course students, and for milk supply
work, while the upper floor includes lecture and locker space.?

The finished building cost $13,275.35 and was built with concrete foundation and floors. The
exterior walls are of hydraulic pressed brick, the sills, courses and other cut stone work are of
Bedford limestone. The second floor has applied decoration reflecting the style of the earlier Hiram
Smith Hall to the west and the later soils annex to the north. The roof is red tile.

This building is in such an obscure location that few people on campus even know of its
existence, and in fact the current occupants [1993] do not get direct mail delivery, but have their mail
delivered to the soils building and transferred from there.

The dairy department did not find permanent relief in the annex. Some old-timers in Madison
remember getting free buttermilk from the dairy labs in the annex during the 1930s. The department
continued to expand and moved into other quarters around the agriculture campus including Agricul-
ture Hall and the old agronomy building at 440 Henry Mall. In 1953 the department moved into
Babcock Hall, and the role of the annex became that of temporary "surge space" for new or over-
crowded departments.

After the dairy department left for good in 1953 the annex was remodelled and became the
home of veterinary medicine. In a classic case of a little room going a very long way, the veterinary
science building held in its 12,000 square feet bacteriology, immunology, virology and pathology
(some of which now have large buildings of their own). This went on until 1962 when the veterinary
science building went up on Linden Drive. After veterinary medicine the next occupant of the dairy
annex was the poultry department who had outgrown their little frame house on University Avenue
and moved into Smith Hall in the late 1950s and from there into the annex in the 1960s.*

Around 1969 the last of the poultry and food science offices left for the new animal science
building, making way for the ever-expanding soils department. Previous expansions by the soils had
required the construction of a separate horticulture building (1910), and the addition of the soils
annex to King Hall (1916). A major ($1.5 million) interior remodelling of the old dairy annex was
done in 1993 to provide modern laboratory facilities for soils. The soils department remains the sole
occupant of the old dairy annex.

1) Regents Minutes, December 16, 1908, vol. G p. 230. The other two buildings planned at that time were the addition
to the soils building, which was not completed until 1916, and the head house and potting shed eventually erected
behind the horticulture building.

2) Minutes of the Executive Committee, July 19, 1909. Monthly architect's reports are in the papers of the Executive
Committee.

3) Regents Report, 1910 p. 155.

4) University Directories; and Gordon Orr, Perspectives of a University. At the regents meeting of November 1950, the
building was renamed the Veterinary Science Building.
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SUSAN B. DAVIS HOUSE

b Fig. 1. Davis House 1993. The

% building is 33 by 91 feet of

& | concrete block, three floors and a
basement. [Author Photo, AP-38]

by a period of five years when all attention and funding for housing was absorbed by "regular

dorms", the Elm Drive dorms, the Holt dorms, and new Chadbourne Hall.!

Then in October 1960 the regents authorized the planning of a new women's cooperative. It
was to be built west of Bayliss, to cost $212,000 of residence halls revolving account with borrowing
by the Wisconsin University Building Corporation. The new dorm was to be identical to Bayliss
house and to hold 50 women on a cooperative basis. In November 1960, the University department of
planning and construction discussed the project with the state architect Karel Yasko, and agreed that
the cost projections were accurate. The project was speeded by the fact that the University already
owned the land on the site.?

Preliminary plans were approved January 18, 1961. In February, architects Weiler and Strang
were hired to oversee the project. Their final plans were approved by the regents on February 10-11,
1961. In March, 1961 the regents voted to name the dorm after Susan Burdick Davis, after the
woman who had been come to the University in 1925 as a lecturer and until her retirement in 1941
was dean of freshman women.

Contracts for construction were let in April 1961, with Vogel Brothers of Madison getting the
general contract for $107,805. Construction began immediately, and proceeded through 1961 and the
spring of 1962. The finished dorm was dedicated May 13, 1962. The twenty six double rooms were

12 by 14 feet. All 52 women in residence were state residents, and were selected based on financial
need and academic status. Davis House was a successful coop house for fifteen years until it could
not be kept full, and was changed to graduate housing in 1989.3

The quick success of the first two cooperative dormitories, Bayliss and Schreiner, was followed

1) The 1956 Board of visitors report says "The board can only sing the praises of ... Bayliss and Schreiner ... 'Please
give us more"'. Regent's Minutes, May 12, 1956;

2) Regent's Minutes, October 7-8, 1960; February 10-11, 1961;

3) Regent's Minutes, January 6, 1961, March 10, 1961, April 7, 1961; Daily Cardinal, April 19, 1962; For Miss Davis,
see archives biographical file.
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WEST DAY CARE

Fig. 1. Day care buildings, 1994. The 1935
flat-roofed building is at left, with the
o 1965 gabled-roofed one at the right.
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« [Author Photo, AP-22]
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building material or technique. These experimental buildings were usually erected near the

main building at the west end of campus. In 1962 the FPL bought several acres of land near
parking lot #60. They intended to use this land to relocate their experimental buildings to provide
space to extend their main building. When in the mid 1970s the University needed to reclaim this land
to facilitate the construction of the new medical complex, the FPL's experimental building were
already on the land. The land became the property of the University, but the FPL maintained ownership
of the buildings. In 1979 the University negotiated an agreement with the FPL to use the two buildings
as a day care center and pay rent to the FPL in the amount of $330 per month. The agreement would
expire September 1983. The University also contracted with Child Development Incorporated to
establish a day care center in the buildings.!

The buildings were altered to provide offices, and play areas for the day care center. The
plans for the alterations are dated a few months before the lease was made. The plans insulated parts
of the buildings, replaced windows, and returned experimental panels to the engineers at the FPL.

The smaller flat-roofed building was constructed in 1936 as a test bed for "stressed-skin"
prefabrication techniques, and according to the FPL is the first of its kind in the world. The flat build-
ing is 25 by 38 feet, built from stressed skin panels, and a flat wood-framed roof. It houses offices and
day care space.?

The larger building to the east was probably built about 1965 to test some other prefabricating
techniques. This building is 28 by 40 feet, with a gable roof, and a basement. It houses the day care
offices, and play space for the children.

Plans are occasionally broached to replace these shabby, cold and draft buildings with a
modern day care facility. The Forest Lab retained the right to reclaim the buildings if the University
decides to raze them.

The U. S. Forest Products Laboratory occasionally erects a building to test the practicality of a

1) Bruce and Sandbank, A History of Prefabrication, January 1944, NA 8480 B75 1972, library of the Forest Products
Laboratory; Draft of a request to negotiate a use permit with the Forest Products Laboratory, Papers of the Regent's
Meetings, July 1978; Regent's Minutes, November 1979, exhibit III, October 10, 1980.
2) Automated Builder, October 1994, p. 22.
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DAIRY BARN

Fig. 1. The Dairy Barn shortly after
completion in 1898. Much detail, includ-
ing cupolas, silo windows, the north side
window pattern, and assorted trim, has
been lost over the decades. [series 9/3

| Dairy Barn, jf-24]

The Dairy Barn was built in 1897 with $19,000 in state funds obtained by Dean
Henry. The silo was an early experiment in round silo design. The building has lost
some detail and been added to over the years, but is still sound, and is now in limited
use for animal experimentation.

ture appropriated $5,000 for the construction of a dairy barn for the university experimental

station. Dean Henry felt based on his examination of barns at other colleges, that this amount
would not build a barn suitable to the kind of instruction and research envisioned for the university.
Henry decided to hold off on construction, and in 1897 a further appropriation was made and Henry
began to plan the new barn.

Henry employed J. T. W. Jennings, a Chicago architect, who had already designed King Hall
and the Agricultural Heating Station. The interior layout of the barn was done by members of the
faculty and staff, particularly by Franklin Hiram King, whose developments of farm building ventila-
tion and the use of the tower silo have become standard practice throughout the world. Construction
was begun in 1897, the building was finished in time for classes in the fall of 1898 at a total cost of
about $19,000. The contractor was J. H. Stark.

Jennings designed the building's exterior to emulate the style of barns in Normandy. The main
building was 50 X 96 feet, three stories high above a high basement. Two 40 by 70 foot one and a
half story cattle stable barns projected toward the south from the east and west ends of the main barn.
Between the two stables and connected to the main barn was a two story stock judging barn. The fact
that the barn was lighted with electricity in that long ago day caused amazed comment.! Other fea-
tures of the building were an office and apartment for the director, and a long steel ramp on the west
side, navigable by teams of horses from the ground to the hay loft on the third floor. (See Fig. 2.).2
These features have been mostly lost in the last 100 years. Much other detail has been lost. The
original slate roof has been replaced with asphalt shingles.
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Fig. 2. The Dairy Barn
about 1905 showing
spiral ramp in rear
(west) of barn. A team
of horses pulling a
loaded wagon could
enter the third level hay
loft directly by climb-
ing this ramp. [x25-
336]

The silo on the northeast corner is one of professor King's first tower silos, was cylindrical
brick, plastered on the inside, 18 feet in diameter and 30 feet tall, and was surmounted by a large
water tank which supplied water to all the farm buildings. In those days of experimentation and
suspicion on the part of farmers toward their work, Henry and King would no doubt be amazed and
delighted to hear the present caretaker of the building refer casually to it as the "little silo". The little
silo is no longer in use. The silo in 1898 was an experiment, in which cut corn was matured in the silo
then fed as ensilage to the stock. The success of the experiment is obvious to anyone travelling in
Wisconsin or any other farming area, the biggest difference is that modern silos are very much larger.

The silo is only one way in which the UW dairy barn served as a model to farmers across the
country. In 1907 a series of single plant feeding experiments on cattle by Elmer McCollum which led
to the discovery of vitamin A in 1913, and revolutionized agricultural nutrition. Testing of early
models of milking machines were carried out here on a special herd.

The walls of the upper levels are noticeably bulged outwards as the result of a century of
loading and unloading sixty ton crops of hay. Two flanking barns were added to the barn complex
some time between 1908 and 1942. A building report to the regents in 1946 recommended that the
barn be torn down and replaced. The Dairy barn is still in use for cattle and goat raising and experi-
mentation, but those functions are gradually being shifted to more modern facilities on campus. It is
hoped that this handsome and significant piece of Wisconsin history can be returned to and main-
tained in good condition and stand for another hundred years, a monument to men who believed that
farming could benefit from research and instruction.

1) Wisconsin State Historical Society Historic Preservation Office site file. This and other features led to the derisive
nickname "cow palace", a nickname later attached to the stock pavilion.

2) Daily Cardinal, December 15, 1897.

3) Other sources include: Daily Cardinal October 15, 1898, December 15, 1897; and The Capital Times, Aug 8, 1969.
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VAN HISE DORMITORIES

A D Y. . - Tk ik / s ‘. . . Rt
Fig. 1. Van Hise dorms 1929. Refectory in foreground, Adams Hall left, Tripp Hall right. [series 26/1,
Exterior Views, Tripp and Adams, x25-1917]

The Van Hise dorms were built in 1926, as the first on-campus men's housing since
North Hall was converted to classrooms in 1884. Tripp, Adams, and the Van Hise
refectory (later renamed Carson Gulley Commons) building were first occupied in the
fall of 1926. They were briefly used as women's and military housing in the 1940s,
and the interiors have been extensively remodelled.

Charles Van Hise in 1904. Van Hise made a strong plea for the English system involving halls

of residence, commons, unions and athletic fields. "The communal life of instructors and
students in work, in play and in social relations is the very essence of the spirit of Oxford and Cam-
bridge ... for some reason these universities have produced an astonishingly large proportion of great
statesmen, writers and scientists." He points out that until the time of the fire that destroyed the old
Science Hall, the university of Wisconsin had been organized along the lines of the English system.
Discussing the results of the fire, after which North and South Halls were converted for classroom
space, Van Hise says: "Without ... any thought of the profound change which was being made in the
character of the university, the students were turned from the dormitories, and halls of residence for
men at Wisconsin were abandoned."! Van Hise also says: "...when the student goes out into the
world, there is no part of his education which is of such fundamental importance as capacity to deal
with men, to see the other fellow's point of view ... He must adjust himself to others. He must be
genial, fair, likeable, or else his lot is rightly a hard one."?
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Fig 2. Van Hise dorms
c. 1930. Tripp, Adams,
and refectory, with King
Hall in background.
Note that the area east
|| of Tripp Hall, now a

I vast parking lot, was at
s that time still in use by
the agricultural college
as experimental plots.
[series 26/1, Exterior
Views, Tripp and
Adams, x25-1912]

T

But each year Van Hise would include in the requested appropriations money for men's
residence halls, and each year was disappointed. Finally in his 1913-1914 report to the regents Van
Hise reported that the legislature of 1913 had appropriated $300,000 for a men's dormitory, com-
mons and union. A location for the dormitory was selected and plans were drawn by architect Arthur
Peabody. Sadly for the project, the legislature of 1915 changed its mind, cancelling the appropriation.
With the outbreak of WW I building at the university virtually ceased. Then on November 19, 1918 a
week after Armistice Day Van Hise died unexpectedly. Principal among the advances of the next few
years was the development of a new way of funding dormitory projects.

The first proposed method of funding residence halls was to lease university land to private
investors who would construct the buildings and lease them back to the university. The state attorney
general opined that no legal basis for this procedure was in place. After some further study another
approach was tried. In 1922 the regents set up a nonprofit corporation, the Wisconsin University
Building Corporation (WUBC), controlled completely by the regents which would lease university
land, raise capital (by borrowing from university general and trust funds, or from the public) and build
the dormitories. The dormitories would be leased back to and operated by the regents. In late 1922
this scheme of investing the university's surplus in revolving funds was approved by the legislature.
The surplus revolving fund had been substantially expanded in August 1915, when J. Stephen Tripp, a
lawyer and banker from Prairie du Sac left the bulk of his estate, about $350,000 to the university
without reservations of any kind.

With the issue of funding the dormitories now well in hand, the regents turned their effort to
the organization of the dormitory system. They appointed a faculty committee to report on the devel-
opment of social life of the university, particularly with respect to the architectural plans for the
Memorial Union Building and dormitories.

This committee included Harold C. Bradley, Scott Goodnight, and Charles Sumner Slichter.
With the help of John Dollard, secretary of the Wisconsin Union, the committee examined dormitory
systems at a dozen North American colleges; they discussed the plans with other faculty members,
consulted with architect Arthur Peabody, and generally studied the question from every conceivable
angle. It is important to remember that there had been no communal men's living arrangements since
the science hall fire in 1884. The university was embarking on a difficult undertaking and the fact that
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Fig 3. One of the two quadrangles under construction 1926. [Meuer photo vol. 12, p.132, M19§]
it was a spectacular success is due in large part to the skills and thoroughness of the men on this
committee.

In their January 1925 report the committee suggested that the dormitories, in the words of
John Dollard: "should make student living conditions less costly, more comfortable, more thoroughly
decent ... lessen social distinctions in student society ... and help to develop a vigorous and healthy
morale." 3 Van Hise would have agreed wholeheartedly. The committee recommended the type of
building they thought most likely to obtain the desired result, the entry-quadrangle type, several
separate structures grouped to enclose a central court, with a separate door for each building of a
varied and noninstitutional character. The buildings would be divided into houses with each house
containing thirty men mostly in single rooms (with a few doubles). Each house would have a common
room to help promote the social unity of the men in the house.

The committee at first believed that the dormitories should be reserved for freshmen, since
they were most in need of the influences and advantages provided by the dorms. But as time went on
they decided that each house would benefit by the inclusion of an older man as a dormitory "leader".
He should aid the younger men by example, by counsel and by friendly interest. This idea later be-
came the "house fellow" system. Later the proportion of freshmen to older students was adjusted to
"leaven the lump of green freshmen". On the recommendation of architect Peabody the regents also
decided to build a separate refectory for kitchen and dining facilities, rather than to place these func-
tions in the basement of the residence halls as originally planned.

Finally at the meeting of the Executive Committee of the regents on October 16, 1925, the
regents awarded the construction contracts for the construction of "Two Dormitory Quadrangles
each quadrangle to consist of three buildings." The general construction contract was awarded to
Walter W. Oeflein of Milwaukee for 550,310.34. The subcontracts, architect's fees and miscellaneous
costs brought the total to $720,000. At the same meeting the contracts were awarded for the con-
struction of the refectory building. The general contractor was J. P. Cullen and Son of Janesville for
$74,211. Subcontracts and miscellaneous cost brought the total for the refectory to $102,843. The
grand total for the projects contracts was $823,435.

The construction of the dormitory group was unusually trouble free. In March of 1926, the
contractor told the Cardinal that they were a month ahead of schedule. By May 1926 the goal of
using the dorms in the fall of 1926 was clearly in reach and the rules governing applications for
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residency in the new dorms were published. By September 21, 1926 the Cardinal reports that Tripp
and Adams Halls are fully occupied by more than 500 freshmen of the class of 1930. The four story
buildings were steel framed, with concrete foundations and floors. Exterior cladding was Madison
sandstone rubble and stucco, with stone trim. Approval of their appearance was widespread. The
dream of Charles Van Hise had become a reality twenty three years after its first exposition.*

If the beginnings were complicated, and the construction simple, the operation of the dormi-
tory was fraught with difficulty. No amount of planning could conjure up the reality of five hundred
college freshmen living by their own rules.

The dormitory committee had decided early that residents should set their own rules with "the
exception of certain fundamentals as to drinking, women and gambling ... officers of the university
should step in only in case of an offence committed against the university body politic, it's good name
or reputation."> On the first night in the new dorms a group from Adams Hall with saxophones,
clarinets, and other noisemakers woke everyone within earshot until a group in Tripp Hall counter
attacked with fire hoses. The following day the groups met to discuss house rules and quiet hours.
Throughout that first year reports of students organizing, bargaining and compromising over the rules
for the dorm make a strong case for the committee having guessed correctly.®

But the second year of the residence halls experiment, a new variable was introduced.
Alexander Meiklejohn's experimental college arrived. The 'x-college' was an experiment to examine
alternative ways of educating freshmen and sophomores in a university setting. As an experimenter,
Meiklejohn wanted and remarkably got the use of half of Adams Hall to house the x-college. There
were to be no subjects or exams in the usual sense, but instead a concentrated life course in thinking
reasonably. The instructors would live in the residence halls with the pupils. Introductory course
work was a steady diet of fourth and fifth century Athens. This introduction of the x-college into the
embryonic dorm system was extremely disruptive for the dorm system. In a typically plain-spoken
letter to president Glenn Frank, Dormitory Committee chairman Bradley says that during a discussion
with Meiklejohn and his housefellows regarding the alleged breaking of house rules, it became clear
that "uncouth behavior in the dining room is considered evidence of intellectual nonconformity, and
so is of no moment and by implication a good sign ... The same attitude explains the general disregard
of all rules made for the comfort of dormitory residents in general."” Meiklejohn's side of the discus-
sion was generally in agreement with Bradley's. He wanted as much segregation and isolation as
possible from the rest of the dormitory students. A victim of resistance from students and faculty but
mainly declining enrollment the x-college stopped accepting new students in 1931.8

The dorms were filled throughout the late 1920s, and the systems supporting them both
socially and financially were fine-tuned. The housefellow system in particular took a lot of adjusting,
in part because the administration of president Frank allowed for considerable ambiguity in the defini-
tion of authority and areas of influence. The dorms were considered so successful that the university
had some plans to eventually build very large dormitory groups, the "university city".

The times to come would make the dormitory experiment a trial for everyone. The great
depression struck at the heart of the scheme that had allowed the regents to build the dorms. The
construction loans were self-amortizing, and therefore depended on keeping the dorms full of stu-
dents. By 1932 the two quadrangles were filled only to about 75% of capacity. Various means were
tried to increase student enrollment in the dorms, including state wide recruiters at high schools. The
blame for falling use was a due to a number of factors. Adams Hall in particular had gotten a bad
reputation as a place for a student to live during the experimental college era, and this bad name took
a long time to disappear. The Daily Cardinal ran continual denigrating articles about life in the dorms,
attacking the fellows system and the food quality. Townspeople assailed the university for undermin-
ing the established boarding house industry. But mainly the depression was taking an economic toll on
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what was after all an economic undertaking. The dorms struggled along through the 1930s cutting
costs and boosting enrollment whenever and however they could.

Then as with many American economic institutions they were saved by the outbreak of WW
II. Initially in the early 1940s as men left the University and entered the service the dorms appeared to
be in serious peril. But university enrollment began to rise again, but now the typical incoming student
was female. There were also several thousand members of the military in various training courses on
campus. By 1945 there was a shortage of campus housing, although the Cardinal reports that the
shortage will most seriously affect women students. In response to this new imbalance Tripp Hall and
Adams were opened to women in the fall of 1945. By the following year with its deluge of returning
veterans, both dorms were returned to men's housing. Throughout the 1950s and 1960s Tripp and
Adams remained highly desirable dorms for incoming students. They were remodelled in 1960, to add
built in furniture, repaint and generally repair the ravages of forty years of student occupancy.

After the social upheaval of the 1960s, the dorms became opened to both men and women.
Several rooms originally intended as singles have been used as double rooms. The capacity of the
dorms remains only a little higher than the original figure. They now hold about 550 students.

The names of the quadrangles are Tripp Hall to the east, after J. Stephen Tripp, whose 1915
legacy helped pave the way to the construction of the dorms; and Adams Hall to the west, after
Charles Kendall Adams, president of the university (1892-1902). The houses within the quadrangles
originally called A-H, have been named after various university benefactors, alumni, and prominent
Wisconsin men. The refectory was initially called Van Hise Hall, and then in September 1965 re-
named Carson Gulley Commons after longtime head chef Carson Gulley. This is the only university
building named after a nonwhite person.

1) Van Hise Inaugural Address, June 7, 1904 Van Hise biographical file, University Archives.

2) Van Hise Inaugural Address, June 7, 1904 Van Hise biographical file University Archives.

3) John Dollard, Report to the Faculty Committee on the Social Needs of Wisconsin Undergraduates, 1924, copies on
file at Division of University Housing and UW History Project.

4) Regent's Minutes, October 16, 1925; Daily Cardinal, December 13, 1925, p. 1

5) John Dollard, Report to the Faculty Committee on the Social Needs of Wisconsin Undergraduates, 1924, copies on
file at Division of University Housing and UW History Project.

6) Daily Cardinal, September 22, 1926, p. 1, September 25, 1926, p. 1.

7) Bradley to Frank March 28, 1928 appendix XI to final report on experimental college in University Archives.

8) For a full treatment of the Experimental College see Cronon and Jenkins The University of Wisconsin, Vol 111 p.
143-211.
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EAGLE HEIGHTS

Fig. 1. Eagle Heights from the air
1997. [Del Brown photo jf-73]

Built in six stages (1956 through 1966) Eagle Heights provides housing for married
students at low rental rates. Residents have access to community buildings, gardens
and other cooperative ventures.

recognized. In 1939 President Fred appointed a committee to investigate housing conditions

for graduate students. This committee recommended construction of housing projects by the
University, the city of Madison, or the federal P.W.A. The outbreak of WW II eliminated any possi-
bility of action at that time. In April 1946, the regents approved a 120 unit housing married student
project, but high bids and higher priority projects caused them to postpone the project. At the end of
WW II, the need for married student housing grew dramatically. There were increases in the numbers
of graduate students enrolled in classes, teaching and research positions; in addition the large amounts
of temporary housing for married students at Truax Field and Badger Village were closed.!

The regents began to investigate sites for housing developments in the fall of 1954. They hired
Madison architectural consultants Weiler and Strang to investigate three sites: the Pharmaceutical
Gardens in Eagle Heights (donated to the University by the Brittingham Foundation in 1951), the
Spring Street neighborhood at the foot of Monroe Street east of Camp Randall, and the southeast
corner of University Avenue and Midvale Boulevard. By February 1955 the regents had decided on
the Pharmaceutical Garden (later called Eagle Heights) site for 100 units of married student housing.
In its favor the Eagle Heights site had a large amount of expansion room, and was already owned by
the University. The entire Eagle Heights area had been traded by the regents to E. J. Young when
Picnic Point was purchased by the University. In 1951 the Brittingham foundation purchased the 28
acre Eagle Heights from the Young estate and donated it to the University.2

Final plans were approved by the regents on July 14, 1956. The plans were based on the

Even before WW II the need for improved housing for graduate students at the University was
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existing married housing units on Harvey Street. In October 1956 contracts were awarded for the
construction of 100 housing units of married student housing in the total amount of $892,000. Fi-
nancing for the project came not from the state but from the federal government who provided a loan
through the College Housing Program of the Housing and Home Finance Agency. The general
contractor was J. H. Findorff with a contract for $514,000. Work progressed throughout the winter
of 1956, with all footings completed by mid-November. Despite a year of very treacherous construc-
tion weather, the first families moved into the Eagle Heights apartments the week of September 1,
1957, though the rest of the units, sidewalks and roads were not finished until October 1. There were
nine buildings in the 100 group: two, 25 by 101 feet, with eight units each, and seven, 25 by 151 feet,
with 12 units each. They were wood frame faced with brick, with hipped roofs of asphalt shingles.>

Acknowledging the enormous pent-up demand for married student housing, plans for the 200
group were well underway by December 1956. The design was almost identical to the 100 group;
nine buildings located just north of the first group. Financing was also handled by the Housing and
Home Finance Agency; total cost was not to exceed $850,000. Contracts for this group were let on
December 14, 1957 in the total amount of $865,000. The $15,000 over the federal loan came from
the Residence Halls Fund. The general contractor was Marshall Erdman of Madison at $442,800.
Erdman began in late October 1957, just weeks after the first group was occupied. The construction
of this group went smoothly, and was completed in time for occupancy in the fall of 19584

With the general success of the apartments in Eagle Heights, and the existence of a substantial
waiting list of students wishing to move in, the regents raised their sights. Phase III consisted of 400
units in twenty six buildings. The Gausewitz and Cashin plans were used for this third building phase
also, with a slightly different distribution of apartment sizes in the 36 buildings that made up the 300-
600 groups. Preliminary plans and locations for the 300-600 groups were approved in December
1957, just as the 200 group was beginning construction. The general contractors were J. P. Cullen
and Don Ganser and Associates. The $3.6 million cost was financed through the Housing and Home
Finance Agency and sources arranged by the Wisconsin Building Corporation (WUBC). At some
point in 1958 or early 1959 the development of the project came to include a school. This school was
to provide kindergarten, first and second grades, for Eagle Heights children in a $100,000 one story
building, and would be run by the school of Education. After bids came in at well over the $100,000
target, the school was dropped. The 300-600 groups were ready for occupancy by the fall of 1959.
Rates were set at $72 for a single bedroom unit and $85 for a two bedroom.>

Even this very large increase in married student housing was insufficient to the demand, and
the new apartments quickly filled. Another phase of construction was planned. Preliminary plans for
the 700 group were approved by the regents January 5, 1962. There were to be 114 apartments in
the new phase. Because of their experience with the previous projects, the planners eliminated single
bedroom apartments from the 700 group. The estimated cost of the group was $1.2 million. The
plans were Eagle Height's first departure from Gausewitz and Cashin's original design and are by
Eugene Wasserman of Sheboygan. The new building has a distinctive pattern that became known as
the 'snowflake' design which provided a sheltered center to each building for weather protection and
children's play space. Construction contracts were awarded in October 1962, with the general con-
tract going to John O. Dahl for $721,276. The project was briefly delayed in the spring of 1962 by
political maneuvering by members of the state Building Commission. The 700 group was finished and
occupied by the fall of 1963.6

The regents requested preliminary plans for the 800 group in September 1963. This group
would include another 114 apartments in the same 'snowflake' style of the 700's. Projected cost was
$1.4 million. Plans and specifications were approved in December 1963. Contracts were not awarded
until May 1964, when the general contract went to John Dahl for $755,300. Funding was entirely
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through loans arranged by the WUBC. All 114 apartments in the 800 group were two bedroom. By
the fall of 1965 everything but landscaping was complete and residents moved in. The final cost was
$1.48 million. The 800 group brought the total married student apartments to 876. Because the
Eagle Heights real estate was starting to seriously fill up, the University began to consider building
high-rise apartment buildings near the base of Picnic Point for married students. They also discussed
increasing the rate of construction to finish 150 apartments per year for seven years.’

However, there was enough room to build another conventional group. The 900 group was
approved in October 1965 at a projected cost of $ 3.84 million. This group again used Wasserman's
snowflake design although some rectangular buildings were added also. The project was scaled back
from 300 apartments to 246. Contracts were awarded in June 1966 with John Dahl getting the gen-
eral contract for $1.78 million. This project was completed and ready for occupancy by fall 1967.8

Except for the Eagle Heights community building, first proposed in 1966, and finally built in
1970 by Dyson Construction at a cost of $300,000, the completion of the 900 group brought the
Eagle Heights Community to its final configuration. The community center building provides recre-
ational for Eagle Heights residents as well as a grocery cooperative and child care.”

No new construction is planned at Eagle Heights. In 1988 the regents approved a twenty year
plan to renovate all the 1110 apartments in the complex at a cost of about $20 million. This is about
35% more than the estimated $13 million spent to build them originally. The project is scheduled to
take until about the year 2000. These repairs were needed to overcome wear and tear, as well as
faults in original design and construction. Costs were to be funded by increased rents. This plan was
strenuously resisted by members of the Eagle Heights Assembly, who proposed a rent strike against
the 24% increase. This action was abandoned within a few weeks. Current rents are from $333 to
$723 per month. As with all University owned housing the Eagle Heights units are self-amortizing;
that is construction loans and maintenance funds are paid off with rental income.°

Most residents have a high opinion about life in the Eagle Heights community. The relatively
low rents, the community spirit and the unparalleled physical surroundings (including the lake, thick
woods, Indian mounds, community garden plots, and orchards) make the community of 3000-4000 a
very pleasant place to live.!!

1) Teicher and Jenkins:_A History of Housing at the University of Wisconsin, p. 54; Regent's Minutes, December 8§,
1956.

2) Regent's Minutes, January 13, 1951, September 25, 1954, February 12, 1955; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, Febru-
ary, 1951 p. 17.

3) Regent's Minutes, June 14, 1956, July 14, 1956, October 6, 1956; Plans held by University physical plant.

4) Regent's Minutes, March 9, 1957, October 17, 1957, December 14, 1957.

5) This would be the last time the WUBC would fund a University building project since the state changed the way in
which the University could borrow money. Henceforth loans would be through the Wisconsin State Agencies Building
Corporation; Regent's Minutes, June 20, 1957, December 14, 1957, May 9, 1959, June 17, 1958, September 20, 1958,
February 7, 1959, March 7, 1959.

6) Regent's Minutes July 20, 1961, January 5, 1962, May 4, 1962, August 14, 1962, October 1962, March 6, 1964;
Daily Cardinal, May 4, 1962, May 5, 1962, June 21, 1962; plans in the plans room of the department of the physical
plant.

7) Regent's Minutes, September 6, 1963, December 6, 1963, May 8, 1964; Wisconsin State Journal, August 4, 1990 p.
8B.

8) Regent's Minutes, September 24, 1965, February 4, 1966, March 4, 1966, May 6, 1966, June 10, 1966.

9) Regent's Minutes, September 19, 1969, June 13, 1969, October 17, 1969, May 10, 1970.

10) Regent's Minutes, February 5, 1988; Wisconsin State Journal, August 4, 1990, March 22, 1991.

11) Badger Herald, November 30-December 3, 1972; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, April 1954, p. 8, November 1972
p- 31.
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d Fig. 1. The Engineering Build-
' ing looking north after comple-
tion in fall 1900. [series 9/1,
Education, x25-352]

il

"1_ I
—

.

E

Erected in 1900 this building served as the original home of the Engineering Depart-
ment. When Engineering moved to the west campus in the 1930s, the building was
occupied by art education and in the 1950s by the education department.

or an engineering department. For more than forty years after the first embryonic engin-

eering classes were begun in 1857, the engineering classes saw a steady rise in enrollment
and faculty, but no facilities devoted to it. Engineering was first taught in the basement of Main Hall
[Bascom Hall], then in 1876 in the old Science Hall, the new Science Hall, and the machine shops
[1888]. All these locations demonstrated that there was enough interest in the student body to fill all
space assigned to the department, and that the space requirements of engineering were different and
more demanding than at first realized. As the machine shop buildings began to bulge with students in
the 1890s calls were heard to put aside the traditional university distaste for practical or applied
education and build suitable housing for the engineering department.

In April of 1899 the legislature responded to the requests of the regents and appropriated
$100,000 for the construction of a "suitable building for the College of Engineering."! Within a month
the university supervising architect, J. T. W. Jennings announced by mail to fifteen architectural
firms a competition to design a new Engineering Building. With each invitation he sent plans, draw-
ings and specifications and a $95,000 limit.2 During May 1899, many firms on the list sent refusals,
ranging from polite claims of lack of time, to frosty claims that the $400 first prize for the competi-
tion was less than the normal fee charged for such plans. The results were so unsatisfactory that a
second competition was held in the fall, ending in September 1899. When the plans received (appar-
ently from four firms) were opened in late 1899 they were examined by Jennings and members of the
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regent's building committee. Although they awarded the prizes, they believed that none of the plans
were suitable for the building they had in mind.

At the November meeting the regents asked Mr. Jennings and the new dean of engineering
J. B. Johnson, to comment on the problem, they replied that suitable plans could be prepared by the
following month and that furthermore the building could be complete by October fifteenth of 1900.
Thus began what must stand (except for Hiram Smith Hall) as a university record for the speed of
design and construction of a major building. With the help of a committee of engineering faculty (
Storm Bull, F. E. Turneaure, D. C. Jackson, and J. G. D. Mack) Jennings and Johnson did get plans
ready for the executive committee meeting of December 1899. The regents approved them at that
meeting. Detailed drawings and specifications were finished by January 1, 1900, and advertisements
were published for contractors. The main contractor was N. Frederickson of Madison in the amount
of $75,470, with the stipulation that the building must be completed by October 1, 1900. Other
subcontracts went to P. F. Harlow (electrical), and Mueller Furnace Co. (ventilation). The contracts
were awarded February 1,1900. The race was on.>

On March 1, 1900, excavation for the building was begun. Because the foundations would be
quite deep on the up-hill end of the site and because the ground was still hard frozen, the excavation
was done with dynamite. The very large quantity of fill removed from the site was used to raise the
playing fields east of the new library building on the lower campus by about two feet. By May 16 the
walls were completed to the level of the main floor. All through the late spring and summer of 1900
the construction was pushed as rapidly as possible. There were some delays due to delivery from
factories, but the building (except for the basement labs) was sufficiently completed in October to
allow moving the engineering facilities from their old quarters in Science Hall into the new building.
The move took place in August September and October.*

As built the building was a 170 X 70 foot rectangle of three full stories and an attic above a
full basement level, the attic level being lit with skylights along the ridge and used for drafting rooms.
The sloping site gives a full basement and as the ground drops away toward the east a sub basement
below the eastern end.

The building was intended to be added to on three sides to produce a square building around
an interior court.” Only the west wing of the projected structure was ever built, although the base-
ment story for the east wing was included as part of the original structure. The two story steam
laboratory occupied the court.

The Beaux Art classical revival exterior is of grey pressed brick with pink mortar joints and is
decorated with Bedford limestone and terra cotta trim. Doric on the basement level, the style changes
to Corinthian above the basement sill course. By shortening the windows on the third floor, room was
made for the wide cornice "which adds so greatly to the appearance of the building."® In the spandrels
between the window arches are ornamental cartouches of terra cotta bearing the names of some of
the greatest engineers in history. Except for the use of the ornamental tablets suggested by president
Adams, Jennings was entirely responsible for the exterior design.”. It bears a striking resemblance to
the United States Mint Building in Denver Colorado.

The interior of the building was designed by the committee of engineering faculty. The entire
basement was occupied by labs. A large (350 seats) lecture hall, the ornate entry way, reading rooms
and classrooms filled the first floor. The second floor was taken up by offices and lecture rooms. The
third floor and attic provided ten large drawing rooms.

The Engineering building was very successful. It provided an expansive new home for the
growing engineering department, and did it for the appropriation made by the legislature ($100,000).
After the tragic death of dean Johnson from a horse and wagon accident (1902), attempts were made
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Fig. 2. Summer of 1900,
probably taken from the
roof of Science Hall.
North Hall and the
Bascom Hall dome
appear in the background.
[series 9/1, Education,
x25-351]

to name the building after him, but no official action was ever taken. Much needed room in Science
Hall was opened up after engineering left in 1900. A new standard for speed and efficiency of con-
struction was set, and possibly never exceeded. But the rise of engineering as a university pursuit was
too swift even for the new building. By 1910 the building was too small. For some unknown reason,
possibly the replacement of Jennings by Arthur Peabody as architect, the first addition was built on
the west side rather than the east side®, with its already begun basement level. While this five-level
addition alleviated crowding for a while, it was decided that in the future engineering would be given
a large group of buildings on the western end of the campus. In 1933 the first of those buildings
(Mechanical Engineering) was completed and the engineers began to move out of the Bascom Hill
site. Almost immediately interior modifications were made to suit the needs of the incoming Educa-
tion department. In 1951 the last of the engineers left the building and in the next three years substan-
tial remodelling was done to accommodate the Education department.® This included the construction
of some small one-level workshops in the back of the building, used as workshops for some craft
classes of Art Education. It is an interesting detail that Art Education was following the engineering
department a second time, having inherited the old machine shop buildings from engineering when the
Bascom Hill site opened in 1900.

1) Laws of Wisconsin 1899 chapter 239
2) The list included Ferry and Clas (Milwaukee), Henry Koch (Milwaukee), A. D. Conover (Madison), Charles Frost
(Chicago), Van Brundt & Howe (Kansas City), and many others. Executive Committee papers May 20, 1899, Regents
Report, 1900 p. 22.
3) Daily Cardinal, February 1, 1900 p. 1.
4) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, December 1900 p. 110-111
5) Regent's Report, 1900 p. 8;
6) The Wisconsin Engineer J. B. Johnson, June 1900 pp. 119-131; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, March 1900.
7) They are: Bessemer, Reynolds and Gramme on the east; Ericson, Kelvin, Rankine and Siemens on the south; Henry
Corliss and Telford on the west. Only Reynolds, a Wisconsin man at the Allis works in Milwaukee was a living
engineer at the time.
8) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, October 1909; The Wisconsin Engineer, 1909-1910 vol. 14, p. 43..
9) Regent's Minutes, February 9, 1952. p. 12.
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EDUCATIONALSCIENCE

¥ & Fig. 1. Educational
. Science, 1994.
[Author Photo, AP-

Education Science replaced scattered and aging facilities for the School of Educa-
tion. It was built in 1970 and opened in 1972. It was the last high-rise building on
the Madison campus.

he confines of the old Bascom Hill site. The sciences had gotten new facilities during the great

federal grant period of the 1960s. Languages moved to Van Hise Hall in 1967; music, art and
history to Humanities in 1969; English and philosophy to Helen White Hall in 1970. Education had a
chance at inclusion at both the latter sites, but was dropped in favor of more needy departments.

Education had inherited its building in the 1930s when engineering left Bascom Hill for the
west campus. But by 1963 the school of Education had become one of the fasted growing disciplines
in the University, especially at the graduate level. In 1963 a School of Education Development Com-
mittee began meeting to discuss plans for a new facility. It became quickly clear that the Bascom Hill
site could not possibly be large enough for the needed facility. Several off-Hill sites were evaluated,
including the corners of Lake and Langdon Streets, and the Lake Street and University Avenue corner.
These locations were rejected primarily because of their high land cost. The regents authorized the
preparation of preliminary plans in February 1966. By June 1966, land purchases began in the block
bounded by Johnson, Dayton, Mills and Brooks Streets for the site of Education buildings. This area
was on the fringes of the core area targeted for urban renewal, and was densely populated by homes
and studentrooming houses. !

’I‘he School of Education was the last of the traditional University subjects to make its way off
t
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Late in 1966 the Educational Science building was divided into two parts. The whole structure
was to have been funded by a combination of state funds and federal grants. But when the federal funds
were delayed it was decided that because of extreme need, the non-research section of the project
would be built with only state money, and the research section would be added when the grant money
became available. The regents and the state approved this scheme in December of 1966. The total
estimated cost for both phases was $5.2 million. Planning, preparation of plans, and land purchase
proceeded during 1967, but in May 1967, the state halted work on the project pending completion of
studies for an ambitious plan for pedestrian walkways and a light rail system to link all buildings on
the south campus. Since all new buildings were being designed with this pedestrian system in mind, its
status had to be resolved before new buildings could be approved. The state eventually decided
against the pedestrian system in May 1968.2

Because of cost escalations during the delay, the University asked the state to increase the
budget for Educational Science from $5.5 million to $6.1 million. In November 1968 the regents
granted authority to prepare preliminary plans for Educational Science phase I at an estimated cost of
$6.1 million. Of this budget, $3.3 million was of state funds.3

In January 1969 came word that the state building commission had arbitrarily cut the budget by
$313,000. The University began to make plans to reduce the project to make up this deficit. In July the
University received notification that the federal department of Health Education and Welfare had
approved a grant of $4.2 million for Educational Science. This considerably reduced the budget
pressure on the project. The regents approved revised concept plans (without the walkway system) in
July 1969. The new budget was for $6.45 million, and estimated completion was for May 1972.4

The preliminary plans for Educational Science were approved in October 1969. They showed
a fourteen story tower, with a two story base, that covered almost half the block. During late 1969 the
new budget made its way successfully through the increasingly hostile state building commission. The
regents approved the final plans in April 1970.°

Construction contracts were let on July 23, 1970, with the general contract going to Orville. E.
Madsen and Son of Minneapolis for $3.4 million. Total contracted cost was $6.3 million. The funds
came from the state ($3.27 million) and the federal government ($3.1 million). Construction began in
late July 1970. The project was enclosed for temporary heating by December 15, 1970. An elevator
strike delayed progress slightly during the summer of 1972. The formal dedication of the new Educa-
tional Science Building took place on April 8, 1973.6

The building is 332 feet across the Johnson Street face. The west section is three stories high,
156 feet deep (north to south) with the first floor below grade. It contains lecture rooms, classrooms,
offices, and observation rooms. The eastern section is a thirteen story tower containing offices,
conference rooms, labs, and computer rooms. The two sections are joined by a plaza at street level.
The tower rises 181 feet above the street.

As it turned out, the last of the schools to leave Bascom Hill had become the last recipient of
an academic high-rise on the Madison campus.

1) Regent's Minutes, February 4, 1966, June 10, 1966.

2) Regent's Minutes, November 30, 1966, exhibit D, December 9, 1966, May 8, 1967.

3) Regent's Minutes, November 1, 1968; Lorenz to State Building Commission, October 25, 1968, series 24/9/2-1
box 7.

4) Sites to Atwell, January 9, 1969, series 24/9/2-1 box 7; Holt to Young, July 8, 1969, series 24/9/2-1 box 13;
Regent's Minutes, July 25, 1969.

5) Regent's Minutes, October 17, 1969, April 10, 1970; Lorenz to State Building Commission, October 25, 1968,
Atwell to Clodius, January 28, 1970, series 24/9/2-1 box 13.

6) Regent's Minutes, August 14, 1970, schedule I; Dietrich to Dorman, August 18, 1970, series 24/9/2-1 box 19;
Progress of Projects Under Construction, July 14, 1972, series 83/35 box 4; Wisconsin State Journal, April 9, 1973.
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ELM DRIVE DORMS

Fig. 1. Elm Drive
Dorms c. 1959.
Current names, left
to right: Goodnight,

g Friedrick, ElIm Drive
Commons, Bradley.

# F1m Drive is at the
= extreme right. [Series
8/8 ns-1699]

Erected in 1959 as undergraduate dormitories, the Elm Drive Dorms were converted
to other uses as dorm occupancy declined in the 1970s. They now comprise one
dormitory, the Friedrick Center of the Extension, Food Research Center, and Com-
municative Disorders.

mid 1950s. The University planned for thousands of dorm rooms at sites at Chadbourne Hall,

to the south and west of the Kronshage units, and to the east of Tripp Hall. The Holt dorms to
the south of Kronshage were the first finished (fall 1958) but the dorms west of EIm Drive had been
in the planning stage since the fall of 1957. The regents approved the site for the dorms west of EIm
Drive, consisting of three or four four-story dormitories and a two story dining hall and kitchen
facility, the dorms to house up to 1000 men. Authority was granted for the preparation of plans.!

This site had been allocated as dormitory space on campus master plans for years, and was
reaffirmed as a suitable location by a study in June 1957. Funding for the project came through the
Wisconsin University Building Corporation (WUBC), with help from the Federal HHFA. By April
1958 the funding was available and final plans were approved. Estimated cost was $3.5 million.2

In June of 1958, a little over a year since the first studies of the project, construction contracts
were awarded; the general contractor was J. H. Findorff & Son for $1.78 million. The scope of the
project had been reduced to three dorms to house 812 students. Construction began in late June

The Elm Drive dorms were built during the burst of undergraduate housing construction in the
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1958. By the fall of 1959 the dorms known as Elm Drive A, B, and C, were open and occupied, A by
women and B and C by men. A formal dedication was held on April 10, 1960. Initially they had been
intended as men's dorms, but the cancellation of a women's dorm project near Liz Waters, and delays
in the construction of the new Chadbourne Hall made the modification necessary. It had already been
demonstrated in the Holt dorms, opened the previous year that men and women students could
successfully share a commons.>

Although the group was never given a formal name, the regents did assign names to the
individual houses in the dorms: William Bleyer, Charles Cool, James Elsom, Louis Kahlenburg,
Wakeline McNeel, Daniel Mead, Adam Millar, James Phillips, J. F. A. Pyre, Oliver Rundell, and
William Steve. The dorms were commonly called the Elm Drive Dorms.*

The three dorms were virtually identical 'T' shaped units with the stem pointed toward Lake
Mendota. They were 184 feet wide east to west and 120 feet north to south. The were a basement
and four stories of concrete block sheathed with brick. They held 250 students each in double rooms.
The two story with basement commons building was 139 feet square, in the same style as the dorms,
and contained kitchen facilities, dining rooms, recreational space and a residence halls store.”

They were immediately popular with students as were all the lakeshore dorms. However their
use as housing lasted less than twenty years. As the 1960s wore on and the growing pressure from
students to relax the rules regarding where and how undergraduates could live began to take effect,
the dorms began to empty, and since small dorms are easier to close than large ones, the dwindling
enrollment in the dorms led the Division of Housing in 1970 to close Elm Drive B and C.°

Elm Drive A stayed open as a dorm and remains so today [1994]. The other three buildings
were immediately modified for other purposes. EIm Drive B became part of the University Extension
program to provide rooms and office space for continuing education programs, and was known as the
University Bay Center. In 1972 the department of Communication Disorders moved from rented
quarters on University Avenue to new offices and labs in part of Elm Drive C. Also in 1972 the Elm
Drive Commons became the home of the Food Research Institute which had been housed for years in
cramped offices in bacteriology; the Elm Drive A residents take their meals at Holt Commons. In
1973 the Water Resources Center, founded in 1965 moved into Elm Drive C.”

Along with new tenants, the buildings acquired new names. In August 1973 the regents
named Elm Drive C after the recently deceased Scott Goodnight, long time dean of men. In February
1976, the regents renamed Elm Drive A after the late professor Harold Bradley. ElIm Drive B was
already known as the University Bay Center but was officially named the Friedrick Center after ex
regent and labor leader Jacob F. Friedrick. There are 75 hotel type rooms at Friedrick, each made
from several original dorm rooms, quality food service and several large conference rooms.8

The Elm Drive Dorms were the last low rise dorms built on campus; the same year they
opened (1959) new Chadbourne Hall also opened and demonstrated the wave of the future in Univer-
sity Housing. Elm Drive was also the end of undergraduate housing development in the Mendota
Lakeshore area, the proposed site of student housing since 1908. The switch to high rise housing
would necessitate a radical rethinking of the location of new student housing.

1) Teicher and Jenkins, A History of University Housing, p. 61-64; Regent's Minutes, September 1957;
2) Regent's Minutes, June 20, 1957, September 7, 1957, April 10, 1958;
3) Regent's Minutes, June 17, 1958, September 7, 1957; Daily Cardinal, February 19, 1959. Wisconsin Alumni Maga-
zine, November 1959 p. 14. Teicher and Jenkins, 4 History of University Housing, p. 63.
4) Regent's Minutes, April 11, 1959.
5) Plans in the plans room of the physical plant.
6) Daily Cardinal, Aug 7, 1970.
7) University directories; Regent's Minutes, July 15, 1983, December 7, 1973, July 14, 1972; Wisconsin Alumni
Magazine, October 1965 p. 6.
8) Regent's Minutes, August 3, 1973, February 6, 1976, February 8, 1980,
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=  ELVEHJEM ARTS CENTER

Center, from the
east 1971. [series
' 9/2, Elvehjem Art
Center, j{-86]

Planned and championed for thirty years by Professor James Watrous, the Elvehjem
was built in 1968 to house the permanent and travelling art of the University. It is
also home to the University's art department. At the behest of the Brittingham
foundation, which made the original $1 million grant, the art center is open to the
public at no charge.

science hall was dedicated to the University art collection. The art works displayed in this

space constituted the entire art collection until 1884 when science hall burned to the ground
with the loss of all art. After the fire a pattern appeared that would persist for almost a century, the
university would encourage and accept donations of art works, lament the lack of display facilities,
and consign the art to random and scattered campus locations or long term storage. Remarkably, even
though this pattern of acceptance and neglect was widely known, the University continued to accumu-
late significant art works. These included the Reinsch collection of European masters donated by
Charles Crane and William Brumder in 1912, and hung in physical education rooms in Lathrop Hall.
By 1937 only 48 of the 67 works in this collection could be found, and many of them were in "deplor-
able condition." The situation did materially improve for decades. Professor James Watrous took over
unofficial stewardship of the University collection in 1939 as a new instructor in the department of Art

r I Yhe first start of an art museum at the University came in 1876, when the fourth floor of the old
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History. Watrous found dozens of significant works of art stored without any care inaunventilated con-
crete roominthe basement of Bascom Hall. The art was inconveniently available to art students, and not at
allto the general public. Watrous began a thirty year campaign to obtain a facility suitable to the stature of
the University's collection. For 15 years there was neither support nor progress. A temporary display facility
opened in Memorial Library for a few years, and storage racks were installed in the Bascom store room.
During this period the University continued to accept significant donations of art and consign them straight to
storage.1

At the regents board meeting, at which president E. B. Fred was replaced by Conrad Elvehjem
in February 1958, Fred said: "In my judgement there is no other building which could be given by
private generosity that would more enhance the cultural influence of the University than an art center
and gallery." At new president Elvehjem's first Administrative Committee meeting, he requested a
priority list of projects which could be funded by gifts. The result of this campus wide poll was that an
art center and gallery was at the top of the priority list. Four years without progress, but with many
more art donations, followed this poll. It was clear that with the burden of providing more and more
instructional buildings, the state would not be able or willing to fund an art museum. The money would
have to come from donations. The outlook did not look promising. An early attempt at a museum
design was executed in 1958 by Watrous and Leo Jakobsen. According to Watrous it was strictly a fund-
raising device. It consisted ofa series of hexagonal rooms in ahoneycomb layout. It's cost was estimated at
$1 million and was intended to be placed on the lower campus. 2

Then in May 1962, at the urging of president Elvehjem and E. B. Fred, the Brittingham
family foundation donated one million dollars toward the construction of art galleries to be open to the
public free of charge at all times. Two months later on July 24, 1962, president Elvehjem was struck
with a fatal heart attack at work in his Bascom Hall office. He was succeeded by Fred Harvey
Harrington who recommended at his first meeting with the regents in September 1962 that the art
center be a memorial to Elvehjem.

The University community was galvanized into action by the Brittingham donation. Watrous
hadbeen given apreliminary estimate of $3.3 million from Dean Wendt ofthe University planning commis-
sion. Itwas decided that the center should be located as part of the lower campus development, then in the
planning stages. In November a faculty planning committee was appointed by president Harrington. Archi-
tect Harry Weese of Chicago was selected to design the lower campus structures. The decision was made,
inagreement with the Brittingham family, to incorporate the art galleries and the art center into a single
building*

1963 saw a continuation of this high level of activity. In February 1963 the Wisconsin Founda-
tion, a channel for private donations to the University, undertook to raise the $2.5 million needed for
the arts center. The first stage of the Wisconsin Foundation's fund-raiser in 1963 was to solicit large
donations. The search for large donations was successful. $300,000 was donated by the Kohler
Company and Trust to fund the art library. $175,000 was received for the large auditorium from L. E.
Phillips; the Oscar Meyer Company contributed $100,000; an anonymous $75,000 gift for the sculpture
garden. $75,000 was donated by friend and colleagues of Winifred and Del Page, art patrons who
were killed in a plane crash in Atlanta in June 1962.

By October 1963 the Wisconsin Alumni Magazine reported that the Elvehjem fund had sur-
passed the $2 million mark. But the fund-raising effort began to stall, and doubts were raised that the
job could be accomplished. A strong show of support by the faculty in a fund raiser helped. Then in
July 1964 with the help of a brief from Dr. Watrous and the strong support of president Harrington, a
$400,000 grant was obtained from WARF. This large gift rejuvenated the campaign.®

The architect and the planning committee worked on the design of the building through 1964.
Their sixth plan was developed and given preliminary approval by the regents in October 1964. At
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this time the regents were told that $3.05 million had been raised by the foundation. The Elvehjem project
was presented as an integral part of the lower campus development. Completion for the Elvehjem was now
estimated as August 1967.7

When ground-breaking was scheduled for October 23, 1965, the fund-raiser was still $73,000
short of its goal. The official ground-breaking ceremony took place as scheduled, the same day (Octo-
ber23, 1965) as ground-breaking for the Alumni House on the shore of lake Mendota, though no building
contracts had yet been awarded. In March 1966, the regents were told that the bids for the lower
campus project were almost $2 million over estimates. By May 1966, the state had allocated an extra
$400,000, and some cuts were made on the Humanities building, and authority to let contracts was
granted.®

Building contracts were let by the regent's executive committee on May 6, 1966. The general
contract went to Corbetta Construction Company of Des Plaines, Illinois for $7.78 million. Total
contract amounts were $13.7 million. Sources of funds were the state $10.3 million, gifts and grants
$3.1 million. Construction work on the Elvehjem began in spring 1967; by August the building was
emerging from the ground.’

In May 1967 the art history department selected a director for the museum. The choice fell on
Millard Rogers the former curator of the Toledo Museum of art. In July of 1967 the art center became
a separate administrative unit in the University. Construction progressed to the point of installing the
roof'in July 1968. A series of labor strikes, material shortages, and the priority given to the Humani-
ties building combined to delay construction of the Elvehjem seriously through late 1968 and early
1969. Opening dates were constantly pushed back, first to November 1968; then January 1969 and
May 1969. The Humanities building was finished and accepted in late October 1967. After a few more
short delays over fire codes and furnishings, Rogers and his staff began to move art work and books
into the museum in the summer of 1970.10

The grand opening of the Elvehjem art center was held on September 12, 1970. Master of
ceremonies Robert Rennebohm (of the Wisconsin Foundation) observed "this whole thing really
started with Jim Watrous in the basement of Bascom Hall in 1939."2 The grand opening was a glorious
success, 400 people turned out in formal dress to see the new building, and the 185 works of art
selected from the permanent collection, and borrowed especially for the occasion. The library was so
sparsely filled that Watrous remembers that they were afraid that a representative from the Kohler
foundation would come and see the paltry library. Notable guests included governor Warren Knowles,
dairyman W. D. Hoard, Irwin Mayer of the State Journal, Dr. Watrous, Mrs. Harry Steenbock, and
Mrs. Conrad Elvehjem. The general public was invited to the public opening the following day.!!

The building is 195 by 122 foot rectangle of steel and concrete. There are six floors: the
lowestlevel holds four auditoria, classrooms, storage and conference rooms. The second, ground level
floor, is taken up by the Kohler art library; the third floor is dominated by the sculpture court, which is open
clear to the skylights on the roof;, offices and galleries surround the central sculpture court. More galleries
are arranged around the open court on the fourth and fifth floors. A partial sixth floor hold the mechanical
equipment for the building. The ground was judged to be too swampy to build a full basement. The building
is sheathed with Wisconsin lannon stone, with copper roofand trim. Most of the roof’is skylights over the
central areaand the lower gallery wings.

Because the demolition of the University Club to the north, which was intended to provide
expansion room for the museum, has not happened, new plans are currently being developed for
expansion. Storage space is a particular problem since donations increased sharply after the museum
was opened. Gallery space is also limited. One plan would build underground to the north, another
would move the Kohler library, freeing up considerable space in the building.!2

The Elvehjem has met its highest expectations for 25 years. The constant stream of travelling
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exhibits, special events, and the rotating displays of the permanent collection make it a magnet not only
for the University community but the for residents of the city of Madison and the state of Wisconsin.
The Elvehjem regularly receives honors and grants from the federal Institute of Museum Services, and
the National Endowment for the Arts. Director Rogers left shortly after the job of organizing and
opening was finished. The current director is Russell Panczenko.

1) Watrous, James, 4 Century of Capricious Collecting, 1987

2) Regent's Minutes, February 1,1958; Daily Cardinal, February 25, 1958; Plans and explanations of the honeycomb
design are in series 4/0/3 box 178. Text of remarks by James Watrous, February 24, 1963, Archives Elvehjem subject
file.

3) Regent's Minutes, May 4, 1962, September 14, 1962; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, June 1962; Fund-raising pamphlet,
series 4/0/3 box 178; Proposal for the Financing and construction of the Elvehjem Art Center, September 1962, series 4/0/3
box 179.

4) Harrington to Fred et al, November 30, 1962, Watrous memo: Art Galleries and Art Center Group tentative esti-
mates, June 20, 1962, series 4/0/3 box 179; Elvehjem Art Center newsletter, February-march 1963, series 4/0/3 box
178; enclosure #1 in Archives Elvehjem subject file.

5) R. C. Zimmerman to Harrington, February 4, 1963, Elvehjem Art Center newsletter, January 1963, October-
November 1963, series 4/0/3 box 178;

6) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, October 1963; Capital Times, February 25, 1963, May 29, 1963; E. B. Fred to
faculty, February 25, 1963, series 4/0/3 box 178; Ingraham to faculty May 21, 1963. Archives Elvehjem subject file;
7) Regent's Minutes, October 16, 1964; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, November 1964 p. 4; Milwaukee Sentinel,
October 17, 1964;

8) Daily Cardinal, September 22, 1965, October 20, 1965, October 22, 1965.

9) Regent's Minutes, March 4, 1966, April 1, 1966, May 6, 1966; Elvehjem Art Center newsletter, First semester
1967-1968, second semester, 1967-1968, series 40/1/7-1 box 32;

10) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, October 1967 p. 14; Wisconsin State Journal, October 27, 1968; Elvehjem Art
Center newsletter, First semester 1968-1969, 40/1/1-1 box 37.

11) Daily Cardinal, March 25, 1970; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, October 1970 p. 12; Elvehjem Art Center
newsletter second semester 1969-1970, series, 40/1/8-1 box 9; Dedication pamphlet for the Elvehjem Art Center,
September 12, 1970, series 40/1/2-1 box 32.

12) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, October 1972, p. 4; Wisconsin State Journal, May 19, 1994; Interview with Dr.
James Watrous, summer 1994.
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'% === Fig. 1. The Engineering Building
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—.._._h_ Engineering Hall addition. [Del
"y Brown photo AP-80]

The engineering building was erected in several sections, with the first part built in
1948. Additions were built in 1952, 1962 and 1993.

The convergence of powerful forces produced the engineering building in 1948. First, the
enrollment in the university had reached 18,669 compared to 10,001 in 1930, the date of the
last permanent engineering construction. Secondly, an increasing proportion of the students
wanted to be engineers. Engineering enrollment went from 400 in 1900 when the Bascom Hill engi-
neering building was built, to 3400 in 1946. Even with the erection and occupation of several tempo-
rary buildings in 1946, to call the engineering facilities in 1948 overtaxed is being charitable.!

The 1945 state legislature appropriated $8 million of the $12 million requested by the regents
for postwar University construction. The regents formulated a priority list. At or near the top of this
list were a new library, an engineering building, a dairy building, and short-course dormitories. Nearly
everyone agreed that of these projects the most pressing was the library. It was initially believed that
the $8 million would build the library and engineering building. In order to give no one, especially the
legislature, the idea that the money was not needed, President E. B. Fred was insistent about begin-
ning to spend the construction appropriation immediately. With this intent, the building program
could not begin with the library because final plans were not finished. On the other hand, plans for the
engineering building were well advanced. Engineering Dean Withey proselytized everywhere, giving
speeches to engineering groups, interviews to magazines and newspapers. Industry was told that a
steady supply of engineering graduates would be good not only for their businesses but for the coun-
try, and for the University, since new facilities for engineering would release much classroom space
needed by other departments. The need for new engineering facilities and plans therefore were well
established by the time funds became available.2

The plans were the result of a planning group that began meeting in March 1945 as a subcom-
mittee of the campus planning commission. Two major issues were decided by this committee. First,
in December 1945 the site of the building was changed from the initially proposed University Avenue
site to the "area adjacent to Randall Avenue, between Johnson and Dayton Streets extended". Second
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Fig. 2. Construction on west wing October 1949. Fig. 3. West wing and chemical engineering
[Series 9/6, Engineering Bldg, x25-2499] section (unit #2) complete, c. 1955. [Series 8/
6, jf-64]

they decided whether engineering should be accommodated in several small buildings or whether all
departments could be assigned space in a single large building. As the realities of postwar building
(which favored maximizing area under one roof) conditions became clearer, the proponents of the
separate building scheme began to drop out of the committee, rather than have their name connected
with the radical single building idea. On October 30, 1947, all the members who had not resigned in
protest voted to develop the single building plan submitted to the committee by the architectural firm
of Foeller, Schober, Berners, Safford and Jahn of Green Bay. These plans called for two huge 'E'
shaped wings connected by a one story section (see Fig. 4). These plans were passed through the
chain of committees and were approved by the regents on November 15, 1947. Unfortunately so
much time had passed since initial estimates had been made that building costs had risen extremely
sharply, driven between the twin prongs of labor costs and material shortages, and there was no way
for the University to build all the postwar top-priority buildings. The committee decided to build only
the west 'E' shaped wing, to house electrical engineering and mechanics the first unit of the building,
and that the balance of the building would be completed as soon as state funds became available. On
January 15, 1948 the committee proceeded with the west third of the building.?

On December 11, 1948 the contracts, for the construction of the west wing of Engineering,
were approved by the regents, General contractor was the George Fuller Company of Chicago, for
$1,947,580. Total contracts let amounted to $2.55 million. Within days ground was broken by regent
Frank Sensebrenner and President E. B. Fred. Thirty trailers of the Camp Randall trailer park had to
be removed. The cornerstone ceremony was held June 18, 1949. It was planned that the engineers
could move into the building in 1950, and begin using it for classes in the fall of 1950. Material
shortages delayed the project about a year. Formal dedication took place on Engineer's Day, May 4,
1951, and the building went into full use in the fall semester of 1951.4

It was not however large enough. The diplomacy which led to the allocation of the available
space in the new building did not hold even as long as it took to finish the west wing. The plight of
chemical engineering was arguably as bad or worse than that of electrical or mechanics, and depart-
ment chairman O. A. Hougen did so argue. In memos to Dean Withey, President Fred and the regents
Hougen reiterated the desperate crowding, lack of suitable labs for graduate and faculty research
work, and especially the "powder-keg" safety problems. There was a threat that the department might
lose its accreditation without new facilities. By April 1950, the regents had approved plans, by Foeller
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Fig. 4. Engineering c. 1965.
East and west wings complete.
This is the completion of the
original design for the building.
Mechanical engineering, and old
forest products lab are in the
foreground, Camp Randall
stadium in the background.
[Series 8/6, jf-63]

V S ! 4 a

et. al, for the center arm of the east 'E' (see Fig. 3). Funding was from the surplus in the west wing
fund and a loan from WARF to the WUBC. After the first round of bids came in, the regents upped
the amount of the WARF loan to $500,000 for a total of $885,000. In March of 1951, the regents
signed contracts worth $885,000 for the construction of chemical engineering section. The general
contractor was Harold Purtell Company of St. Paul, for $449,000. Construction on the 50 foot by
100 foot basement and three story building was started in the spring of 1951 and finished about a year
later. The engineering building now had the configuration shown in Fig. 3.

Throughout the 1950s the departments of civil engineering and engineering drawing had
remained in the temporary buildings erected in the post war era. Finally in 1962 the regents autho-
rized a $2.9 million dollar project to complete the east wing of the building, with a portion of the
funding coming from the Nation Institute of Health and the National Science Foundation. The
general contractor was the Vogel Brothers Building Company for $1.27 million. Construction was
begun in June 1962 and was dedicated on April 30, 1964. After this phase the building was as shown
in Fig. 4. The architects for this section were still the original Foeller et. al. After this project most
departments abandoned the temporary buildings.©

In 1990 the need for more office space and the long term lack of quality lecture halls in the
building led to the construction of yet another section. This time the center court was filled in. Archi-
tects Bowen, Williamson and Zimmerman with Foeller et al. designed the $26 million dollar addition
and remodelling. The general contractor was Kraemer Brothers for $8.135 million. This final section
of the engineering building (see Fig. 1) was finished in mid 1993.”

1) The Wisconsin Engineer, Dean M. O. Withey December 1946, May 1941 p. 4, October 1948, p. 6; Wisconsin State
Journal, December 17 and 18, 1944; Milwaukee Sentinel, March 24, 1947; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, March 1947,
p- 10, July 1949 p. 32, February 1951 p. 26; Building needs of the College of Engineering, series 24/1/10 box 2.
2) E. B. Fred, Address to the faculty, October 4, 1948; Regent's Minutes, October 28, 1944 series 4/16/5 box 5;
3) Withey and Kurt Wendt Memorandum on the steps which led to the Engineering Building, series 8/1/16 box 16.
4) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, June 1951, p. 18. Jon M. Harkness; Electrical Engineering at the University of
Wisconsin, 1991 p. 68. Regent's Minutes, December 11, 1948; Capital Times November 27, 1948;
5) Peterson to Fred, August 30, 1950, series 4/0/3 box 182; Regent's Minutes, April 15, 1950, June 15, 1950; Executive
Committee minutes, March 7, 1951;
6) Regent's Minutes, April 6, 1962 exhibit G, February 9, 1962; Wisconsin State Journal, June 26, 1962; Wisconsin
Alumni Magazine, November 1962; Daily Cardinal, April 30, 1964.
7) Regent's Minutes, September 8, 1989, December 10, 1993; State Budget Letters, dated February 14, 1991.
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Fig. 1. The Enzyme
Institute, 1997. The
older section is at the
right, the newer at left.
[Del Brown photo,
AP-27]

The enzyme institute was founded in 1947 in the old WARF laboratories with the work
of Dr. David E. Green. The current building was built in 1948, with additions in 1959
and 1968. It has housed such world renowned researchers as Conrad Elvehjem,
David Green, and Nobel prize-winning Dr. Har Gobinder Khorana.

chemistry of biological life, came in a letter to the Rockefeller Foundation, from Dr. C. G.

King, biochemist, and discoverer of vitamin C. Dr. King set forth the opinion of leading
biochemists and cancer researchers that a central institute for enzymology was needed to replace
the great research centers in that field destroyed in Europe during WW II. Dr. King further sug-
gested that the University of Wisconsin "seemed to offer the best promise for the development of
such an institute, and I am sure that Dr. C. A. Elvehjem and Dr. Van Potter would be interested in
such a project and could give it excellent supervision." This letter was written in October 1945.
Dean Fred found university faculty enthusiastic about such an institute. !

After the Rockefeller Foundation asked for information concerning developments in the
field of enzymology, Fred asked Conrad Elvehjem to prepare a statement. This statement, deliv-
ered on September 19, 1946, stated that Elvehjem and Dr. Van Potter discussed in late 1945 the
need for an institute for the post-doctorate training in enzymology. They believed that Wisconsin
was a logical site for the foundation. The committee recommended that a dedicated building be
erected along Henry Mall, in order to make it central to the schools of medicine and agriculture
with which it would be most closely allied. They estimated costs at $500,000-$750,000 for the
building, and an annual budget of $200,000 for six teams of researchers.

To staff the institute, Dr. Potter began to woo Dr. David E. Green of Columbia University.
Green, who had been at Cambridge and Harvard, had recently organized the enzyme research
facility at Columbia, and was a world recognized researcher in the field. To house Dr. Green's

The germ of the idea for a world class research institute to investigate the fundamental
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work until the new building was ready, space was provided in the old Wisconsin Alumni Foundation
(WARF) laboratories. Green began his work in the old labs in June 1947.3

In July of 1947, President Fred appealed to WARF. Fred estimated that the scaled down, and
relocated enzyme institute would cost $250,000-$300,000. He asked WARF to lend money on the
same terms as for the biochemistry addition. On July 18, 1947, the WAREF trustees voted to approve
a loan not to exceed $300,000 for the enzyme building.*

Plans proceeded through late 1947 and early 1948. Architect Lewis Siberz had final plans
drawn by March 1948. The regents executive committee approved the awarding of contracts for the
building. The general contractor was George Nelson and Son of Madison for $187,397. Total con-
tracts were for $350,000. In late 1947 the site for the building had been moved from the Henry Mall
site to a parcel west of the naval ROTC building on University Avenue. This .2 acre parcel had been
donated to the university by WARF in August 1946. Some of the Henry mall site was privately
owned, and it was already intended as the location for the state hygiene lab; making the enzyme
institute part of the hygiene lab was discussed but judged too difficult and disruptive.’

Ground was broken in the summer of 1948. The laboratory was opened on November 1,
1949. The building was a 90' X 50' three story brick building. The main entrance was on the west side
of the first floor. Heat was brought from a new boiler installation in the naval ROTC building. The
first occupants were the research teams of David Green and Henry A. Lardy. This gave the new
institute two of the top enzyme researchers in the world. In April 1948, the Rockefeller Foundation
granted the university $100,000 to help equip the new institute. For almost ten years the institute's
work went forward under these two team leaders, then as the work progressed they decided to add
more teams.

In 1957, after WARF made a grant of $300,000 for additional space at the enzyme institute,
the regents voted to apply to the federal National Institute of Health (NIH) for a matching grant for
construction and equipage of an addition to the enzyme institute estimated to cost $600,000. By April
1958, the NIH had granted the request for matching funds. The regents approved the plans for the
addition in August 1958. The plans were done by Siberz-Purcell-Cuthbert of Madison, and consisted
of a two story brick and stone trimmed addition on the west side of the existing lab, with a two story
connecting link between the old and new section; the front entrance was moved to the west wing.
Ground breaking was July 10, 1959. The total space in the institute was more than doubled at a cost
of $600,000. The institute now added three new research teams. The new teams were headed by Drs.
H. G. Khorana, Helmut Beinert, and Louis Gosting.®

This space was sufficient for about another decade. In 1968, Dr. Khorana became the
university's second (to Joshua Lederberg) Nobel prize winner for his work in gene synthesis. Planning
had already begun for more space when the prize was awarded. After a series of meetings with the
team leaders and campus planners, it was decided to expand the facilities by adding three floors to the
west wing and connecting link. These plans were done in 1967 by Ames-Torkelson of Madison.
When finished the facility comprised more than 65,000 square feet. The cost of the addition was $1.7
million. Dr. Khorana left the university in 1970.

1) Memorandum concerning the development of the Enzyme Institute, E. B. Fred to the regents, April 17, 1948.
Wisconsin State Journal, December 1, 1968.
2) Memorandum concerning the development of the Enzyme Institute, E. B. Fred to the regents, April 17, 1948; UW
Staff News, July 1949; Wisconsin State Journal, April 17, 1948,
4) Fred to Haight, July 16, 1947; Kenosha News, August 18, 1947;
5) A. W. Peterson to Fred, July 25, 1947, Executive Committee minutes, May 6, 1948; Regent's Minutes, May 28,
1948; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, December 1947 p. 5, December 1948, p. 18, August 1948, p. 7, October 1949 p. 5;
December 1949, p. 6,
6) Regents Minutes, July 13, 1957, March 15, 1958, June 9, 1959; Daily Cardinal, July 16, 1959; Executive Committee
minutes, July 11, 1958;
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ENGINEERING RESEARCH

Fig. 1. The Engineering Re-
. search Building looking north, c.
1971. The two story base,
connected to the mechanical
engineering building is at the
left. [series 9/6, Engineering
Research, j{-90]

The Engineering Research Building filled a long-standing deficiency in research
facilities in the Engineering department. It was erected in 1967 and opened in 1969.

by Dean Frederick Turneaure who did not see research as a critical part of an engineering

education. The dean believed instead that the school should produce experienced practicing
engineers. As a result of this slant, the college of engineering did not develop the kind of facilities and
reputation for strong basic research enjoyed by other parts of the University, such as the college of
agriculture. Although some research did take place in engineering, the facilities were largely impro-

vised and haphazard.!
Thus it was that in the early 1960s in the dawn of federal support for scientific and engineering

398

The Engineering college at the University had been directed in its formative years (1902-1939)



research projects, the college of engineering had only minimal research programs to point to. Most were
housed in temporary buildings erected in the 1940s. In 1963 the University planned an eight story research
buildingat the corner of Dayton and North Randall (the current site of Wendt Library). This building was
never pursued, but started the process for such a facility.

The regents in October 1964 approved the new site of the engineering research building as
the parking lot "immediately east of the mechanical engineering building." This action was taken to
hurry to the planning stage that the NSF required before committing funds. In December 1964 the NSF
declined to support the proposal. It was the position of the NSF that the University was still not
sufficiently advanced in their planning for the building. Planning proceeded through 1965, with archi-
tects Berners, Schober and Kilp of Green Bay appointed in April 1965, and weekly meetings were
held through the summer. In January 1966 the regents approved the revision and expansion for three
additional floors to the proposed building, and increased funding to $5.1 million in state and federal
matching funds. The request to the state for these funds accentuated the rising graduate enrollment and
the increasing importance of research, then housed in deteriorating temporary buildings.’

Included as programs particularly in need of space were: engineering plasma dynamics,
computing and data processing, instrument engineering, nuclear waste disposal (later dropped when a
critical faculty member was lost), air pollution, solar energy, and the automotive laboratory. The
regents were shown a model of the building in February 1966. In March, the regents approved another
expansion to $5.4 million to make room for plasma physics (then being carried on in the old high-
energy physics building on the west ag campus). The extra money was to come from non-state money.
This effort was eventually dropped, and the physics program was moved to Chamberlin Hall a few
years later. Thus it was that well into 1966 the plans were not stable enough to say how many floors or
square feet would be built, or who would occupy them. Some of this effect was the result of trying to
design the most flexible research facility possible.*

In June 1966 the state was asked to increase the funding level again, this time to $5.7 million,
the University citing the rising cost of construction. Also that month acompleted proposal was made to the
federal HEW's title Il graduate academic facilities program for $727,000. The proposal estimated the NSF
supportat$1.7 million. The regents approved the preliminary plans in June 1966, funded with $3.1 million
from the state and the rest from gift and grant funds. The state approval for the funding came in September
1966. Word came from the NSF of areduction in available funds, and the University increased its request
to the Title Il program. September also saw another round of revisions of programs to be housed in the
building. WARF made a grant of $185,000 for the building. Final funding was now nearly in place.”

The final plans were approved by the regents in March 1967. Utility costs had added another
$301,000 to the total, now $5.8 million. Planned finishing date was September 1969. The state reap-
proved this funding in June 1967. Construction contracts were let by the regents on July 7, 1967. The
general contract went to Orville E. Madsen of Minneapolis for $2.278 million.®

Construction began on July 17, 1967. Final funding breakdown was: NSF-$1.2 million; HEW-
$1.1 million; state matching funds- $3.6 million. In September 1968, a separate contract for air condi-
tioning the building was let for $190,000 to Bassett Inc. of Appleton. Progress on construction, unlike
planning and funding, went smoothly and without major incident. The project was enough on schedule
in March 1969 to allow the ordering of furnishings. The first occupants of the building began to move
in during August 1969. Site development and landscaping was not finished for another year. In 1985 a
major ($870,000) remodelling took place to increase the energy efficiency of the building.”

The building is a fourteen story tower 58 by 97 feet, over a 135 by 187 foot two level base,
connected at both lower levels to the mechanical engineering building, and sharing its service en-
trances. The building is of reinforced concrete, on a ten-foot modular plan, faced with precast concrete
panels on the north and south faces, and face brick on the east and west faces. The 274 foot tower is utterly

399



featureless on the east and west faces, making it one of the starkest buildings on campus.

The building has over the years served an ever changing array of research projects. Since the
building is now severely cramped and not expandable, plans are underway to build the Engineering
Center Building, which will add more space for research and existing programs.

1) Cronon and Jenkins, The University of Wisconsin vol. 111 pp. 724-727.

2) Engineering Research Building plans, October 29, 1963, series 24/9/3 box 6.

3) Regent's Minutes, October 16, 1964, January 7, 1966; Page to Harrington, November 25, 1964, Harrington to Page,

December 10, 1964; series 40/1/7-1 box 22; Engineering Research Building, July 12, 1965, Revision to ... Portion of

Engineering Research Building, August 9, 1965, Agency Request for State Building Commission Action, January 17,

1966, series 24/9/3 box 6.

4) Regent's Minutes, February 4, 1966, March 4, 1966; Agency Request for State Building Commission Action,

January 17, 1966, series 24/9/3 box 6; Alberty to Harrington, April 11, 1966, series 40/1/7-1 box 22.

5) Agency Request For State Building Commission Action, June 13, 1966, Proposal Submitted..., June 30, 1966,

series 24/9/3 box 6; Regent's Minutes, June 10, 1966, September 9, 1966; Lorenz to Stamberg, September 29, 1966,

series 24/9/3 box 8.

6) Regent's Minutes, March 10, 1967, June 9, 1967, July 7, 1967, exhibit C; Lorenz to State Building Commission,

February 28, 1967, series 24/9/3 box 8;

7) Roeber to Spuhler, January 2, 1969, Powers to Koch, March 13, 1969, Culbertson to Lorenz, June 19, 1969, series

24/9/2-1 box 7; Buelow to Edsall, October 3, 1969, series 24/9/2-1 box 14. Regent's Minutes, October 11, 1985.
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EXTENSION BUILDING

Fig 1. Exten-
sion building,
from Lake
Street, 1962.
[series 9/2,
Extension, jf-
76]

The University Extension Building was erected in 1961 to provide consolidation of
extension services. Until that time extension had been housed in the home ec-extension
building on Linden Drive and many rental locations around campus.

Drive beginning in 1914. They were quickly and chronically out of space. The moved into

abandoned buildings all over campus and rented auxiliary quarters in the campus area. In 1958
they were occupying all or part of 14 buildings. The time had clearly come for a new building for the
Extension.!

Planning began on May 1, 1958, with the appointment of an Extension Building committee.
With rough estimates of space requirements and input from the physical plant office, this group
tentatively planned for a $1.3 million building at the corner of Johnson and Brooks. The University
planners began to discuss the construction of a new administration building in the same area and
connecting it to the proposed extension building. By the end of the summer they decided that a better
site for both buildings was the block bounded by State, Lake University and Murray Streets. Principal
among the reasons for the change were the simpler connection to utilities, a more centralized loca-
tion, the rehabilitation of an increasingly blighted area of campus, the proximity to existing extension
facilities, and the desire to reserve the Johnson Street site for classroom buildings. Also in the summer
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of 1958 the state architects office appointed as architects for the project the firm of Brust and Brust
of Milwaukee. The committee had planned from the beginning that the building would be expandable.
In January 1959 the regents formally changed their choice of location to the north Lake Street site.?

By February 1959 Paul Brust had made preliminary drawings acceptable to the building
committee, these plans utilized the Lake Street site. Throughout 1959 the committee under chairman
Paul Grogan, questioned, refined and corrected the plans. Considerable effort was spent on deciding
exactly what functions should be housed in the new building. It was clear that the available funds
would not put up a building that could house all functions of the Extension. Some of the largest, and
heaviest (which could not easily be housed on upper floors) were BAVI (Bureau of Audio Visual
Instruction), and the multigraph (copying) department, were selected to be eliminated from the new
building. In January 1960, the regents approved the preliminary plans for the Extension building. A
change of management in the state architects office, and disagreement over space allocation slowed
progress during 1960. The land at the Lake Street site was purchased and demolished.>

In January 1961 bids were opened for construction of the Extension building. At their Febru-
ary 10, 1961 meeting the regents awarded contracts for the project. The general contract went to
Precour Construction of Oshkosh for $823,900. Total costs were $1.85 million, chargeable to the
state appropriation of 1959.4

Groundbreaking was held on February 10, 1961. The project encountered no particular
problems and was accepted by the University on July 16, 1962. In August 1962 the extension music
department became the first of thirty departments to move to the new building from their old quarters
at 548 State Street. They were followed quickly by the myriad of outlying departments from all over
the campus and city. After them the offices under Camp Randall stadium were moved. By the dedica-
tion in October 1962, all the Extension offices, except photomedia, BAVI, and duplication services
were housed under one roof for the first time in the history of the oldest University Extension depart-
ment in the country.”

The new building was an eight story tower of steel and concrete. Plans for potential expansion
involved adding a second tower to the south of the first one, but there are at present (1994) no plans
to do so. Although the first tower is filled to capacity, the pressure on extension has been relieved by
again renting small retail space outside the building, and by moving some functions to offices in other
Extension facilities (the Wisconsin Center and Lowell Hall).

1) Curti and Carstensen, The University of Wisconsin, vol. 1, pp. 711-714, 721-728.
2) Summary Statement of Extension Building Committee Findings, September 8, 1958, Grogan to Brust and Brust,
September 30, 1958, Grogan to Wendt November 25, 1958, Paul Brust to Gallistel, February 19, 1959, series 24/9/2
box 11. Paul Brust to Stanley Nerdrum, October 22, 1959, series 24/9/2 box 12.
3) Paul Brust to Gallistel, February 19, 1959, series 24/9/2 box 11; Regent's Minutes, January 17, 1959, January 9,
1960.
4) Regent's Minutes, January 6, 1961, February 10, 1961.
5) Daily Cardinal, August 3, 1962. Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, January 1962, November, 1967 p. 10; Wisconsin
State Journal, June 16, 1961;
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EXTENSION SERVICES

Fig. 1. The Extension
Services Building 1994.
[Author Photo, AP-42]

ction on the matter of what to do with the small buildings already on the site. Two of those
were the extension duplicating department and photographic laboratory, which had been

excluded from the new extension building on Lake Street for budgetary reasons. To provide a location
for these two departments, the regents added $300,000 to the 1959-1965 building priority list. A plan
in 1961-62 to house them in an old building at 114 North Murray Street was abandoned due to exces-
sive remodelling costs. In April 1962 the state assigned architect William Horne of Madison to design
the new project. Planning continued into the spring of 1962. In May the state building commission
approved the building at an estimated cost of $326,000. Final plans for the building were approved by
the regents on July 13, 1962. Construction contracts were awarded later that summer, with Crissinger
Construction of Madison getting the general contract for $167,400. Total contracts awarded were for
$302,000. The building was completed in May of 1963.1

The building located at the corner of Charter and Spring Streets, is a basement and single story
with penthouse, 71 by 145 feet, built of concrete block with concrete slab floor and roof.

Financing was from a loan arranged by the Wisconsin University Building Corporation
(WUBC). The loan was to be amortized from rents paid by the photo and duplicating businesses with
fees charged by them for their services. In 1985 most of the extension duplicating department which
had expanded enormously moved out of the building for new and much larger quarters in the new
Stores/Extension Services building on Murray Street. Photomedia occupied the entire building, but
was disbanded in 1996. A new occupant has not been selected.

When the regents approved the location of the new Psychology building in 1960, they took no
a

1) Postweiler to Peterson, April 2, 1962, series 24/9/2 box 13; Regent's Minutes, May 14, 1960, January 5, 1962,
April 6, 1962, May 6, 1962, June 5, 1962, July 13, 1962.
2) Regent's Minutes, July 13, 1962, exhibit E; Daily Cardinal, July 19, 1963; Cost and Outline Specification, March
27, 1962, series 24/9/2 box 13.
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FIELD HOUSE

Fig. 1. The Field
House from the
southwest, c¢. 1932.
[Series 9/11, jf-53]

The field house was the project of athletic director George Little. It was begun in
1929, first used in 1930 and has been used for basketball and large community
gatherings such as convocations and concerts, ever since. The second level seating
was added in 1936 and a major remodelling took place in 1974. Because of limited
size and fire danger, a new field house (the Kohl Center) was begun in 1996.

he also became the football coach. Little had been an assistant of Michigan's famous
Fielding Yost. Yost gave Little a glowing recommendation to J. F. A. "Sunny" Pyre, the
ex-football star and faculty chairman of the athletic council.

Little acted as coach for two years, before hiring coach Glenn Thistlethwaite away from
Northwestern, and turning strictly to administrative work. A hardworking and persuasive man, Little
had a vision for the athletic facilities at the University. By 1927 he had developed a three million-
dollar master plan for athletic facilities, including replacements for the armory, the gymnasium annex,
and the boathouse.! His support for this enormous project was considerable. The legislature of 1927
approved an appropriation of $350,000 to begin the project. Because of economic hardship, this bill
was pocket vetoed by Governor Zimmerman. Rather than pursue this avenue of funding, Little turned
to the regents. His plans had now shrunk considerably. He now asked only for $350,000 for a field
house without facilities for non-income-producing sports.

Football was well provided for at the Camp Randall stadium; the real problem was with
basketball. Wisconsin played basketball in the old red gym. The gym was built in 1892, and for
basketball games held 2240 spectators. It was called "the little cigar box gym" by newspapermen, and
complaints were heard about scalping of the scarce tickets. In the fall of 1927, in an interview with a
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Fig. 2. 1930, the field
house is born into the west
@ campus. The steel frame-
work rises to the south of
the stadium. Breese
Terrace (with trolley cars)
is at the left. The recently
completed Van Hise
dorms and Lake Mendota
L are in the far background.
Note that the engineering
campus is almost entirely
undeveloped, only the old
forest products lab, and
 the "old sawtooth" engi-
neering lab building
(which within two years

= would be the site of
mechanical engineering)
are shown. [Series 9/11,

ey M111]

Chicago paper, basketball coach Walter "Doc" Meanwell either did (the Chicago Tribune) or did not
(Meanwell) call the gym a "foul-smelling rat trap" .2 A new field house became Little's main priority.
The regents had been discussing a field house since 1925, and had decided to locate the field house at
the south end of the stadium?>:

The regents were persuaded by Little to fund the field house through the University Building
Corporation, the dummy corporation that had recently been used to fund the Van Hise dorms, and the
furnishings of the Memorial Union. The regents approved a loan of $350,000 at 4.5 percent for thirty
years.*

By this time State Architect Arthur Peabody in consultation with architect Paul Cret, had
produced plans for the field house which were approved by the regents on March 6, 1929. This
building clearly showed the techniques that Peabody and his staff had learned from architects Laird
and Cret twenty years before. The Italian Renaissance style is similar to, though much less formal
than, Laird and Cret's Lathrop Hall design. The deep reveals around the enormous round-headed
windows, the decorative use of Bedford limestone and terra cotta trim, the recessed panels suggesting
columns, and other details show the influence of Peabody's associate Cret. As an interesting detail,
the large "W" symbols on the north and south faces of the building were apparently not the work of
either Peabody or Cret. The original plans have a note to bidding contractors to "submit model" for
this decoration. Presumably some unknown designer at the winning contractor's office did the design,
arguably the most beautiful University symbol on any UW building.

Bids were opened June 22, 1929, and all bids were rejected. There were two problems: first,
the regents specified that the building be completed by December 11,1929, which no bidder would
guarantee; and second, the regents specified that any arbitration would be decided by them alone, to
which no bidder would agree. The regents capitulated on both points. By late September they had
signed contracts with Quinn Construction Company of Madison for the excavations and foundations,
and with William Christenson of Racine for general contracting for the building. Completion was set
for basketball season 1931.

Ground was broken on September 26, 1929 by the Quinn company. It was believed that the
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Fig. 3. 1929: the field house under construction from the Monroe Street side.

building would be ready for use by the fall of 1930. The cost was estimated at $453,756, of which
$51,000 would be repaid from athletic receipts, $5000 per year for ten years. By November 16, the
Cardinal reported that the field house was one-third done. All steel was in place by March 30, 1930.
Work progressed rapidly and smoothly throughout 1930, and the building was dedicated December
18, 1930, with a win by Walter "Doc" Meanwell's Badgers, who by means of the "famous short
passing system" defeated Pennsylvania by the score of 27-12, before a sellout crowd of 8600.°

The building was 240 feet by 200 feet. It had a dirt floor, with a one-eighth mile cinder track.
Two portable basketball floors were used for practice, though they were replaced by one large one
for "regulation" play. The building was large enough to play baseball and football in when weather-
proof conditions were needed. Track and field events were also accommodated. Because it was
originally intended that the field house be connected by tunnel to the locker rooms and facilities under
the stadium, no such facilities were included in the field house itself. After the building was complete
it was found that a gathering place of this size had been needed for some time. Graduation ceremo-
nies and other large gatherings of that sort, which had begun to overflow the Stock Pavilion were
moved to the field house.

The walls were of concrete and faced with Madison sandstone rubble work, a style that had
been used with good results on the Van Hise dormitories a few years earlier. Because the Madison
stone quarries to the west of the city (from which had come the facing stone for most of the best
buildings on the older parts of the campus) were nearly played out, this uncoursed rubble was all that
was available. Peabody was determined that the field house have a texture and color consistent with
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the rest of the campus, in which he succeeded very well. It is unfortunate that his plan to sheath the
adjoining stadium with this rubble stone style was never carried out.

All reviews of the new facility were favorable. For several years, the only complaints heard
were that there were too few seats and that the huge brassribbed skylights dripped condensation on
the basketball court. As a cost saving measure, the field house had been built without the second
balcony. This additional seating was soon needed. It was planned by September 1936 and funded by
anew loan and a Public Works Administration grant, for a total of $55,500. The regents hired
contractor George Nelson of Madison and by January 8, 1936 (the same day University President
Glenn Frank was ousted by the regents), the second balcony was finished, bringing the total seating
to 12,000. In 1940, the offending skylights were removed and the building reroofed.

In the fall of 1974 a remodelling by Potter, Lawson and Pawlowski, built permanent lower
level bleachers, dressing rooms and concession areas below the bleachers, installed a permanent
floor, and cosmetically refurbished the building. This $671,000 remodelling was partly the result of
the Wisconsin Interscholastic Athletic Association (WIAA) threat to find another site for the heavily
attended (and profitable) annual state wrestling and basketball tournaments. This renovation, which
cost more than the original construction, alleviated the threat by the WIAA.

Now in 1994, with the recently rejuvenated Badger basketball program, familiar complaints
are being heard. There aren't enough seats for the games; scalpers are thriving; there are too few
exits in case of a fire emergency. Since a thorough rebuilding of the field house would cost millions,
the current plan is to build a new field house (to be known as the Kohl center) to the east of the
southeast dormitories, which will accommodate basketball and hockey. The old building will most
likely be used for minor and intramural sports.

1) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, November 1928, p. 39.

2) Daily Cardinal, November 9, 1927, p. 1.

3) The regents decided on January 20,1926 to put the field house at Breese and University. But after a petition from the
neighborhood, they moved it to the stadium site (regent's minutes, December 8, 1926).

4) Papers of the Board of Regents, March 7, 1928, and the Daily Cardinal March 31, 1928 p. 3

5) Daily Cardinal, December 19, 1930, p. 1.
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FLEET CAR OFFICE

Fig. 1. The Fleet car office and
garage, with the Stores building in the
background. [Author Photo, AP-57]

N

used by University employees was a small enough job that it could be run out of the old service

building on University Avenue, and the cars kept on the lots adjacent to that building. This lasted
throughout the 1950s. But the land at University and Charter Streets became needed for academic
expansion and the fleet grew so large that it could not be administered in that small space.

Consequentially, in 1963 the University moved the auto fleet operation to a large parking lot on
College Court. To house the administration of the operation they installed a trailer at 1006 College
Court. This new arrangement lasted eighteen years. But the size of the fleet continued to grow. In
addition to the size pressure, the trailer that housed the fleet car staff was increasingly unsuitable,
since it was uninsulated, and had no indoor plumbing of electricity.!

The issue was dealt with first when the regents in December 1980 voted to acquire a .6 acre
property on North Murray Street. This plan was part of a larger campus development plan developed
with the city of Madison. It was not until 1982 that this property was finally secured. The University
made an even trade with the city, the University's College Court property for the city's Murray Street
parcels. The University immediately developed the property to be used as the fleet car lot. The city
within a few years allowed the College Court property to be developed as housing. The old trailer
from College Court was moved to the new Murray Street site, still without plumbing. Efforts by John
Brown, the director of fleet car operation, were finally rewarded in 1986 with the construction of a
new fleet car facility at 10 North Murray Street. The building is a one story wood frame 26 by 20 feet,
sheathed in wood siding and contains an office, storage and a bathroom and lounge. The contractor
was S. I. and Son for $23,468. In 1989 a small garage was added to the north side of the building for
additional storage and some car parts. As the area of Murray and Regent Street becomes more attrac-
tive to developers, the fleet facility may eventually be moved again.?

In the days before the last great expansions of the University, the operation of the fleet of vehicles

1) University Directories; interview with Paul Brown, spring 1995.
2) Regent's Minutes, September 9, 1976, IV-2, December 5, 1980, July 16, 1982; Fleet Car Facility Rebid in papers of
John Brown director of fleet car operations, Wanner to Brown, March 17, 1986, Department of Administration budget
letter, office of Patricia Hillestadt.
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DAIRY FORAGE CENTER

 Fig. 1. The foragelab,
. = 1982.[Photo courtesy of
P Dairy Forage Center
S Office, copy in Author
collection. ]

The U. S. Dairy Forage Research Center is a federal facility, comprising two parts,
the research laboratory in Madison, and the field facility near Baraboo. Broad
cooperation exists between the Center and the University. The purpose of the center
is to lower the cost of milk production and the cost of dairy products. The campus
research facility opened in 1981.

Department of Agriculture (USDA) listed it as a priority item to be located in a north central

state to serve the regional and national dairy industry. By 1962 dean Froker of the University
Agriculture College had proposed that the regional facility be located at or near Madison. In April
1963 the Wisconsin legislature memorialized members of Congress to empower the USDA to con-
struct such a research laboratory on the Madison campus. The proposed facility was for offices and
labs and housing for 250 cows; at an estimated cost of $2.5 million. This was the beginning of a long
and protracted effort to obtain the facility for the Madison campus. !

In 1967 more progress was made when senator William Proxmire began lobbying the senate
Agricultural subcommittee (of which he was a member) to include the federal forage lab in their
budget. The logic of locating the lab in the nation's leading dairy state was pointed out.?

As a result of this effort, Congress included in its Agricultural Appropriations bill for 1968 a
request for a committee to make a feasibility study on the forage center. This committee recommended
that a Dairy Cattle Forage Utilization Center be established in the north central region, and that it be
located at or near the University of Wisconsin-Madison. Estimated costs had risen to $5.9 million. On
the strength of this report Proxmire was able to get the senate to include an appropriation of $680,000
for planning money for the forage lab, but both times (1970 and 1971) the item was deleted by the
Joint Conference Committee. In 1971 the senate asked the USDA to restudy the issue with an eye toward
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reducing its size and cost. In 1972 this new study recommended against appropriating money for the lab.
Dean ofthe Agricultural College Glenn Pound referred to this study asa "snowjob". In 1974 the project
wasrevived by interested dairy organizations. A letter of support from Senators Proxmire and Nelson
(Wisconsin), Humphrey and Mondale (Minnesota), Clark (Iowa), Stevenson (Illinois), Bayh (Indiana) and
othernorth central states to Secretary of Agriculture Earl Butz supporting the dairy forage lab. Support was
recommended by the House-Senate Report for the fiscal year 1975. Four regional study groups were
appointed.

By early 1977 the reports of these regional groups were completed, and in July 1977 the
Senate approved $1.1 million in planning funds for the center to be built at Madison. The 1977 North
Central Region's proposal for the center calls for the center to be located at Madison with the field
facilities, that is the 450 cattle and associated equipment, to be located on federal land at Baraboo, the
site of the Badger Ordinance Works. The complete project, including the field facility was estimated
to cost $8 million and the lab building was to house a director and fifteen research scientists. The
schedule called for construction to be completed in July 1982. Governor Lucey agreed to support the
facility on the conditions that the state not be required to pay any operating costs other than utilities, or
to buy land for the field facility if the Baraboo site was not available.*

In May 1978 the funding for the center was approved with a $9 million budget limit. Senator
Proxmire was the recipient of a Tarnished Fleece award from the Young Americans for Freedom for
his efforts to bring the forage center to Wisconsin. This was a takeoff on Proxmire's own Golden Fleece
awards for legislative "pork" projects. In late 1978 the Baraboo site for field work was confirmed, although
the herd size wasreduced to 300. The laboratory building in Madison was located on a parking lot (#12)
north and west ofthe stock pavilion. This site had been considered for the College of Veterinary Medicine a
few years earlier, butrejected because of limited size. The USDA received a fifty year lease on the land.
The Madison facility would cost about $6.5 million.

On October 18, 1979, the general construction contract was awarded to the J. H. Findorff
Company in the amount of $5.2 million. Ground-breaking was held on October 26, 1979. Construction
met with no unusual delays, and the dedication of the Dairy Forage Research Center was held on June
30, 1981, with remarks by congressmen Kastenmeier, Proxmire, and center director R. J. Bula.t

The building is three stories high, built of concrete block, sheathed in face brick. The first floor
contains offices, animal rooms, storage, and a head house for the seven greenhouses at the back of the
building. On the second floor are more offices, conference rooms, and laboratories. The third floor
hold more laboratories, offices, and conference rooms. The "Engineering wing" on the southwest corner of
the building contains more offices, shops and laboratories. This unit was originally optional if bids for the
entire unit were too high for the budget. The forage center coordinates research at four other "cluster" sites,
the University of Minnesota, lowa State University, Cornell, and Michigan State University.

1) Chronology of Efforts ..., September 13, 1976, series 88/41 box 1. Some Aspects of the Development ..., Glen
Pound, November 1979, series 90/80 box 14.
2) Chronology of Efforts ..., September 13, 1976, series 88/41 box 1; Hutchinson to Proxmire, May 12, 1969, series
40/1/7-1 box 123.
3) Chronology of Efforts ..., September 13, 1976, series 88/41 box 1;
4) Proposal for North Central Regional Dairy Forage Research Center, February 10, 1977, Pound To Lucey, April 5,
1977, series 90/80 box 14; Wisconsin State Journal, March 31, 1977.
5) Memorandum, Scornicka to Shain, November 8, 1978, series 4/31/9-2 box 1; Regent's Minutes, March XX, 1978;
Daily Cardinal, May 15, 1978; Wisconsin State Journal, May 11, 1978, October 13, 1978; Milwaukee Journal, May
28, 1978. North Central Dairy - Forage Research Center, November 30, 1978, series 4/31/9-2 box 1.
6) Wisconsin State Journal, October 27, 1979; News Release, August 24, 1979, series 90/80 box 14; Baraboo News
Republic, November 1, 1979. Dedication Programs, June 30, 1981, papers of Dairy Forage Laboratory.
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OLD FOREST PRODUCTS
LABORATORY

Fig. 1. The Forest
Products lab
shortly after
completion c.
1910. [series 9/5
Miningand
Metallurgy, jf-34]

s e R

Constructed in 1909, this building originally housed the Forest Product Laboratory.
When Forest Products built a new lab in 1931 the building was taken over by

Engineering's department of Mining and Metallurgy. That name has been changed to

Material Science which is still in residence. The building was added to the National

Register of Historic Places in 1985.

n 1908 the U. S. Department of Agriculture's Forest Service laboratories were scattered in vari-
Ious facilities in the eastern part of the country. The decision was made to establish a central
facility to encompass all their investigations into wood products. Letters were sent (in October

1908) to major universities asking if they would consider hosting such a facility. Seven responded in
the affirmative. A competition ensued in which the schools made continually escalating offers in an
effort to obtain the federal facility. Wisconsin decided to offer a site with a building costing $30,000
in addition to the costs of heat, light and power.! The competition was narrowed to three: Wisconsin,
Michigan and Minnesota, all schools with access to the forested areas of the upper Midwest and with
strong engineering programs. In January of 1909 the U. S. Forest Service announced that Wisconsin
had been chosen. Michigan congressman McGlaughlin then raised the argument that Michigan had
not properly understood what was wanted and was now willing to make a larger appropriation for the
laboratory than the Wisconsin offer.? In April the chief of the Forestry Service Gifford Pinchot,
explained why Wisconsin had been chosen:
The propositions of the three universities as to buildings were substantially equal ... I add that
among the factors considered, the following were necessarily given special weight: building
site, and equipment of power heat and light; courses in instruction in forestry, agriculture,
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engineering and science generally; general accessibility to the forest regions of the east central

valley and south...3

Among the reasons that Wisconsin wanted the forest lab were: the addition of about $30,000
worth of salaried jobs added to the city and state, the promise of assistance to the state's important
lumber industry, and northern immigrant farmers.

In late April 1909, the regents settled on the University Avenue site, after considering a
location on Linden Drive west of Agriculture Hall. Plans had already been accepted by the regents
from the office of architect Arthur Peabody.* The actual designer of the building was Albert F.
Gallistell, a draftsman employed in the architect's office.’

The regents advertised for contractor's bids on May 8, 1909. The lowest bid was T. C.
McCarthy's for $44,424.° This was for a building whose entire cost had been estimated and appropri-
ated at $30,000. The regents rejected all the bids. They raised the appropriation to $50,000. They
requested Peabody to alter the design to obtain a bid within the appropriation. In order to do this
Peabody consulted with McCarthy; they reduced the thickness of the foundations and walls of the
upper levels, and omitted some decorative work at the front entrance. The altered building went back
out for bids (June 28, 1909) and came back with an acceptable offer. Ironically it was not McCarthy
who now had the lowest bid, but Kirkman Construction of Chicago. Ground was broken July 12,
1909. The contract called for the contractor to have the building finished by October first 1909.
Peabody's report of August says that the building is progressing well, the foundations finished, the
first floor walls nearly complete. On June 1910 the Daily Cardinal announces the grand opening and
dedication of the forestry lab. The ceremony was held on June 4, 1910. Speakers at the dedication
included governor Davidson, president Van Hise, and prominent lumbermen.’

The finished building was a handsome two story C-shaped Georgian Revival building of red
brick 182 X 90 feet. It features a red tile hipped roof, a modillioned cornice and brick quoins. It was
intended to harmonize with the agriculture buildings on the other side of University Avenue and does
sonicely.

Little was heard about the forestry lab until the first world war broke out. Then there was a
burst of activity and publicity. The government did an enormous amount of research on the new field
of aviation at the forestry lab and other university buildings. In 1917 airplanes were made of wood
and fabric. The lab made tests on various woods, laminating processes, glues, and production tech-
niques. The work force swelled to sixty. By the end of the war the work and significance of the
forestry lab had been permanently expanded. In 1931 a new and much larger forest products lab was
built on the western edge of Madison. The old building was taken over by the Engineering depart-
ment of Mining and Metallurgy, housed until then in the old heating plant behind science hall. A 1975
addition to the east end provided better access to the upper floors. In 1996 a $4.4 million two story
addition (designed by HNTB architects of Milwaukee) was built on the south side of the building,
which filled in the area between the wings and provided an access link to the ERB building. This
addition was faithful to the original architecture of the building. 8
1) Regent's Minutes, December 16, 1908. They were the University of Michigan, the University of Minnesota, the
University of Illinois, Purdue University, Cornell University, Yale University, and the University of Wisconsin.

2) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, February, 1909 p. 218.
3) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, April, 1909 pp. 293-294.
4) Papers of the Executive Committee, April 6, 1909.
5) A Tabular History of the Buildings of the University of Wisconsin, Alden Aust, June 4, 1937, and the National
Historic Preservation Nomination Papers, in the State Historical Society Historic Preservation Office.
6) Papers of the Executive Committee, May 24, 1909.
7) Daily Cardinal, June 2, 1910. The ceremony was delayed until 2 PM to allow visitors to watch the Washington-
Wisconsin crew race.
8) Request for State Building Commission Action, May 23, 1973, series 83/35 box 16.
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PHYSICALPLANT GARAGE

Fig. 1. Physical Plant
Garage 1995, a one-story
78 by 52 foot structure of
concrete block; the raised
section is visible at the

.- right of the picture. The

_ Stores/Extension-Ser-
vices building is visible
in the background, as are
the towers of Ogg Hall.

University owned vehicles. This space was generally unsuitable. Additionally the lease con-
tained an escalation clause that brought the rent to more than $44,000 per year. The regents
authorized a physical plant as part of the 1977-79 building program at an estimated cost of $540,000.

The original plan was to construct a new building for the garage near Brooks Street and Col-
lege Court, but by May 1980 the University and the city of Madison had agreed that this area should be
reserved for future housing development. The regents then approved the purchase and renovation of an
existing facility, and since the new Stores/Extension Services building was already approved to be
located at 30 North Murray Street, the planning committees agreed that the garage at 21 North Park
Street would make an ideal location for the servicing of University vehicles. At their May 1980
meeting the regents approved the purchase and remodelling of the Park Street garage at a total budget
0f$540,000. Included in the purchase was land behind the Park Streetlot on Murray Street. The purchase
of the garage and adjoining property was closed on July 1, 1980 ata cost of $300,000 from the Roy A.
Ward trust. Aslater became clear the building had been built on swampy land and its footings had been
sinkingandsettling since construction.

The building was built in 1945 by Fritz Construction at a cost to the owner Ace Buick of
$45,000 and had spent almost its entire life as a garage, first as Ace Buick, then Caves Buick, Ehler's
Buick, and Zimbrick Buick, and in the 1970s storage for the telephone Company. In June 1980 the state
building commission approved a request to remodel the building at a cost of $24,000. The main part of
the remodelling, by Krueger and Shutter, was the raising of the roof of a 53 by 36 foot section of the
garage to provide 20 feet of headroom for large vehicles and for an overhead hoist. The remodelling
work was done by the late summer of 1981 and in the fall of 1981 the University operation moved in.
The concrete block structure has large glass block windows in the north and east walls. The garage
houses mechanics who perform service on all UW vehicles.>

S tarting in 1970 the physical plantrented garage space at 111 Gerry Court for servicing of

1) University Directories; Building Program, Garage Building, series 4/31/9-3 box 6.
2) Memo for regent's meeting, May 1980, Edsall to Shain, June 19, 1980, Roy Ward Trust to Regents, March 28,
1980, series 4/31/9-3 box 6; Regent's Minutes, May 9, 1980, October 10, 1980.
3) City Directories; Title records in Regent's vault, Roy Ward Trust file; Agency Request for State Building Commis-
sion Action, October 1980, series 4/31/9-3 box 6.
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GENETICS

Fig. 1. Genetics
building c. 1965. 72 by
128 feet, five stories of
precast concrete
curtain wall panels,
face brick and a gross
size of 53,000 square
feet. The 1995 bio-
technology center
connected at the right
of'this picture. [series
9/3, Genetics, jf-78]

Built in 1961 to provide unified space for the division of genetics, this building
remained the home of both medical genetics and agricultural genetics, until 1994
when the new biotechnology building, with its attachment to the genetics building
opened.

wo major factors caused the construction of the genetics building on Henry Mall. The first was
I the fire in the old genetics research barn in 1955, the second was the founding of the medical

genetics department in 1957.

The genetics barn fire demonstrated that the genetics department was extremely crowded, and
had done great work in poor conditions for a long time. The paper written by Agricultural dean
Rudolph Froker to justify the replacement of the barn, was used with only slight updating to explain
the need for the construction of the new genetics office and research building. The response to the
barn fire had also demonstrated that the University and the state were ready to recognize the increas-
ing importance of genetics to the University.

Until 1957, all genetics at the University was agricultural genetics and the department was
under the jurisdiction of the School of Agriculture. Then in 1957, the department of medical genetics
was organized. Its early staff included Joshua Lederberg, James Crow, and Dr. Demars. While the
medical group maintained an independently administered and staffed department, it continued to meet
regularly with the staff of agricultural genetics, and indeed formed an informal and administratively

nonexistent "Division of Genetics".!
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In November 1958, professor Irwin, chairman of the genetics department, sent to dean Froker
a document entitled "Plans for sustaining and developing genetics at the University of Wisconsin.",
that laid out the shape of the program to come. It pointed out the inadequacies of the physical facili-
ties, which had been occupied essentially unchanged since 1932, and urged that a new building be
erected that would house both the department of Genetics and medical genetics, in both teaching and
research. Dean Froker put his support behind this project, and in September 1959, the regents de-
cided to locate the genetics building on Henry Mall, between the Hygiene Laboratory and the Wis-
consin High School. At this time neither firm plans nor funding had been arranged for the building.
That month dean Froker applied to the National Institute of Health (NIH) for a grant of $850,000,
representing half the cost of erecting a building of 60,000 square feet to house the departments of
Genetics and Medical Genetics. Froker and Irwin proposed that this $1.7 million facility be funded
half by the NIH grant and half by the Wisconsin Alumni Research Foundation (WARF).?

Most of 1960 was taken up by the arrangements for funding the project. By May 1960 WARF
had authorized $850,000 of which $35,000 was to be spent on planning the building. With this money
the building committee got an estimate from architect Mark Purcell of Siberz and Purcell, who had
been assigned to the project in August 1960, of $1.68 million for the building. In September 1960, in
response to a reduced award from the NIH, the Campbell Soup Company offered to contribute to the
building fund, in the amount of $189,000. This money was to be used primarily for equipment and
specially equipped laboratories. By the end of 1960, the $1.7 million in funding was ready: the NIH
grant of $638,225, WARF grant of $850,000, and gifts of $189,000. The regents had approved the
preliminary plans. The approval of final plans came in May 1961.3

Contracts were awarded for construction of the genetics building on June 20, 1961 with J. H.
Findorff & Son getting the general contract for $609,170. Total contracts awarded were $1.79
million. Construction began in June 1961. Construction was delayed for a considerable period in 1962
by a strike of the Teamsters Union over wages and working conditions. The building was ready for
occupancy in the fall of 1963, when the bulk of the genetics staff moved across Henry Mall from the
old genetics building. The finished building (see Fig. 1) was 72 by 128 feet, five stories of precast
concrete curtain wall panels, face brick, matching the Hygiene Lab next door; gross size was 53,000
square feet. Each floor contained five principal laboratories. In later times the inadequate nature
(some were without gas supply or running water) of these labs would require constant remodelling
and updating.*

On January 6, 1965, the faculty of genetics and medical genetics, voted to seek administrative
approval for uniting the two departments into the "Institute of Genetics". With the approval of the
chancellor and the regents, the two departments became one as of July 1, 1965. The genetics depart-
ment has remained united in the new building since that time. In 1994 during the construction of the
new biotechnology building that replaced the Wisconsin High School, the genetics building was
attached to the new building on its south side.

1) R. A. Brink, Early History of Genetics at the University of Wisconsin, p. 16-17, manuscript at Memorial Library
Archives, in genetics departmental file 9/17.
2) M. R. Irwin, Plans for sustaining and developing genetics at the University of Wisconsin, November 1958; Regent's
Minutes, September 12, 1959, series 4/0/3 box 182.
3) Regent's Minutes, November 4, 1960, December 9, 1960, April 7, 1961, May 12, 1961; Daily Cardinal, October 7,
1960; Peterson to Irwin, July 26, 1960, Muns to Peterson August 17, 1960, Peterson to governor Nelson, September 20,
1960, series 24/9/2 box 12.
4) Regent's Minutes, July 20, 1961; Findorff to Regents, April 17, 1962, series 24/9/2 box 13; Daily Cardinal, May 13,
1961. Plans in physical plant plans room.
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GENETICS RESEARCH BARN

Fig. 1. Genetic research
building, 1994, from
southeast. It is a 53 by 180
foot one story reinforced
concrete building, faced
with brick. [Author Photo,
AP-37]

hundreds of birds and small animals used in genetics experiments. This was the last straw for

a department housed in quarters so cramped that the teaching of basic laboratory courses had
been discontinued for lack of space in the genetics building on Henry Mall (now Agricultural Journal-
ism). About one quarter of the animals had been saved from the fire, and were moved to the basement
of the stock pavilion, and the old dairy barn. Within a week of the fire, dean of agriculture Rudolph
Froker wrote to president E. B. Fred, with a proposal for a new building to house genetic research.
The proposed prefabricated metal structure was to cost about $130,000. The insurance on the old
barn was $25,000, leaving a need for about $100,000. The same day, president Fred wrote to gover-
nor Kohler, outlining the problem and asking him that the state building commission appropriate up to
$104,600 for Froker's plan. A week later, the regents approved the use of the insurance money and a
requested $104,600 to build a new genetics barn.!

Late in 1955 the need for new facilities for the poultry department and a $222,000 appropria-
tion, caused the university, at the request of governor Kohler, to combine the two building projects
(the genetics and the poultry barns). This would save money on the architects and contractors, and
utility hookups. The sites of the buildings were to be back to back between Linden and Observatory
Drives, just east of the agronomy seed building.2

Rough plans and estimates were sent to the University by the architects, Law, Law, Potter and
Nystrom in August of 1956. On October 6, 1956 the regents approved final plans and called for bids
on the combined project; in January of 1957, the contracts were awarded. The general contractor was
the J. R. Sutton Construction Company of Madison for $249,313. The total of all contracts for the
combined project was $436,074. Ground was broken in late January 1957. By May 29, 1957 the
buildings were 95 per cent complete. The genetics department occupied the new building in the fall of
1957. It contained cages, animal pens, a few small labs, and one office. Not until the new Henry Mall
genetics building was erected in 1962 did the department finally have enough office and lab space.3

O n July 22, 1955, the genetics barn on Linden Drive burned to the ground in a fire which killed

1) Daily Cardinal, July 26, 1955; Fred to Kohler, July 27, 1955, series 4/0/3 box 182; Froker to Fred, July 27, 1955,
series 4/0/3 box 182. Executive Committee Minutes, July 29, 1955; Regent's Minutes, July 29, 1955, November 12,
1955.

2) Muckinhirn to Kirchhoff, December 15, 1955, Kirchhoff to Muckinhirn, December 8, 1955, series 24/ 9/ 2 box 8.
3) Regent's Minutes, November 10, 1956, October 6, 1956.
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GLASSLAB

" Fig. 1. The glass lab, 1995. The
buildingisasingle story, 44 by 92
feetof metal siding overa steel
frame with aslab floor. It was
probably erected in 1963 by the
United Builder's Corporationto
beused for lumber storage.
[Author Photo, AP-47]

Yawkey-Crowley Lumber Yard. The company went out of business in 1930 and the property
was sold to the Gateway Lumber Company, organized in 1908. This company also failed (in
1963) and the property was sold to the United Building Center (UBC) of Winona Minnesota.

The United Building Center Corporation approached the University in 1968 about the pur-
chase of the property. The University sought permission from the state to purchase the property in
August 1968 for $264,000. The property changed hands on October 31, 1968. Of the old buildings
only the "steel clad warehouse" was recommended for retention. That building was probably built
shortly after the UBC arrived in 1963. The other buildings were demolished for the construction of the
new police and security building in the 1980s.2

Professor Harvey Littleton arrived at the University in the early 1950s with an established
reputation as a potter. Littleton had grown up in Corning New York, and worked summer jobs at the
local glass factories, and considered the possibilities of glass as an artists material. In 1957 after a
visit to Europe he set up a small studio on his farm in Verona, and began to practice his technique. In
1962 with grants from the University Littleton began the formal teaching of art glass techniques as part
of the art department. This was the first college course in glass blowing in the United States. The
success of the course and the inconveniences of having the teaching facilities on a private farm outside
Madison led the art department in the summer of 1970 to obtain the use and remodelling of the old
lumber yard warehouse for Littleton's use.>

The building now abuts on its west end to the new police and security building. Its original
address was 1429 Monroe Street, but after the construction of the new Police and Security building at
that address, the glass lab's address was changed to 46 North Randall Street. Many Universities now
teach glass blowing, and most have at least one ex-student of professor Littleton or his successors at
the UW. The current professor of art glass is professor Stephen Faren.

1) City Directories; Dane County Register of Deeds.

2) Purchase papers in regent's vault, United Builder's Center file.

3) Wisconsin State Journal, November 25, 1962; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, December 1966, p. 8; Badger
Herald, March 18, 1971.

The first development of the land at Randall and Monroe Streets took place in 1914 by the
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GRAINGERHALL

Fig. 1.
Grainger Hall,
1994. [photo
courtesy of
Grainger
public
relations
office]

Built in 1992 with state funds and a 9 million dollar gift from David Grainger,
Grainger Hall of Business Administration helped restore the UW School of Business
to its place of national preeminence.

May of 1985 began the process that would culminate in the construction of Grainger Hall. The

BOV was addressed in April 1985 by the acting dean of the school of business James Blakely
and told that he had asked for University support for a new building that would allow the school of
business to be housed in one building, and bring the University's facilities into line with other top-
ranked business schools.

The same day the president of the BOV wrote to chancellor Irving Shain that the BOV (chaired
by ex-regent Joyce Erdman) had passed a resolution committing the BOV to raising from the public
sector twenty five per cent of the cost of a new building, or $5 million, whichever is lower. This
resolution implies that plans were already in the works, since it mentions the "Brooks Street site". In
May 1985 associate dean Strang asked permission from campus planning to proceed with a detailed
proposal. Strang would be heavily involved in the project from then on.!

In October 1985 amajor project proposal was produced by the building committee chaired by
William Strang. It called for the construction of an entirely new building to house the school of Busi-
ness to be erected on the west half of the block bounded by University Avenue, North Johnson, North
Park and North Brooks Streets. This proposal points out that the existing facilities for the School of
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Business in the Commerce building had been inadequate for more than ten years. Enrollment in the School
had grown by 85 percent between 1967 and 1977. The School's enrollment in 1985 comprised 27 per cent
ofthe Letters and Science freshman class, and 13 per cent of all Madison undergraduates. Clearly the
School of Business had space deficiencies. Besides the Commerce building the School had spacein
Bascom Hall, the old Infirmary, and storage in other buildings around campus. This dispersal of spaceled to
problems inmaintaining the high standards ofthe School. The proposal would not only unite the School
under one roof, but provide expansion for about 400 more undergraduates. As an alternative toanew
building, the committee had examined the possibility of expanding the commerce building by extending it
down Charter Street and building upwards five stories. This plan would have meant the loss of the Com-
merce building for the 2-3 years of construction time.2

In early 1986 state business leaders encouraged chancellor Shain and the administration to
expedite the new building. It was pointed out that the enrollment of the School had risen 152 per cent
since 1965 when new space (an addition to the commerce building) had first been mentioned. In
October 1986 the regents approved the construction of a new School of Business facility on North
Brooks Street, at a budget of $21.8 million, provided that $8 million in gift funds could be raised for
the project. In March 1987 the state building commission approved the project at a budget of $26.3
million, with a provision that $8 million be raised in private funds, and that state money to proceed
with planning would be released when the fund-raising reached $4 million.3

Reflecting the wide support in the business community for the project, fund-raising went well
from the start. The $4 million halfway point needed to obtain state planning money to hire architects
and consultants was announced to the regents at their July 1988 meeting. The state building Commis-
sion approved the preparation of preliminary plans, with the provision that the plans include parking
for 350 cars. Large donations were received from individuals John Morgridge, Ab Nicholas, Ted
Kellner and corporations American Family Insurance, the Bolz Foundation and the Rennebohm Foun-
dation. In August 1988, the first hint of an anonymous source for a large contribution appeared. "Mr.
X" was interested in some major name recognition in the School of Business. Also in August 1988 the
state released $550,000 for preparation of plans. Architects were chosen in early November 1988.
The choice fell to the Zimmerman Design Group of Milwaukee, who teamed with the Architect's
Collaborative of Cambridge Massachusetts.*

Building committee meetings with the architects began in January 1989. An early complaint
from the designers was the limited amount of space available on the half block site. William Strang
noted that the stillanonymous donor had made as a firm condition ofhis gift that the Walgreens store lotbe
broughtinto the building site. Since the University already owned the old state crime lab building next to
Walgreens, this would give the designers the entire block to work with, except the old bank building which
was deemed unexpendable. The negotiations with Walgreens and their real estate holding company went on
forall of 1989, with widely varying appraisals quoted by both parties. In June 1989 the Board of Visitors
asked thatthe architects use the Walgreens space for design but that they include a phase Il addition that
would eventually use the old bank space as well. The University asked the state to approve the preliminary
plans, and to release money for final plans in November 1989.°

InFebruary 1990 the University prepared to fire its big cannon in the land acquisition war, when the
regents approved the initiation of condemnation proceeding against the owners of the Walgreen property.
Asusual the threat did nothave to be carried out. Within amonth the property was sold to the University of
Wisconsin Foundation, anonprofit corporation that was coordinating the fund-raising program. The sale
price was $1.0 million. This was anun-budgeted expense for the project. The stillunannounced mystery
donor, now widely known to be David Grainger, agreed to pay the million for the land. The regents ac-
cepted the gift of the Walgreens property from the Foundation at their May 1990 meeting. On May 14, the
University of Wisconsin Foundationreleased the news that David W. Grainger and the Grainger Foundation
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had committed $9 million to the construction of the new School of Business Building. Atits May 11,1990
meeting theregents approved naming the building the "Grainger Hall of Business Administration". Grainger
wasa 1950 graduate of the University in engineering, and the chairman of W. W. Grainger of Skokie
Ilinois. One million dollars ofthe gift provided foranew programin business ethics ©

A major change took place in the project during May 1990, the formal combination of two
projects, the School of Business building and a parking ramp earlier intended for the same block. At
the suggestion of the Business school architects, the parking was design to go under the new building,
and the state approved this alteration. This enabled the design of the building to cover more of the
block.”

Ground-breaking for Grainger Hall took place on March 20, 1991. The ceremony was attended
by governor Thompson, chancellor Shalala, the University pep band, and guests David and Juli
Grainger. At the time of the ceremony a contractor had not yet been selected.’

Because of the complexity of the building, contractors had asked for and received an extension
of the time for submitting bids. When the bids did come in early April 1991 they were more than $3
million over the budget. The building committee and the architects and the contractors began to look
for items to remove from the building. In June 1991 the regents approved the addition of $3.4 million
in gift funds to the budget. The state concurred in the increase. The total budget was now $34.4 mil-
lion. The building could now be built but much of the quality had been removed, stone facing and
floors, landscaping and other items that would set the building apart from run-of-the-mill University
buildings. Then in July 1991 David Grainger, faced with the cheapening of a building with his name on
it, agreed to donate another million dollars. The gift was contingent on the replacement of certain
specified items that had been negotiated out of the project, especially colored concrete and much stone
trim and flooring. This was the final piece of the budget.”

Contracts were awarded in May 1991 with the general contract going to J. H. Findorff for
$22.2 million. Total contracted amount was $31.1 million. Construction began with the demolition of
Walgreens on July 10, 1991. The site was so completely covered by the building that normal construc-
tion storage and parking was problematical. Given the size and complexity of the project, construction
was uneventful. A cornerstone and time capsule ceremony was held to mark the halfway point was held on
June 5, 1992. Atthattime the building was on schedule to open in the summer of 1993.1°

The building was finished and began to host classes in August of 1993, but the grand opening
was delayed in order to coincide with homecoming week of October 8-10. Secretary of Health and
Human Services Shalala and guest speaker Jim Leher were honored guests at the grand opening.
David Grainger was the ribbon-cutter. The August opening of Grainger Hall set off a wave of campus
movement not only into Grainger but into the large spaces vacated by the School of Business in Com-
merce, Bascom and the Infirmary.!!

The building is five stories high in its main parts, but the library section on the University
Avenue side is only three and the central atrium has a tower that rises 180 feet. Parking for 415 ve-
hicles is provided below grade. The architecture mirrors (albeit in a very large scale) features from
other older building from the campus. The Brooks Street entrance has the formal 'H' shape of Barnard
and Lathrop Halls across University Avenue. The large curved segments on University and Johnson
Streets reflect the main towers of the red gym. Other elements were borrowed from the design of the
state capitol. The effect of architecture from another more opulent time is heightened by the extensive
use of "quality" materials: there are three kinds of stone and brick on the exterior of the building, most
of the visible roofs are red clay tile. The huge stained glass window in the library (designed by artist
Ed Carpenter of Portland) lends an unexpected touch to the University Avenue facade.

Thebuilding contains the latest in high tech equipment. Many of the casual seating benches have
computer hookups athand. The three plush lecture halls, named for other generous benefactors (the 280
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seat Morgridge auditorium, 125 seat Nicholas hall, and 125 seat Kellner hall) have state of the art sound
and video facilities, "squeakless" chalkboards, computer hookups, and well spaced and comfortable seating.
The 30 classrooms are similarly equipped.

The final budget was $36.8 million, $17.1 million in state funds, $14.32 million in gift funds
and 5.2 million in other University funds. After 30 years of crowding and dispersal the School of
Business is under a single roof, with room for expansion and a home that was designed and built to
last as well as the best older buildings on the University campus.

1) Erdman to Shain, April 29, 1985, UW News release, May 1, 1985, and May 6, 1985, Strang to Van Ess, May 20,
1985, series 4/31/9-3 box 2.
2) School of Business, A Major Project, October 1985, series 4/31/9-3 box 2.
3) Erdman to Van Ess, January 31, 1986, Britt to Van Ess, January 3, 1986, Strang to Van Ess, February 4, 1986,
Memorandum, Hickman to Shain, October 28, 1986, School of Business, A Major Project, May 1986, UW News
Release, March 12, 1987, series 4/31/9-3 box 2; Regent's Minutes, October 1986; Laws of Wisconsin, 1987 Senate
Bill 100 section 13m.
4) Regent's Minutes, July 8, 1988; UW News Release, July 12, 1988, November 3, 1988, Building Commission
Actions August 2, 1988, Memorandum Hickman to Shalala et al. August 22, 1988, series 4/31/9-3 box 2; Wisconsin
Week, July 13, 1988; Wisconsin State Journal, February 8, 1988.
5) Meeting Minutes, UW School of Business, January 20, 1989, Strang to Kennedy, February 17, 1989, Hickman to
Shalala, April 21, 1989, Shalala to Brown, April 28, 1989, Fulop to Wilcox, May 2, 1989, Fulop to Feldt, June 29,
1989, Informational Briefing for Regents may 4, 1989, Fulop to Hendricks, February 9, 1989, Bessey to Feldt, July
18, 1989, Bessey to Gerhard, July 20, 1989, Strang to Kennedy, June 15, 1989, Agency Request for State Building
Commission Action, November 1989, series 4/31/9-3 box 2.
6) Regent's Minutes, February 2, 1990; Ward to Shalala, January 25, 1990, Wilcox to McGown, March 30, 1990,
Memorandum of Agreement, Grainger Foundation and University of Wisconsin Foundation, April 16, 1990, series 4/
31/9-3 box 2; University of Wisconsin Foundation News Release, May 11, 1990, series 4/31/9-3 box 2; Regent's
Minutes, May 11, 1990.
7) Agency Request for State Building Commission Action, May 29, 1990, series 4/31/9-3 box 2.
8) UW News Release, March 13, 1991, Groundbreaking program, March 20, 1991, series 4/31/9-3 box 2.
9) Memorandum Gluesing to Macari, March 19, 1991, Strang to Fluno, May 21, 1991, Strang to Wilcox, April 26,
1991, Strang to Gluesing, July 22, 1991, Hickling, to Eisenberg, May 21, 1991, Gluesing to Hickling, April 30, 1991,
series 4/31/9-3 box 2; Regent's Minutes, June 7, 1991, October 11, 1991, December 11, 1992, December 10, 1993;
Wilcox to Shalala, August 27, 1991, series 4/31/9-3 box 2.
10) Brandherm to Brown, May 21, 1991, State Department of Administration, office of Patricia Hillestadt; UW News
Release, July 10, 1991, UW News Release, May 28, 1992, Grainger Hall cornerstone ceremony program, series 4/31/
9-3 box 2.
11) Wisconsin State Journal, August 29, 1993; A Guide to Grainger Hall, Archives Grainger Hall subject file.
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Fig. 1. C. 1911: Horticulture greenhouses from the northeast, farm buildings and the University
Heights neighborhood in background. The red-roofed building at the right of the picture is the head
house. The little building to the left of the head house is the lab for plant pathology. [Series 9/3,
Greenhouses, jf-14]

The Horticulture greenhouses and head house were built in 1909 to provide addi-
tional space for the expanding horticulture department being crowded out of King
Hall by the soils department. The head house and first green houses were built just
prior to the horticulture building itself. More green houses were added to the site
over the following 60 years. All were removed in 1996 to make way for an addition to
the biochemistry building.

a very fast pace during the first decade of the 20th century under Franklin King. Eventually

soils became so large that horticulture, the other occupant of King Hall was being severely
squeezed. The two departments shared the University's only greenhouses, located behind King Hall.
President Van Hise in his 1908 report to the regents says: " The greenhouses for the horticultural
department are entirely inadequate, and it will be necessary to construct additional greenhouses so
placed that they will join on the new horticulture building which will be required in the near future.
As a first step the regents selected a site for the horticulture building, and approved the construction
of new greenhouses "on the new site for horticulture grounds in the rear of the agricultural engineer-
ing building. Estimated cost about $6000-$8000."2 The plans were drawn by university supervising
architect Arthur Peabody's office and shown to the regents in January 1909, but Peabody was asked
to revise the plans to include laboratory space for plant pathology, without adding more than $2000
to the cost, the new plans were drawn and were approved by the regents in February 1909.3
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The soils department, originally housed in the second (west) half of King Hall, grew at
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Due to the large amount of construction going on during the year of 1909 (especially Lathrop
Hall and the Central Heating Plant), almost no work, except planning, was done on this project during
the summer of 1909. In October of 1909 the regents advertised for bids on the greenhouse plans,
specifying that the project is to be completed by February 1910. At the meeting of the executive
committee on October 11, 1909, the regents open the bids for the project. There are only two bids, a
result of the University's building program absorbing most of Madison's construction industry at that
time. The lowest of the two bids is $16,800, more than double the estimates of the architect's office.
The regents reject the bids and vote that the architect is to build the greenhouses with the University
force. This was almost certainly an idea of Peabody's, who argued that considerable money could be
saved if the University built small projects without a contractor by using the architect's plans and
supervision over the craftsmen and laborers already on the payroll. At that same meeting the commit-
tee approved requisitions for $5750 for Peabody to build the greenhouses.

The architect's monthly reports recount the progress of the project. In November 1909,
"Concrete work has been carried up to three feet above grade level and is practically ready for the
wood and glass of the superstructure ... It is intended to have the greenhouse in shape by the second
semester." December sees the completion of the concrete work, but the weather is so bad that work
ceases, orders for glass and steel are placed. In February of 1910, Peabody reports changes in the
project due to conferences with professor Jones of plant pathology. Work is resumed in March and by
May 1910, the greenhouses are complete except for glass and the excavation for the potting house is
done. The work is slow because the force of the university is busy with several buildings, especially
Lathrop Hall. Progress on the potting house is reported throughout the summer and fall. In Novem-
ber 1910, Peabody reports that the greenhouses are in use, and that the building is ready for plastering
and the roof lacks only the tile for completion. Then on November twenty first, a fire started on the
roof between the potting house and the greenhouses, which damaged both the greenhouses and the
roof of the potting house. Insurance was in place and the damage was not extensive. The fire damage
was repaired by December, and "The use of the greenhouse was but little interrupted by the fire."
December 1910 is the last time Peabody mentions this project in his reports, indicating that it was
finished and occupied by January 1911 nearly a year after the original contract deadline.

As seen in Fig. 1, the first set of five greenhouses was only about a third of what was eventu-
ally built there. As Horticulture, plant pathology, and related fields gained students and researchers,
the greenhouses became more and more crowded. Some greenhouses were added in 1912. In 1924,
the legislature made a $15,000 appropriation for greenhouses for experimental work. In 1925, the
regents planned and built two additional groups of greenhouses, one group to the west of the original
ones, and the second group to the south, with a service road between them.*

The horticulture greenhouses and the red-tile roofed potting shed, were physically connected
to the horticulture building in the 1980s during the construction of the plant science wing, and are still
in heavy use by a number of various departments in the college of agriculture. However they occupy a
substantial piece of prime real estate in what has become, unlikely as it must have seemed to the
planners and regents of 1910, the center of the agriculture campus. Because of their large footprint
and central location, they were demolished in 1996 for another addition to the biochemistry building
which lies just to the east of the greenhouses. The potting shed and greenhouses lasted 85 years, a
testament to a day when even buildings as insignificant as these were planned and constructed to last
a very long time.

1) Report to the regents of the University of Wisconsin, 1906-1908, p. 35.

2) Minutes of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin, December 16, 1908.

3) Minutes of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin, February 17, 1909.

4) Minutes of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin, August 5, 1925.
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" OLD GYMNASIUM

258]

Built in 1870 to provide drill and storage space for the University battalion, and
some recreational space, the old gymnasium burned in 1891.

or several years after the Civil War the military department of the University was forced to
use various parts of University Hall as a drill hall. This was a very undesirable situation
since it disrupted all aspects of the school's operation. On June 22,1870, the board of
regents called Col. W. S. Franklin to explain "the proposed building to be used for drill and
gymnastic exercises."! The colonel must have been persuasive because later in the same meeting
we find the following resolution: "That the Executive Committee be authorized to expend a sum
not exceeding three thousand dollars in the erection of a suitable building for military drill and
gymnastic exercises." By the time of the regents report of September 1870, they could write:
A building for drill and gymnastic exercises has just been completed at a cost of about
$4000. It is a plain substantial structure admirably adapted for the uses for which it was
designed. The main building is 100 feet by 50 feet. To this is attached a wing, 34 feet by
20 feet, containing an armory and office for the Professor of military tactics ... It leaves
at our disposal much room in University Hall before occupied for military purposes ... It
relieves the building of much noise and disturbance incident to military drill. Besides it
affords commodious room not only for drill but for exercise during cold or rainy
weather.?
In meetings in the following year the board gave increasing latitude to the Professor of Military
Science in constructing and furnishing the gym as well as rules for its use. Col. Franklin having
withdrawn by 1871, this professor was W. J. L. Nicodemus, who was also Professor of Civil
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Engineering.

The location (300 feet northwest of University Hall and 500 feet east of the Observatory
Office) as shown on campus maps is approximately where the carillon tower now stands. The
uses to which this cheap wood-framed structure was put nearly guaranteed a short and troubled
life, and the gym did not disappoint. By 1884 the regents were asking for a new one: "If we are
to receive the full benefit from our campus we need a new gymnasium in connection with it."3
Then in a shriller tone in 1886: "Our gymnasium is altogether superannuated and meets its pur-
pose in a very clumsy and inadequate way."* This is near the beginning of the discussion that
culminated in the building of the Red Gym and Armory on Langdon St., and the language in-
creasingly reflects, in retrospect, this new goal. Also as the student enrollment grew the gym was
no longer so commodious. "The increasing size of the battalion made it necessary to abandon the
gymnasium and to conduct the drill in inclement weather in Library Hall. This was not done without
some protest ... The need for a suitable drill hall is pressing.">

No clear photographs of the old gym are known to exist, but the two drawings (from opposite
ends of the reliability spectrum) above, Fig. 1 (a student drawing from the 1891 Badger year book),
and Fig. 2 (a detail from a commissioned etching of the University), make it clear that the gym was
essentially a farm building.

On the night of June 12, 1891, the old gym was destroyed by a fire of unknown origin. An
eyewitness report in a student diary says: "I was just going to bed when I saw the sky all lighted up.
We ran down and it [the gym] was all ablaze. An alarm was sounded after a while and the fire depart-
ment turned out, but it was a half an hour ... before water was put on the building and then it was too
late to do anything but save the sidewalk ... The building was not worth much but it is bad for the
reputation of the University to have it go in this way."®

The Wisconsin State Journal reported that "President Chamberlin is of the opinion that the
building was fired by some representatives of a low class who have been hanging around the place for
the past two weeks."’

This fire caused so little stir that neither the Daily Cardinal nor the next regents report even
mentioned it. The Aegis (a student publication) printed a memoriam for the building on Sept. 11,
1891 (p. 7). They reported that "dutiful Patrick [Pat Walsh the longtime University janitor] who had
guarded the Gym for years stood by and joyfully watched the angry flames as he thought of the
mighty burden that was lifted from his shoulders."8 At the subsequent meeting the regents vote that
"the $3000 insurance on Gymnasium when received be covered into the general fund was by vote
concurred."? Thus passed and was quickly forgotten the fifth building on the UW campus.

1) Minutes of the board of regents of the University of Wisconsin June 22,1870, Vol. C p. 134

2) Report of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin 1870 p. 30-31

3) Report of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin 1884 p. 36

4) Report of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin 1886 p. 36

5) Report of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin 1888 p. 45

6) Sidney Dean Townley, Diary of a Student, 1886-1892 p. 105, Archives series 20/0/3

7) Wisconsin State Journal, June 13 1892 p. 3 The Journal also says that the city fire department could not use the
U.W. hydrants, a lesson that had apparently not been learned in the Science Hall fire of 1884.

8) Aegis Sept. 11, 1891 p. 7

9) Minutes of the regents June 16, 1891, Vol. D p. 100
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HARVEY STREET APART-

Fig. 1. Harvey Street Apartments 1993.
The picture shows the Harvey Street
face of the quadrangle; there are seven
buildings holding forty eight apartments.
[Author Photo, AP-35]

students with families. Among these temporary facilities were Truax Field, The Monroe

Trailer Park, Badger Village, and the University Cabin Courts.

The University Cabin Courts (originally Sullivan's Cabins) was a kind of early motel, which
opened in the 2900 block of University Avenue about 1939. The court had sixteen small cabins. In
1946 a University law student suggested to president E. B. Fred that the facility be purchased by the
University. In September 1946, the Wisconsin University Building Corporation (WUBC) paid
$40,000 for the Cabin Court. Permanent heat and electrical connections were made to the sixteen
cabins, and the open area laid out for four private quonset huts and 25 private trailers. These facilities
were occupied by married students and faculty. The residents paid $8-$28 per month plus an electri-
cal charge, and governed themselves through an elected board. On June 16, 1955 the regents voted to
use the site to build 48 apartments for married students. The court was closed on September 1, 1955.
Financing for this project, amounting to $380,000, was to come from the anonymous and Kemper
Knapp funds.!

Based on proposals received during September of 1955, the regents awarded contracts for
construction of seven buildings containing 48 apartments, to the Grant Kittle Builders of Madison for
$297,500. This was the first time that the University had built without an architect; Kittle, the builder,
designed the buildings. Construction was begun in November of 1955, and by August of 1956 all of
the buildings were completed and occupied. Total cost was $380,000. The seven buildings form a
quadrangle on the north side of Harvey Street. They are frame construction, 25 by 51 feet with
hipped roofs, faced with brick, each building with a mixture of one and two bedroom apartments.
Their design heavily influenced the layout and design of the Eagle Heights apartments begun a year
later.2 In 1996 as the result of changing demands, the Harvey Street apartments were converted to
single graduate student housing.

The closing of the temporary wartime housing facilities weighed especially heavily on married

1) Summary of University Cabin Court, Lee Burns, March 8, 1947, series 24/1/1 box 213; Madison city directories,
Regent's Minutes, June 16, 1955, September 14, 1946, October 1, 1955, November 12, 1955, March 9, 1957.
2) Plans in the possession of the department of Housing.
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UNIVERSITY HEALTH SER-
VICE

Fig. 1. University
Health Services,
1994. The one-
story front section
could be enlarged
to four, and the
four story back
section to seven if
 desired. [Author
Photo, AP-31]

Built in 1952 as the home of the state psychiatric hospital, this building became the
property of the University in 1970. By that time it was already in informal use as part
of the medical school. It now houses the student health center.

ith the rise of the study of psychology after WW II came the desire to delve into the
origins of mental disease. The state legislatures of 1945 and 1949 appropriated a total of

$1.2 million for the establishment of a state diagnostic center. This center would provide
temporary residence and diagnosis of state persons committed to institutions under the State depart-
ment of Public Welfare. The center was to be staffed by the faculty of the University medical school,
appointed by medical Dean Middleton, and administered by the public welfare department. Principal
among the founding of the diagnostic center were Dr. Leslie Osborn (director of the Wisconsin
Psychiatric Institute of the UW medical school), governor Kohler, and Mr. John Tramburg (director
of the State Department of Public Welfare).

As passed by the legislature, the diagnostic center was to be constructed "near the Wisconsin
general hospital". The area set aside by the University for the medical school was nearing saturation,
and where the new facility was to be built was not obvious. Beginning in May 1951, Tramburg,
President E. B. Fred, and governor Kohler began to work on this problem. The earliest idea, was to
locate the center in the general hospital itself by adding two extra floors. This idea was rejected
because the available space was less than that desired by the state. The second idea was to build a
separate building on land owned by the state on north Orchard Street across from the University
heating station, the building to be connected to the hospital by tunnel under University Avenue. The
Orchard Street solution was rejected by governor Kohler for unstated reasons. Other suggestions
were rejected by both parties. Finally in July of 1951, the regents voted that the state build the diag-
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nostic center on the triangle of land bounded by University Avenue (on the south), the railroad tracks
(on the north), and the naval ROTC building (on the west). The regents agreed to exchange this piece
of property for the state owned one on Orchard Street. To this arrangement the state agreed. The
following week the regents exercised an option on a lot in the triangle from John and Francis Meyer
for $15,000, thereby completing the land they had offered the state. Dr. Osborn gave approval, but
asked that part of the triangle site be reserved for a Child Center program at a later date.!

Once the site was decided, the project moved ahead at a deliberate pace. The architects
selected by the state were Eschweiler and Eschweiler of Milwaukee. By December 1951 they had
delivered rough drawings. 1952 was taken up with finalizing plans for the building, and resolving
disagreements about utility service. The University's heating plant was nearing its capacity, and the
enormous new Memorial Library was about to come on line. The University in the person of Albert
Gallistel, director of buildings and grounds was loath to add the state building to University steam
lines. Likewise governor Kohler would not approve of a separate heating system for the building. To
resolve this disagreement, the University hooked up the building by running a new steam line from
Babcock Drive, and the state installed a temporary boiler in the Diagnostic Center in case of insuffi-
cient heat from the University. Work on the building was begun by general contractor J. P. Cullen in
September 1952. Construction took almost two years. The diagnostic center received its first patients
on August 9, 19542

The building was 63 by 178 feet of steel and reinforced concrete, four stories high except for
the front (south) half, which was one story. The building was sheathed in brick, the first floor brick
being dark like the older buildings on the agricultural campus, and the upper, more visible stories in
buff brick to match the nearby Enzyme Institute. The one story front section was designed to be
extendable at a later time to four stories, and the four story north section was extendable to seven
stories. Neither of these additions have taken place.

There were beds for 76 short term psychiatric patients. The entire second floor was devoted
to children. The first floor held professional offices, classrooms, and therapy rooms. The fourth floor
was reserved for men. In the basement were laboratories, occupational therapy rooms, and a kitchen.

The number of psychiatric patients in state institutions began to decline shortly after the
diagnostic center was opened, and its use as a mental health facility was never heavy. According to
the State Blue Book, the maximum number of patients at the center was 37 in 1960 and thereafter
was zero. After 1960 the medical faculty increasingly, though informally, began to use the building as
part of the medical school. In 1967 they petitioned the state to assign the building to the University
Student Heath Center, Pediatric outpatient service, and University child health service. These pro-
grams had been forced to rent space around the University for several years. These programs were
allowed to use the building.?

In 1970, the secretary of the regents reported for the record, that the state had discontinued
the use of the Diagnostic Center, that the University had been using the facility on an informal basis
for several years, and that the state had now quit claimed the property to the University, including
land and building. Thus as surely anticipated by both president Fred, and the state, the diagnostic
center became a part of the University physical plant.*

1) Minutes of the Executive Committee, July 6, 1951; Laws of Wisconsin 1955, chapter 244; Clarke to Tramburg, July
9, 1951, series 24/9/2 box 3.

2) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, June 1954, p. 16, October 1951 p. 12.

3) Wisconsin Blue Books, 1970 p. 762, 1954 pp. 388-389, 1956 pp. 450-451; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, June 1954,
p. 16; Regent's Minutes, January 11, 1952;

4) Regent's Minutes, December 18, 1970. A quit claim is a legal document that relinquishes all claims to ownership of
property. The state gave the building to the University.
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2 | CHARTER STREET HEATING

Fig. 1. The Charter St. Heating plant
looking east c. 1985. The emission
control "bag house" is under construc-
tion on the east side of the plant.
Dayton Street is at the left of the
picture. The single smokestack was
built in 1963 to replace the original
three shorter stacks, which were too
low to prevent soot in the neighbor-
hood. [series 9/5, Charter Street Plant,
jt=74]

Purchased second hand from a Michigan firm, the Charter Street heating plant came
on-line in September 1959. It has been expanded many times since its erection.

sioned an engineering study of the University heating system. The engineers, Sargent and Lundy,
eported in October 1951 that "the present heating plant has reached its capacity."!

In 1955 aplanning committee was appointed to plan a new heating plant. The committee,
which had Sargent and Lundy update their study concluded that the campus could no longer afford to
grow in the east west direction, and would have to expand into the area south of University Avenue.
The committee selected a site that would be approximately central to the heating plant's load, the
block bounded by Mills, Charter, Dayton and Spring Streets. The state allocated $200,000 for studies
and plans for the project.

The next year was taken up by investigating various technologies for the new plant. The old
plant was coal fired, but coal was expensive dirty, and clumsy to store. The committee looked at
natural gas, but found that the gas company had no delivery line nearly large enough to supply the
plant. They had also considered, in 1954 the construction of a nuclear power plant. The idea of
replacing 40,000 tons of coal with 40 pounds of uranium had obvious appeal. The committee asked
the chairman of the chemistry department, Farrington Daniels to act as technical consultant. The
federal AEC and many other technical experts were consulted. Daniels finally recommended against
the idea in April 1954. He pointed out difficulties: the production of 40 pounds of fission products

I:l 1951, faced with unprecedented growth of the University physical plant, the regents commis-
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Fig 2. The erection of
the American Motors
heating plant, summer
1958. [series 7/4 folder
#2,j£-99].

per year was "an imposing problem". "I am still worried about the hazards. If we took a-one-to a
thousand chance and the reactor did blow up ... we'd be less popular than skunks and I suppose there
could be terrific damage suits." The nuclear option was dropped on March 7, 1956. After more
investigation it was concluded that coal was still the best alternative.?

Although the Charter Street site was the best location, it was not owned by the University and
this meant that the appropriation for the heating plant had to be used to buy land. This limited the
money that could be spent on the plant itself. The committee struggled with this difficulty through
most of 1956 and early 1957. Several plans were rejected because of their inefficiency and stopgap
nature. President Fred continued to lobby the legislature for additional funds.

Into this difficult situation, in October 1957, came a letter to the state engineer, from the
Michigan firm of W. Hawley and Company, an industrial salvage firm. The letter offered for sale a
large and nearly new steam generating plant, built for the recently abandoned American Motors plant
in Detroit. The cost was $2.5 million. The offer included the erection of a suitable building to house
the plant at the site selected by the University and an array of modern equipment to boost the effi-
ciency of the plant. Hawley's offer would give the University a better and larger power plant than they
had been contemplating, and at a cost saving of approximately $1 million. University representatives
travelled Michigan to examine the plant, and discuss plans for the building and were impressed.
Business manager Peterson inquired, with good results, into the reputation of the Hawley company. It
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seemed like a miracle.*

The only hurdles to be cleared were land purchases and state approval for funding. Hawley's
offer was presented to the state building Commission on November 8, 1957. The state agreed to fund
the purchase if the University would agree to defer the expenditure of $1.8 million on new construc-
tion and maintenance. At their November 1957 meeting, the regents agreed to this arrangement. In
December 1957 Hawley was notified that their offer had been accepted. The funding issue was
resolved. Land purchases began immediately. Total property cost was about $340,000. On April 29,
1958 the daily Cardinal reported the groundbreaking for the new heating plant by president Fred and
governor Vernon Thompson. Projected completion date of the project was set at September 1959. In
March 1959 the construction contract for the steam tunnels which would connect the new plant with
the network of steam lines to the campus was awarded to J. P. Cullen and Son for $156,000.°

In September of 1959, the new plant was successfully test fired. It was in full operation by
October 15. The plant took over full heating load for the University in time for the winter of 1959.
The plant was design to be expanded. It was originally a 63 by 260 foot structure faced with brick
and having three boiler of 100,000 pounds of steam capacity each.

The first addition came in 1965 when a 98 by 80 foot section was added to the north side of
the plant. The design was by state architect Werner Guenther. The addition was faced with brick. Into
this addition went boilers 4 and 5. In 1966, a chilled water facility to provide air conditioning for the
University. This facility was 54 by 76 feet and built onto the south side of the original plant. The
chilled water facility was expanded in 1973 with another south addition of 70 by 70 feet, The plant is
now more than twice as large as when it opened in 1959. It also contains a 3000 kilowatt-hour
electrical generator connected to the MG & E power grid. The later construction of the Walnut
Street heating and chilling plant has reduced the total load on the Charter Street plant, and any further
expansion needed will probably occur at Walnut Street. But the second hand "Rambler heating plant”
still carries the bulk of the load for heating the campus.©

1) Archives series, 24/9/2 box §;

2) Heating Plant Building Committee minutes, March 7, 1956, January 16, 1956, series 24/9/2/ box 8. Regent's
Minutes, November 1955.

3) Daniels to Gallistel, November 16, 1955, series 24/9/2 box 8. Peterson to Morrow, August 6, 1954, series 24/9/2
box 7.

4) Executive Committee Minutes, October 23, 1957; Regent's Minutes, November 12, 1955, October 5, 1957, Novem-
ber 16, 1957, May 3, 1958.

5) Daily Cardinal, October 31, 1957, November 9, 1957, April 29, 1958, May 1, 1958, September 22, 1959, ; Wiscon-
sin Alumni Magazine, January 1960 p. 13.

6) Daily Cardinal, February 8, 1964; Badger Herald, February 6, 1970; Regent's Minutes, July 12, 1963. Plans in the
plans room of the physical department.
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HELEN C. WHITE HALL

Fig.1.HelenC.
White Hall from
the air, 1979. This
view is of the lake
side of the build-
ing. Other visible
buildings are
Radio Hall, Sci-
ence Hall, the Union
theatre wing, and
thehydraulic
laboratory. [Series
8/2,ns-351]

-
El

Helen C. White Hall, named for a long time and much loved English professor, was
built in 1969 to house the undergraduate library and the departments of English,
philosophy, the library school, and other associated programs.

because the site was selected before an occupant. There were several candidates (communica-

tions, undergraduate library, and education) for the space at 600 North Park Street in the early
1960s. The space's occupants, the old chemical engineering building and the journalism building, were
on their last legs. Both were built in 1888, poorly maintained and regarded as fire hazards, and in fact
a serious fire in 1965 gutted parts of journalism. The regents discussed the 600 North Park project at
their April 1964 meeting, with president Harrington referring to the needs of the communication
departments in stating that a substantial building with considerable classroom and office space should
be provided there.!

A June 1965 study refers to investigations into siting the library school, the undergraduate
library, the education department and the communication departments. It concludes that because of'its
proximity to Memorial Library, and the central campus, the North Park Street site should be used for
the undergraduate library and the library School. It also recommends that some other departments
might be included in the new building. By October these questions were resolved when the regents
approved the 600 North Park Street as the site for the undergraduate library building, to include the library

The building of Helen C. White is unusual in the history of the University building program,
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Fig.2. Theundergraduate
library buildingunder
construction 1970. This view
istoward the plaza, the
officewingisattheleft.
[Series9/1, White Hall,
x25-2834]

g Y

school, aparking facility, and ahigh rise tower, including a faculty club. Since several building needs were
being combined, the total available money was considerable.>

In November 1965 building committees for the several departments were appointed by chan-
cellor Fleming. In December 1965 a building program was completed by the department of planning
and construction. This initial plan called for a ten story tower section, large plazas on both the north and
south sides, and an elaborate system of pedestrian overpasses from Bascom Hill and Park Street. The
overpass would require the demolition ofthe old heating station (now Radio Hall). In December the state
building commission approved a major academic facility at 600 North Park atan estimated cost of $7.56
million. Attheir December 1965 meeting the regents authorized the preparation of plans for the undergradu-
atelibrary building, to include theundergraduate library, library science, a parking facility, an office tower,
and apedestrian overpass. A faculty dining club was added to the plan, to be revisited later.

InMarch 1966 the architect Fitzhugh Scott of Milwaukee was appointed to the project. Late in
March the first building conference with the architects and campus representatives (usually Louis
Kaplan, Aaron Thde, Arno Lenz, and Gordon Orr) was held. These meetings were held roughly twice
a month through 1966. At this time it was still considered likely that a 2 level faculty club to replace
the old and undersized University club would be added to the top of the tower section, although the
architect expressed reservation about its advisability. In December the faculty club idea was finally
dropped, a victim of ambivalence ofthe University about serving liquor on campus. Atthe end of 1966 the
project was in good shape, and the schedule had slipped only three months.*

Then atthe February 6, 1967 meeting, the architect presents the first cost estimates. They were
more than $700,000 over the budget. The committee insists that this estimate mustbe in error. Architect
Scottinsists thatthe budget is insufficient. Atthe next meeting Scott comes armed with the estimate ofa
professional estimator whose numbers support his own. The University representatives ask for another
meeting at which their own experts. That meeting, on March 2, 1967, has more horrors in store for the
committee. Notonly was Scott's estimate accurate, but to meet budget the plan will have to be gutted of
nearly every feature (the lake plaza, stone work, halfthe parking) that made the design attractive.>

The committee at the last March 1967 meeting concluded that "the present plan is unsatisfactory
bothincostand quality. The presentarchitect has state thathe cannot modifythis building to remain within
available funds and provide required space." Attheir April meeting the committee discarded the work of the
previous year and started over. They held seven meetings that spring and in June 1967 the architects
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presented anew plan that "comes closer to meeting our needs than any other proposal." This new prelimi-
nary plan was approved by the regents in September, 1967, with the condition that the state increase their
share by $854,674. The final plans were approved by the regents in June 1968. Total estimated cost was
$8.34 million. The pedestrian overpass idea had been eliminated, and the schedule called for completion in
August 1970. A proposed tunnel from the new building to the Union theatre was funded, then later
dropped.®

Construction contracts were awarded by the regents on December 6, 1968. The general con-
tract went to Orville. E. Madsen and Sons of Minneapolis, for $4.1 million. Because funding was still
uncertain the schedule of costs was not approved until February 1969. The state paid $6 million,
federal HEW programs $1.1 million, and a self-amortizing parking loan $600,000. After fairly stan-
dard construction delays, including strikes, shortages, and campus upheaval, the building was opened
in the summer of 1971.7

The building is a 300 by 200 foot structure of reinforced concrete. It's basic 'U' shape, open
toward the south, is four stories high, with two levels of parking below the east end, and three extra
stories above the west end. The exterior walls are faced with precast concrete panels and face brick.
The appearance of the building, in and out, is consistent with the standard set by the humanities building for
plainness and lack of ornamentation. In June 1970 the regents named the building for Helen Constance
White, who had died in June 1967. White was one of the most honored, renowned and best loved faculty
members in the history of the University. She was on the English faculty, from 1936 to 1965 and chairman
of English 1955-58,and 1961-65.8

The occupants of the building are the undergraduate library, the library school, the departments of
English, history of science and philosophy, and the cooperative children's book center. The main functionis
avery large and convenient study space, which is diffused through the lower three floors of the building. The
parking below the building serves the Memorial Union for evening events.

1) Regent's Minutes, April 10, 1964.

2) Rough Draft of Statement, June 15, 1965, series 24/9/3 box 6; Regent's Minutes, October 24, 1965.

3) Fleming to Thde, November 2, 1965, Ihde to Fleming, November 9, 1965, Building Program, December 1965,
Agency Request for State Building Commission Action, December 14, 1965, series 24/9/3 box 6; Regent's Minutes,
December 10, 1965.

4) Postweiler to Lorenz, March 8, 1966, Building Committee Conferences #1-20, March 24, 1966-December 16,
1966, series 24/9/3 box 6; Proposed Building Schedule, November 10, 1966, Fleming to Edsall, December 29, 1966,
Ihde to Fleming, December 21, 1966, Early to Fleming and Harrington, December 5, 1966, series 24/9/3 box 9;
Regent's Minutes, December 9, 1966, including exhibit H.

5) Building Committee Conferences #21-#35, January 18, 1967-June 29, 1967, series 24/9/3 box 9.

6) Building Committee Conferences #26-#30, March 2, 1967-April 6, 1967, series 24/9/3 box 9; Motion March 17,
1967, Sites to Yamamoto, April 10, 1967, series 24/9/3 box 9; Regent's Minutes, September 15, 1967, June 14,
1968, September 6, 1968. Lorenz to Building Commission, June 27, 1968, series 24/9/2-1 box 8.

7) Regent's Minutes, April 19, 1968, December 6, 1968 exhibit F, February 14, 1969.

8) Plans in plans room of physical plant; Archives biographical file, "Helen C. White"; Regent's Minutes, June 12,
1970; Daily Cardinal, June 25, 1971; Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, October 1971 p. 21. Wisconsin State Journal,
November 14, 1971.
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HIGH ENERGY PHYSICS

/— Fig. 1. The High Energy Physicslabin 1994. The
building is 'L' shaped, with a 44 by 104 foot shop

wing, and a 45 foot one story office wing on the

eastside. The shop section has a steel frame, while

the rest ofthe building is of concrete block. [ Author
Photo, AP-39]

Midwestern University's Research Association(MURA). MURA was intended to combine re-

sources and personnel to provide a nuclear physics study center in the Midwest. An early accom-
plishment of MURA was the securing of a contract with the Argonne National Laboratory in Illinois
for a bubble chamber of a new design. This bubble chamber was a very large magnet with a liquid
hydrogen chamber in the gap of the magnet. The size of the device, a ten foot cube weighing 180 tons,
meant that it required a separate building for its assembly.!

In December 1960, the University's department of planning and construction produced a
specification for a "temporary building to adequately permit the assembly of a Hydrogen Bubble
Chamber." The size of the bubble chamber to be assembled defined the design of the building. It was
to have a shop wing of 50 by 80 feet, with twenty feet of head room, a floor capable of 10,000 pounds
per square foot, and explosion proof electrical systems (because of the use of liquid hydrogen), and an
office wing. Preliminary and final plans were combined into one presentation, which the regents
approved on March 3, 1961.2 Construction contracts were let by the regents on April 7, 1961, with the
general contract going to Crissinger Construction of Madison for $65,185. The total cost of the build-
ing was $145,000 including a $22,000 crane. The $145,000 cost was evenly split between an NSF
grant and a WARF award. Construction began immediately, and on November 20, 1961, the University
accepted the building as "substantially complete".3

The bubble chamber went to Argonne Labs in 1963, and later to Fermi Labs, where it is still
used. The high energy physics department used the building until the renovation of the center section of
Chamberlin Hall, which was taken over by physics in 1973. In 1974 through 1988 the building became
the home of various programs in the Environmental Studies department. In 1989 the building became
the home of the department of grounds.*

1) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, June 1961, p. 14; Bill Winter of MURA, and Bob March of physics, interviews fall
1994; MURA consisted of Wisconsin, Northwestern, Illinois, Michigan, Indiana, Notre Dame and Purdue.

2) Proposed High Energy Physics Laboratory, series 24/9/2 box 12; Regent's Minutes, November 4-5 1960, March
10, 1961.

3) Regent's Minutes, April 7, 1961; Small to Ahern, November 20, 1961 series 24/9/2/ box 13. Plans at the physical

plant plans room.
4) Daily Cardinal, December 5, 1963, October 6, 1966; Records of the office of Space Management.
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HI RAY HALL

Fig. 1. Hi-Ray Hall from the
corner of Orchard and Dayton
Streets, 1994. The building is a
. basement and three stories, 90

¥ by 24 feet. Construction is of

- concrete block faced with
brick, cast concrete and ce-
ramic tiles. [Author Photo, AP-
41]

March 1962 by regent Maurice B. Pasch. It was touted by the company as luxury accommo-
dations (carpet, air-conditioning, and an intercom), at budget prices ($865 per year). Unfor-
tunately for the company it opened during an enormous expansion of University housing. Although it
was used as a dormitory for a year or two, by 1965 its owners offered to lease the building to the
University as office space. This was a welcome offer to the University since they had decided to raze
the old wood frame houses on Linden Drive to make way for the new medical library (Middleton
medical library). These houses were home to the departments of occupational therapy (O.T.) and
physical therapy (P. T.), which could be conveniently moved to the Dayton Street location. The
regents agreed to pay the Hi Ray corporation $1900 per month in rent for the building.!
The O.T. and P. T. departments stayed in the old dormitory through the 1960s as renters.
Then in June of 1972 the regents agreed to buy the building from Hi Ray for a total of $169,050. This
price included the building and the 7,640 square feet of land including the abutting parking area.
After the purchase the building remained the home of O.T. and P.T. until 1980 when the bulk
of those departments moved to quarters in the medical science complex on University Avenue (the
old hospital). At that time the old Hi Ray building became a kind of catchall for overflow offices. It
housed at various times Computer Science, grad student offices in languages, and storage space. In
1992 it became the home of the Center for Mathematical Sciences (the new name for the old Army
Math Research Center) which remains there until this day (1994). Hi Ray Hall is expendable enough
that when and if the proposed second phase of the Wendt Library is built, Hi Ray will be demolished.?

l l 1 Ray Hall was built as a low cost dormitory in 1962 by the Hi Ray corporation, organized in

1) Daily Cardinal, April 14, 1962; Regent's Minutes, January 8, 1965; Dane County Register of Deeds, articles of

incorporation, March 28, 1962, volume 374 of miscellaneous, p. 33.

2) Regent's Minutes, June 9, 1972 exhibit A; University directories. Records of the department of space management.
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HISTORICAL SOCIETY

Fig. 1. The State Histori-
cal Society Building in
1900. Four stories of
steel and Bedford lime-
stone, the windowless
fourth floor is hidden by
the entablature. [9/2
Historical Society folder
j£-24]
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This building was constructed for use by both the University Library and the State
Historical Library, and opened in 1900. The north stack wing was added in 1914. The
University left the building in 1950 for Memorial Library. The last large modification
was the west addition in 1965.

Historical Society had gone from pillar to post for years. The University library had variously

occupied parts of North Hall, South Hall, Bascom Hall, and finally together with basements
all over campus the 1878 Library Hall. The Historical Society collection's course was even more
tortuous. Starting with a single bookcase in 1849 in the state capitol!, it moved successively to the
basement of the home of society chairman Lyman Draper, the basement of a local church, back to
enlarged rooms in the capitol, and back to the church. The legislature from time to time considered
the matter of funding a separate building for the collections, but there were always delays, objections,
and failure.2

The state of the University library in Library Hall was very bad. The reading room was so
crowded that some students were forced to stand while studying. They were sharing the building with
the military drill classes. Book purchases were well below the levels of all other schools of its class.

While the contents of the historical society collection was already notable and a pride to the
state (especially to the university students who had access to it in the capitol) it was in large part
inaccessible due to inadequate space. It was also hideously vulnerable to fire, to which the capitol
building was demonstrably not immune. A much larger and fireproof building was needed. Society
director Lyman Draper began a "vigorous campaign" for a new building.

In late 1891 university president T. C. Chamberlin as a member of the Historical Society

executive committee suggested that the committee ask the legislature for a building near the univer-
77

B y the middle 1890s both the library of the university and the collections of the Wisconsin State



Fig. 2. March

1897, the His-

torical Society

Library under

construction. At

the completion

§| point of the first

} contract, the first

floor is nearly

done. This photo

was probably

taken from the

i roof of the Red

& Gym. [SHSW

S WHi(x3) 35007
W lot 136]

sity campus which would house both the university library and the Historical Society collections and
library. Then in 1895 a measure was passed granting $180,000 for the project and specifying that the
university deed to the state eight lots of land on the lower campus to provide a site for the building.
Subsequent legislatures added to the appropriation (1897-$240,000; 1899-$200,000) leading to a
total of about $580,000 usable construction funds.>

The commission to oversee the erection of the building organized an architectural competition
which included most regionally and a few nationally significant firms.# In November of 1895, the
submitted plans were examined and critiqued by the commission. They asked two of the architectural
firms, Ferry and Clas, and Van Brunt & Howe to redesign and resubmit plans. Most of the criticisms
involved the amount of light in the stacks and reading rooms, though Ferry and Clas's original domed
design is referred to as having "exceptionally massive features of doubtful value." Van Brunt &
Howe's design gets similar remarks: "It is a matter of regret that a plan ... should exhibit ... so little
judgement and good taste." In December 1895 the commission settled on the design of Ferry and
Clas, who had removed the dome, added skylights and reproportioned the reading room.

Construction began early in 1896. What with the vagaries of state funding, the difficulties in
procuring materials and the normal ups and downs of contractor operations it was not finished until
1900. The building was opened with an elaborate ceremony on October 19, 1900.> The money
available to the commission did not cover the northwest stack wing, so only the stack on the south
end was built initially. As built with the single stack wing, the capacity of the new library was esti-
mated at 415,000 volumes. The two libraries agreed to share the stack space until the other stack
could be added.

In keeping with the intent to house two distinct libraries, separate except for reading rooms
and book handling facilities, the building was U-shaped in design with the bottom of the 'U' facing
east toward the lower campus and the city. The University library was in the north end, and the state
collection in the south end. The arms of the 'U' were the stack wings, only the southern of which was
built originally. The stacks are six (shorter) stories high. The main entrance is on the east side but
smaller entrances admit from State and Langdon Streets. Originally a fourth entrance existed on the
Park Street side for the convenience of users from "the hill". A beautiful two-story reading room on
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the second floor has enormous windows out onto the east facade. The level of trim and appointments
in the building are a constant reminder that the state did not pinch pennies on its monument.

The remarkable circumstance of two distinct state entities cooperating to the degree that they
could build and share this magnificent structure will be appreciated by anyone who works in the
highly competitive atmospheres of the state government, the university or large business. The people
most responsible for this amazing feat seem to be university president Charles K. Adams, historical
society director Reuben Gold Thwaites, and a succession of visionary governors and legislators.

The joint libraries began to have space problems very early, the second stack wing being
required in 1914 when the building was less than two decades old. This raised the theoretical capacity
of the library to 675,000 volumes and it proved adequate until the 1940s, when the situation became
critical. At that time during the post WW II student boom books and newspapers were stacked on
window sills and piled on the floor. Storage was so tight that thousands of items were labelled inac-
cessible in the card catalog. The ventilation system had not worked for years because of the books
piled in the ventilation stacks! ® Quonset huts were set up on the library mall after the WW II, for
study space and storage.

Then in 1949 at the height of the space crunch the state legislature approved funding for a
new university library, and three years later the university moved out of the Historical library building.
The historic society breathed a huge sigh of relief and began to repair the damage done by a half
century of heavy dual use. This first major renovation cost $471,739 (nearly as much as the original
construction). Some floors were divided into two levels, large spaces were subdivided for more office
space. Worn stonework and trim were replaced, using casts from the original parts. The second floor
reading room was reconditioned, including the installation of fluorescent lighting and covering of the
skylights. It was at this time that the original windows on the first floor were filled in. At this time the
legend "State Historical Society" was engraved in stone over the East facade, removing all doubt
about whether it was the university library or not.” All this work took about a year and a half, during
which time the building remained open.®

It is a measure of how crowded the building must have been in the 1940s, that even with the
university library gone, the building was cramped for space. The Historical Society is a collection and
collections grow. The museum on the fourth floor was a particular problem. Its removal to a separate
building on the square at Carroll and State Streets, solved the problem. In 1965 a large T-shaped
addition was built which filled in the space between the stack wings and extended the west side
toward Park Street. This addition used limestone from the same Bedford Indiana quarry as the origi-
nal structure and added 103,000 square feet of space, and produced the current configuration of the
building. A second major interior renovation took place at this time also.

1) This bookcase still stands in the second floor hall of the library building.

2) These began as early as 1882, when a bill proposing a $100,000 building on the capitol square was introduced by
Assemblyman Ostrander.

3) Wisconsin State Historical Library Building Memorial Volume 1901 p. 103.

4) These included Ferry and Clas (Milwaukee), Van Brunt & Howe (Kansas City), Charles Frost (Chicago), Peabody
and Stearns (Boston), H. C. Koch (Milwaukee) and others.

5) Lord, Clifford, Clio'’s Servant, p. 124-125.

6) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, December 1957, p. 18

7) Many students called it the university library, leading to a fable that the building had accidently been built back-
wards, with its back to the university. See Daily Cardinal December 7, 1951.

8) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, December 1957, p. 18-20.
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HOLT DORMITORIES

Fig. 1. Cole Hall on
left, Sullivan Hall
center, Holt commons
at right, 1997. In the
background are some
of the Kronshage
dorms. [Del Brown
photo, AP-78]

The first of the post WW II dormitory construction binge, the Holt dorms were built in
1958 with federal funding guarantees. They are named after three faculty members
(Sullivan, Holt and Cole) who had recently died when the dorms were planned.

in 1946 had the University erected men's dorms on campus. Since enrollment had risen drastically
(roughly from 7500 to 10,000) in the postwar era, new housing became a high priority.
In 1956-57, the University's developed an overall plan to build housing for 1300 men and
1200 women by 1959. The first project in this plan was housing for 500 men to be built south of
Kronshage. This site was then occupied by intramural playing fields for the Kronshage dorms. Plan-
ning began in the spring of 1956. In January 1957 the regents applied to the federal HHFA for loan
assistance to build the dorms. The HHFA granted approval in December 1956. Projected cost was $2
million. As with almost all University dorm projects the cost was to be amortized by student rentals.
Final plans were approved by the regents in March 1957. The plans called for two dormitory units
each to house 250 men students in double rooms, and a two story dining hall to be attached to the
Kronshage kitchen unit. No parking lots were planned in the belief that the lots for the Kronshage and
short course dorms would provide enough parking.!
In June 1957 the general construction contract was awarded to the J. L. Simmons Company in

In the early 1950s undergraduate men's housing was becoming very scarce. Not since Slichter Hall
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the amount of $1.06 million. Construction began late in June 1957 with completion scheduled for fall
1958. The regents decided to name the buildings after three recently deceased faculty members;
Frank O. Holt, University director of public relations, Llewellen Cole, coordinator of graduate medi-
cal education, and Richard E. Sullivan, chairman of the extension division commerce department.
Houses in the dorms were named for former faculty members: George Bryant, Aldo Leopold, Julius
Olson, Philo Buck, William Kiekhoffer, Edward Ross, and Benjamin Snow, and former regent secre-
tary Maurice McCaffrey.2

The dorms opened on schedule in the fall of 1958 at a cost of $2.1 million. Rentals were set
at $780 per year per person. Following the tradition of a dorm group being known by the name
attached to its commons building, they became known as the Holt dorms. Because a planned women's
dorm between Tripp Hall and Liz Waters, was cancelled due to concerns about interference with the
view from Observatory hill, it was decided to use Cole Hall as a women's dorm. This is the first time
in the history of University housing that men's and women's dorms shared a commons.?

The two dorm units were four story structures of reinforced concrete columns and beams
with concrete slab floors, and concrete block walls, faced with brick. Sullivan Hall is 'L' shaped with
one wing 162 feet and the other 132 feet. Cole Hall is more nearly linear, with two 110 foot wings
projecting from a center section. Holt commons is a two story brick on block structure 100 by 115
feet, containing dining cooking and student service areas. It was intended that the dining facilities at
Holt would serve only the 500 residents of the Holt dorms, but that recreational spaces, meeting
rooms, and service areas would be used by all University students. With the completion of the Holt
dormitories, the first phase of the post WW II housing construction boom was ended. In quick suc-
cession would come the Elm Drive Dorms, and new Chadbourne Hall.

Like all the Lakeshore dorms these units are popular with students. Since changes in the commons at
the Van Hise, Kronshage and Elm Drive dorms, Holt commons dining facility now serves dorm
residents from all the Lakeshore dorms.

1) Regent's Minutes, April 7, 1956, July 14, 1956, January 12, 1957, March 9, 1957, June 20, 1957, September 7,
1957,

2) Regent's Minutes, June 20, 1957, February 1, 1958, July 13, 1957; Daily Cardinal, February 8, 1958;

3) Teicher and Jenkins, A History of University Housing at the University of Wisconsin, p. 63; Daily Cardinal,
Registration Issue September 1958, March 6, 1958, March 24, 1959; Regent's Minutes, April 11, 1959, December 6,
1958.
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HOME ECONOMICS

Fig. 1. Home Eco-
nomics and Extension
before construction of
west wing; ¢. 1940.
Looking north east.
[series 9/3 Home
Economics, jf-44]

Erected in 1912 as the home for both home economics and the University extension,
this building was first built without its west wing. The west wing was added in 1951.
The extension moved out in the early 1960s, and home economics has been renamed
Family Resources and Consumer Sciences.

under the school of Letters and Sciences, the limited facilities in South Hall, and evident lack

of student interest, showed little promise. Then in 1909 the department was transferred to the
College of Agriculture under the impetus of the Nelson Act which provided funding for home eco-
nomics programs geared to agricultural education and problems. Agriculture dean Russell was given
a year to reorganize the department. It was housed for a semester in the basement of Agriculture Hall,
then moved in 1909 to the attic of Lathrop Hall. During this period the department was in the hands
of Abbey Mayhew and Carolyn Hunt.

Dean Russell says in his report to the regents in 1910: "A casual examination of ... facilities in
Lathrop hall will reveal the utter impossibility of handling this work permanently in these quarters. A
new building devoted entirely to this work should be planned at once." In the same report, president
Van Hise agrees, saying that "It appears that there is to be a very large demand for the work of this
department." ! With Van Hise and Russell both pushing the project there was quick activity. The
architectural committee of Laird Cret and Peabody, originally proposed to locate the home economics
building as part of the "women's group" around Lathrop Hall. They knew that the home economics
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Fig. 2. The Home Economics
building c. 1960 after the west
wing was built. Looking

toward the northwest. [series
9/3 Home Economics, jf-43]

department would at first share quarters with the extension department, and suggested putting the
building between Lathrop and the chemistry building [now Chamberlin Hall] on University Avenue.
The logic was that if extension, which could be located anywhere, got its own building elsewhere,
home economics would expand into the extension's vacated space.

The extension department was also undergoing tremendous expansion. Although announced
in the catalogs for years, only the agriculture extension amounted to anything but sporadic lectures
held when called for by citizens. President Van Hise appointed Dr. Charles McCarthy to investigate
the situation, who found an enormous pent-up demand for quality correspondence work. As a result
of this investigation the regents and then the legislature in 1906-1907 began to allocate small sums to
support the extension. The success of the effort to energize the extension led the legislature to appro-
priate funds for an extension building. In the spring of 1911 the regents allocated $75,000 each for
home economics and extension buildings.?

After some thought and consultation, they decided to use the idea of Laird and Cret and
combine the needs of the two departments in one building. The regents then resolved "that the depart-
ments of home economics and University Extension be housed in a building to cost approximately
$115,000 and to be located east of Agriculture Hall and north of the Mall [Henry Mall]; same to be
constructed immediately; this estimate is for brick construction and includes equipment for both
departments."? The plans generated by Laird and Cret, were for a central section running east-west,
with a north-south wing on each end. Budget constraints forced the regents to reduce the initial
construction to the center section and the east wing; leaving the construction of the west wing for a
later date [see Fig. 1]. They had the architects provide a separate entrance for the Extension division.

The construction of the building turned out to be a star-crossed project. The contract for the
excavation and foundation was let to Madison Engineering and Construction Company on October
23, 1911 for $2114. In less than a month they defaulted on the contract. The regents turned to the
second lowest bidder, George Nelson of Madison, who signed the contract on November 24, 1911,
for $3350. Nelson began the job on November 27, 1911. In March of 1912, the regents awarded the
contract for the superstructure of the building to the lowest bidder, W. H. Grady and Co. for
$100,879, "provided it is found that these are responsible companies..."* Someone didn't look very
hard. The regents declared Grady in default on the contract in May, 1913. In a statement dated
February 18, 1914 the university lists $102,191 in payments to Grady before he disappeared with the
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money and leaving a trail of unpaid subcontractors. The university finished the building itself and
settled up the outstanding liens and debts.

The building was completed in March 1914. It consisted of a five-story central portion, 100 ft.
X 58 ft., with a four story east wing, 49 ft. X 92 ft. with a total of 50,000 square feet of floor area. It
was a steel and concrete structure faced with buff vitreous brick with Bedford limestone trimming,
and a red tile roof. The Extension was housed in the lower floors of the center section. The Home
Economics department occupied the east wing and the upper floors of the center section. The spaces
vacated by Home Economics in South Hall and Lathrop were immediately filled by bacteriology and
women's physical education, respectively. Future expansion was provided for by the addition of the
missing wing on the west side of the central section which had a rather blank look (fig. 1) due to its
relative lack of ornamentation.’

This building was successful and filled its dual purpose well for many years. But starting in the
1920s the enrollment in home economics began to squeeze the departmental space. The department
was gradually spread around the campus in Babcock Hall, and several temporary buildings, besides
the Home Economics building and practice cottage. It was not until 1951 that the regents decided to
complete the building by adding the west wing (18 feet longer than the original east wing). The
construction contract was let to the lowest bidder, George Nelson and Son, for $393,793. In the
spring of 1953 the west wing was finally completed. The laboratories were now up-to-date, confer-
ence rooms, lecture rooms and office space were now available.®

In 1962 the new university extension building at 632 Lake Street opened and left Home
Economics (which had become a school in 1951) in sole possession of the building (fulfilling the last
detail of the vision of the builders in 1913). In 1968 the school was renamed "Family Resources and
Consumer Sciences". It now is involved with child psychology, and consumer goods study. The
building remains a handsome and imposing presence on the Linden Drive hill.

1) Regent's Report, 1909-1910 p. 173.

2) Regent's Minutes, April 6, 1911.

3) Regent's Minutes, July 11, 1911.

4) Regent's Minutes, March 13, 1912.

5) Regent's Report, 1913-1914, p. 341; Regent's Report, 1908 p. 102, this entry details the movement of the depart-
ments at the time of their reassignment to the college of agriculture.

6) Wisconsin State Journal, June 7, 1953; Regent's Minutes, January 13, 1951, p. 12.
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HOME MANAGEMENT

Fig. 1. The home management house c. 1944. [Series 9/3, Home Management House, jf-61]

Erected in 1940 the home management house was used to provide practical instruc-
tion in homemaking to home economics majors. In the 1960s it was converted to
office space.

Dykestra, dean of Agriculture Christensen described it: "The present house used for practice

training is an old house built in 1911. Not only is it too small, but it is poorly planned, imprac-
tical, and inadequately equipped for the training in home practice management which is conducted by
the Home Economics staff." Dean Christensen, and Miss Frances Zuill, head of the home economics
department, had discussed and planned for a new home economics practice house since the late
1930s. No building was done because of the lack of funding for construction during the depression,
but the plans were refined and discussed. !

So it was that when, in January 1940, the Wisconsin Utilities Association offered $20,000 in
private funding for the home management project, Dean Christensen could present to the regents
sketches and estimates at the same time that he announced the gift.2 So prepared was the dean, that
before the end of the regents meeting, he had obtained approval of his plans (including the proposed
site between home economics and agriculture hall), permission to advertise for bids, and approval to
raze the old solar observatory, by then used only for storage and in the way of the new building.
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Formal plans and specifications were drawn up by the state architect, Roger Kirchhoff, in the spring
of 1940.

Unfortunately for these plans, when bids were opened on June 28, 1940, all were far above
the amount available for building and all were rejected. There were three principal reasons for the
overruns: first, the specification of Madison sandstone for the exterior, which had all but run out in
the old quarries on the west side of Madison, second, the concrete floors, roof construction, and
hollow tile walls, needed to make the building fireproof, and third the paucity of almost all building
materials in Madison. By respecifying the exterior in brick, and proposing alternate materials to the
bidding builders the cost was lowered considerably. The new plans were put out for bids in July 1940,
but again the bids were too high for the funds donated. It was clear that the project was going to cost
about $32,000 as envisioned by Christensen and Zuill, and not the $20,000 available.

In August 1940, the Wisconsin Utilities Association offered an additional $12,500 for con-
struction and furnishing the home management house. This bonus removed all difficulties from the
project. The general construction contract was awarded to the Fritz company for $20,988. The work
was to be finished by January 1, 1941 (later extended to March 17, 1941). With utilities and subcon-
tracts the total contracted cost was $33,900. The $1400 above the donation was made up by the
physical plant budget. Work began on the building on September 23, 1940. During construction the
project ran into small difficulties with the Industrial Commission, due to the commission's insistence
that the building was a dormitory, and requiring multiple exits on that basis. The changes were minor,
and Kirchhoff made them rather than pursue the issue. Delays were minor and completion was about
two months late.

The home management house was opened for examination on June 21, 1941.3 It was a two
story colonial revival, of light brick, with stone trim, an asphalt shingled hipped roof, enclosing about
3700 square feet. There were four bedrooms, three bathrooms, a study, an instructors suite, kitchen,
a laundry, demonstration rooms, and sun porch. It was intended to accommodate an instructor and
eight students at a time, and was pressed into service immediately in the fall of 1941. Every senior in
home economics was required to spend two weeks in the house.

The house filled its role beautifully for twenty five years. Then in the middle 1960s when
anything that looked archaic was in peril, a home management house ceased to be of use, and after
the departmental name change from "Home Economics" to "Family Resource and Consumer Sci-
ence", the building was converted to office space.

1) Regent's Minutes, January 19-20, 1940; Christenson to Dykestra, January 19, 1940, Wisconsin Country Magazine,
February, 1940, October 1941, December 1942, November 1955; University Press Bulletin, January 26, 1940.

2) Christenson to Dykestra, January 19, 1940, ; Regent's papers, August 1940, January 19-20, 1940.

3) Wisconsin Alumni Magazine, July, 1941, p. 329, February 1941
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HORSE BARN

Fig. 1. Horse barn c. 1910,
looking from the SE. [folder
9/3, Horse Barn, jf7]

The horse barn evidently was originally the 1868 farm barn. It was extensively
reconstructed and enlarged in 1899. It is the oldest wooden building on the
University campus. The building now houses sheep, classrooms, and offices
for the Department of Meat and Animal Science.

two dates commonly proposed. The most commonly used is 1899, in the University Fact

Book, and other works who use the Fact Book as a source. The Fact Book mentions, without
comment, that the date is sometimes given as 1868. The 1868 date is by far the most likely, partly
because there is considerable evidence for the 1868 date, but especially because the evidence against
the 1899 date for first construction is overwhelming.

Most of the plans and existing drawings pertaining to the horse barn, and a list of expenses for
construction (in the regents report) are dated 1899 and signed by J. T. W. Jennings (the University's
supervising architect from that date). But in a March 1899 letter to the regents Dean of Agriculture
W. A. Henry's discusses rebuilding the horse barn: "It is very important that we begin the study of the
re-arrangement and building over of the horse and carriage barn at the earliest possible moment." !

A month later, Dean Henry reports to University president Adams that he wishes to place
architect J. T. W. Jennings in a supervisory position on the project "owing to the uncertainties regard-
ing the present structure and the difficulties which always follow the remodelling [of] an old build-
ing".2 It is also significant that director of the Experimental Farm W. W. Daniels specifically says
that the land as purchased by the regents contains no buildings, eliminating the possibility that the

barn existed when the land was purchased.? Clearly what was done in 1899 was the substantial
21
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Fig. 2. Detail of 1878 etching, showing origi- Fig. 3. Horse barn with class of 1901, looking
nal Horse Barn. [etching on wall of Archives] north. [folder 9/3, Horse Barn, jf8]

reconstruction of an existing building.

As for the original construction of that building, in Director Daniel's report to the regents in
1868, shortly after the formation of an Agricultural Department to take advantage of the Federal
Morrill Act we read:
A farm barn 50 by 60 feet, with 24 feet posts, is completed. This barn contains horse and
cattle stables, a granary, a carriage and tool room, besides bays for hay and grain. The stone
basement, eight feet in height, has a fine fruit and root cellar 30 by 36 feet, a manure cellar 20
by 60 feet, and an apartment 24 by 30 feet, to be used for the present as a sheep fold.*
This describes the "farm barn" that later became known as the horse barn. This barn was constructed
by William T. Fish, and A. R. Moxley at a cost of about $1800.°

The examination of a surveying map published by the regents as a part of their 1871 report
demonstrates that the building then called the farm barn was located at the spot now occupied by the
Horse Barn. Since there is no indication of the construction of an entirely new barn, this strongly
indicates that the original (1868) barn was the building made over in 1899 by Jennings. An 1878
commissioned artist's drawing of the building is shown in Fig. 2. The inexact nature of the etching as
representational art does not allow any more than speculation about size and layout from this source.

The modern configuration of the horse barn is a cellar and three stories. The first level con-
tains offices and classrooms, the second story holds animal stalls, and the attic level (once used for
hay storage) is now empty. The cellar opens up to the animal pens on the west side of the building.

As the scientific method came into use in agriculture and animal husbandry in the twentieth
century, the old, small, and deteriorating horse barn became more and more of an instructional liabil-
ity. The University has not had a horse program since the late 1970s. The old barn's functions were
gradually supplanted by other buildings, especially the livestock laboratory, and at the present time it
is used mainly for sheep studies, classrooms and offices for the Department of Meat and Animal
Science. Sometime before WW 11, the picturesque ventilator towers and dormers on the building (see
Fig. 1) were removed and power ventilation installed. Its slate roof was replaced with asphalt shingles
in 1995.

1) Letter W. A. Henry to E. F. Riley, secretary Board of Regents, March 13, 1899. University Archives series 1/10/1-3.
2) W. A. Henry to C. K. Adams, April 18, 1899. University Archives series 1/1/3/ box 16.

3) Report of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin 1868 p. 25.

4) Report of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin 1868 p. 27.

5) Report of the Regents of the University of Wisconsin 1868 p. 38.
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HORTICULTURE

Fig. 1. The original horticul-
ture building from the Linden
Street face, c. 1911. [series 9/
3 Horticulture, jf-37]

The horticulture building was built in 1910 to alleviate the crowding of the horticul-
ture department in King Hall. The east wing, called Moore Hall, was erected in 1930,
and the plant science addition to the west and south was built in 1980.

orticulture was one of the earliest disciplines established in the college of
Hagriculture. In 1893 dean Henry had convinced the legislature to fund the construction of

King Hall, constructed for the study of horticulture and agricultural physics. Over the last
years of the nineteenth century and the first decade of the twentieth, the ground-breaking work of
professor Franklin King and his colleagues in the soils department needed an increasing amount of
space, both in King Hall and in the attached greenhouses. This expansion by soils put more and more
pressure on the horticulture department. In his report to the regents of 1908, president Van Hise says:
"As soon as practicable an entirely new horticulture building should be constructed to accommodate
the department, and the quarters now occupied by horticulture should be turned over to the soils
department."!

Pursuant to this goal the board of regents instructed the university's supervising architect,
Arthur Peabody, to prepare plans for the "horticulture building to be located on the south side of
Linden Drive immediately south of the drive to the dairy building at a cost of approximately
$50,000..."2 On August 22, 1910, Mr. Peabody informed the regents that plans would be ready for
bids on September first. The executive Committee of the Board of Regents opened bids for the
horticulture building on September 26, 1910, and awarded the contract to the lowest bidder George
Keachie of Madison for the sum of $47,295. The contract called for the building to be begun by
October 3, 1910 and complete on or before October 15, 1911.

Following the monthly reports of supervising architect Peabody we see that by November
eighth, 1910, the foundations and basement were poured. In that same month a large shipment of
brick arrived on site but was so different from the sample given the maker that the brick was rejected.
By March 1911, the brick walls were up to the second floor, but work was halted for a week when
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Fig. 2. Horticulture after
the addition of the
Agronomy wing (Moore
Hall), on the left. c¢. 1932.
The tower at the junction of
the old building and the
addition, disguises the fact
that a three story addition
had been put on a two story
building. [series 9/3 Horti-
culture, jf-38]

the Madison Brick yard ran out of brick. Roof construction began during June, 1911. But in August
1911, the project was delayed by a metal worker's strike. In late August the strike was settled and
work resumed. Final trim work in the horticulture building was started during October, 1911, and
equipment for the departments was ordered, as were furniture and electrical fixtures. Peabody's
November 1911 report says that the building is "rapidly approaching completion. Varnishing and
painting have been going on steadily during the month." The lowest bid for equipping the laboratories
was awarded to J. H. Findorff. The bid requires that the basement laboratory be complete by Decem-
ber 1, 1911. The date of completion was about December 1, 1911.3

The completed building was two full stories and an attic in height, 48 feet X 128 feet, built of
brick, trimmed with Bedford limestone, and a brown glazed tile roof. [see Fig. 1]. Interior trim was
of blue-veined Italian white marble. Floors were of concrete with linoleum covering. Total cost with
furnishings was about $60,000. Alden Aust credits the design of the building to James Law, an
employee of Mr. Peabody's office, calling it a copy of the Russell Sage Foundation Hall in New York
City.*

As often happened when planning facilities for new departments, particularly in the college of
agriculture, the new building was too small for its purpose. Dean of agriculture Russell's first report
to the regents after the completion of the horticulture building says: "The extremely rapid develop-
ment of the plant pathology work has already made it necessary to proceed with the finishing off of
the attic for student use, and add another greenhouse for the existing needs of the department."> The
pent-up demand for the study of horticulture and plant pathology quickly swamped the new facility;
also the space vacated in King Hall was insufficient for the soils department which also needed a
larger facility within a few years.

The planning for further expansion began almost immediately after the new horticulture
building was opened. In his 1913 report to the regents dean Russell explains: "The work of this
department [horticulture] has been of inestimable value to the upbuilding of the agriculture of the
state. Its importance is such and the need for adequate quarters so imperative that the consideration
of this problem should receive the attention of the coming legislature." Russell describes the extent of
the crowding, "The total student registrations have increased from 23 [in 1909-1910] to 211 in 1913-
1914 ... The situation with reference to greenhouse space is as badly congested as is laboratory and
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Fig 3.
Horticul-
ture after
the 1983
addition.
[photomedia
album p. ]

class room space." As a solution dean Russell proposes to build a wing on the horticulture building to
"concentrate most of the plant industry operations of the college under one roof ... in this way the
three departments of Horticulture, Plant Pathology, and Agronomy could use the larger lecture rooms
in common, thus materially increasing the utilization of such space. Such a structure should be three
stories in height, including the basement and will permit the utilization of the attic... For the purposes
of these two departments would require $85,000 for the building."® Not for seventeen years would
this excellent plan be carried out.

Horticulture and plant pathology stayed in the horticulture building, constantly subdividing the
available space. Agronomy even shared its very limited space with genetics and some work in plant
pathology. Finally in 1929 the crowding in these departments became so severe that action was finally
taken. In a memorandum to the legislature, probably written by Glenn Frank, the suggestion is made:
"The most feasible plan to meet the needs of these departments would be to construct a wing on the
east side of the present Horticulture Building as here requested. Making this wing follow the struc-
ture of the present Horticulture Building, in which both the attic and the basement are utilized for
regular use, the advantages of a four story building can be secured with only a two story and base-
ment cost."” This is substantially the suggestion made by Russell in 1913. Architect Peabody designs
the wing including a tower on the front facade to disguise the fact that a three story wing has been
added to a two story building. [see Fig. 2] Aust credits an employee of Peabody named Sheldon.® The
addition was built in 1930-1931 and in 1932 the regents voted to install a plaque in the new
Agronomy wing and that "this wing of the building be named Ransom A. Moore Hall."? Moore was
the founding father of the Agronomy department, and long-time director of the short course program.
The work of Moore, E. S. Goff, R. H. Roberts, and others made the university's horticulture and
agronomy departments among the best in the country throughout the century. The new Moore Hall
wing and the relocation of most of the plant study departments alleviated the crowding for a long
time.

As early as 1960 a Plant Science addition was proposed. Not until 1978 did the University
requested funding from the state. This was for a $7.8 million addition to and remodelling of the old
building. The addition took the form of a west wing. This "Plant Science" wing was built by the
Anthony Grignano Co. with a contract of $2.4 million (awarded April 10, 1980) and was dedicated
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on April 8, 1983. The work was not satisfactorily completed until late 1984. This wing brought the
horticulture building into its present form [see Fig. 3].1°

1) Report of the Regents, 1906-1908, p. 35.

2) Regent's Minutes, June 21, 1910 vol. G, p. 580; Minutes of the Executive Committee, September 26, 1910.
3) Architect's Reports in the Executive Committee's papers, November 1910 through December 1911.

4) Alden Aust, A Tabular History of the Buildings of the University of Wisconsin, 1932

5) Regent's Report, 1910-1911, p. 120.

6) Regent's Report, 1913-1914 p. 117-118.

7) Legislative Memorandum, Agronomy Wing to Horticulture Building, series 4/0/1 box 3.

8) Alden Aust op cit. fn. 3.

9) Regent's Minutes, December 12, 1932.

10) Regent's Minutes, January 9, 1960, April 10, 1980. A commemorative plaque is mounted in the building.
131



HOG SERUM PLANT

Fig 1. 1915. The hog cholera serum
plant on the left, a swine barn (since
demolished) on the right. Herrick

| Drive now passes between the serum
plant and the site of the barn, about
where the fence line runs.. Just visible
beyond the serum plant is the lab now
used as the carrot and beet lab.
[series 9/3 Serum Plant, jf-39]

S

| -

e N

This building was originally a laboratory for the production of hog cholera serum. It
has since become storage for the forestry department.

prevalent throughout the state, and that the manufacture of cholera anti-serum was begun 'last

spring'. The report of the following year shows that the problem has gotten worse. "The continued
spread of hog cholera in the state and the inability of the college to meet the extraordinary demands
made upon it for hog cholera serum led the last legislature to make special provision for this work."
The university was authorized to sell the serum at one cent per cubic centimeter, which was its cost
of production. The appropriation was for $2,500. Since the first facilities for serum production were
inadequate (the building that is now the Carrot and Beet lab), it was decided to erect a new building
for production of serum.!

The plans for this building are dated October eighth, 1915, drawn by Arthur Peabody or his
staff. The building is one story with no basement or attic, made of brick, 32 ft. X 64 ft. The regents
awarded the construction contract for the serum plant to the lowest bidder T. C. McCarthy for
$3273.2 Little is known of how long the serum production in the building lasted. By 1940, a Univer-
sity building inventory refers to it as the "old serum plant". Since that time it has been assigned as part
of the forestry department and is used as laboratories and storage.?

In his 1911 report to the regents, dean of agriculture H. L. Russell states that hog cholera is

1) Regent's Report, 1913-1914, p. 104; Regent's Report, 1911-1912, p. 117.
2) Regent's Minutes, February 29, 1915.
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Fig. 1. Humanities, February 1997.[Del Brown Photo, AP-65]

Humanities was built in 1966, and opened in 1969, as the home of History, Music, Art and Art
Appreciation. The architect was Mr. Harry Weese of Chicago, working in the so-called Brutalist

style.

construction, mostly on housing, and on the sciences. This was first, the result of the influx of

students into Madison, and second the influx of federal money into science education. At
Wisconsin, the second effect was amplified by the presence of the Wisconsin Alumni Research Foun-
dation (WARF), which also assisted in the construction of scientific facilities. The upshot of these

B etween the end of WW Il and 1959 the University had spent tens of millions of dollars on
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Fig. 2. A photograph of the model of Humanities, used at the regents August 1964 meeting to discuss
the concept. [series 9/2, Humanities, ns-1747]

trends was that by the late 1950s some of the traditional core subjects of the University found themselves in
the position ofthe poor stepchild. These departments were mainly in the humanities area of the college of L
& S. They included history, music and art.

History was housed in Bascom Hall, with 16 offices for 23 professors and 34 T. A's. The
requirement thatall students take American History had boosted their teaching loads enormously. Music
had two main buildings, the eighty year old Assembly Hall (now old music Hall), and the music annex, a
converted commercial building on Park Street. Artand arthistory had offices and classrooms in the old
engineering building (now old education) on Bascom Hill. The old journalism building (now demolished) on
Observatory Drive, was the main location for art studios. This studio building was regarded as a fire hazard,
ajudgement that was proven sound when it burned in 1965, reducing the already inadequate space forart.!

In 1962, building committees were appointed from these three departments, history, music and art,
toprepare plans. Atthattimethe 1959 "sketch plan" was still the main touchstone for development of the
lower campus (Park Streetto Murray Street, and from Lake Mendota to University Avenue). This plan
assumed that the area would be gradually developed for a wide range of uses, leaving large open formally
landscaped areas. The committees began with this plan in mind which allowed for three separate buildings
for the departments. Early in 1962 there was proposed an architectural competition for the lower campus
area. [t wasrecognized thatthe area would have to carefully and sensitively designed to provide aunified
design approach to provide a suitable transition between the city and the University. A committee for the
competition decided that such a contest would be desirable but not feasible, because of difficulties in
coordinating several different projects, with different purposes, funding and time periods. The committee
recommended rather that the "area in question, and all of its buildings, should be designed asawhole." Late
in 1962 the architect for the lower campus was selected, apparently by University planner Leo Jacobson
and state architect James Gailbraith. This architect was Harry Weese of Chicago.2

Weese's firstreport, dated September 1963, covers the needs of Art, Art Education, History,
Music, the establishment of an Art Center and a Center for Communication Arts. The estimated cost is
about $15 million. All these departments were to be located in the lower campus area. In this plan
Weese is already thinking in terms of a single structure for Art, Music and History, although the
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accompanying sketch shows a building with considerable open area around it for landscaping and pedes-
trian circulation. As the numbers came in from the various departmental planning committees, the building
beganto grow largerand larger.>

The regents took up the design issue at their meeting in August 1964. A model of the building
was shown (see Fig. 2). Atthis meeting the regents mainly discuss financing ofthe lower campus building.
Theyhad already decided to combine all three projects (History Art,and Music) into one, and additionally
had used all the money available for acommunication arts building, which was deferred until the next budget
biennium. The estimated cost was now $9.9 million. Regent Debardeleben asked a question regarding the
combination of the buildings into one, and the planners explain that separate buildings would require high-
rise structures which would conflict with the style of existing buildings in the area. High rise structure would
alsobe more expensive, and inefficient in handling the estimated 7000 student station in the building. It was
pointed out that the building would give better land utilization than the Bascom Hill buildings even consider-
ing theamount of open area inside the building (which was necessary for pedestrian traffic circulation for
those 7000 students). Regent Debardeleben also asked if anything could be done about the design of the
skylights, which gave the building "the appearance ofa factory." He was told that a proper treatment would
be developed. After more than two hours of discussion the concept of the building was approved. Itwas
pointed out that the building could notbe expanded; if the building and the lower campus became saturated
(estimated to occurata student enrollment of 40,000 maximum), a west campus would be needed.*

The next step was taken atthe September 1964 regents meeting, when the preliminary plans were
approved. The cost estimate had risen to $9.9 million, due to land costs in the area. The preparation of final
planstook all of 1965. Dr. James Watrous, who was involved with the project as a planner of the
Elvehejem, says thatthe personnel of the building committees was in constant flux, and that this caused
much planning difficulty. The final plans were approved in August 1965. The planners were becoming
worried about the delays because ofa very tight labor market, and conflicts with other building projects. In
January 1966 the project was put for bids; the project was so large that several bidders asked for an
extensionuntil February, which was granted.”

The regents discussed the bids at their March 1965 meeting, and the news was all bad. There
was only one contractor who bid the entire job, and that bid was almost $2 million over the budget.
The regents were faced with delaying or eliminating other building projects, or delaying this project
for redesign. After a very short discussion, the regents decided to let the Executive committee handle
the problem. What followed was a round of cost cutting that eventually determined what the building
would be like.®

The architect and building committees developed independent lists of features that could be
altered to reduce the cost of the building. The University complained that the architect seemed ready to
sacrifice anything except items that would produce some architectural effect. These lists show the
wholesale removal of trim and decoration items, including plastering bare concrete, stone entrances,
carpet in offices and other items that would have made the finished building a great deal more attrac-
tive. Some idea of what the original plan would have produced can be gotten by examining the
Elvehjem, which was nearly immune to the budget cuts because its funding was privately raised. A
major casualty of this cost cutting was the interior courtyard, which was to be developed as a sculpture
garden, butbecame an unused space known by building users as "the gravel pit." The replacement of stone
facing by brick was avoided by moving $350,000 from the next biennium's budget.”

In April 1966 the regents approved the schedule of costs and financing developed by the
Executive Committee, which had gotten the State Building Commission to add $400,000 to the project,
and had reshuffled other construction budget money, without delaying or dropping any other projects. The
regents also authorized the Executive Committee to award contracts. On April 18, 1966, the general
construction contract was let to Corbetta Construction of Des Plaines Illinois for $7.49 million. Total
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contracts for the project, which included the Elvehjem, were $13.7 million. Construction began on May 17,
1966, with an estimated completion date of August 1968 8

Strikes and shortages delayed the project for a year. The building went into use in September
1969. In January 1969 the regents voted, in what may stand as the greatest unintentional sarcasms in
University history, toname this stark, graceless, and unadorned building "Humanities Building". A more
charitable view holds that whatever the actual result, Humanities was at least an attempt to deviate from the
truly ugly high-rise boxes (e. g. Meteorology and Engineering Research), then commonly being built.

The grand opening of Humanities, dedicated in the words of vice president Robert Clodius to
"beauty, harmony and grace" , took place the week of November 17, 1969. Two dedicatory concerts
in Mills hall, by the University Orchestra, and the Pro Arte Quartet, were seriously marred by acousti-
cal problems that would not be worked out for years. The three main music halls are named for long-
time music faculty members: Charles H. Mills (#2340), Edson W. Morphy (#2330), and Irene B.
Eastman (#2320). In the fall of 1969 both the Music and History departments registered complaints
about excessive sound transmission between their respective areas. These problems have never been
adequately solved. The University suggested that the state have the attorney general try to recover
expenses from the architect for design errors. The art department is now overcrowded and badly
ventilated, exactly their position in 1959 when planning for the building began. !0

The building is 532 by 164 feet of concrete, seven stories (92 feet) high, with two auditorium
blocks inside its perimeter. The exterior is concrete and lannon stone. The exterior walls slope inward
over the first and second floor to provide a break from flat walls on such a huge structure, and to
provide some natural light on those levels through small triangular skylights.

Music has 127 practice rooms on the first floor, and staff offices on the second. History occu-
pies the third floor, with art on floors five through seven. The top floor studios are lit by the huge
skylights that makes the building look "like a factory". The sixth and seventh floors have a connecting
link across the open inner court yard areas.

1) University directories; Proposal of the History Building Committee, May 18, 1959, series 24/9/2 box 12.
2) Regent's Minutes, November 14, 1959 Lower Campus Area Plan, exhibit C, May 4, 1962; Architectural competi-
tion: series 24/9/2 box 13 "Art Center Complex" folder; Calls for committees: Wendt to Burns et al. February 6, 1962,
series 24/9/2 box 13, "Music, School of" folder; Wendt to Logan et al. undated, Wendt to Jensen et al. undated, series
24/9/2 box 13.
3) Building Program Analysis, September 11, 1963, Harry Weese and Associates, series 40/1/7-1 box 24.
4) Regent's Minutes, August 14, 1964, September 25, 1964.
5) Regent's Minutes, September 25, 1964, August 20, 1965; Preliminary Budget Estimates September 25, 1964,
series 4/0/3 box 189; Fleming to Harrington, August 16, 1965, series 40/1/7-1 box 125; Orr to Gilbert et al. Septem-
ber 9, 1965, Peterson to Culbertson, July 7, 1965, series 24/9/3 box 7; Interview with Dr. James Watrous, summer
1995. Orr to Edsall et al. January 27, 1966, series 24/9/3 box 7.
6) Regent's Minutes, March 4, 1966, April 1, 1966.
7) Orr to Yamamoto, March 10, 1966, Orr to Gilbert et al., March 10, 1966, Orr to Wenning, March 8, 1966, series
24/9/3 box 7, Engman to Debardeleben, April 7, 1966, Fleming to Harrington, April 8, 1966, series 40/1/7-1 box 125.
8) Regent's Minutes, April 18, 1966; Wisconsin State Journal, June 6, 1966.
9) Regent's Minutes, January 10, 1969 (presumably unintentional); I thank Steve Masar for the counter-argument.
10) Capital Times, November 17, 1969; The Daily Cardinal, January 28, 1969, October 30, 1969; Wisconsin State
Journal, November 16, 1969, January 28, 1973; Capital Times, November 17, 1969; Gilbert to Young, August 15,
1969, Rothstein to Powers, October 21, 1969, series 40/1/7-1 box 125;
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STATE HIGHWAY LAB

-

Fig. 1. Compute.r EI;gineering and Plasma lab, Decem- Fig 2. The CAE building from ERB, 1996.

ber 1993. This picture shows the Johnson Drive face Notice the 1987 angled addition (left) to
of the Original nghway lab bulldlng [Author PhOtO, the Original rectangular hlghway lab
AP-19] (right).

Built with state funds to house the state highway laboratory in 1939, this building
became the property of the University by virtue of the 40 year lease of the land. The
lease expired in 1977, and the building was remodelled for use by the computer
science department, and was enlarged in 1983.

the university and the state highway commission had a mutually advantageous relationship.

The state had room in a frame building behind the engineering building on Bascom hill, in
which they carried out material testing. In return the state engineers gave lectures and demonstrations
to the students in mechanical and civil engineering. Engineering Dean Turneaure was an ex officio
member of the highway commission. !

This relationship worked well throughout the 1920s and early 1930s. Then as space require-
ments grew and the condition of the old building deteriorated, the state decided to seek new quarters.
In July 1937 president Dykestra read to the regents a request from Thomas Pattison of the Wisconsin
Highway Commission for the lease of University ground on which to erect a laboratory building for
the Highway Commission. The months that followed are marked by discussion and proposals of
various kinds referring to the highway lab. H. F. Janda, professor of Highway engineering, lobbies
business manager Phillips, in favor of the lab. Acting dean of engineering, A. V. Millar, tells Phillips
that he has consulted the faculty of civil, mechanical, and chemical engineering and finds them in
accord with the opinion of dean Turneaure, that the highway lab should be located in the vicinity of
the engineering laboratories on the camp Randall site.

At their December 1937 meeting the executive committee adopted a motion of the business
manager that the regents approve a lease to the State Highway Commission for the lab. The lease
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had been in the works since at least September and grants the highway commission the wedge of land
bounded by Randall Street, the railroad tracks, and a north south line to the west of Randall Street.
The lease was for forty years, and was non- renewable. It allowed the state to erect a building for
materials testing, marking and signing facilities and other functions. The state would provide educa-
tional and research facilities. The university besides providing the land, agreed to remove a rail spur
from the site, and to provide heat and electricity to the building at a reasonable rate. The state agreed
to maintain the building, sidewalks and roads around it in good repair, and to remove the old building
on Bascom Hill. At the end of the lease the land and building would revert to the university. This
lease was signed in December 1937.3

Although the regents had retained the right to approve of the plans for the building, no record
has been found that they ever so approved. The building was designed by state architect Arthur
Peabody, near the end of his long career in Wisconsin. Peabody's plans are dated January, 1938. The
fact that Peabody and his work were well known to the regents may account for the casual treatment.
Likewise no record has been found of the exact dates or circumstances of the erection of the building,
but most sources indicate 1939. The 162 foot X 62 foot building was steel framed, with concrete
floors and roof brick sheathing, stone trim, two stories, and a full basement.*

For the forty years of its lease the state highway lab operated in the Camp Randall location,
testing materials in conjunction with the engineering department, and making highway signs. The
metal signs were made in the state prison, but the wooden signs were made in a room at the labora-
tory. Then in July of 1976 the highway department (by then the DOT) informed the university that
they were about to build a new laboratory facility at Truax field and would vacate the old building in
the fall of 1977.5

The first use of the building by the university was as the home of computer engineering, then a
relatively small enterprise. When the engineering department remodelled the building in 1983, the
computer labs and graduate study areas were kept open during the work. This $2.3 million job by
Arnold and O'Sheridan of Madison renovated the rooms on the first and second floors and built a new
penthouse on the roof. The building was not big enough for long. In February of 1987, the university
spent another $2.5 million to add a wedge-shaped two story addition to the north side of the building
to house Computer Aided engineering labs and offices on the first floor, and biomedical labs and
offices on the second floor. Silicon fabrication facilities and plasma laboratories were installed in the
older part of the building. This job was designed by Berners-Schober Associates of Green Bay, and
brought the building to its current (1993) configuration.®

1) Executive Committee Minutes, January 25, 1924; Roettiger to Phillips, October 29, 1937, series 24/1/1 box 139
Highway laboratory folder; Wisconsin Blue Books
2) Minutes of the Regents July 10, 1937. Millar to Phillips, October 12,1937, series 24/1/1 box 139 Highway laboratory
folder. Janda to Phillips, October 11, 1937, series 24/1/1 box 139 Highway laboratory folder.
3) Regent's Minutes, December 7-8, 1937, October 12-13, 1937; Memorandum of conference for Proposed State
Highway Commission Laboratory, series 24/1/1 box 139 Highway Laboratory folder.
4) Plans in the plans room of the physical plant department.
5) Wisconsin Blue Books.
6) University directories; plans at physical plant plans room. McGown to Edsall, July 12, 1976, papers of general
counsel Chuck Stathas.
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Fig. 1. Hydraulics lab
from Lake Mendota c.
1940. The sections
from left to right are:
the c. 1890 pump
house, the 1929 tank
house, and the 1905
hydraulics lab. A
1970s addition added
outdoor stair cases to
the exterior of the lab
section. [series 9/2
Pumping Station, jf-
27]

The hydraulics building is a combination of three separate buildings, the pump house
that dates from at least 1890, the hydraulics laboratory erected in 1905, and the tank
house that connects them from 1928. The building now houses hydraulic and environ-
mental engineering.

s early as 1890 there was a pumping station on the shore of Lake Mendota to supply water to
Athe university. Very early on this pump was also required to supply the state capitol building
with water delivered through a line running up State Street.

When engineering professor Daniel Mead came to the university in 1904 he had a strong
inclination to do research, and began a campaign to remove the study of hydraulics from its cramped
quarters in the engineering building on Bascom Hill. He consulted with the university's supervising
architect J. T. W. Jennings on the design and placement of a suitable building for hydraulics research,
but for financial reasons the building was put off until 1905. By the time work commenced in the fall
of 1905 architect Jennings had been replaced by Arthur Peabody, who judging from extant drawings
left the interior arrangement and layout of the building alone and made alterations to the design of the
exterior. Construction was begun too late in 1905 to finish before winter came. The regents report of
1904-1905 says that "the building was temporarily enclosed for instructional use during 1905-6 ... and
has by its removal relieved to a slight extent the congestion in the main engineering building."> The
new building stood by itself on the lakeshore about 80 feet west of the old university pumping station.

The new hydraulics lab comprised three stories above a basement, forty eight by ninety eight
feet. In a feature magazine article about the new building, professor Mead describes the layout in
detail.! The basement contained the main pump to draw in lake-water and supply it to the various

99



channels, weirs, racks and models in the labs, which required large volumes of water (30,000
gallons per minute) at low head. Also in the basement were large measuring tanks (10,000 cubic
feet total), a laboratory for special work. The first (ground level) floor, intended mainly for ad-
vanced research, contained the large head race and channel, more pumps and filters, and a mezza-
nine around the main pump in the basement. On the second floor were the offices, classrooms, and
a lecture hall. It was intended that the lab eventually be connected to the pump house by an addi-
tion (called the tank house) to the east of the lab The illustrations that accompany Dr. Mead's
article show the tank house connection already built, but he states in the article that it will be built
"soon."

In Dr. Mead's article he refers to a plan to construct a reservoir on the bluff above the lab,
to provide a source of water at a constant head. In 1914 this reservoir was constructed, designed
by Peabody and built by contractor J. Roherty. It holds 220,000 gallons of lake water, and was
filled through a ten-inch pipe from the lab. Water flowed back to the lab down the 50 vertical foot
drop through a sixteen inch pipe and a series of control valves and gauges. The reservoir is fifty
feet in diameter and sixteen feet deep. The reinforced concrete top was designed for use as a
student gathering spot, with a short parapet wall, and steps down to it from Observatory drive,
behind Muir Knoll. The use of this reservoir was discontinued in the 1950s after the development
of constant pressure pumps made it unnecessary. It still provides a beautiful view of Lake Mendota
over the bluff.?

Just after a 1915 state appropriation for upgrading the pump house and its equipment for
fire protection but before the work could be done, the dome on Bascom Hall caught fire and was
destroyed. Ironically the only thing that saved the rest of the old building was the long forgotten
water tank in the base of the dome, the burning dome collapsed into the tank and was quenched.
That tank had been the original holding tank for the first university pump. After the Bascom fire,
the pump house project was completed, at a cost of about $16,000 a large two-story building with
no second floor, giving an open room clear to the roof. Plumbing hookups enabled the hydraulics
lab to exchange water and pumping power with the pump house. The hydraulics and pump house
buildings were still otherwise separate although 1923 drawings indicate that the space between the
two was occupied by large tanks and sheds.*

In 1928 contractor J. P. Cullen finally built the addition to the hydraulic lab that connected
the lab with the pumping station, at a cost of $60,000. This section of the building held large
settling tanks and pumps to process lake water for use by the university. This addition brought the
hydraulics building to its current configuration. A series of major remodelling projects in the
1970s and 1980s removed much of the old interior of the building but left the exterior intact except
for the addition of stair wells on the west and south sides. Also in the 1980s with gradual shifts of
program emphasis the building was renamed "The Water Science and Engineering Laboratory."
The pumping station section now has a second floor